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REVIEW OF THE AFFORDABLE CARE ACT
HEALTH INSURANCE CO-OP PROGRAM

THURSDAY, MARCH 10, 2016

U.S. SENATE,
PERMANENT SUBCOMMITTEE ON INVESTIGATIONS,
OF THE COMMITTEE ON HOMELAND SECURITY
AND GOVERNMENTAL AFFAIRS,
Washington, DC.

The Subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 9:34 a.m., in room
SD-342, Dirksen Senate Office Building, Hon. Rob Portman, Chair-
man of the Subcommittee, presiding.

S Present: Senators Portman, Johnson, Lankford, Ayotte, and
asse.

Staff present: Mel Beras, Chris Barkley, Bryan Berky, Samantha
Brennan, David Brewer, Kyle Brosnan, Brian Callanan, Will Coun-
cil, Margaret Daum, John Kashuba, Andrew Polesovsky, Matt
Owen, Aylene Senger, Kelsey Stroud, and Satya Thallam.

OPENING STATEMENT OF SENATOR PORTMAN

Senator PORTMAN. Let us go ahead and get started. There is a
vote at 11:30, and this may make it difficult for us to get through
all the questions unless we get started now. I want to thank Sen-
ator Sasse for being here. I think at least four of our colleagues
have indicated they are going to join us today, so we will be seeing
Senators coming in and out during a busy day. But let us bring the
hearing to order.

I want to begin by noting that Senator McCaskill will not be with
us today. As some of you know, she is home in Missouri attending
to some very important health issues. We wish her well. We know
she will be back with us soon, I hope as soon as next week. And
I will say I suggested to her that we postpone this hearing until
she got back, and her answer was, no, that there is lots of work
for our Subcommittee to do and we should allow the Senate’s busi-
ness to go on, which is the way she is. I appreciate her attitude.
She will be submitting questions for the record, and I want to on
behalf of the Subcommittee thank Senator McCaskill’s staff for
their hard work in preparing for this hearing.

We are here today to discuss the Administration’s unfortunate
adventure in the health care startup business. That is kind of how
I look at this. The Affordable Care Act (ACA) created something
called the Consumer Operated and Oriented Plan (CO-OP) Pro-
gram. It was really a gesture to those who favored a public option
and were not successful in advocating for that. Under the
CO-OP Program, the Department of Health and Human Services

o))



2

(HHS) awarded $2.4 billion of taxpayer money to 23 nonprofit
health insurance CO-OPs. As of today, of those 23, 12 have failed.
These 12 collectively received about $1.2 billion in taxpayer money
that is almost certainly lost, and we can talk about that later in
the Q&A. Their collapse, by the way, also caused 740,000 people
in 14 States to lose their health insurance provider and have to
scramble to find new coverage, most with little or no time.

Over the last 9 months, our Subcommittee has carefully inves-
tigated these failures. We wanted to know whether HHS, when it
played the role of investor, made good or bad decisions with tax-
payer money.

Unfortunately, what we found out is that a lot of bad decisions
were made. In a Majority Staff Report released today!, we detail
those findings. This report is here, and you all should have it. We
detail findings that HHS was aware of serious problems concerning
the failed CO-OPs’ enrollment strategies, pricing, financial fore-
casts, and management before the Department ever approved the
initial loans. Once the CO-OPs got going in 2014, things went
south in a hurry—both in terms of financial losses and enrollment
figures that wildly deviated from the CO-OPs’ own projections. The
failed CO—OPs ultimately racked up $376 million in losses in 2014
and more than $1 billion in losses in 2015. But despite getting reg-
ular reports that the CO-OPs were hemorrhaging cash, HHS took
essentially no corrective action for over a year.

Worse, the Department approved additional loan awards to three
of the now failed CO-OPs. This happened in 2014. This was de-
spite clear warnings that these CO-OPs did not have reliable plans
for turning things around.

The Majority Staff Report explains these findings in great detail,
and without objection, that report and its appendix are ordered to
be made part of the record.

Senator PORTMAN. Let me give you a few highlights.

When HHS approved startup loans for the failed CO-OPs in
2012, it asked a reputable firm, Deloitte Consulting, to evaluate
the CO-OPs’ proposed loan applications and business plans. We
have reviewed Deloitte’s analysis as part of our investigation. Here
is what we found.

You will probably hear from our witnesses that Deloitte gave the
CO-0OPs a “passing” score, but it was based on a grading scale set
by HHS, and Deloitte warned HHS of very specific concerns with
the failed CO-OPs that foreshadowed the problems we will talk
about today, the problems that were to come.

They said, among other things, many of the failed CO-OPs could
not identify their senior leadership team. Seven of the 12 had seri-
ous deficiencies in their enrollment strategy—which later turned
out to be a chief reason for CO-OP failure. Many of them sub-
mitted budgets that were incomplete, unreasonable, not cost-effec-
tive, or that did not align with the CO-OPs’ own financial projec-
tions.

Those financial projections were not so hot either. Deloitte
warned that several CO-OPs relied on unreasonable projections
about their own growth. As just one example, Deloitte noted that

1The Majority Staff report appears in the Appendix on page 77.
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CoOportunity—the CO-OP for Iowa and Nebraska that I imagine
Senator Sasse will be talking about a little later—had a target
profit “much lower than the industry benchmark” of 4.8 percent.
That was an understatement: CoOportunity’s stated target profit
margin was 0 percent.

Nevertheless, HHS approved all the loan applications to the
failed CO-OPs, to the tune, again, of $1.2 billion.

After they entered the marketplace in 2014, the CO-OPs’ finan-
cial health deteriorated rapidly. And HHS knew it. The Depart-
ment regularly received key financial information from the
CO-0Ps, including monthly reports and audited quarterly financial
statements. These reports showed that, starting almost imme-
diately, the failed O-OPs experienced severe financial losses that
exceeded even the worst-case scenarios outlined in their loan appli-
cations to HHS. Cumulatively, by the end of 2014, the failed
CO-OPs exceeded their projected worst-case-scenario losses by at
least $263.7 million—which is four times above the projection.

The CO-OPs’ enrollment numbers were no less problematic. Ac-
cording to the 2014 monthly reports submitted to HHS, five of the
failed CO-OPs dramatically underperformed enrollment projec-
tions, while five others overshot their projections by wide margins.
Both errors can cause serious financial losses. And they did. Low
enrollment means insufficient income to cover expenses, of course,
but excessively high enrollment was an even greater threat to sol-
vency because it multiplies losses rather than profits when those
premiums are underpriced—as many of the CO-OPs’ premiums
were.

Despite having that information at its fingertips, HHS did not
step in. The Department’s loan agreements with the CO—OPs enti-
tled it to invoke a number of accountability tools for borrowers who
were missing the mark, but here HHS chose to take a pass.
Inexplicably, for over a year, the agency took no corrective action,
nor did it put any CO-OP on enhanced oversight. Five of the 12
failed CO—OPs were never subject to corrective oversight. Five of
the 12 failed CO-OPs were never subject to corrective action by
HHS, and HHS waited until September 2015 to put five others on
corrective action or enhanced oversight. Two months later, all 12
CO-OPs had failed.

HHS also had the power to stop disbursing funds if a CO-OP’s
financial viability was in doubt. It never did to the bitter end. In-
stead, over the course of 2014 and 2015, HHS disbursed $848 mil-
lion in Federal loan dollars to the failed CO-OPs, even as those en-
tities lost more than $1.4 billion. That is about $1.65 in losses for
every $1 that HHS gave them. Think about that.

More unbelievable, near the end of 2014, HHS approved addi-
tional solvency loans for three of the failed CO-OPs that were in
danger of being shut down by State regulators for having insuffi-
cient capital—despite clear warning signs that those CO-OPs could
not turn things around. Here again HHS asked Deloitte to com-
plete an external review of the CO-OPs’ application for additional
solvency loans and their plans to improve their finances going for-
ward. But according to Deloitte, HHS truncated its review of these
applications. Deloitte did not evaluate, for example, “the likelihood
that each CO-OP would achieve sustainable operations based on
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the revised business plan”—which I would have thought was the
whole point. But even the limited analysis that HHS allowed
Deloitte to conduct pointed to clear warning signs that
CoOportunity, the New York CO-OP, and the Kentucky CO-OP
did not have a sound plan to regain their footing.

Nevertheless, these three CO—OPs alone received $355 million in
additional solvency loans from the taxpayers. All have failed, by
the way. The Kentucky CO-OP collapsed after suffering losses of
over $50 million in 2014 and another $115 million in 2015. At the
time of CoOportunity’s closure, that company’s operating losses ex-
ceeded $163 million. And most staggering of all, after HHS gave
the New York CO—OP $90 million to prolong its financial life rath-
er than allow it to scale down, that CO—OP went on to lose another
$544 million in 2015.

The financial aftermath of all this is dire. The Subcommittee ob-
tained the failed CO-OPs’ most recent financial statements, and
those statements show that none of the failed CO-OPs have repaid
a single dollar—not a single dollar—principal or interest, of the
$1.2 billion in Federal loans they received. In my view, it is un-
likely they will pay any significant fraction back. The latest state-
ments show that the failed CO-OPs’ non-loan liabilities exceed
$1.13 billion—which is 93 percent greater than their reported as-
sets, including money they expect to receive. On top of that, they
owe $1.2 billion to the Federal Government. As we said, we should
not hold our breath on repayment.

The American taxpayer is not the only creditor that stands to
suffer large losses due to the failure of the CO-OP Program. The
latest balance sheets we obtained show the failed CO-OPs have
more than $700 million in unpaid medical claims to doctors and
hospitals. Unpaid medical claims. In some States, these losses will
be absorbed by other insurance companies—which means by the
policyholders of other insurance companies who have to pay in-
creased premiums. This is going to go back to our constituents,
again, to the taxpayer. In other States, doctors, hospitals, and indi-
vidual patients stand to suffer large out-of-pocket losses due to the
CO-OQP failures, as our report details. We will talk about this more
in relationship to the New York CO-OP.

These failed CO-OPs were a costly experiment gone wrong, and
real people got hurt, including the more than 700,000 Americans
who lost their health plans. Today I plan to ask HHS whether they
accept any responsibility for the taxpayer waste, the disruption to
consumers, and the losses to doctors and hospitals that the
CO-OPs’ failures have wrought.

At this point, I would like to ask my colleagues if they would like
to make opening statements. All of you are welcome to do so. Sen-
ator Sasse arrived first, and, Senator Sasse, again, as I mentioned
earlier, you have done a lot of work on the issue of CoOportunity
and its effect on your constituents in Nebraska. And I appreciate
your being involved in this issue, and I wonder if you have an
opening statement.
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OPENING STATEMENT OF SENATOR SASSE

Senator SASSE. Yes, thank you, Chairman Portman, for your
leadership and for holding this important hearing today. I would
also first like to acknowledge our colleague and Ranking Member,
genator McCaskill. We all wish her well and a speedy return to the

enate.

Today’s hearing is about the families who lost their health care
plans. It is about the taxpayers who were swindled. It is about the
bureaucrats who mismanaged this program. And it is about the
local governments who had to cut budgets from firefighters and
schools to make up for Washington’s failures. Everyone in this
room—Republican and Democrat—has a duty to their constituents
to get the whole story.

The Affordable Care Act’s CO—-OP Program created 23 not-for-
profit health insurers using $2.4 billion in “loans” from the tax-
payer.

Less than a year into operation, the financial condition of many
of these CO-OPs was unstable at best. As today’s report being re-
leased by the Committee shows, the Centers for Medicare and Med-
icaid Services (CMS’) own private consultant, Deloitte, warned that
this was the case. Despite this, CMS continued to disburse loans
and then began awarding additional loans to these troubled
CO-OPs. Since then, 12 of the 23 have gone out of business, rep-
resenting a CO-OP failure rate of more than 50 percent.

Sadly, there were about 740,000 Americans covered by these 12
defunct insurance companies that were given $1.2 billion in so-
called loans from the taxpayer. As we have suspected for some
time, this Subcommittee’s report concludes that these loans will
never be repaid.

When these companies failed, they imposed varying degrees of
disr(‘iuption on their enrollees and the markets in which they oper-
ated.

Unfortunately, the mess caused by this program began in my
State with the abrupt failure of CoOportunity Health.
CoOportunity was headquartered in Iowa, but it operated in both
Nebraska and Iowa. And the newly created insurer was given a
total of $145 million of taxpayer-funded loans. Things seemed to be
going well at first when CoOportunity announced they had signed
up far, far more enrollees than they had anticipated.

However, despite ample funding and more than enough enrollees,
on December 16, 2014, as people were signing up for their 2015
coverage, the Iowa Insurance Commissioner placed CoOportunity
under a supervision order. One month later, in January of last
year, the Iowa Insurance Commissioner said rehabilitation of
CoOportunity would be impossible, and he sought a court order for
liquidation. After just one year of operation, the new not-for-profit
health insurer would collapse completely.

When CoOportunity failed, 120,000 enrollees, a majority of these
being Nebraskans, had their coverage canceled and were forced to
find new insurers. But the collateral damage from CoOportunity’s
failure does not end there for Nebraskans. CoOportunity, of course,
owed millions of dollars, as Chairman Portman has mentioned, to
doctors and hospitals for claims by its enrollees that will not be re-
paid.
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To address the insurer collapse, the State of Nebraska has a
guaranty fund that pays claims in the event of insurer collapse,
such as CoOportunity’s, and the guaranty fund is financed by as-
sessments on other insurance companies selling similar plans in
our State, prices that were at market rates, unlike what
CoOportunity offered originally, and that is why they had far too
many enrollees, because there was not competence to run this pro-
gram.

To help pay for CoOportunity’s unpaid claims, insurers in Ne-
braska were assessed fees totaling about $47 million last year
alone. It should be noted that this sum was not even enough to
cover CoOportunity’s losses and that the guaranty fund had to take
out a loan. As CoOportunity has no remaining assets, it is improb-
able that the guaranty fund will ever be repaid this $47 million.
In other words, it will be assessed onto other insurers in the mar-
ket.

These insurers had to pay CoOportunity’s outstanding bills, and
there is no reason to believe that CoOportunity will ever pay any
of this money back. As a result, Nebraska tax revenues will be de-
creased by $47 million because these insurers are subsequently
able over a 5-year period to reduce their tax liability to the State
in the amount of their contributions to bail out CoOportunity.

This means that my State will have much less revenue to pay
for priorities like education, roads, firefighters, and other local gov-
ernment issues. Thus, Nebraskans are going to have to pay for the
CoOportunity failure again, first as individuals became uninsured
and now as taxpayers have to bail out CoOportunity, on top of the
$145 million that they as taxpayers made in Federal loans to
CoOportunity.

As previously mentioned, 11 other CO-OPs have now failed, like-
ly initiating variations of this same story across 11 more States.
Moreover, depending on the viability of the 11 remaining CO-OPs,
it could happen in more States in the years to come. Indeed, of the
11 CO-OPs that remain in operation, we know that as of February
25th, CMS had placed 8 of the 11 under corrective action plans. In
addition, updated financial reports show that conditions here have
gravely worsened for the four CO-OPs with data available for the
fourth quarter of 2015.

Despite this mess, CMS has to date offered very little in terms
of a substantive explanation for the problems. I have been ques-
tioning the Department since last May about all of this after only
one failure. We now have 12 and potentially more on the horizon.
I have sent four letters to your agency over the course of this pe-
riod and have been working alongside Chairman Portman and the
Ranking Member to request documents to unearth the cause of this
debacle.

HHS owes all CoOportunity enrollees and all Federal taxpayers,
and particularly taxpayers in my State, an answer. I look forward
to this hearing, and I hope for some new and actual substantive
answers from the witness panel today.

Thank you.

Senator PORTMAN. Thank you, Senator Sasse. Senator Ayotte.
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Senator AYOTTE. I want to thank the Chairman for holding this
important hearing. I do not have an opening Statement. Thank
you.

Senator PORTMAN. Thank you. Senator Lankford

Senator LANKFORD. No opening Statement.

Senator PORTMAN. Thank you. Excellent. We will now call our
first panel of witnesses for this morning’s hearing.

Andy Slavitt is the Acting Administrator for the Centers for
Medicare & Medicaid Services. Before becoming Acting Adminis-
trator, he served as Principal Deputy Administrator beginning in
July 2014. Before joining CMS, he was group executive vice presi-
dent for Optum, where he oversaw the delivery of clinical, tech-
nical, and operational solutions to health care clients and con-
sumers, including the Department of Health and Human Services.

Kevin Counihan is the Marketplace Chief Executive Officer
(CEO) and CMS Deputy Administrator. Before joining CMS, he
served as CEO of Connecticut’s health insurance exchange,
AccessCT.

I appreciate both of you for being with us this morning, and we
look forward to your testimony. It is the custom before this Sub-
committee to swear in all witnesses, so at this time I would ask
you to please stand and raise your right hand. Do you swear that
the testimony you are about to give before this Subcommittee will
be the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth, so help
you, God?

Mr. SraviTr. I do.

Mr. CouNIHAN. I do.

Senator PORTMAN. Thank you. Having heard in the affirmative,
I appreciate your being here again, and your written testimony,
you should know, will be printed in the record in its entirety, and
we ﬁvould ask you to try to limit your oral testimony to 5 minutes
each.

Mr. Slavitt, we will hear from you first.

TESTIMONY OF ANDY SLAVITT,! ACTING ADMINISTRATOR,
CENTERS FOR MEDICARE & MEDICAID SERVICES

Mr. SLAvVITT. Thank you. Chairman Portman, thank you, and
Members of the Subcommittee. And I also want to offer my best to
Ranking Member McCaskill as well. And thank you for the invita-
tion to participate in this hearing on the CO-OP health insurance
companies.

I know you are all aware of the challenges that the CO-OPs
have faced, 12 having closed their doors prior to the end of 2015.
And I understand the questions that you have about how CMS pro-
vides oversight to CO-OPs, how CMS makes awards decisions, and
CMS’ level of accountability when a CO-OP closes.

As you know, the Affordable Care Act allocated over $2 billion
to start the CO-OP Program, the idea to stimulate new local com-
petition in an industry that has a history of being very difficult for
small companies to enter, with some entering markets that had not
seen a new competitor in decades.

1The prepared joint statement of Mr. Slavitt and Mr. Counihan appear in the Appendix on
page 50.
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Let me first clarify our oversight purview. Under law, the Fed-
eral Government is not granted authority reserved for the States;
analyzing and actuarially certifying rates and surplus levels, and
determining who is qualified to offer insurance during open enroll-
ment. CMS’ responsibility is to award and oversee funds and ulti-
mately maximize the likelihood that taxpayer funds are returned.

CO-OPs were selected and 85 percent of the loans were made
prior to the start of the first open enrollment in 2015. The remain-
ing 15 percent of funds were awarded during 2014. Loans were
made through an evaluation process and review and scoring from
a third party, which resulted in 16 percent of applications being
granted loans.

By the time I took this job in 2015, having come out of the pri-
vate sector, all the loan funding had been obligated, and my prin-
cipal focus was to ensure we had the best possible oversight prac-
tices. One of the first things I did was hire an independent actu-
arial consulting firm to do a risk assessment of all the companies
afresh.

Now, from that, our approach was driven by three unique chal-
lenges in overseeing CO-OP loan programs:

First, the challenges CO—OPs have had should not be viewed as
a CO-OP problem but as a small business startup problem in a
very difficult industry. And I hazard to say that all of the small
companies experienced similar challenges, CO-OP and
non-CO-OP.

While we were making loans to companies with 30 to 50 employ-
ees, they are typically competing with companies with multiple
thousands of people and worth tens of billions of dollars in capital.
Having run a startup in the past myself, trial and error is part of
creating success, and in this situation, with the limited capital
available and competing against giants, the CO—OPs had very little
room for error.

Second, as Mr. Counihan will elaborate on in a moment, across
the marketplace, during 2014 there was actually very limited ac-
tual performance information available before plans filed rates for
the 2015 year and for the CO-OP oversight team to evaluate the
financial position of the CO—OPs. Unlike almost every other busi-
ness, in insurance you get to make one pricing decision per year,
and you live to see the outcome. This is why our decisions to shut
down the CO-OPs were largely made prior to the third open enroll-
ment period.

Finally, all of the loan funding had been granted. Our strongest
remaining tool from oversight is to call the loan, which I can tell
you we did not take lightly, as it had ramifications for disrupting
consumers, as you know, and would certainly not have increased
the collectability of the CO—OP loans.

In light of these three challenges, we set up an extremely active
oversight process, which Mr. Counihan will cover in more detail.
We created other oversight tools, new methods of gathering infor-
mation, and focused decisions around key events like open enroll-
ment. We were guided by the view, and are guided by the view,
that the best way to maximize the opportunity for Federal loans to
be repaid is if the CO—OP makes it through the startup stage when
most failures occur and reaches a point of stability. Absent that, I
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have expected our team to be sober in their assessments and make
difficult judgments. And they have, making recommendations to
withhold funds, to place CO—OPs on corrective action plans, and to
work with States to shut down operations when that is what the
analysis suggested.

Mr. Counihan represents by almost anyone’s description as
knowledgeable and capable an executive as there is in these mat-
ters, and he and his team have not hesitated to make tough-mind-
ed calls. I recognize that when any program does not fully succeed,
it raises important questions for you. We, too, go through after-ac-
tion review to see what we would do differently and could improve.

Ultimately, our goal at CMS is to make sure that the programs
we are charged with are working as they should for American fami-
lies. Today more than 90 percent of Americans have health cov-
erage, and even in States where CO-OPs proved unsuccessful, in
the first year the overall uninsured rate decreased by 20 percent
and has continued to improve.

Challenges like the ones we are discussing today are part of
every program, and we must always be ready to work with them
transparently, with urgency, with accountability, and in the best
interests of taxpayers and consumers.

So thank you, Mr. Chairman, for allowing me these few minutes,
and, of course, we will be pleased to take your questions.

Senator PORTMAN. Thank you Mr. Slavitt. Mr. Counihan.

TESTIMONY OF KEVIN COUNIHAN,! MARKETPLACE CHIEF EX-
ECUTIVE OFFICER AND DEPUTY ADMINISTRATOR, CENTERS
FOR MEDICARE & MEDICAID SERVICES

Mr. CoUNIHAN. Thank you. Chairman Portman and Members of
the Subcommittee, thank you for the invitation to discuss the
CO-OP Program with you.

The team at CMS has the charge to specifically oversee the Fed-
eral loans made to these startups with the goal of maximizing the
return taxpayer funds, supporting the CO-OPs so that consumers
have access to uninterrupted competitive insurance coverage, and
providing information to State Departments of Insurance (DOIs) so
they can make the best possible decisions about the future of the
CO-OPs in their State.

Like Andy, I came to CMS from a long career in the private sec-
tor. I have had executive roles in insurance companies, and I have
overseen four successful health insurance exchanges.

Leveraging our experience, we worked with the teams to build
and improve the oversight operation for the CO-OP loans that in-
cludes tailored oversight protocols, a formal risk committee, and an
enhanced monitoring process. These processes are robust, have
built-in controls, including reviews from independent firms, and
utilized the knowledge of top financial professionals and actuaries.

The lifeblood of any oversight process is, of course, data-driven
decisionmaking. I will pick up on something Andy said. Our over-
sight team at CMS makes the best decisions they can based on the
information available at the time.

1The prepared joint statement of Mr. Counihan and Mr. Slavitt appear in the Appendix on
page 50.
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I think it is important to explain more about the information
available to the CO-OPs, the State Departments of Insurance and
CMS. In insurance, you know your revenues relatively quickly.
What you do not know for some time are your real claims costs be-
cause of the back-weighted nature of how care is consumed in the
yeaé" and the lag time in how claims are submitted, processed, and
paid.

Due to the lag in claims data, as we neared the end of 2014,
meaningful and complete data from the first and second quarters
of the year was all that was available. The first reliable financial
information on the CO-OPs’ 2014 performance from actual claims
only became available in the middle of 2015. This was well after
pricing decisions for plan year 2015 were made by the CO-OPs,
well after funding decisions needed to be made by CMS, and well
after certification and licensing decisions needed to be made by the
State Departments of Insurance for 2015 open enrollment.

Even when information is not readily available, we aggressively
gather and analyze the best information we can on program per-
formance and early warning signs. We used each of the oversight
tools at our disposal to support and correct the CO-OPs on issues
identified. In 2015, we conducted 27 financial and operational re-
views, 16 in-person visits, and had 43 communications, not to men-
tion hundreds of phone calls with the CO-OPs. This work is done
in close collaboration with the State Departments of Insurance who
have the full authority over all insurers in their State.

As Andy said, we have several oversight tools short of calling a
loan, including corrective action plans and using the leverage of
cash disbursements when possible to push for performance im-
provement. Approximately one-third of the time, we have withheld
some or all of a requested disbursement until the companies more
clearly demonstrated the need or took some other action.

This tool had limitations as not funding a cash disbursement
would cause a company to be out of State compliance, be unable
to pay claims, and ultimately default on their loan. Even with the
oversight and support provided by CMS and the Departments of
Insurance, having operated insurance businesses, I can tell you
that the outcomes of these companies are very much in their own
hands, more so than either their regulators or lenders. For the ex-
isting CO-OPs, we are now reviewing their fourth quarter finan-
cials and the results of the most recent open enrollment period.
Plan Year 2016 is a critical year for these CO—OPs. They must
move from startup to stability and improve their financial capabili-
ties, which are vital for their ability to predict, manage, and control
costs.

For the CO-OPs that are in the wind-down process, we are work-
ing with the Department of Justice (DOJ) to use every tool at our
disposal to maximize recovery of Federal funds owed, including re-
cently at the request of DOJ putting a hold on tens of millions of
funds as the process plays out.

CMS will continue to work closely with this Subcommittee, the
CO-0OPs, and the State Departments of Insurance to provide the
best outcome for consumers and taxpayers. We appreciate the Sub-
committee’s interest, and I am happy to answer any of your ques-
tions.
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Senator PORTMAN. Thank you, Mr. Counihan. We will have a
number of questions, and I appreciate you both being here and
your testimony.

I will say some of what you have just said confuses me, at least
as to the period 2014 and 2015. You talk about not having ade-
quate information, I think very limited information for HHS to re-
view. You talk about a lag in data. HHS had monthly financial
data to work with. You received the quarterly financial reports, Q1
by mid-May, Q2 by mid-August, so there was plenty of time to put
the failed CO-OPs on a corrective action plan or to cut your losses
before sending them into open enrollment in 2015. So I just do not
think that is accurate.

It is interesting also when you say, Mr. Slavitt, our strongest tool
is to call the loan. You have a lot of other tools, and Mr. Counihan
actually has laid out some of those tools to deal with CO-OPs: cor-
rective action plans, we talked about enhanced oversight plans, ter-
mination, of course. Ms. O’Brien, who is your CO-OP program di-
rector, told us these are all very valuable tools, and I know you are
using them now more frequently, but our question is: How did this
happen?

Throughout 2014, HHS did not use the tools at all with respect
to these failed CO—OPs. In fact, 5 of those 12 CO-OPs we have
talked about were never put on a corrective action or enhanced
oversight plan despite the fact, again, that you were receiving these
regular monthly and quarterly financial reports showing massive
losses. By the second quarter of 2014, 6 of the 12 failed CO-OPs
reported net income losses that exceeded the worst-case scenario in
their own business plans. By the end of the year, 10 of the 12 had
exceeded their projected worst-case-scenario losses for 2014 by at
least 300 percent—$263 million.

So I just do not think it is accurate to say you did not have infor-
mation and that there was a lag time that made it impossible to
respond. It is just not accurate. The loan agreement says enhanced
oversight plans should be used when a CO-OP “consistently under-
performs relative to its business plan.” That is in the agreement.
How could consistent monthly losses exceeding the worst-case sce-
nario by 300 percent not be considered underperformance? I guess
I would ask you that, Mr. Slavitt.

Mr. SLAVITT. Sure. Thank you. And let me just start by saying
these are very fair and appropriate questions, and they are ques-
tions that I have asked myself. To go back and look at 2014, obvi-
ously, a lot of this was before my time.

You may remember that in 2014 the exchanges got off to what
I might charitably call a “slow start.” Open enrollment had to be
extended, and so membership did not start to come until late. And
then, of course, the way health insurance works, people have
deductibles, so claim filings do not start to happen for a while. And
as Mr. Counihan described, you do not really get an accurate pic-
ture. And, look, I have been in this business a long time. You do
not really get a good, accurate picture. Certainly in my view, the
question I ask is: Did the people on the CO-OP team have enough
information to effectively shut down a CO-OP or call a loan? Be-
cause if they did not continue to disburse a loan, they would, in ef-
fect, put the plan out of compliance, and then obviously the kind
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of situation that we had in Nebraska and Iowa is not the kind of
situation we wanted to be in.

And I will say, to be fair, as I look back about things we would
have done differently, I will say that CoOportunity should never
have been allowed to go into the 2015 year, either by the CO-OP
or by ourselves. And I think that is a very fair criticism in looking
back, and I think that is something that we would all say.

When I look at the other CO-OPs and I look at all the evalua-
tions, notwithstanding that many of them were ahead of their busi-
ness plan on membership, some were behind, I can tell you that
the expression that once you have your first customer, your busi-
ness plan goes out the window, it is very true. The team I think
did the best job they could of evaluating the information they had.
But 3 to 6 months into a CO-OP being off the ground as a startup,
when I look at it—and, again, this is my opinion—and a reasonable
person could reach a different judgment. But when I look at it, I
look at the CO—OP team’s work, and I find it very difficult to criti-
cize them, with the exception of CoOportunity, for letting those
CO-0OPs move forward into the 2015 open enrollment year, reset
their pricing, which was allotted to them and approved by the De-
partments of Insurance, who also thought they should move in, and
to move forward and see what happened in 2015.

Obviously, looking back on judgments today, we have informa-
tion we did not have then about how their claims developed, and
I think that is why these are very fair questions.

I do not know, Kevin, if you want to add anything.

Mr. COUNIHAN. I guess what I would just add is, based on my
experience, startup health insurance companies are very high risk.
Over half of them fail. They take 3 to 5 years to stabilize and ma-
ture. It is seductive to look back and say look at what happened
after a certain amount of period and say, you should have done
something here and, if you look at open enrollment, for example,
in that period and when it ended, it took us until October into No-
vember to actually have any credible experience, because in the
first 3 months there is literally very modest utilization. And then
it continues to get a little bit better in the fourth and fifth and
sixth months, which is one of the reasons when issuers set their
rates for 2015, they were setting their rates on manual rates, not
based on experience. 2016 was the first year in which issuers actu-
ally had credible claims experience to set their rates from.

So, again, a lot of different factors. It is dynamic, and it is com-
plicated.

Senator PORTMAN. Yes, look, I know you were not there, but I
just think it is totally inappropriate for you all to say, as Mr.
Slavitt just did, they did the best job they could with the informa-
tion they had, and that somehow, this is just a problem with
startups.

First of all, we are talking about taxpayer money, $1.2 billion
certainly lost, 700,00-plus people losing their health care, and
somehow you guys seem to be saying that is just fine.

In terms of startups, these CO—OPs failed at a much higher rate
than the average startup. In fact, they did that despite the fact
that they had something that no startup I have ever known has,
which is millions of dollars in subsidized government loans. You
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say you have been in business a while. Wouldn’t you have loved to
have those millions of dollars in subsidized loans? You say that
they did not have information. Let us talk about that. By March
2014, two of the CO-OPs—this is 2014—CoOportunity and New
York CO-OP, had already exceeded their high enrollment projec-
tions for the year. We talked about that as being one of the data
points you are supposed to look at. They exceeded their scenario by
more than 150 percent within the first month of enrollment. By the
end of March 2014, New York CO-OP had more than doubled the
high enrollment scenario in its feasibility study. There was plenty
of information out there, and, again, you were not there. I am not
blaming you personally, but for HHS not to take some responsi-
bility or any accountability—were there any objective standards for
deciding when underperformance would trigger an enhanced over-
sight plan?

Mr. SLAVITT. Yes.

Senator PORTMAN. And what were those?

Mr. CoUNIHAN. Well, it depended. There was a series, Mr. Chair-
man, of what those could be. But one thing I would just like to
note—

Senator PORTMAN. But what were the objective—because let me
just tell you something so I am not surprising you. And, again, we
gave you guys this report to look at, OK? And we are trying to be
fair here. It is a thorough report. You gave us some comments. We
took your comments. But here is what we heard from the person
who is in charge of the CO-OP Program, the CO-OP director. She
told the Subcommittee there was no standard, no objective stand-
ard. She said there still is not a standard, by the way. It is done
on an ad hoc basis. That is information that we have. So to say
that there is and was assurance objective standard for deciding
when underperformance should trigger an enhanced oversight plan,
that is not what we learned. So, as manager of this $2.4 billion
portfolio, do you not think it would have been good to have some
kind of a metric to decide when enhanced oversight was appro-
priate?

Mr. SLAVITT. So, thank you, and the thing that I would say is
what I think the team does goes a level further than just having
a standard rote plan. They really get into these businesses because
they are at such an early and precarious stage. And as Kevin de-
scribed, we sent our teams out into the field not just to evaluate
but to provide technical assistance and the best advice that we can
relative to how these CO—OPs perform.

I will tell you that even when we put a CO-OP on an enhance
oversight plan, it is not a silver bullet because the reality is that
CO-OPs themselves have to perform. They have to price right, they
have to have a good enrollment strategy, they have to sell, they
have to service. And the Departments of Insurance are watching
them every step of the way to make sure that they are doing it
right, and I think everybody watches with a set of nervousness be-
cause these are such early and precarious operations.

So it is absolutely at least—and I can speak more to the time
since I have been here and since Kevin has been here, there has
been very intense activity:
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Senator PORTMAN. Let me just—not to interrupt, we are talking
about 2014 into 2015.

Mr. SLAVITT. Yes.

Senator PORTMAN. And, I do not know what the level of losses
needed to be. Certainly 300 percent was not enough. But you did
not have standards in place that enabled you to react quickly
enough to be able to save this hemorrhaging of taxpayer dollars
and the dislocation to all those patients who lost their health care.

Senator Sasse, I will turn to you for questions. Sorry I am a little
bit over my time. We will come back for another round, too.

Senator SASSE. Thank you, Chairman.

First of all, before I go to my questions, I just want to acknowl-
edge something that Mr. Slavitt said a minute ago. I think you said
that the CoOportunity failure should have been foreseen in 2014,
should have never entered 2015. Is that correct?

Mr. SLAVITT. I think that is correct.

Senator SASSE. Well, thank you for that. That is a significant ad-
mission, so I appreciate your honesty on that.

More broadly, as far as distinguishing between different regu-
latory responsibilities at HHS and in State Departments of Insur-
ance, I understood in your opening statement that you said many
of these issues are failures of State Departments of Insurance, and
I think you said that the primary responsibility of HHS was to
maximize potential repayment of loans to the taxpayer. Is that cor-
rect?

Mr. SLAVITT. I would not use the word “failures,” but I think you
have the sense right of the delineation of responsibilities.

Senator SASSE. OK. So let us distinguish between CoOportunity,
which you have acknowledged was a failure of oversight, should
have never been able to go from 2014 to 2015, the next 11 that
failed, and the 11 that remain. If one of your primary responsibil-
ities is to maximize repayment to the fisc and to the American tax-
payer, do you expect that there will be any repayment to taxpayers
from CoOportunity?

Mr. SLAVITT. So I think it is too early to say, but let me walk
you through how we are approaching this. I think that is the fair-
est way to answer your question.

Senator SASSE. The place is insolvent. They do not exist. You do
not think they are actually going to pay any dollars back to the
taxpayer, do you?

Mr. SpAvITT. Well, so there are three sources of funds that we
look to, and the Department of Justice is in the lead on this, and
I think they would be happy to answer your questions on these
more specifically. And because I do want to maximize these recov-
eries, I do not want to say anything in this hearing publicly that
is going to hurt my negotiating position or the position of the De-
partment of Justice. But, briefly, three things that we look at:

First, after the CO-OP finishes paying claims, which for these 11
additional CO-OPs they are going to do roughly through the first
6 months of this year. Again, there is this lag effect. All the claims
are still coming in.

Second, there are a series of receivables that we, as Mr.
Counihan said in his opening statement, if you caught it, that we
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have just put a hold on some funds that the CO-OPs have been
expecting. That is a second source of funds.

The third

Senator SASSE. What are those?

Mr. SLAVITT. They are receivables for things like the reinsurance
payment, things like that.

Mr. COUNIHAN. Risk adjustments.

Mr. SLAVITT. And so that is the second source of funds.

And then the third source of funds is there are lawsuits and
judgments both with contractors and vendors, and in many of these
situations—and, again, I do not want to venture into someone else’s
fight. CO—OPs have felt poorly served by some of their vendors in
terms of providing them enough financial information to see the
full picture. That is also a potential source. So the DOJ, in looking
at all three of those categories, is taking the lead and pursuing the
Federal Government’s interests. I think it will take some time to
play this out in the case of all of these situations. Obviously, we
do not expect 100 percent recovery or anything close to that. But
we are expecting between those sources and the strategy that they
pursue that there will be funds recovered for the taxpayers.

Senator SASSE. And if you had to guess, across the 12 failures,
what percentage of their $1.2 billion do you think taxpayers will
ultimately receive?

Mr. SLAVITT. I cannot guess. It would be irresponsible for me to
guess. I also do not want to bias our opportunities here.

Senator SASSE. Would a fair bet on over-under between 100
bucks? I mean, they are not going to repay any of these moneys.

Mr. SLAVITT. I am not going to take that bait, because I want the
Department of Justice, as they have asked me to do, to let them
do their jobs.

Senator SASSE. To this point about what State Departments of
Insurance, particularly in Iowa and Nebraska, should have done, if
we can look at the exhibit book, page 35,1 it reads that the cash
on hand—or CoOportunity Health will ultimately be assumed to
achieve a total enrollment of 66,101 by the end of year 2014, which
is 55,000 more than original projections. That is pretty extraor-
dinary.2

Mr. SLAVITT. I am sorry. Can you help me where

Senator SASSE. On exhibit book, page 35——

Mr. SLAVITT. Am I looking at

Senator SASSE [continuing]. The heading is

Mr. SLAVITT. Is this what I am looking at?

Senator SASSE. Yes.

Mr. SraviTT. OK. And where are the page

Senator SASSE. Page 35 is essentially the CoOportunity addi-
tional solvency loan funding request report submitted to CMS in
July 2014. The second page of that addendum, there is “Critical As-
sertions.” Point 1 is about enrollment. There is an enrollment table
there, and it says that CoOportunity—you do not have it?

Mr. SLAVITT. I am not seeing this.

1The exhibit referenced appears in the Appendix on page 176.

2 Additional excel exhibits are too large to be printed in the hearing record and are available
on http://www.hsgac.senate.gov/subcommittees/investigations/hearings/review-of-the-affordable-
care-act-health-insurance-co-op-program.
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[Pause.]

Senator SASSE. So the overenrollment in CoOportunity is ex-
traordinary, I mean, both of you having had private sector experi-
ence. I have not worked in the insurance space like you all have,
but I have never heard of any startup business overperforming its
projected volume of subscriber base by anything like this.

Mr. SLAVITT. Right.

Senator SASSE. I think you are going to say that this is primarily
a Department of Insurance in Iowa and Nebraska problem, but I
guess I have two lines of questioning there. One is: Were you talk-
ing to them? And if not, on what basis would you possibly
have—your Department. I recognize that you were not there per-
sonally, but on what basis would your Department have possibly
concluded that they were solvent and that their pricing was right?
Because one more bit of context. Other insurers in the State and
brokers in the State were talking widely across Nebraska that we
have 93 counties, and we have two metropolitan regions, Omaha
and Lincoln, and we have a whole bunch of cattle country. And
pricing in rural places is complicated because you only have a cou-
ple of hospital systems. We have a Catholic health system, we have
a University of Nebraska system, and you have a few small inde-
pendent freestanding hospitals. And trying to project utilization
and rates a year into the future is difficult, and so the insurers and
the brokers in our State have a rough sense of how pricing should
work, and everybody who knew anything knew that CoOportunity
was pricing way too cheap. They did not know what they were
doing. And yet you all gave them additional money.

So either you should have known that they were incompetent, or
you are going to assert that the Departments of Insurance in Iowa
and Nebraska should have known. And then I wonder if you were
talking with them. On what basis would you make the decision to
give them additional loans.

Mr. SLAVITT. I am not going to pass the buck. Looking at it, we
both should have known, I think particularly relative to moving
into 2015.

A couple things. As we have done our autopsy on that situation,
we do think that they underpriced perhaps, and also that their
benefit designs attracted disproportionately sicker populations. And
when things go bad, they go bad fast.

So by no means do I want to point the finger at either Nebraska
or Towa State Department of Insurance. Kevin spent a ton of time
talking to them, and so he can talk through a lot of—we were in
constant contact, constant dialogue, because it is challenging. And
when things start to go fast, they go fast in an awful hurry. So if
someone beats their projections on revenue, some will look at that
as a good thing. They will present that as, “Hey, look at how great
I am doing. More people like our product.” Others will look at it
and say, “Well, gee, the reason you beat your projections is you
underpriced your product.” And because they do not have a chance
to correct it until the next year, they have to live through the en-
tire year with whatever price they set.

So the real decision point should have been what do we do about
entering the next year, because that is the point in time when they
should have known. Obviously, as you have pointed out and you



17

well know, the situation deteriorated pretty rapidly, and I think it
became apparent to everybody involved and everybody looking at
the data, both the departments and ourselves, that we should have
taken action.

Senator SASSE. And, Mr. Counihan, I will go to you, and then I
know that I have to yield back to the Chairman. But the 120,000
people who became uninsured in Nebraska and Iowa became unin-
sured with plans that they re-enrolled in in December 2014 and
had knowledge basically that they were going to be uninsured by
the end of January 2015. So as far as going bad fast, I will ac-
knowledge that. And yet people who were uninsured for the 11
months of 2015, so obviously that is a complete regulatory travesty.
But I think it begs questions not only about the decision to fund
the additional loans, but what kinds of technical assistance was
possibly——

Mr. SLAVITT. I think folks——

Senator SASSE [continuing]. Provided to these insurers.

Mr. SLAVITT. I am sorry to interrupt. I think folks got covered.
About 40 percent of people in Nebraska opted for another plan. The
other 60 percent were covered by the guaranty fund, and we can
certainly talk about guaranty fund

Mr. COUNIHAN. I do not think anybody lost coverage, Senator.

Mr. SLAVITT. There is a cost, certainly a cost to the State of the
guaranty fund, typically borne by the insurers, and we can talk
about the merits and the challenges of that. But our priority at the
time was to set up a team to focus on each individual in Iowa and
Nebraska and track their cases and make sure that people did get
coverage. It was disruptive for them, so I am not going to excuse
that. But we did track that.

Mr. COUNIHAN. Yes. And, you made some good insights about the
market in Nebraska. Frankly, we depend on the Departments of
Insurance to really have that same kind of insight, much more
than we are going to have. The rates that you talked about are ac-
tuarially developed. They have to be presented to the actuary in
the actuarial departments of each State Department Insurance.
They are walked through; the assumptions are kicked. Those DOIs
do a pretty good job of trying to understand what the rates ought
to be, and we trust them. And as Andy said, we got intimately in-
volved in that transition.

You look back and say, “Could we have done something dif-
ferently?” In retrospect, you bet. But what we tried to do is ac-
knowledge, move on, learn from it, and make sure that those pa-
tients in both States got coverage.

Senator SASSE. Thank you.

Senator PORTMAN. Thank you, Senator Sasse.

Let me just follow up on one of the questions you had, which is,
will these Federal loans ever be repaid? And the answer was we
are not going to talk about it, that the Department of Justice is
working on it. The real answer, of course, is no. Our investigation
shows that in the aggregate, the failed CO—OPs’ non-loan—this is
non-loan liabilities, that is, not even counting what they owe the
Treasury, exceed $1.13 billion, which is 93 percent greater than the
reported assets. So just in case you did not know that, if you get
asked that question again, I think your answer is, “Where is it
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going to come from?” I mean, we are talking about failed CO-OPs’
non-loan liabilities, forgetting the $1.2 billion we talked about, ex-
ceed $1.13 billion, which is 93 percent greater than the reported as-
sets. So I think it is a near certainty that you are going to have
a complete loss here in addition to the dislocation that we talked
about.

Let us talk for a second about another issue that was raised
briefly but one that concerns me a lot, and I think continues to be
a huge problem with the way in which this was handled back in
2014 and 2015, and that is the issue of unpaid medical claims. In
certain States, as you know, there is a substantial amount of un-
paid claims, and one example would be New York. Health Republic
of New York currently has $157 million in assets according to the
latest balance sheet. It also has $379.5 million in unpaid medical
claims. So their unpaid medical claims are well in excess of their
assets, a shortfall of about $221 million, even if all those assets
were devoted just to pay the doctors and the hospitals and the clin-
ics and the patients that relied on it for their insurance payments.

In other States, that shortfall might be covered your statewide
guaranty funds, as was talked about today, including Nebraska, in
which other insurance companies basically chip in to cover the
losses, or sometimes it is an unfunded mandate on the States. But
in New York, the CO—-OPs’ unpaid medical claims are not covered
by a guaranty fund. So I guess, Mr. Counihan, my question to you
is: What is going to happen to these claims? Doctors, hospitals, pa-
tients are likely to go unpaid, right?

Mr. CoUNIHAN. I know the New York situation extremely well,
Senator.

Senator PORTMAN. What is going to happen?

Mr. COUNIHAN. In all likelihood—I do not know the complete an-
swer to that question yet. They are still going through a com-
plicated wind-down process. So in all honesty, it is premature for
me to say. But you are right in what you said, which is New York
is a State that does not have a guaranty fund for health insurance.
They have guaranty funds for many other insurance coverages. At
present, they do not have one for health insurance.

Senator PORTMAN. The experts tell us that, if anything, the year-
end claims numbers are likely to turn out even worse than they are
now, that it is not going down, it is going up. And I just do not
know how you can imagine that these claims are going to be paid
when, again, you have a balance sheet that shows $379.5 million
in unpaid medical claims, a shortfall over its assets of $222 million,
even, again, if all those assets were just devoted to these unpaid
medical claims.

Mr. SLAVITT. Yes, and I do not know that they are. I would like
to—

Senator PORTMAN. You do not know that they are

Mr. SLAVITT. T do not know that they are going to be paid. I
would like, though, to talk a little bit about New York in this con-
text. But I also have to say the numbers you quoted me about as-
sets and liabilities, with due respect I need time to review this re-
port. Some of our staff got to review it in camera yesterday, and
I am not willing to accept that those are the accurate numbers
until I have had a chance to review——
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Senator PORTMAN. Well, Mr. Slavitt, with all due respect, you are
a smart guy, why should we be having to give you numbers that
are publicly available? Get the numbers yourself.

Mr. SrAvITT. I have—we have our numbers.

Senator PORTMAN. You should have already had these numbers.
You are saying that you do not trust our numbers. Again, we
showed you this report. We gave you the chance to respond to it.
That is unusual, as you know. We made all the changes that you
suggested. But you are saying you cannot trust our numbers. You
should know these numbers. This is your job. Not to know what the
assets and liabilities are of these companies. Let me give you some
more numbers because they are accurate.

Our report points out that in three States with no guaranty fund
coverage—in other words, no guaranty fund here—failed CO-OPs
are reporting $500 million in unpaid claims and not nearly enough
assets to cover them. And we are talking about New York, as I
said, but also Kentucky, Louisiana. Imagine that. You sign up for
health insurance in the Obamacare marketplace. You pay your pre-
miums on time. You do everything right, and you play by the rules.
And then your insurance company goes bust. And then what hap-
pens? The hospital can sue you for your unpaid bill, even though
you have done everything right.

I mean, I just think it is amazing that you guys are not more
concerned about this. Can you give all those patients assurance
that is not going to happen, they are not going to get a bill and
have to pay twice?

Mr. SraviTT. We certainly are concerned about all these wind-
downs, and these wind-downs are complicated processes both from
the standpoint of the patients, who I think are the first priority,
the physicians and hospitals who you discuss in the context of New
York, and also the Federal Government interests. So, there are
precedents through the course of history of health insurance com-
panies winding down. There are processes that States run. States
have jurisdiction over that process. We try to represent our own in-
terests in that process, the Federal Government. But I will say we
have—and you may criticize us for this, but we have released
funds—in fact, we have released $30 million of funds last year
under my authority to CO-OPs that were closing down so that they
could pay claims for consumers. And you could argue that that was
$30 million that could have been in the Federal Treasury, but we
believed it was an obligation that——

Senator PORTMAN. Well, $30 million of taxpayer money. It is the
same people. These are taxpayers who have found themselves los-
ing their health insurance and now potentially facing claims from
providers because their health insurance company that was a fed-
erally established, federally subsidized health care company went
bust.

Mr. SLaviTT. Well, I can tell you——

Senator PORTMAN. There are some real human costs to this. Let
me tell you what the New York CO-OP situation is, because you
question our numbers or you have not looked at the numbers your-
selves. This is how we got into that mess. It vastly overshot its en-
rollment targets while underpricing its premiums, leading to multi-
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plying financial losses. And all this information was available to
you guys.

In response, it considered scaling down its operations and reduc-
ing membership to a sustainable level, but HHS gave the CO-OP
$90.7 million, so you are talking about giving them more money,
which it used to scale up and add about 58,000 enrollees in 2015.
OK? So you made it worse. The resulting losses led to a $544 mil-
lion loss, sent those enrollees scrambling for new coverage, and,
again, left doctors, hospitals, and patients with medical costs worth
hundreds of millions of dollars. That is what happened. And so as
you give out more taxpayer money, I hope you will look at that ex-
ample of New York. And who did that help at the end of the day?
It certainly did not help those individuals, those families who are
now facing this prospect of having to pay twice and undergo the
dislocation we talked about.

Mr. SLAVITT. I would like to try to respond, and in doing so, I
want to make sure that in the course of saying I want to review
your numbers, the more important point is not lost that if there are
individual cases where individuals are in difficult situations and
are not getting covered, we have a unit that is set up that looks
at all these kinds of cases, and I want to know of any of these spe-
cific cases, because that will be a very high priority for us. So
whether or not your numbers and our numbers match, that is less
material to me than making sure that I communicate that if there
are situations that you hear of in any of those States.

New York is an interesting situation, and Mr. Counihan will be
able to talk about this because he spent days and days and days
on end, did multiple trips to New York. We conducted separate spe-
cial audits for New York. What is interesting about New York is
when the original loan was made, as I look back on the Deloitte
reports that were before my time, New York had scored over 90
percent, I think the highest if not one of the highest scores, and
even when I hired an independent auditing firm when I took the
job in February, New York was not identified as high-risk. And so
there was a narrative or a belief, again, based upon the fact that
claims had not come in yet from many independent sources, that
New York was doing really well.

We saw some early warning signs, and Kevin and I ordered and
independent audit and sent auditors up there in, I believe, the
third quarter, and presented to the States and to the CO-OPs that
they were going to see losses they had not yet expected. And I
think what happened in New York, if I can get into the specific ex-
ample, is their financial systems were not as accurate, and so the
reports that they were sending us around the profitability of that
large book of business was not accurate. And it was not until we
did this independent audit—and you can correct me if I have got-
ten any of this in any way incorrect—that we realized that this was
a situation that was going to come back and hurt them. And we
spent a significant amount of time in the situation to try to prevent
the damage that we are talking about right now. But, Kevin, you
can add anything.

Mr. COUNIHAN. No, Andy. I think you said it well.

Senator PORTMAN. OK. Well, if there had been proper oversight
back in 2014, we would have been able to address this issue, be-
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cause they did overshoot substantially their enrollment targets.
And, again, underpricing premiums, overshooting enrollment tar-
gets leads to this multiplying effect we talked about, and that is
exactly what happened. And then we gave them more money, and
it created even more problems. And that is the reality.

I want to give Senator Sasse the opportunity to ask a question.
I will come back for one more round. Senator Sasse.

Senator SASSE. Thank you.

I would like to look at the report. I know that you said you have
not had a chance to read all of it in detail, but I want to point to
two pages that I think are fairly self-explanatory.

The main report that we are talking about today that was re-
leased, can we go to pages 56 and 57, “IV. Misconceptions Con-
cerning the CO—-OP Program.” When I asked a few minutes ago if
you really thought that any of these 12 failed CO-OPs were con-
ceivably going to ever repay the taxpayer, you said that potentially
their accounts receivable would become a source of some of the
funding that might come back to the taxpayer. And I asked what
that meant, and you said that the reinsurance program might be
yielding funds for some of these failed CO—OPs.

If you would go with me to page 56 and 57, I would like—again,
as the Chairman has said, these are publicly available numbers. I
would like you to just walk me through what this table! means. I
think what it means is that the CO—OPs had much healthier popu-
lations than the overall Obamacare or Affordable Care Act market-
place. And if that is true, this means that, on net, our CO-OPs
paid in $116 million to the reinsurance program. They are not get-
ting any money back. I mean, here and there you may have one.
The Arizona example, Meritus Health Partners, I am not familiar
with them. It says that they are going to receive $2 million of rein-
surance payments. But, on net, these insurers, including
CoOportunity in my State, if you look at CoOportunity on page 56,
they, on net, paid in $6.4 million because they had healthier popu-
lations than the insurance marketplace as a whole, which I think,
humbly, contradicts the entire line of answers you gave in our last
exchange.

Mr. SLAVITT. Well, that would be bad if it did. I think the confu-
sion—and these are complicated programs—is between risk adjust-
ment, which you are referring to, and reinsurance.

Senator SASSE. OK, you are right. I should have used the term
“risk adjustment.” Let us go forward with that.

Mr. SLAVITT. So risk adjustment is one source, one potential
source of receivable. So is reinsurance, and so is risk corridors, be-
cause no one really has a good feel for how much risk corridors are
going to pay in the coming years, so those are reserved, separately.

So all three of those are potential sources of funds, and as I men-
tioned, we have just put a hold on tens of millions of dollars of re-
ceivables to CO-OPs that they have been expecting from those
sources. So those funds are available.

Senator SASSE. OK, tens of millions. We are talking about $1.2
billion, though, so let us have our numerator and denominator
right. I mean, how much are we talking about, $30 million?

1The table referenced by Senator Sasse appears in the Appendix on page 136.
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Mr. SLAVITT. Correct—I do not have the exact figure, but I can
get that to you.

Senator SASSE. What is that? That is 2 percent of the total we
are talking about today. Let us say your tens of millions is $90 mil-
lion. We are still at less than 5 percent of the real question here,
right?

Mr. SLAVITT. From that particular hold, correct.

Senator SASSE. OK. Are there other sources?

Mr. SrAvITT. That hold does not represent the entirety of what
the receivables would be. And, look, I know it would be helpful if
I could give you an estimate, and I understand why you would
want me to—why it would be helpful to give you an estimate. And
I hope you understand why I am reluctant to start negotiating pub-
licly some figure. And I also think it is irresponsible because I will
be wrong almost no matter what number I say.

But to your general point, do I expect we are going to recover 95
percent or 100 percent of these loans? No, I do not.

Senator SASSE. But do you really expect we are going to recover
10 percent of these loans? You do not——

Mr. SLAVITT. I do not know. I do not know. I really do not.

Senator SASSE. What is the universe that could ever get us to 10
percent?

Mr. SpaviTT. I think I went through the categories. I do not
know that I could be more specific. But I would be happy

Senator SASSE. I know, but I do not want the categories. I want
the taxpayers’ money.

Mr. SLAVITT. I would be happy to followup, go through this re-
port, which I have not had a chance to go through—I am sure there
will be things in there that will be helpful to us; we do have our
own sets of numbers—and sit down and try to see how much infor-
mation we can provide you.

Senator SASSE. OK. Your distinction between risk adjustment
and reinsurance and the risk corridors is important. Technically,
obviously, that is true. But it is still based on the underlying
premise that maybe the CO-OPs failed because they had a much
sicker population. And I think what the risk insurance numbers on
page 56 and 57 show us is that the CO-OP enrollees were actually
healthier than the average population. So the broad ideas that
these CO-OPs failed because they sort of accidentally attracted a
much sicker population, I do not think we have any evidence that
shows that to be the case.

Mr. SLAVITT. And I do not think I made that claim. If I did—cer-
tainly that would be a sweeping generalization that I would not
make. And I also do not know that they had a healthier population
because of the risk adjustment. I think the CO-OPs would tell you,
many of the CO—-OPs would tell you that they had a sicker popu-
lation, but they were not able to get their numbers submitted for
risk adjustment appropriately, and Kevin can walk through that,
if you would like.

Senator SASSE. Sure, I would love to hear that.

Mr. CouNiHAN. OK. Well, essentially, Senator, the risk adjust-
ment program is highly sensitive to claim coding and diagnostic
codes. And if they are not done properly or thoroughly, that can
have a real impact on the financials of that CO-OP and other risk
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adjustment. And we clearly have a terrific example with one of
those who has subsequently corrected that. Again, no heroes or vil-
lains. We are all learning, but that is very sensitive to that.

Mr. SLAVITT. But in a nutshell, their financial systems were be-
hind at the time they made

Senator SASSE. Understood. But I am not looking for villains. 1
am thinking we need to acknowledge the just utter incompetence
of trying to essentially plan a program like this. So I am not assert-
ing that anyone here is evilly motivated. But whether or not any-
body is competent to oversee this program, I have not seen any evi-
dence of that yet. So, humbly, I am not asserting villain. I am just
saying that, the more you look at these numbers, the less plausible
it is that anybody knew what they were doing when they looked
at these CO-OPs when one of the sort of core answers for why this
sub-segment of the larger Affordable Care Act population market-
place could have failed would have been because the CO-OPs at-
tracted an unusually sick population. It does not seem like we have
any evidence that suggests that, and it would appear, again, just
based on the snapshot we have from the risk adjustment market,
that a net pay-in of $116 million is not a net zero and it is not a
net pay-out. I think your evidence would suggest these are
healthier than average, which makes it even harder to understand
how we would not have recognized that we were going to have a
failure rate of more than 50 percent among the CO-OPs.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Senator PORTMAN. Thank you, Senator Sasse.

We are in the third round here, Mr. Chairman, and I do not
want to catch you unaware, but if you are interested in asking a
question, I would like you to go before me since I know you have
other hearings to attend.

Chairman JOHNSON. Go ahead.

Senator PORTMAN. All right. Well, let us followup on New York,
because, Mr. Slavitt, you indicated that you all had spent a lot of
time looking at that, and particularly you said that Mr. Counihan
had spent time. You made a statement that said that you thought
that your team, again, had done the best job they could with the
information that they had. When HHS awarded additional solvency
loans to these three failed CO-OPs we talked about—Kentucky,
New York, and CoOportunity—when they were in danger of miss-
ing their capital requirements, you had to know they were in finan-
cial trouble and at risk of being shut down by State regulators. And
yet you invested hundreds of millions of additional dollars in tax-
payer dollars.

In your written testimony, you confirm what you said today. You
say that in evaluating additional solvency loan applications, “CMS
undertook a rigorous review process substantially similar to what
was conducted for the initial round of loans.” That is your testi-
mony. Let us explore that for a minute. Let us take, again, New
York as an example, because you both talked about that earlier,
how you spent a lot of time on that.

Like all CO-OPs, its initial loan application involved third-party
review of its business plan by Deloitte. We talked about the
Deloitte review earlier, which included extensive discussion of the
reasonableness of proposed budgets, finances, and business plans.
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Let us turn to the first page, page 1 of the hearing exhibit pack-
age.! That is this package. On page 1, you see the analysis that
Deloitte did of the New York CO-OP’s application for an additional
solvency loan. Right at the top, the first sentence reads, and I
quote, “Deloitte will not provide an opinion regarding the reason-
ableness of the proposed changes to each CO-OP’s business plan.
Nor will Deloitte provide an opinion regarding the likelihood of
each CO-OP achieving sustainable operations based upon the re-
vised business plan.”

So this notion that it was substantially similar to what was con-
ducted in the initial round of loans is just not accurate. Deloitte did
not provide the analysis. I am told, by the way, by some of your
people that they said you guys did not give them enough time to
do it because you wanted to get the money out the door. But
Deloitte did not do that analysis.

In light of that, do you stand by your testimony that this review
was rigorous and substantially similar to the review provided to
initial loan applications which did include, again, this third-party
analysis of whether the CO—OP’S business plans were reasonable?

Mr. SLAVITT. I do not, and I know I do not need to keep stipu-
lating it was before my time, so—but I will say

Senator PORTMAN. And I understand that, but in your testimony
you are making the statements that are important for this hearing
because we are talking about, again, this question of competence,
as we said earlier, but also, accountability and what can we learn
from this.

Mr. SLAVITT. Sure.

Senator PORTMAN. If you are saying everything was done right,
we did the analysis just as we did with the initial loans, it is just
not accurate.

Mr. SrAviTT. It is a fair question, absolutely. And I think the
way I interpret Deloitte’s statement here is that they are not ulti-
mately accountable for these decisions. We are. And that is abso-
lutely correct. The purpose behind hiring——

Senator PORTMAN. Well, wait. They are saying they did not pro-
vide an opinion. They are—period. Not that here is our opinion but
you guys are ultimately accountable. They did provide opinions on
the initial loans. We talked about that. We talked about it. You
guys set up the standards. And I talked about the concerns that
they raised in each of those where there should have been a red
flag. But here they did not even do it. That is the point.

Mr. SLAVITT. I think the team, what they were doing, the risk
committee, was getting multiple sets of eyes, and I think what the
Deloitte team is saying is, Hey, you cannot count on what you are
seeing from us to be what they are warranting, at least the way
I read this, they are warranting that we should not count on their
analysis in making this judgment. And I think that is——

Senator PORTMAN. They did not do an analysis. That is the point.
So here is my question to you: Who did do the analysis? Who did
do the analysis when additional taxpayer dollars were given to
New York? Who did the analysis? We have asked you all this, by

1The page referenced by Senator Portman appears in the Appendix on page 142.



25

the way, for several months now, and we cannot get an answer.
That is one reason I am asking you, because we do not know.

Mr. SLAVITT. I believe they did do the analysis. I believe they did
not render an opinion.

Senator PORTMAN. Who is “they”?

Mr. SLAVITT. Deloitte.

Senator PORTMAN. No. Let me look at the document. This is page
1. Page 1 right here. This is from Deloitte: “. . . will not provide
an opinion regarding the reasonableness of the proposed changes to
each CO-OP’s business plan. Nor will Deloitte provide an opinion
regarding the likelihood of . . . sustainable operations based upon
the revised business plan.”

Mr. SLAVITT. Are you saying because they did not render an
opinion they did not do an analysis?

Senator PORTMAN. Yes. Well, did they?

Mr. SLAVITT. Yes.

Senator PORTMAN. Why haven’t you provided us that analysis?

Mr. StaviTT. That is what it is. That is what this is. This is the
analysis. They provided the analysis, and what they said is use this
analysis, make your decision, but we are not providing an opinion.

Senator PORTMAN. Yes, and you are saying they did not provide
opinions for the initial loans?

Mr. SLAVITT. No, I am not saying that. I am saying they

Senator PORTMAN. Well, that is what your statement says. Your
statement says you “undertook a rigorous review process substan-
tially similar . . .” Do you think substantially similar means in one
case there is an opinion, in another case there is not an opinion,
and those are substantially similar? You did not give them enough
time because you wanted to get the money out the door. That is
what we are told. And so, I mean, look——

Mr. SLAVITT. I think I would find the work substantially similar
enough that I would stand by that statement. Regardless of the
fact that they said, hey, we are not willing to say that this is an
opinion, I think the work is substantially similar. I understand you
do not think that it is.

Senator PORTMAN. Yes, well, look, you probably had some inter-
nal experts analyze the question and, therefore, you felt like you
did not need Deloitte to do it, which is probably what your more
accurate answer would be. My view is you needed the third-party
analysis and the third-party opinion.

Again, let us recap what happened in New York. Health Republic
of New York applies for an additional solvency loan. It was pro-
jecting a loss of 562.8 million in 2014, $23 million in the next year,
so we know the CO-OP’s original business plan was not working.
The original projections were wildly off the mark, as we talked
about earlier. Its losses were 14 times greater. And yet you award-
ed the CO-OP an additional $90.7 million without having any
third-party opinion as to whether its new business plan was rea-
sonable or likely to work. And the consequence was that the
CO-OP lost $77.5 million in 2014, $544 million—more than half a
billion dollars—in 2015. And, again, we talked about the con-
sequences of this, the human toll, which is families, individuals not
just having to be dislocated, but now facing the possibility that
these claims that have not been paid—doctors, hospitals,
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clinics—could come back on them. So they paid once; they paid
their premiums. They did everything they were told to do. And now
they have this risk.

So I guess I would hope that you would say if you had to do it
over again, you would actually ask for that third-party analysis
that you—and opinion that you had in the initial loans that you
say were substantially similar.

With that, let me turn to the Chairman of the Committee who
has joined us and thank him for his help with regard to PSI gen-
erally, but specifically on this investigation. Senator Johnson.

Chairman JOHNSON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and I appreciate
you calling this hearing. I apologize I could not be here earlier. I
was at a Senate Foreign Relations business meeting, which had
some important resolutions we had to be passing. So I missed a lot
of the detailed testimony and questions and answers, and I really
do not want to hop into where some other people have tread.

Let me kind of pull back and let us go to the obvious. Mr. Slavitt,
your background is in the private sector, correct?

Mr. SLAVITT. That is correct, Senator.

Chairman JOHNSON. You came from Optima, which is a division
of United Health?

Mr. SLAVITT. Optum, yes.

Chairman JOHNSON. What was the average profit margin of
United Health after tax?

Mr. SLAVITT. Four, 5, 6 percent perhaps.

Chairman JOHNSON. Relatively low. I mean, on average, public
corporations have pre-tax about 10 percent and after-tax about 5
percent, correct?

Mr. SLAVITT. Yes.

Chairman JOHNSON. Not a wildly profitable or outrageously prof-
itable type of industry, correct.

Mr. SrAvVITT. That is correct.

Chairman JOHNSON. From your standpoint—again, I know you
are new to the position—wouldn’t you have kind of real concerns
as a private sector insurer under the old system that when the gov-
ernment set up a bunch of these CO-OPs, that they were going to
subsidize them with these risk corridors and these reinsurance
plans, weren’t you a little concerned that maybe these CO-OPs
might tend to try and gain market share by underpricing their pre-
miums?

Mr. SLAVITT. So, you ask a really good, difficult question.

Chairman JOHNSON. So I would like just a basic, obvious answer
to it. From the private sector, isn’t that a real legitimate concern?
And isn’t that exactly what happened?

Mr. SrAviTT. Well, so these companies entered markets that had
not had new competitors in many cases in decades. So, of course,
I think you are correct, the companies would not like to see some-
one come in and offer more

Chairman JOHNSON. It is not what the company—I am saying
what was the natural result of what was going to happen with
these government-run CO-OPs? Because they were going to come
in, they were going to try and gain market share, they were going
to underprice their product based on what their loss ratio would be,
correct?
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Mr. SrAviTT. Well—

Chairman JOHNSON. And isn’t that exactly what happened? Isn’t
that exactly why the American taxpayers are on the hook for about
$2.5 billion now in loans?

Mr. SLAVITT. So these were loans to local nonprofit companies
who I do not think had as a goal—I would not imagine they had
as a goal to price themselves out of business. I think they clearly
in many cases

Cgairman JOHNSON. That is exactly what happened, though, cor-
rect?

Mr. SLAVITT. That is correct in many cases, yes.

Chairman JOHNSON. In the private sector, did you ever believe
for a moment President Obama’s insurance—that wunder
Obamacare the cost of family health care would decline by $2,500
per year?

Did you ever think that was possible coming, again, from the in-
surance industry, where you know that the profit margin is about
5 percent? There is about $1 trillion of the $2.8 trillion that we
spent annually in 2012 runs through insurance companies. The av-
erage after-tax profits of the top seven is about 4.4 percent. So,
again, that is about $45 to $50 billion of profit out of a $2,800 bil-
lion a year market. Did you ever think for a minute that this gov-
ernment-run health care system would actually deliver health care
costs $2,500 less per year per family?

Mr. SLAVITT. So the way I interpret that $2,500—and maybe I
am not interpreting it correctly—is that that would be the reduc-
ti(})ln hin health care cost trend under the Affordable Care Act,
whic

Chairman JOHNSON. Do you think that is the way the American
people heard that?

Mr. SLAVITT. I think that is how some people heard it.

Chairman JOHNSON. You think that is what the majority of
Americans heard when they listened to President Obama and sup-
porters of the bill promise that if you pass this wonderful bill, the
average cost for insurance per family is going to decline by $2,500?
Do you think people thought, well, that will just be—otherwise, it
would go up higher by $2,500.

Mr. SLAVITT. When I look at the text of that statement, yes, that
is how I interpret it, and also that 20 million new people have
health insurance and we have an uninsured rate below 10 percent.
I think all of those things—I do not think anybody could have per-
fectly predicted the outcome of a new law of this size and com-
plexity. And I think there are certainly some very good things and
certainly some bad things and some challenges, and we are talking
about one of the biggest challenges

Chairman JOHNSON. In your private sector experience, did you
ever participate in high-risk pools in different States?

Mr. SLAvITT. I am aware of them, sure.

Chairman JOHNSON. OK. Another problem Mr. Obama made and
other supporters of the bill made is that if you like your health
care plan, you can keep it, period. Again, coming from the private
sector, understanding how those high-risk pools—by the way, we
had one in Wisconsin. About 22,000 people were getting coverage
that they liked, that they could afford. Coming from the private
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sector looking at the Obamacare law, you knew in the private sec-
tor those high-risk pools would be gone, correct? That people that
were being insured under the high-risk pools would not have access
to those health care plans, correct? Did you have any doubt that
those things would survive? In other words, did you believe Presi-
dent Obama’s repeated assurance and promise that if you like your
health care plan, you can keep it, period? Did you ever for a minute
believe that claim?

Mr. SrAviTT. Well, what I believe was that there would be guar-
anteed coverage in the marketplace so that everybody could get
coverage. Whether or not——

Chairman JOHNSON. So, in other words, you did not believe
President Obama’s claim that if you like your health care plan you
can keep it?

Mr. SrAviTT. I think what happened was there were folks that
had coverage that was below a standard that the Affordable Care
Act set, and some of those people did, in fact, lose their coverage,
as you well know.

Chairman JOHNSON. You also understand that insurance prod-
ucts change as networks narrow.

Mr. SLAVITT. Sure.

Chairman JOHNSON. People might lose—if they lose a health care
plan, let us face it, they lose a plan they could afford, that they
liked in a high-risk pool that gave them access to a doctor. If they
were forced onto a different plan, maybe a comparable plan, maybe
one with better deductibles, although it has not happened, that
being forced into another health care plan might cause them to lose
access to a doctor they trusted, correct?

Mr. SLAvVITT. The Affordable Care Act created a higher stand-
ard

Chairman JOHNSON. So President Obama’s repeated assurance
that if you like your doctor, you can keep that doctor, period, was
incorrect, wasn’t it?

Mr. SLAVITT. Here is my perspective——

Chairman JOHNSON. No. I just really want an answer to the
question.

Mr. SLAVITT. I think hospitals and physicians have been moving
in and out of health care networks for 20 or 30 years, and I do not
think anything in the Affordable Care Act changed that fact. So,
yes, I guess is the answer to that.

Chairman JOHNSON. I mean, my point is that those promises by
President Obama were ruled PolitiFact’s 2013 Lie of the Year.
Coming from the private sector, had you made those kind of assur-
ances to your policyholders, do you think your company would still
be in business? Had your business, had you as the CEO or as a
senior manager of one of those businesses conducted that level of
massive consumer fraud, what would have happened to a private
sector business? You would not be around, would you? You would
be facing an enormous number of lawsuits.

Mr. SLAVITT. I think our interpretations are a little bit different,
but I understand your point.

Chairman JOHNSON. So, again, getting back to the issue at hand,
part of this hearing, is that CMS has loaned $2.4 or $2.5 billion
to CO-OPs that obviously were not going to be able to survive. We
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continued to pump money into these CO-OPs knowing they would
never be able to repay them. You have not done the due diligence.
The review of these things have not been rigorous. It was obvious
they were never going to be able to pay them back. Now the Amer-
ican taxpayers are going to be on the hook for about $2.5 billion,
and that is assuming you do not continue to pump money into
these failing enterprises. Anybody want to refute that?

Mr. SLAVITT. I guess what I would suggest—and I do not know
that I will not repeat a lot of the things that we have said so far
today, but, clearly, starting up a small insurance company is one
of the biggest challenges imaginable, particularly because, as you
said, they face significant entrenched competitors with years of his-
tory, thousands of people, and these are small enterprises. And I
think it is very fair to say that the risk of failure of these CO-OPs
is quite high.

What we have tried to do to the best we can—and I think we will
accept our share of responsibility and criticism certainly—is to
oversee these programs, to maximize the opportunity, to get these
CO-OPs through the early 3-to 4-year startup stage to a point
where they can be stable, and the Federal taxpayer can get its
money back. In some cases, we have not been able to do that, and
in some cases, those companies have not put forward strategies
which have succeeded in those markets. And I would certainly ac-
knowledge that, Senator.

Chairman JOHNSON. That is great you are accepting the respon-
sibility, but the American taxpayer will be on the hook for the $2.4,
$2.5 billion, and that is unfortunate.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Senator PORTMAN. Thank you, and, again, gentlemen, thank you
for coming today and giving us your perspective. I want to just end,
if I could, on two points.

One is there was a discussion earlier about the States’ role here,
and I just wanted to be very clear about one thing, and I am happy
to hear your response to this. But to shift the blame to the States
I think is inappropriate. HHS had authority and sole authority to
be able to stop these disbursements when it became clear that the
CO-OPs were not likely to be financially viable and sustainable,
and we have talked a lot about that today. It is not the States. The
loan guarantee does not give that power to the States. It says HHS,
and I quote, “has sole and absolute discretion” to terminate a loan
agreement, and HHS had the power to withhold these disburse-
ments when the CO-OPs did not perform under the corrective ac-
tion plans we talked about, which were not put in place—for 5 of
the 12 failed CO-OPs, they were never put in place. Never. For an-
other five, you waited until September 2015. So I just want to be
clear in the record here, and I would be happy to hear your com-
ments on this, that shifting the blame to the States is not where
the appropriate accountability ought to be here. It was HHS, de-
spite plenty of warnings, that watched these CO-OPs lose, on net,
about $1.4 billion, even as they failed to take corrective action for
more than a year, and in some cases, again, not at all.

Any comments?

Mr. SLAVITT. Sure. You are correct, there is no question that we
had the discretion to hold back cash to disburse from these CO-
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OPs. And in about a third of the cases, when the team had a re-
quest for cash, the team did not make that disbursement. But I
think the challenge—and I think it is the challenge that we have,
and it is an important question—is ultimately if we do not disburse
the cash at some point to a startup CO-OP, we are most assuredly
putting that CO-OP out of business and most assuredly putting
some of their consumers at risk.

So the team has to make very tough choices. If they fund the
CO-0P, there is certainly not going to be any guarantee that those
CO-OPs are going to succeed if they fund the grant that has al-
ready been made. If they do not fund it, they are almost certainly
putting them out of compliance and putting them out of business.
So I do not suggest for a second that the team made every decision
the right way. I would suggest that it is not as if the team was
turning a blind eye and that there were lots of good choices in this
oversight process. As you very well know, overseeing a small com-
pany in a complex environment is challenging, and I will say that
in my defense of the team, it is not a defense of every decision they
made. It is certainly not to point fingers at the States. It is to say
as I have gone back and continually tried to ask the questions with
the information that they made available, given the two choices
they had, and I think notwithstanding the fact that we could put
them on an oversight plan, at the end of the day if we do not with-
hold cash, you cannot force an action. And once we withhold cash,
people do not get paid, claims do not get paid, and the loans never
come back to us. And that is the difficult challenge that we faced,
and recognizing that your report suggests that you think we could
have done a better job.

Senator PORTMAN. Well, again, there were plenty of tools, includ-
ing the corrective action plans we have talked about and the en-
hanced oversight plans, short of even terminating. But the reality
is there are 700,000 consumers who now find themselves not just,
again, dislocated, but some of them actually facing the possibility
of paying twice, once for their premium and now for claims that
were never paid to health care providers. And that is a tragedy.

We thank you for your testimony today and appreciate it. We
will go on to the second panel. Thank you.

[Pause.]

Dr. Harrington, thank you for being here. We are going to move
ahead quickly here because we have a vote coming up, and we have
lots of questions for you, and I know you have a presentation for
us.
Dr. Scott Harrington is the Alan B. Miller Professor of Health
Care Management, Insurance, and Risk Management, and Busi-
ness Economics and Public Policy at the University of Pennsylvania
Wharton School. He is also the Chair of the Health Care Manage-
ment Department. He is a Senior Fellow with the Leonard Davis
Institute for Health Economics and an adjunct scholar at the Amer-
ican Enterprise Institute and was president of the American Risk
and Insurance Association and Risk Theory Society. His recent pol-
icy research focuses on the Affordable Care Act’s impact on insur-
ance markets and insurance financial regulatory issues. He is a
true expert, and we appreciate his input to our report and his
being here today.
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We look forward to your testimony. It is the custom of the Sub-
committee to swear in our witnesses, Dr. Harrington, so if you
would not mind, please stand and raise your right hand. Do you
swear the testimony you are about to give before this Committee
will be the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth, so
help you, God?

Mr. HARRINGTON. I do.

Senator PORTMAN. Excellent. Let the record reflect the witness
answered in the affirmative. Your written testimony will be printed
entirely in the record, as we have talked about, and we would ask
you to try to limit your oral testimony. I think we initially asked
you to do it in 10 minutes. If you would do it even a little shorter,
that would be great just because I know we are going to have some
questions for you. But, again, thank you for your input today, and
we look forward to your testimony.

TESTIMONY OF SCOTT E. HARRINGTON, PH.D.,! ALAN B. MIL-
LER PROFESSOR, AND CHAIR, HEALTH CARE MANAGEMENT
DEPARTMENT, THE WHARTON SCHOOL, UNIVERSITY OF
PENNSYLVANIA

Mr. HARRINGTON. Thank you, Chairman Portman and Chairman
Johnson. I publish widely on insurance pricing and price regula-
tion, capital and insolvency risk, the causes of insolvencies, sol-
vency prediction and regulation, risk-based capital requirements,
and State guaranty funds. I have done some prior work on
CO-OPs’ financial conditions. I have not read the Majority Report.
I have not seen anything about corrective action plans. I did review
a lot of documents for preparing my testimony, especially for Iowa,
Nebraska, New York, South Carolina, and Tennessee, including
business plans, feasibility studies, pro forma financials, pricing
analysis, additional funding requests, Deloitte reviews, and some
financial information provided to the Subcommittee staff.

As we know, the CO—OP Program ultimately awarded $2.44 bil-
lion of low-or zero-interest Federal loans to 23 CO-OPs; $358 mil-
lion was for startup loans, $2.09 billion was for solvency loans to
meet State regulatory capital requirements.

Twelve of the CO-OPs have closed. The longevity of the 11
CO-OPs still providing coverage in 2016 is uncertain. Future clo-
sures seem likely. Eight of the 11 are reported to be subject to
some CMS corrective action plan.

The closed CO-OPs’ ultimate deficits are going to depend on the
resolution of a lot of claims, and the final tally of what their claim
costs are, as I will elaborate a little bit, very little, if any, of the
$1.24 billion in Federal loans will be repaid from those closed
CO-OPs. At least several will be unable to meet their obligations
to enrollees and health care providers, and some will require sig-
nificant State guaranty fund assessments.

The CO-OPs did face significant operational challenges, and the
ACA 2014 reforms posed major challenges and risks associated
with pricing and utilization of the previously uninsured and transi-
tion of previously insured people to ACA-compliant plans. The
CO-0OPs were inherently vulnerable to unpredictably high claim

1The prepared statement of Mr. Harrington appears in the Appendix on page 60.
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costs, including from any adverse selection from established car-
riers renewing their pre-2014 plans, especially if enrollee growth
outpaced projections. They had little ability to diversify pricing and
claims risks across geographies and products. CO—OPs had none of
their own experience and data to consider in pricing. They were
plausibly prone to a winner’s curse, pricing too low, generating
large enrollment and losing lots of money. Pricing uncertainty re-
mained high for 2015 premium rates, which had to be filed in the
summer of 2014 when the CO-OPs still had relatively little data
to assess claim experience in the adequacy of premiums.

Insurers must hold substantial capital to achieve a high solvency
probability. Academic literature stresses that insurers and other fi-
nancial firms’ solvency incentives depend on the amount of owner’s
capital at risk, on the firm’s value as a going concern, which could
be lost in financial distress, on the sensitivity of customers’ demand
to insolvency risk, and on external monitoring by lenders and other
counterparties.

CO-OPs’ financial strength, growth, and potential for under-
pricing should have been a central focus from the program’s incep-
tion. CO-OPs faced considerable pressure to capture market share.
They had almost no private capital, no going-concern value, no fi-
nancial ratings, and it was likely that many potential customers
would be insensitive to insolvency risk.

Very importantly, history indicates that insolvent insurers often
have charged low prices and grown rapidly with inadequate re-
ported claim liabilities, ultimately producing claim costs much larg-
er than reported. There is also risk that insurers will try to grow
their way out of financial trouble, hoping, or gambling, for survival.
This history and context also suggest that CO-OPs’ financial
strength and potential adverse consequences of rapid growth
should have been paramount, especially given slow development of
information on claims.

The approved CO-OPs’ award applications included detailed
business plans, feasibility studies, including actuarial projections of
growth, profitability, and ability to repay government loans. Origi-
nally, their startup loans were recorded as debt on their financial
statements. But to meet State regulatory requirements, all sol-
vency loans were treated as “surplus notes,” subordinate to all
claims and counted as capital for the purpose of meeting regulatory
requirements.

Actuarial analyses supporting solvency loan awards and dis-
bursements relied on pricing, claim cost, and enrollment assump-
tions over a long horizon. The analyses I reviewed contained what
I would consider modest stress tests. They did not combine or con-
sider much higher than projected enrollment, combined with worse
than expected claim costs. The baseline pricing assumptions, how-
ever, did build in something for a potentially sicker population.

Now, as we have heard this morning, some CO-OPs experienced
vastly larger enrollment than projected, greatly increasing their
need for capital. This should have been a cause for alarm. Those
CO-0OPs generally had low premium rates compared with competi-
tors. Other CO-OPs generally with relatively high premiums had
very low enrollment in 2014. Some CO-OPs continued rapid
growth in 2015, further increasing their need for capital. Some
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with low enrollment reduced premium rates and grew rapidly in
2015.

Six CO-OPs were approved for $355.5 million in additional sol-
vency loans in the last 4 months of 2014. Three later closed. The
regulatory takeover of CoOportunity Health in late December oc-
curred just 6 weeks after disbursement of its additional $32.7 mil-
lion solvency loan award approved in September, and following the
denial of a late October request for another $55 million.

Health Republic of New York sought an additional $70.5 million
in late October 2014, which was denied following CMS approval of
an additional $90.7 million in September.

The additional solvency loans exhausted the CO—OP Program’s
$2.44 billion in funding. CMS did not have the funds to approve ad-
ditional requests from CoOportunity Health, Health Republic, or
any other CO-OPs. With State regulators’ approval, however, CMS
permitted seven CO—OPs to convert startup loans to surplus notes
so that they could be counted as capital for meeting target capital
requirements. Five CO-OPs converted a total of $82.1 million in
startup loans to surplus notes before their closure. CMS also accel-
erated disbursements of solvency loan funding to many CO-OPs
during 2014 and 2015.

A couple quick comments on growth, and we have heard this this
morning. By September 2014, CoOportunity Health had over eight
times the originally projected number of enrollees for 2014 and
14,000 more enrollees than projected for 2020. It generally had the
lowest rates in Nebraska and the lowest rates in the Iowa small
group market and the lowest rates in at least one rating region in
the Iowa individual market.

Regarding New York, Health Republic of New York, its June
2015 enrollment was over four times the baseline 2015 projection,
over three times the projected high enrollment scenario for 2015,
and more than double the baseline projection for 2020. Health Re-
public generally had the lowest premiums in the regions it oper-
ated. It received rate increases for 2015, but its rates still generally
remained low compared with competitors.

I have done some analysis to back out the ACA risk stabilization
programs just on Health Republic of New York’s June 2015 finan-
cials. If they had received their entire risk corridor requested at
that time, they still would have lost $50 a month for their entire
18 months of operation on a per member basis. Without risk cor-
ridor receivables, they were losing about $150 per month.

Updated financials provided to the Subcommittee for 10 other
closed CO-OPs suggest little, if any, of their Federal loans will be
repaid. Assets were less than claim and other obligations for 7 of
the 10 and only marginally greater than those obligations in the
other three States. Colorado and South Carolina project substantial
guaranty fund assessments.

The CO-OP Program’s experience raises a number of key ques-
tions—beyond the fundamental issue of whether the program made
economic sense when enacted, which, while difficult to do, should
be evaluated without the benefit of 20/20 hindsight. I will quickly
conclude with these.
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First, was it appropriate and prudent to push for the CO-OPs to
begin operations in 2014 as opposed to wait a year or two before
selling tens of thousands of policies in an uncertain environment?

Second, why were the low premium rates charged by some
CO-OPs not viewed as a signal of potential trouble from the get-
go, especially when their plans and rate filings anticipated rel-
atively high provider reimbursement and administrative expenses?

Third, why were some CO-OPs permitted to enroll far more cus-
tomers than their projections as opposed to having some formal or
informal speed limits imposed by CMS and/or State regulators?

And, fourth, why didn’t CMS delay solvency loan disbursements
or possibly terminate loan agreements when confronted with enroll-
{nents? far greater than projected and early evidence of operating
osses’

My time is up, so I am happy to take questions.

Senator PORTMAN. Thank you, Dr. Harrington. You were right on
time for what we asked you to do, and you have asked key ques-
tions, many of which, as you know, have been discussed today with

I would like to go to my colleagues first for their questions in
that they have come back to the hearing. I know they are busy. We
have a vote at 11:30, so we will try to keep the questions and an-
swers as short as possible. Senator Johnson.

Chairman JOHNSON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Dr. Harrington, I want to kind of just go to basic economics on
this. Let us talk about premiums that real people would be paying.
We have Janice Fenniman in Spooner, Wisconsin, who, before the
health care law was implemented, was paying about $276 per
month. This year she is paying $787 per month. I held a telephone
town hall yesterday, and I do not have permission to use the gen-
tleman’s name, but he was claiming that, prior to Obamacare, he
was pay $400 a month; now he is paying §1,000 per month. And,
by the way, these are for lesser policies. Their deductibles are high-
er. Their premiums are higher.

Because of the CO-OPs—and, again, as I said in my earlier
questioning, to me, a private sector guy, it was obvious what was
going to happen here. I mean, you used the words “inherently vul-
nerable.” It was obvious what was going to happen.

The experience people have already had of skyrocketing pre-
miums, these have been actually constrained because of these
CO-OPs, correct, in the marketplace? They are underpricing their
premiums, which puts pressure on the other health insurers. So, if
anything, premiums have not skyrocketed to the point they are
going to. Would you agree with that?

Mr. HARRINGTON. I would agree that at least in 2014 and 2015,
the CO-OPs had a restraining influence on premiums. I am not as
sure about 2016 because I have not reviewed the filings.

Chairman JOHNSON. Well, kind of the game is up right now, but
going forward, we know how these losses are going to be recovered.
Certainly, the American taxpayer lose the loans, but also the pay-
ments to providers, these losses are going to be spread over other
insurers in States, and then their reaction is going to be what?

Mr. HARRINGTON. Well, I think the big issue is that it is becom-
ing more apparent that the cost of the new risk pools under the Af-
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fordable Care Act is higher than anticipated, and that that will
produce higher premiums, and that the rating restrictions in the
Affordable Care Act are going to lead to especially high premiums
for certain cohorts.

Chairman JOHNSON. Describe that in greater detail. What do you
mean certain cohorts?

Mr. HARRINGTON. I think one thing that has happened is that
prior to the Affordable Care Act rating restrictions, people in, say,
their 50s and 60s that were in relatively good health were able to
get premiums on a risk-rated basis, guaranteed renewable coverage
so that their rates would not go up with deterioration in their
health status. Under the new regime, if you are not eligible for any
kind of subsidy, you now have to buy insurance in a risk pool that
limits the amount that can be paid based on your age, but, none-
t}lleless, is based on a risk pool that includes lots of unhealthy peo-
ple.

So I think more and more evidence will show that healthy people
that try to buy coverage outside of an employment-based market
going forward, if they are in their 50s and early 60s, probably are
going to face quite a bit higher premiums than what they would
have prior to the Affordable Care Act. So that is one of the cohorts.

The other cohort would be very young people that are facing
higher premiums because of the rating restrictions.

Chairman JOHNSON. We have already seen that the first year in
Wisconsin. A 27-year-old male I think on average experienced like
a 127-percent rate increase; a 27-year-old female, a little under 100
percent, still, dramatic increases.

Let us talk a little bit about adverse selection and the gaming
of the system. We have heard anecdotal reports of this, of people—
one of the reasons you need a high level of participation in dental
insurance, for example, is otherwise people will just delay getting
dental care until they have one month’s worth of premiums and go
in there and get all their care and then they stop coverage. Isn’t
that also what is going to happen with Obamacare? To a certain
extent. I mean, you cannot totally predict, but you can certainly
time certain medical procedures and people will game the system,
correct?

Mr. HARRINGTON. Yes, to a certain extent, and the evidence is
that it is occurring not only in open enrollment but in special en-
rollment periods.

Chairman JOHNSON. Our Committee staff did a pretty good job
looking at the fact—President Obama said, Trust me, no illegal im-
migrants are going to be qualifying for Obamacare. But the way
they set up the system is CMS is forced to enroll individuals with-
out documentation of eligibility. And so what has been happening
is people sign up, they get the subsidies, they get the prepaid pre-
mium tax credits. They also get some tax credits or subsidized
deductibles and that type of thing as well. Our Committee report
showed that about $750 million of prepaid premium tax credits
were paid on behalf of individuals who in the end were unable to
prove their eligibility. Just speak a little bit to that in terms of,
again, that was just totally predictable, correct?

Mr. HARRINGTON. I have not studied the particular issue. I am
familiar with the reports. I think anytime you impose a gigantic
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program with mind-numbing complexity, there are going to be
many slippages and unintended consequences.

Chairman JOHNSON. Let me finish up, because I know one of the
big reasons people passed Obamacare is they just hated the idea
of anybody making a profit off of health care. So I just kind of want
to go through the actual figures. This was in 2012. America in total
spent about $2,800 billion, about $2.8 trillion worth, $2,800 billion.
I have just taken a look at the profitability of the top seven compa-
nies in health care for 2012, and the after-tax profits are about 4.4
percent. Of the $2.8 trillion, about $1 trillion of that is paid
through third-party payers, basically insurance companies. So if
you take 4.4 percent of $1 trillion, that is about $45 billion of profit
out of an industry, a sector of the economy that is $2,800 billion
large. Does that seem like a grotesque level of profit to allocate
pricing efficiently and do all the things that a free market system
actually does? Is that out of whack?

Mr. HARRINGTON. No.

Chairman JOHNSON. And what is the result of having govern-
ment come in there and try and stamp out literally 1.6 percent—
that is what that profit represents, 1.6 percent of total health care
spending was profit of insurance companies. And in order to wipe
that out, which is really the goal of Obamacare, take a look at the
dislocations. We have again, Janice Fenniman paying $276 before
Obamacare, now paying $787 for a lesser policy. In the end, do you
think this is a pretty foolish law, a pretty damaging law to real
people?

Mr. HARRINGTON. I opposed the law when it was enacted. I think
there were better ways of promoting the growth of insured people
in the United States than passing this particular law.

Chairman JOHNSON. I would agree with that assessment.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Senator PORTMAN. Thank you, Chairman dJohnson. Senator
Lankford.

Senator LANKFORD. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I appreciate you being here and bringing some other facts to bear
in this. Like others on this panel, I would tell you that person after
person that I talk to in my State, in Oklahoma, talk to me about
the same issue. They are spending more on health care than they
ever have. Their deductibles are high. All their premiums are going
higher. They have fewer options than they had before. The hos-
pitals that I talk to now have more benevolent care than they have
had in the past because though they have “insurance” when they
walk through the door, they cannot afford to use it. We have failed
State exchanges around the country from States that tried to start
their own exchange that have gone through the process, and that
is millions of dollars that has been lost in that process.

And then when we walk into the CO-OP issue, and it is one
more piece of this process where in the original design there would
be these nonprofit institutions that would stand up to go compete.
In theory, they would be nonprofit insurance institutions that were
created to compete in areas where there was not good insurance
available or was not enough available.
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So my initial question to you is: Did you find the CO-OPs and
their distribution around the country to be in places where insur-
ance was not available?

Mr. HARRINGTON. That is an excellent question, and I have not
studied that.

Senator LANKFORD. What I have seen is that they were not com-
peting in areas where they were not available. They were trying to
startup in places where there was a good market already. And if
there is a good market already, there were other companies that
are already available in that area.

We put out loans that they expected to have a 40-percent loss
rate, which, by the way, the Consumer Financial Protection Board
(CFPB) is aggressively going after payday lenders who have a 40-
percent loss rate on it, a 40-percent interest rate that they are put-
ting down, and for whatever reason, they thought that was a good
idea at the beginning to do this with the CO-OPs, which is baffling
to me. But then they seemed to also have this unique challenge in
places that they were in that I am trying to determine what hap-
pened here. When the CO-OPs came in and gave arbitrarily low
amounts that were not business possible—and that has been prov-
en now by more than half of them already failing and the rest of
them struggling. They put out a pricing strategy. Other companies
in the area, other insurance companies in the area, had to try to
compete with those CO—OPs that had these arbitrarily low costs on
it that were clearly not sustainable, which forced them down,
which I believe some of those insurance companies have now left
those markets. We have many States that have fewer insurance op-
tions now, not only the CO-OP leaving but other companies leaving
as well.

Do we know a connection here, or is it too early to know whether
the CO-OPs in those markets were driving prices low, forcing other
companies to have to try to compete with them, and then now they
have since left the market as well, giving even fewer options to the
consumer?

Mr. HARRINGTON. That is an issue that really needs to be subject
to high-quality investigation and research. Clearly, in principle, low
prices can have a negative effect on the market overall when they
are written really well below what the consensus estimate of costs
is. And I think we will find out more over time as people start to
dig into this.

I would add that, of course, there was a lot of variation in 2014
among the 23 CO-OPs. Some had relatively high prices. They sold
very little business. So in those cases, any negative spillovers from
pricing were not there. But in a few cases where we had this enor-
mous explosive growth during 2014, I think it is at least plausible
that there were adverse effects in terms of pricing in the overall
market that could have contributed to poor results in the overall
market. But one thing we know for sure is that when you have a
new entrant with no experience that comes in with a very low
price, someone should be paying very close attention to their early
enrollment and getting whatever data they can about early claims
and really asking the hard question of: When is enough enough?
Should we not be putting some sort of speed limit or brake on this
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enrollment so that they cannot run up an enormous tab that they
will not be able to pay?

Senator LANKFORD. So if the CO-OPs were competing on the
open market and they were trying to get private lending, private
capital either from a bank or outside equity groups, would they
have been able to get these loans in your suspicion based on their
model? CMS has testified that only 16 percent of the applicants ac-
tually got the loan, which gives the impression, we were very lim-
iting, 84 percent we returned away, so we really were getting the
cream of the crop. Obviously, the cream of the crop, more than half
of them are now out of business.

So my question is: Of the business models that were presented,
could they have gotten private funding? Or are these individuals
presenting a business model that only government would have ac-
tually provided a loan for them?

Mr. HARRINGTON. That is an important question. The business
models that I reviewed, I think it would have been really difficult
to make a sell to any private investors with those models. What
private investors would be looking for is: Do you have something
here that we really think is disruptive and beneficial that will
allow you to have a better model going forward? And I think it is
highly unlikely they would have seen that.

Now, I hasten to add that some significant private money has
gone into health insurance startups, and some of them have re-
ported pretty large losses for 2014 and 2015. So private investment
does not have a monopoly here on any kind of wisdom.

Senator LANKFORD. Right, but private investment is also track-
ing the day-to-day operations, trying to figure out are you going to
make it, are you not going to make it. Are we going to keep dump-
ing money into this? Or are we going to force you to make some
changes internally to actually be successful?

Mr. HARRINGTON. Yes, and private investment in these sort of
situations, the money will be paid out over time based on clear evi-
dence that the performance is being met, and if there are warning
signs that things are problematic, the spigot gets shut off.

Senator LANKFORD. Rather than changing the rules and saying,
OK, you can now use this money and count it as capital and count
it as assets, and the rules change through the middle of it, they
are not going to do that in a private setting.

Mr. HARRINGTON. No.

Senator LANKFORD. Let me ask another question that is a quick
one as well. The CLASS Act was a long-term-care insurance pro-
gram that was created by Obamacare. At the very beginning it was
studied to be implemented, it was in the law, do it. Secretary
Sebelius came out and said this is totally unsustainable at the very
beginning and said if we try to implement this, it cannot be done
under this current model. Congress agreed, in 2013 to pull out the
funding for that program—that program went away.

They saw immediately that the long-term-care insurance that
was put into place is not sustainable, studied it, and pulled it. The
CO-OPs, they aggressively went after, started it, and put $2 billion
into something that we are now discovering is just as totally
unsustainable. What is different about the CLASS Act and their re-
search behind the scenes or the CO-OPs?
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Mr. HARRINGTON. That is a very difficult question. I think one
thing that is different, as I recall with the CLASS Act, you had var-
ious independent government agencies doing the actuarial projec-
tions and forecasts with an eye toward budget implications from
the beginning, and recognizing that the program had to be finan-
cially sustainable in order to go forward.

In the CO-OPs’ case, there may have been much more uncer-
tainty in the short run about what was likely to happen, and the
CO-OP business plans were accompanied by actuarial feasibility
studies by major actuarial firms and advisers that were putting out
scenarios that suggested that they might be viable.

Senator LANKFORD. Thank you. I yield back.

Senator PORTMAN. Thank you, Senator Lankford. And, again, Dr.
Harrington, thanks for your help on this, and your expertise has
been helpful to us as we have gone through this report and tried
to figure out how this could have happened. I think you have
raised a lot of great questions about whether this should have hap-
pened or not.

One question you asked in your testimony that I would like you
to answer is: Should they have launched these at a time when
there was so much regulatory uncertainty? Or should they have
waited for a year or two?

Mr. HARRINGTON. There was this real concern that if you missed
2014, you were going to miss the boat, and I am very reluctant to
be influenced by hindsight here, but my opinion is that it would
have made more sense to wait at least a year, if not longer.

Senator PORTMAN. Yes. I mean, look, it was a lousy time to start
a health startup in any category, and certainly in the insurance
sector. You talked about enrollment being a key determinant of a
health insurer’s financial performance, and if you would not mind
just talking about that for a second, you said there should have
been, I think you said in your testimony, some speed limits at least
in place, incredibly sharp deviation from what they projected, both
under and over. We talked earlier about this with regard to the
overenrollment. The overenrollment multiplied the problem, where
you already had a problem, then to have this massive overenroll-
ment compared to projections. And yet there were no red flags ap-
parently, or at least there was no reaction by the Federal Govern-
ment in pulling back the taxpayer support. Can you talk about why
that is so important?

Mr. HARRINGTON. Well, it is very important given the history of
insurance insolvencies and the pricing problem. You can sell a lot
of insurance at low prices because the claims do not come home
until a bit later. So you always really have to be on your toes in
order to guard against this sort of underpricing and rapid growth.
Given that context, it made sense to really be on top of enrollment.

I was puzzled, as things rolled out, I was very puzzled by the
lack of public discussion, the lack of commentary about insolvency
risk whatsoever in this market. It is as if no one understood that
insurance companies do fail, and those that fail often have been
underpriced and grown rapidly. That background, that context, as
well as the lack of incentives for safety and soundness given this
type of government funding, should have overall made the environ-
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ment be one of much greater caution about how these things would
be permitted to grow.

Senator PORTMAN. And, again, just to be clear, as compared to
some of the testimony we heard earlier, there was information. We
had monthly and quarterly reports, including on enrollment, an
issue that you talked about.

Let me just ask you this, and it is kind of, speculation in your
part, but why did this happen? I mean, it was so obvious that the
underpricing and the overenrollment and the other business factors
were problematic and there were reports, and there was plenty of
data. Why did they keep putting money out the door and not take
the obvious step, which is to cut the losses to the taxpayer and cut
the losses to all these families who ended up losing health care in-
surance, some of whom now are facing the risk of actually having
providers have claims against them? Even though they paid their
premiums, did everything right, the providers were not paid be-
cause these companies went insolvent. And now these consumers
are told they might have to pay for what the companies did not pay
when they were required to do so. How did this happen?

Mr. HARRINGTON. I think in part what happens is even though
you are getting information, the accuracy of the information about
claim costs was not there, so there could be a much bigger bill than
what had been anticipated.

I have to speculate, but it seems there was a very strong commit-
ment to the CO-OP Program, a very strong belief that this new
model would work in an environment where insurance companies
were viewed as making excessive profits with excessive administra-
tive costs in markets that were regarded as not being sufficiently
competitive. It seems to me there was an ideological commitment
to the program and to the success of the program.

Having said that, I will also point out that once you get informa-
tion that a company might be in trouble, there always has been a
fine line that regulators have to draw about doing something that
definitely will put the company over the edge or giving it a little
more runway to try to work things out. But in those scenarios,
when you give a little more runway to let companies try to work
things out, you want to make sure that they grow, if at all, at a
very orderly pace. You want to make sure that you have the speed
limits. The last thing you want to do is to provide more funding
to enable greater growth, especially when you have maybe soft in-
formation about claims experience at that point in time.

Senator PORTMAN. Well, look, given your academic background
here and lots of experience, I respect what you are saying, and I
think you are right, there was an ideological commitment, your
quote, and I think it blinded some of these folks who otherwise
would have seen these warning signs. And as you say, it was a
commitment maybe to CO-OPs or maybe against the insurance
companies that, as you said, were making excessive profits. I think
it also was to get enrollment numbers up under Obamacare, which
was part of the desire by the White House at the time, and con-
tinues to be.

So I do believe that we have to learn from this. We have to come
up with ways to ensure that we are not going to lose even more,
hemorrhage even more taxpayer dollars. At a minimum $1.2 billion
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now appears to be lost. We talked earlier about that, and we could
not get HHS to acknowledge that. But when you look at it, the
companies who would have to repay that actually have assets that
are far lower than their liabilities, even taking out the loans, for-
getting the money that they owe the Federal taxpayer. And not a
single one has paid a penny in principal or interest.

So I appreciate your focus on this. I hope you will continue to
work with us on trying to figure out moving forward how we avoid
this problem even growing further and how we deal with this very
real problem we have now in some States where you have con-
sumers who actually might get tagged with additional costs so they
lose their health care, they have this dislocation, hopefully they
have now found health care, but they are now looking at the possi-
bility that these claims might come back on them.

Do you have any final comments before we go to our vote, on that
or other topics? And, again, I want to thank you very much for
your willingness to come before us, Dr. Harrington. Any final
thoughts?

Mr. HARRINGTON. No. Thank you for allowing me to testify.

Senator PORTMAN. Thank you. Thanks for your good work in this
area. It has been very helpful to have you.

Do you have any additional questions?

Chairman JOHNSON. Just to thank you for holding this hearing.
What this underscores is literally what a spectacular failure this
ideological effort was. You had States that know how to do these
things, know how to regulate, know how to prevent insurers get-
ting into too much trouble. If they start getting in trouble, they
know how to resolve those things. And you have the arrogance of
a Federal Government walking in here spending at least $1.5,
probably $2.5 billion in support of these things.

So this is an incredibly important hearing. We are just not get-
ting the press attention to what a spectacular failure Obamacare
is, how couples lost health care plans and high-risk pools that they
could afford. The premiums have skyrocketed. Out-of-pocket maxi-
mums have skyrocketed.

So I hope this hearing gets a lot of attention, and I hope your
testimony gets a lot of attention. I hope we actually learn lessons.
I am not convinced we will. But thank you, Mr. Chairman. Excel-
lent hearing.

Senator PORTMAN. Thank you for your attendance today. And,
again, to all our witnesses, thanks, particularly here at the end.
Dr. Harrington, thanks for your expertise.

I want to thank also my colleague Senator McCaskill for her
hard work on this Subcommittee, her support of the Subcommittee.
We missed having her here today and look forward to her return
soon and her good health.

I will say that, we have talked a lot today about how this money
was lent to these dozen CO-OPs that failed. Others, as you have
said, Dr. Harrington, are in big trouble. And at a minimum, we are
talking about $1.2 billion of taxpayer money that is going to be
lost. It will be more than that at the end. We all know that. While
this happened, there was not corrective action taken—in some
cases not all, in other cases it took more than a year. And what
we are looking for today is someone to take accountability for it.



42

We heard a little of that, and I appreciate that. But this was not
the fault of these consumers. This was not the fault of the States.
This was the fault of HHS, the way the program was structured,
and then even once it was structured, the lack of adherence to the
basic requirements in these loan agreements.

So I would hope that we will learn from this and that we can
avoid further disruption in this case to over 700,000 consumers, in
addition, again, to them having the possibility of actually having
to pay out-of-pocket more than their premiums because there are
claims that, from our analysis, could be brought against the con-
sumers, which would be adding an additional insult to the tax-
payers who have already been out so much money.

So this hearing record will remain open for 15 days for additional
comments or questions by any of the Subcommittee Members, and
with that, we are adjourned.

[Whereupon, at 11:36 a.m., the Subcommittee was adjourned.]
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This hearing will come to order. [gavel]

Thank you all for being here. I want to begin by noting that our
Ranking Member, Senator McCaskill, cannot be with us today. As
many of you know, she is at home in Missouri attending to an important
health issue. All of us in the Senate are thinking of her, know she will
be back with us soon, and we wish her the best. I suggested to Claire
that we should postpone this hearing until she gets back, but she said
the Senate’s business should go on. She will be submitting questions
for the record. And on behalf of the Subcommittee, I want to thank Sen.
McCaskill’s staff for their hard work preparing for this hearing.

We are here today to discuss the Administration’s unfortunate
adventure in the health insurance start-up business. The Affordable
Care Act created something called the Consumer Operated and
Oriented Plan (or “CO-OP”) Program as a gesture to those who favored
a public option. Under that program, the Department of Health and
Human Services awarded $2.4 billion of taxpayer money to 23 non-
profit health insurance CO-OPs. As of today, twelve of them have
failed. Those twelve collectively received $1.2 billion in taxpayer money
that is almost certainly lost. And their collapse caused 740,000 people
in 14 states to lose their health insurance provider and have to
scramble to find new coverage in little to no time.

Over the last 9 months, our Subcommittee investigated those failures.
We wanted to know whether HHS, when it played the role of angel
investor, made good or bad decisions with taxpayer money.

The answer is bad decisions. In a Majority Staff Report released today,
we detail our findings that HHS was aware of serious problems

1
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concerning the failed CO-OPs’ enrollment strategies, pricing, financial
forecasts, and management before the Department ever approved the
initial loans. Once the CO-OPs got going in 2014, things went south in
a hurry—both in terms of financial losses and enrollment figures that
wildly deviated from the CO-OPs’ projections. The failed CO-OPs
ultimately racked up $376 million in losses in 2014, and more than a
billion dollars in losses in 2015. But despite getting regular reports
that the CO-OPs were hemorrhaging cash, HHS took no corrective
action for over a year.

Worse, the Department approved additional loan awards to three of
the now-failed CO-OPs in 2014, despite clear warning signs that those
CO-0Ps did not have reliable plans for turning things around.

The Majority Staff Report explains these findings in further detail. And
without objection, that report and its appendix are ordered to be made
part of the record. But let me give you some highlights.

When HHS approved startup loans for the failed CO-OPs in 2012, it
asked a reputable firm, Deloitte Consulting, to evaluate the CO-OPs’
proposed loan applications and business plans. We reviewed Deloitte’s
analysis as part of our investigation. Here’s what we found:

Although Deloitte gave the CO-OPs a “passing” score based on a
grading scale set by HHS, the firm warned HHS of specific concerns
with the failed CO-OPs that foreshadowed the problems to come.

e Many of the failed CO-OPs could not identify their senior
leadership team.

s Seven of the 12 had serious deficiencies in their enrollment
strategy—which later turned out to be a chief reason for CO-OP
failure.
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e Many of them submitted budgets that were incomplete,
unreasonable, not cost-effective, or that didn’t align with the CO-
OPs’ own financial projections.

e Those financial projections were not so hot, either. Deloitte
warned that several CO-OPs relied on unreasonable projections
about their own growth. As just one example, Deloitte noted that
CoOportunity—the CO-OP for [owa and Nebraska—had a target
profit “much lower than the industry benchmark” of 4.8%. That
was an understatement: CoOportunity’s stated target profit
margin was zero percent.

Nevertheless, HHS approved all the loan applications to the failed CO-
OPs, to the tune of $1.2 billion.

After they entered the marketplace in 2014, the CO-OPs’ financial
health deteriorated rapidly. And HHS knew it. The Department
regularly received key financial information from the CO-OPs,
including monthly reports and audited quarterly financial statements.
Those reports showed that, starting almost immediately, the failed CO-
OPs experienced severe financial losses that exceeded even the worst-
case scenarios outlined in their loan applications to HHS.

Cumulatively, by the end of 2014, the failed CO-OPs exceeded their
projected worst-case-scenario losses by at least $263.7 million—which is
four times above the projection.

The CO-OPs’ enrollment numbers were no less problematic. According
to the 2014 monthly reports submitted to HHS, five of the failed CO-
OPs dramatically underperformed enrollment projections, while five
others overshot their projections by wide margins. Both errors can
cause serious financial losses. Low enrollment means insufficient
income to cover expenses. Excessively high enrollment is an even
greater threat to solvency because it multiplies losses rather than
profits when premiums are underpriced—as many of the CO-OPs’
premiums were.



46

But despite having that information at its fingertips, HHS did not step
in. The Department’s loan agreements with the CO-OPs entitled it to
invoke a number of accountability tools for borrowers who were missing
the mark, but here HHS took a pass. Inexplicably, for over a year, the
agency took no corrective action, nor did it put any CO-OP on enhanced
oversight. Five of the 12 failed CO-OPs were never subject to corrective
action by HHS, and HHS waited until September 2015 to put five
others on corrective action or enhanced oversight. Two months later, all

twelve CO-OPs had failed.

HHS also had the power to stop disbursing funds if a CO-OP’s financial
viability was in doubt. It never did, to the bitter end. Instead, over the
course of 2014-2015, HHS disbursed $848 million in federal loan
dollars to the failed CO-OPs, even as those entities lost more than $1.4
billion. That’s about $1.65 in losses for every $1 HHS gave them.

More unbelievable, near the end of 2014, HHS approved additional
solvency loans for three of the failed CO-OPs that were in danger of
being shut down by state regulators for having insufficient capital-—
despite clear warning signs that those CO-OPs could not turn things
around. Here again HHS asked Deloitte to complete an external review
of the CO-OPs’ application for additional solvency loans and their plans
to improve their finances going forward. But according to Deloitte,
HHS truncated its review of those applications. Deloitte did not
evaluate, for example, “the likelihood that each CO-OP would achieve
sustainable operations based on the revised business plan”—which I
would have thought was the whole point. But even the limited analysis
that HHS allowed Deloitte to conduct pointed to clear warning signs
that CoOportunity, the New York CO-OP, and the Kentucky CO-OP
did not have a sound plan to regain their footing.

Nevertheless, those three CO-OPs alone received $355 million in
additional solvency loans. All have failed. The Kentucky CO-OP
collapsed after suffering losses of $50.4 million in 2014 and another
$114.8 million in 2015. At the time of CoOportunity’s closure, that

4
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company'’s operating losses exceeded $163 million. And most staggering
of all, after HHS gave the New York CO-OP $90 million to prolong its
financial life rather than allow it to scale down, that CO-OP went on to
lose another $544 million in 2015.1

The financial aftermath of all this is dire. The Subcommittee obtained
the failed CO-OPs’ most recent financial statements, and those
statements show that none of the failed CO-OPs have repaid a single
dollar, principal or interest, of the $1.2 billion in federal loans they
received. It is unlikely they will pay any significant fraction back. The
latest statements show that the failed CO-OPs’ non-loan liabilities
exceed $1.13 billion—which is 93% greater than their reported assets,
including money they expect to receive. On top of that, they owe $1.2
billion to federal government. We should not hold our breath on
repayment.

The American taxpayer is not the only creditor that stands to suffer
large losses due to the failure of the CO-OP program. The latest
balance sheets we obtained show the failed CO-OPs have more than
$700 million in unpaid medical claims to doctors and hospitals. In some
states, those losses will be absorbed by other insurance companies—
which means, by the policyholders of other insurance companies who
have to pay increased premiums. In other states, doctors, hospitals and
individual patients stand to suffer large out-of-pocket losses due to the
CO-OP failures—as our report details.

These failed CO-OPs were a costly experiment gone wrong, and real
people got hurt—including the more than 700,000 Americans who lost
their health plans. Today I plan to ask HHS whether they accept any
responsibility for the taxpayer waste, disruption to consumers, and
losses to doctors and hospitals that the CO-OPs’ failures have wrought.

1 Health Republic of New York, Statement of Financial Performance (Dec. 31, 2015) (unaudited),
5
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Homeland Security & Governmental Affairs Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations,
“Review of the Affordable Care Act Health Insurance CO-OP Program™

March 10, 2016, 9:30 am
Statement from Senator Ben Sasse
As prepared for delivery:

Chairman Portman and Ranking Member Tester, thank you for holding this important hearing
today. I first want to acknowledge our colleague and ranking member, Senator Claire McCaskill.
We all wish her well and a speedy return to the Senate.

Today’s hearing is about the families who lost their health care plans, the taxpayers who were
swindled, the bureaucrats who mismanaged the program, and the local governments who had to
cut budgets from firefighters and schools to make up for Washington’s failures. Everyone in this
room— Republican or Democrat—— has a duty to their constituents to get the whole story.

The Affordable Care Act’s Consumer Operated and Oriented Plan program created 23 non-profit
health insurers using $2.4 billion in “loans” from federal taxpayers.

Less than a year into operation, the financial condition of many of these CO-OPs was unstable at
best. As today’s report shows, CMS’s own private consultant, Deloitte, warned that this was the
case. Despite this, CMS continued to disburse loans and even awarded additional loans. Since
then, 12 have gone out of business, representing a CO-OP program failure rate of more than 50
percent.

Sadly, there were about 740,000 people covered by these 12 defunct insurance companies that
were given $1.2 billion in “loans” from taxpayers. As we’ve suspected for sometime, this
subcommittee’s report concludes the loans will probably never be repaid.

When these companies failed, they imposed varying degrees of disruption on their enrollees and
the market within which they operated.

Unfortunately, the mess caused by this program began in my state with the abrupt failure of
CoOportunity Health.

While CoOportunity was headquartered in Iowa, it operated in both Nebraska and Iowa. The
newly created insurer was given a total of $145 million in taxpayer-funded loans. Things seemed
to be going well at first when CoOportunity announced they had signed-up far more enrollees
that they had originally anticipated.

However, despite ample funding and enrollees, on December 16, 2014, as people were signing
up for 2015 coverage, the Iowa Insurance Commissioner placed CoOportunity under a
supervision order. By January 2015, the Jowa Insurance Commissioner said rehabilitation of
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CoOportunity would be impossible and sought a court order for liquidation. After just one year
of operation, the new nonprofit health insurer collapsed.

When CoOportunity failed, a total of 120,000 enrollees, a majority of which are Nebraskans, had
their coverage canceled and were forced to find a new insurance company.

But the collateral damage from CoOportunity’s failure does not end there for Nebraskans.
CoOportunity owed millions of dollars to doctors and hospitals for claims made by its enrollees.

To address this kind of thing, the State of Nebraska has a guaranty fund that pays claims in the
event that an insurance company, such as CoOportunity, fails. The guaranty fund is primarily
financed by assessments on insurance companies sclling similar health plans in the state. To help
pay for CoOportunity’s unpaid claims, insurers in Nebraska were assessed fees totaling $46.8
million in 2015. It should be noted that this sum was not even enough to cover CoOportunity’s
losses and that the guaranty fund had to take out a loan. As CoOportunity has no remaining
assets, it’s improbable that the guaranty fund will ever be repaid the $46.8 million that was
assessed onto insurers in the market.

In other words, these insurers had to pay CoOportunity’s outstanding bills and there is no reason
to believe that CoOportunity will pay them back. As a result, Nebraska tax revenues will
decrease by $46.8 million because insurers are able to reduce their tax liability by the amount of
their contribution.

This means that the state government will have this much less revenue to pay for state priorities
like education, roads, and firefighters. Thus, Nebraskans have to pay for this Obamacare failure
again, on top of the $145 million in federal loans given to CoOportunity.

As previously mentioned, 11 other CO-OPs failed in addition to CoOportunity, likely initiating
variations of this story across 11 other states in 2015.

Moreover, depending on the viability of the 11 remaining CO-OPs, it could happen in more
states this year to more consumers. Indeed, of the 11 CO-OPs remaining in operation, we know
that as of February 25, CMS had placed eight on Corrective Action Plans. In addition, updated
financial reports show that conditions have gravely worsened for the four CO-OPs with data
available for the fourth quarter of 2015.

Despite this mess, CMS has offered little in terms of a significant explanation.
I’ve been questioning the Department of Health and Human Services since last May about all of
this. I’ve sent four letters over that period and working alongside Chairman Portman to request

documents to unearth the cause of this CO-OP debacle.

HHS owes all CO-OP enrollees, federal taxpayers, and taxpayers in my state answers. I look
forward to finding some today from our witness panel.
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“Review of the Affordable Care Act Health Insurance CO-OP Program”
U.S. Senate Committee on Homeland Security and Government Affairs
Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations
March 10, 2016

Chairman Portman, Ranking Member McCaskill, and members of the Subcommittee, thank you
for the invitation to discuss the Consumer Operated and Oriented Plan (CO-OP) program. The
Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) is committed to overseeing the CO-OP
program and is hard at work providing CO-OP consumers and taxpayers important protections as
CO-0Ps expand access, choice, and competition, helping Americans access high quality,

affordable health insurance coverage.

CMS’s priority is to provide Marketplace customers with access to quality, affordable coverage.
In the years since the passage of the Affordable Care Act, we have seen increased competition
among health plans and more choices for consumers.! During the third Marketplace Open
Enroliment, nine out of ten returning customers were able to choose from three or more issuers
for 2016 coverage, up from seven in ten in 2014.> The CO-OPs have played an important role in
the Marketplace, particularly in the early years of the Affordable Care Act by providing
additional options for access to affordabie health coverage from local, non-profit health insurers.
Moving forward, CMS is eager to build on the progress in reducing the number of uninsured
Americans — an estimated 17.6 million Americans gained coverage since the Affordable Care
Act’s coverage provisions have taken effect,’ and the Nation’s uninsured rate is at its lowest
level since data collection began over five decades ago.*® During the third open enroliment that
concluded at the end of January, 12.7 million Americans selected affordable, quality health plans

for 2016 coverage through the Marketplaces.®

! www.hhs.gov/about/news/2015/07/30/competition-and-choice-in-the-health-insurance-marketplace-lowered-
premiums-in-20135.htmi

2 www.hhs.gov/about/news/2015/07/30/competition-and-choige-in-the-health-insurance-marketplace-lowered-
premiums-in-2015 htmi

* http://aspe.hhs.pov/health-insurance-coverage-and-affordable-care-act-aspe-issue-brief-september-2015

# http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nhis/earlyrelease/insur201602.pdf
* hetpy/iweww.cde.gov/nchs/data/nhst/nhsr0 1 7.pdf

S https://www.cms.gov/NewsroonvMediaR eleaseDatabase/Fact-sheets/2016-Fact-sheets-iterms/2016-02-04.htmi
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CMS Implementation of the CO-OP Program
Section 1322 of the Affordable Care Act established the CO-OP Program to foster the creation of

non-profit health insurance issuers to give more choices and control to consumers, promote local
competition, and improve diversity in the health insurance market. To this end, the law provided
funding for loans to eligible entities to help establish and maintain these new plans. The funding
initially provided by the law was intended to provide capital sufficient to support start-up costs,
such as establishing provider network relationships, claims and financial operations, developing
products, and meeting regulatory surplus requirements through the initial phase of operations. In
implementing the CO-OP Program as required by statute and with the funds available, CMS
evaluated loan applications, monitors financial performance, conducts financial and operational
oversight, and supports state departments of insurance (DOls), which are the primary regulators

of insurance issuers in the states.

CMS established the CO-OP Program as outlined in the CO-OP Program Funding Opportunity
Announcement’ and the CO-QP Program Final Rule.® The framework for implementing the CO-
OP Program was based on a report submitted by a Federal Advisory Committee appointed by the
Government Accountability Office (GAO) under section 1322(a)(3) of the Affordable Care Act
to advise the Secretary of Health and Human Services (HHS) regarding the award of CO-OP
loans. The report included recommendations on governance, finance, infrastructure, criteria,
process, and compliance for CO-OPs and a timeline for the CO-OP Program.® This report guided

the major elements of how CO-OPs were selected, awarded loans, and monitored.

The CO-OP application review process was rigorous, objective, and conducted with input and
expertise from an independent party, Deloitte Consulting, LLP. Deloitte used a team of insurance
experts, actuaries, former state insurance regulators, and other experts to verify eligibility and
evaluate each element of the application, such as the business plan, financial projections, and a
feasibility study, using the criteria established in the Funding Opportunity Announcement. The

Deloitte findings and recommendations were then sent to the internal CMS review committee,

7 https://www.cms.gov/CCIIO/Resources/Funding-

Opportunities/Downioads/final_premium_review_grant_solicitation with_disclosure_statement.pdf

8 httpsy//www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pke/FR-2011-12-13/pdf/201 1-31864.pdf
® https://www.cms.gov/CCHO/Resources/Files/Downloads/coop_faca_finalreport 0415201 1.pdf
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which was led by insurance experts and an actuary who was not on the CO-OP program staff. A
July 2013 HHS Office of Inspector General (OIG) Report found that “CMS established a
prospective oversight system to safeguard CO-OP funding and ensure timely implementation of

the program.”'¢

Of 147 applications,!! 24 were selected to receive loan funds and ultimately entered into CO-OP
loan agreements with CMS. Ultimately, CMS awarded $2.5 billion in loan funding to the 24 CO-
OPs, over $2.1 billion, or 85 percent, of which was awarded before coverage began on January 1,
2014. The Federal Advisory Group emphasized the importance of awarding the funds “as
expeditiously as possible” in order for CO-OPs to be able to compete in the 2014 Open
Enrollment period.’> As the statute required, loans were made in two forms:!? start-up loans and
solvency loans. Start-up loan obligations were specific to each CO-OP in an amount based on
estimated costs of particular start-up activities. A disbursement schedule that governed the basis,
timing, and amount of sequential disbursements of start-up loan funding was incorporated into

each CO-OP borrower’s loan agreement.

As set forth in the statute, solvency loan funds assisted loan recipients with meeting regulatory
capital and surplus requirements of the state(s) in which they are licensed, as well as additional
CMS CO-OP Program requirements. CO-OPs requested disbursements of solvency loan funding
to maintain state and CO-OP loan agreement required solvency levels. Solvency loan award
levels were made based on the particular business plan included in the loan agreement and state

regulatory capital requirements.

After the start of coverage on January 1, 2014, CMS awarded additional solvency funding to
several existing CO-OPs. In making subsequent loan decisions, CMS undertook a rigorous
review process substantially similar to what was conducted for the initial round of loans. This

included both an external and internal review of updated business plans, feasibility studies,

' http://oig.hhs.gov/cei/reports/oei-01-12-00290.pdf

" Including 34 applications that were not subject to a full review process, but were subsequently denied due to
funding rescissions.

2 https://www.cms.gov/CCIIQ/Resources/Files/Downloads/eoop_faca_finalreport 04152011.pdf

3 Sec. 1322(b) the Affordable Care Act
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programmatic and regulatory compliance, actuarial soundness, and financial

statements. Requests were made for more funding than was available, so the comparative level of
need was also an important factor. The applications included actuarially-certified analysis and
financial projections, which incorporated data regarding the current and projected level of
enroliment. During 2014, CMS provided approximately $352.5 million in additional solvency

loan funding.

CMS used information available after the first round of funding about the size of enroliment and
operational compliance to evaluate applications for additional loan funding. The enroliment,
claims, and financial data available during the review of applications for both the first and
second rounds of opportunity for additional solvency loan funding was limited in scope because
these CO-OPs were in their initial stages of operation, and a substantial number of CO-OP
members enrolled on or after the January 1, 2014 coverage start date. The late enroliment and
the length of time it takes to receive, process, and pay claims and for those claims to have
actuarial meaning, meant that at that time, CO-OPs had six to nine months of enroliment data

and claims experience for Deloitte and CMS to review.

While the Affordable Care Act appropriated $6 billion for the program, the Congress made a
number of substantial rescissions to that initial funding level. The Department of Defense and
Full Year Continuing Appropriations Act, 2011, rescinded $2.2 billion; the Consolidated
Appropriations Act, 2012, rescinded an additional $400 million; and the American Taxpayer
Relief Act of 2012 further reduced the remaining $3.4 billion of CO-OP funding by rescinding
90 percent of funds unobligated as of the date of enactment. Finally, an additional $13 million
was reduced due to sequester in Fiscal Year 2013. The remaining balance was assigned to a new

contingency fund available for oversight and assistance to the existing CO-OP loan recipients.

CO-OP Accomplishments and Challenges

CO-0Ps have provided health insurance coverage to more than one million consumers, helping
people access needed medical care. This program has increased competition and provided more

consumer choices and control in choosing health insurance coverage. For example, Maryland’s
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CO-OP (Evergreen Health) was the first new issuer to enter the state’s market in 25 years,'* and
New Jersey’s CO-OP (Health Republic of New Jersey) was the first new issuer to enter the
state's market in 19 years.!> In Maine, the CO-OP (Maine Community Health Options) was one
of two issuers on the Exchange in 2014; that year, it enrolled 83 percent of individuals who used
the Marketplace to sign up for coverage. The CO-OP began offering coverage to the residents of
New Hampshire in 2015.® Overall, CO-OPs have added both choice and affordability to health

insurance coverage options available to consumers.

CO-OPs are also introducing local innovation. Ohio’s CO-OP (InHealth Mutual) offers a disease
management program for six different conditions that includes education, case management, and
no copays for any visit, prescription, or supplies associated with management of the disease.!”

New Jersey’s CO-OP (Health Republic of New Jersey) implemented a harm reduction program
to help enrollees quit and reduce smoking.'* CMS will continue our work to support CO-OPs as

they pursue innovative approaches to coverage.

However, new entrants to any market, especially the insurance market, face numerous pressures
and must overcome multiple barriers, particularly in their early stages of operations. In its

July 2013 report, HHS OIG found that “the extent to which any particular CO-OP can achieve
program goals and remain financially viable depends on a number of unpredictable factors.
These factors inclnde the CO-OP’s State’s Exchange operations, the number of people who
enroll in the CO-OP and their medical costs, and the way in which competing plans will affect
the CO-OP’s market share.”'® CO-OPs entered the health insurance market facing a variety of
challenges, including building a provider network and customer support, no previous claims
experience on which to base pricing, and competition from larger, experienced issuers. The

Federal Advisory Group found that many of the challenges the CO-OPs faced were the same as

¥ hitp:/www.nytimes.com/2015/09/16/business/health-cooperatives-find-the-going-tough.htmi?_r=0

'3 http://docs.house. gov/meetings/IF/1F02/20151105/104146/HHRG-114-1F02-Wstate-Morrison]-20151105.pdf
18 http://www.pressherald.com/2014/09/30/maine-insurance-co-operative-accelerates-plans-to-cover-new-
hampshire/

'7 http://www.inhealthohio.org/shop-for-insurance/individuals-and-families/2016-enrollment-material-individual-
family-benefits

'8 https:/newjersey.healthrepublic.us/smoking-cessation/smoking-cessationtobacco-harm-reduction-fag/
19 http://oig.hhs.gov/oei/reports/oei-01-12-00290.pdf
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any new health insurance entity.2’ The Commonwealth Fund published a report on the factors
that contributed to the CO-OPs’ challenges, which provided further evidence of the issues faced
by new entrants into the market, including having to outsource important functions, in particular
network contracting, limited information about existing provider practices and referral habits,

and initial enrollment that diverged from expectations.?!

CMS Qversight
CMS has obligations to operate as a proper steward of the taxpayer dollars issued through the

loan program and to administer the CO-OP Program for the benefit of consumers. Since
awarding both start-up and solvency loans, CMS has been closely monitoring and evaluating the
CO-OPs to assess performance and compliance, and has engaged regularly with state DOIs,
which are the primary regulators of insurance issuers in the states. Twelve CO-OPs are no longer
selling coverage in the Marketplace and are in various stages of winding down operations. The

remaining eleven CO-OPs, serving thirteen states, are being monitored closely.

CMS’s oversight approach, informed by the work of both HHS OIG and GAO, consists of four
parts. First, all CO-OPs are subject to standardized, ongoing reporting to and interactions with
CMS that include weekly, biweekly, or monthly calls to monitor goals and challenges; periodic
on-site visits; performance and financial auditing; and monthly, quarterly, semi-annual, and
annual reporting obligations. Since March 2015, CMS has conducted site visits of CO-OPs in 15
states. We believe these visits are a benefit to plans, consumers, and taxpayers. These visits
provide CMS with an opportunity to verify whether and how a CO-OP meets its obligations.
During these visits, CMS reviews management structure and staffing, financial status, business
strategy, the policies and procedures of the CO-OP, marketing and sales information, and
operations, including vendor management and oversight. CMS also reviews whether a CO-OP is
meeting their obligations for medical management and member relations. CMS also collaborates

with DOIs concerning each CO-OP loan recipient.

20 https://www.cms.gov/CCIIO/Resources/Files/Downloads/coop_faca_finalreport_04152011.pdf

2! http://www.commonwealthfund.org/~/medja/files/publications/fund-
report/2015/dec/1847 corlette_why_are_many_coops_failing.pdf?la~en
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Second, CMS monitors the CO-OPs’ overall financial condition using several factors of the
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation’s Uniform Financial Institutions Rating System. CO-OPs
have monthly, semi-annual, and annual reporting requirements, including financial statements,
balance sheets, income statements, statements of cash flow, and enroliment statistics. Last year,
CMS increased the data and financial reporting requirements for CO-OPs. Each CO-OP is
required to provide a semi-annual statement of its compliance with all relevant State licensure
requirements, and, if necessary, an explanation of any deficiencies, warnings, additional
oversight, or any other adverse action or determination by DOIs received by the CO-OP. If the
CO-OP is experiencing compliance issues with State regulators, the CO-OP is required to
describe the steps being taken to resolve those issues. CMS meets monthly with the state
insurance regulators regarding each CO-OP. This additional financial data collection has helped
CMS to identify underperforming CO-OPs and gives CMS the opportunity to work with the
CO-OPs and DOIs to help correct issues that are identified.

Third, CMS regularly uses enhanced oversight plans (EOPs) and corrective action plans (CAPs)
as part of our CO-OP monitoring and oversight process, as laid out in the CO-OP loan
agreements and recommended by the HHS OIG. CMS places a CO-OP on an EOP or CAP
when it identifies an issue that can be resolved through corrective action. A CO-OP can be on an
EOP or CAP for a variety of reasons relating to its operations, compliance, management, or
finances. A CAP could require a CO-OP to make improvements to its claim payment processes,
customer service, premium billing, or other administrative functions. The reasons for an EOP or
a CAP are often common issues for any issuer in the difficult, competitive, and complicated

health insurance market, and are not unique to the CO-OPs.

Finally, CMS can terminate its loan agreement with a CO-OP if we determine it is no longer
viable, sustainable, or serving the interests of the community. CMS works closely with DOIs and
shares information to assist in their assessments of CO-OPs. If a loan agreement is terminated,
CMS works with the state DOI and the CO-OP board to wind down operations in an orderly way
to mitigate impact to the consumer. While it is too early to tell how much money may be
recovered, CMS has begun the recovery process, and once the wind down of these CO-OPs is

complete, we will use every available tool to recoup Federal funding, based on applicable law
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and the loan agreements. During closeout, most CO-OPs exiting the market were placed into a
receivership or supervisory status that controls assets, expenses, and contractual rights and
obligations including ongoing operating costs and claims payment. These arrangements help

protect remaining funds.

In addition to protecting taxpayer dollars, CMS also works to protect consumers. For the CO-
OPs that are closing, we are working closely with the CO-OP and state regulators to facilitate a
smooth transition for consumers to retain access to coverage and ensure providers are reimbursed
for covered services rendered to CO-OP enrollees. Each of the consumers in the CO-OPs that
closed at the end of 2015 maintained coverage until the end of the year, and nearly three-
quarters? of the CO-OP Marketplace consumers have continued their coverage in a new plan in
2016. Affected CO-OP enrollees had access to a special enrollment period, and were able to shop
for 2016 coverage on the Marketplace until February 28, 2016. In all cases, CMS is focused on

making sure consumers continue to receive medical services.

Moving Forward
Since the enactment of the Affordable Care Act, CMS has worked to increase access to quality,

affordable coverage through the Marketplaces and to be responsible stewards of taxpayer dollars.
The CO-OP program was designed to give consumers more choices, promote competition, and
improve quality in the health insurance market. Though not all CO-OPs have continued to offer
coverage, consuimers continue to have a variety of affordable health insurance coverage choices
that meet the health care needs of their families. While CO-OPs are primarily responsible for
their own success, CMS will continue to help them identify and correct issues and make
improvements. CMS is committed to continuing its work with the CO-OPs offering coverage
this year to facilitate progress and expand into new markets when appropriate, CMS has also
clarified our policies on important topics?> and is exploring what changes could be made to help
CO-OPs diversify their boards and grow and raise capital, while still preserving the
fundamentally member-run nature of the CO-OP program. Working with state DOIs and the

CO-OPs, CMS will continue its rigorous ongoing monitoring and oversight processes in order to

2 Does not include consumers who enrolled in new plans outside the Marketplace.
2 hitps://www.cms.gov/CCIIO/Resources/Fact-Sheets-and-F AQs/Downloads/CO-OP-Questions-Final-1-27-16.pdf

8
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prevent consumers from experiencing potential disruption in health insurance coverage.
Additionally, we will use every tool available to recoup Federal dollars, where appropriate. We

appreciate the Committee’s interest and are happy to answer your questions.
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Statement of Scott E. Harrington
Alan B. Miller Professor
The Wharton School
University of Pennsylvania

On “Review of the Affordable Care Act Health Insurance CO-OP Program”

Before the
Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations
Committee on Homeland Security and Government Affairs
U.S. Senate

March 10, 2016

Chairman Portman, Ranking Member McCaskill, and members of the subcommittee:

I am pleased to provide testimony today on the Consumer Operated and Oriented Plan
(CO-OP) program established by the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (ACA). lam
the Alan B. Miller Professor and Chair of the Health Care Management Department of the
University of Pennsylvania’s Wharton School. During my nearly 40-year academic career | have
published extensively on the economics and regulation of insurance, including analyses of
pricing and price regulation, capital and insolvency risk, the causes of insolvencies, solvency
prediction and regulation, risk-based capital requirements, and state guaranty funds. [have
conducted several previous analyses of the CO-OPs’ financial condition and performance based

on data reported in CO-OPs’ statutory financial statements.'

In preparing this testimony I have reviewed a variety of documents for closed CO-OPs in
Iowa/Nebraska, New York, South Carolina, and Tennessee, including original applications to the
CO-OP program, business plans, feasibility studies, pro forma financials, actuarial pricing
analyses, additional funding requests, and reviews for the Center for Medicare and Medicaid

Services (CMS) conducted by Deloitte LLC. I have also reviewed selected financial

! See The Financial Condition and Operation of CO-OP Plans, Leonard Davis Institute of Health Economics and
Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, February 2015, http://www.rwif.org/en/library/research/2015/02/the-financial-
condition-and-performance-of-co-op-plans.htmi; Effects of the ACA’s 3Rs on the Bottom Line, Part I1, July 30,
2015, hitp://ldi.upenn.edw/effects-aca%E2%080%099s-Irs-reinsurance-risk-adjustment-and-risk-corridors-bottom-
line-part-ii; How the Largest Obamacare CO-OP Went Broke,

http://www.forbes com/sites/realspin/2015/10/12/how-the-largest-obamacare-co-op-went-broke/#57d6 09d 7 1c7;
Financial Status of ACA CO-OPs, American Enterprise Institute CO-OP Briefing, October 22, 2015.

1
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information for the closed CO-OPs that has been provided to the Permanent Subcommittee on
Investigations (PSI). [have not received or reviewed any information on enhanced oversight or

correction action plans instituted by CMS for any of the CO-OPs.

The CO-OP program was intended to promote competition in health insurance by non-
profit, consumer-focused, and consumer-governed insurers that would provide an alternative to
traditional insurance companies-—whether for profit or not for profit—and focus on financing
and delivering high quality medical care with improved care coordination and integration. The
program ultimately awarded $2.44 billion of federal loans to 23 CO-OPs in the form of startup
loans ($358 million) and solvency loans ($2.09 billion) to be disbursed over time to meet state

regulatory capital requirements.

Twelve of the 23 CO-OPs that began selling policies in 2014 have closed. As I elaborate
below, very little, if any, of the $1.24 billion in federal startup and solvency loans to establish
those CO-OPs will be repaid, and at least several will be unable to meet all of their obligations to
policyholders and health care providers. Some closures in states with guaranty fund coverage
will likely require significant state guaranty fund assessments. The future of the 11 CO-OPs still

providing coverage in 2016 is uncertain, but future closures seem likely.

The CO-OPs faced significant challenges as new entrants during a time of extraordinary
uncertainty. Operational challenges included product design, development of distribution and
claims administration systems, and contracting with provider networks, including efforts to
promote greater coordination and integration of care.2 The ACA reforms effective in 2014 posed
major challenges and risk associated with pricing coverage in view of uncertain takeup and
utilization of coverage by the previously uninsured, as well as uncertainty as to the rate and

scope of transition of previously insured people to policies complying with the ACA’s new rules.

The CO-OPs had none of their own experience and data to consider in pricing. They
were plausibly more prone to a “winner’s curse” phenomenon, where CO-OPs with prices too

low in relation to expected medical and administration costs would grow rapidly and lose money,

2 According to a Department of Health and Human Services Office of Inspector General (OIG) study, Early
Implementation of the Consumer Operated and Oriented Plan Loan Program, OEI-01-12-00290, July 2013, alt CO-
OPs reported major challenges in hiring staff, obtaining licensure, marketing plans, and enrolling consumers within
18 to 24 months of being awarded funding,.
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especially in an environment of strong political and public pressure for affordable health
insurance. Pricing uncertainty remained high for 2015 premium rates, which had to be filed with
state regulators in the summer of 2014, when CO-OPs still had relatively little data to assess
claim experience and the adequacy of their 2014 rates. Compared with many established
players, the CO-OPs had very little ability to diversify pricing and claims risk across geographic

regions and different health insurance products.

The challenges and risks confronting CO-OPs notwithstanding, the April 2011 report of
the 15 member advisory board to CMS on the design of the CO-OP program argued that it was
fundamentally important for CO-OPs to begin operating on January 1, 2014 to capture market
share during the “critical first open enroliment period”.* Several CO-OP business plans and
feasibility studies [ reviewed also stressed the importance of establishing a market presence in
2014. It was believed that the ACA’s risk stabilization programs—risk adjustment, reinsurance,
and risk corridors (the “3Rs”)}—would help protect CO-OPs in the event of inadequate pricing

and higher than expected medical and administrative costs.

Capital and Insolvency Risk

Insurance companies need to hold substantial capital-—assets in excess of liabilities—to
achieve a high probability of meeting their obligations to policyholders and other claimants, The
scholarly literature on capital and insolvency risk for insurers and other financial institutions
stresses that firms’ incentives for solvency and achievement of high financial ratings depend on
the amount of owners’ capital at risk, on the value of the firm as a going concern (from previous
investments in infrastructure and building a customer base and brand) that could be lost in the
event of financial distress, on the sensitivity of customers” demand to insolvency risk, and on the
extent of external monitoring by lenders and other counterparties. Solvency regulation,
including risk-based capital requirements, is broadly intended to promote greater capitalization
and reduce insolvency risk in cases where firms’ incentives otherwise could be insufficient to

promote a high probability of solvency.

3 Report of the Federal Advisory Board on the Consumer Operated and Oriented Plan (CO-OP) Program, April 15,
2011, Center for Consumer Information and Insurance Oversight, p. 5.

* As is the case for banking, the scholarly literature on insurance capital and insolvency risk has considered potential
moral hazard that could arise from state insurance guaranty fund protection and how such protection increases the

3
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Viewed on these dimensions, the financial strength of CO-OPs should have been a central
focus from the program’s inception. CO-OPs faced considerabie pressure to capture early
market share. They had (almost) no private capital, no going-concern value, and no financial
ratings, and it was likely that many potential CO-OP customers would not be sensitive to

insolvency risk.’

Moreover, the history of insurance company insolvencies indicates that—due to
inadequate incentives for financial strength, bad decisions, bad luck, or some combination
thereof——insolvent companies often charged low prices and grew rapidly, with inadequate
reported claim reserve liabilities, ultimately producing claim costs much larger than reported in
their pre-insolvency financial statements. There also is always a risk that insurers facing
significant financial stress will try to sell their way out of trouble, hoping (or gambling) that
claim costs will turn out to be lower than projected. Early detection of such behaviors is a major
goal of solvency regulation. But early detection is often difficult given lags in receiving
information and inherent uncertainty in projecting a company’s claim costs. This history and
context also suggest that the financial strength of CO-OPs and the potential consequences of

rapid enrollment growth should have been a central focus from their inception.

CO-OP Capitalization

The approved CO-OP applications to CMS contained and were accompanied by detailed
business plans and feasibility studies, including actuarial projections of growth, profitability, and
ability to repay government foans. Deloitte revicwed the applications and supporting materials
for CMS. Low interest startup loans awarded to CO-OPs were to be disbursed over time with a
five-year term for each disbursement. Low interest solvency loans with a 15-year term were to

be disbursed over time to fund growth while meeting regulatory capital targets.

need for solvency regulation. My own analyses of this issue have stressed that the moral hazard problem is much
smatller for insurance than banking.

® The ACA specified that evidence of private support was one of three selection criteria to be given priority in
awarding CO-OP loans {along with providing integrated care models and offering statewide coverage). An OIG
study, The Center for Medicare & Medicaid Services Awarded Consumer Operated and Oriented Plan Loans in
Accordance with Federal Requirements, and Continued Oversight is Needed, A-05-12-00043, July 2013, p. 4,
reported that investigators “saw little evidence of private support in any of the 16 applications reviewed.”

4
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CO-0Ps were required to report startup loan amounts as debt on their regulatory financial
statements. (As [ discuss below this later changed for some CO-OPs.) In order to meet
regulatory capital requirements, solvency loans had to be approved by state regulators as
“surplus notes”, which are subordinate to all other claims and counted as capital rather than debt
for meeting capital requirements. Surplus notes cannot be repaid without the permission of state
regulators. Solvency loans essentially accounted for all of CO-OP capital. The amount of
solvency loan disbursements generally were set to enable the CO-OP to achieve a projected
capital of 500 percent of the National Association of Insurance Commissioners risk-based capital
requirement. The 500 percent figure is roughly consistent with the average ratio of capital to

risk-based capital among all health insurers.

The actuarial analyses supporting solvency loans and disbursements necessarily relied on
numerous pricing, claim cost, and enrollment assumptions over a long projection period. The
analyses involved some stress testing, for example, by projecting a baseline (best estimate)
scenario, low and high enroilment scenarios, and scenarios with higher claim costs. The
documents [ reviewed contained what I regard as relatively modest stress scenarios. They did
not include a scenario of significantly higher than projected enroliment combined with worse
than projected claim costs. The baseline pricing assumptions, however, allowed for the
possibility that newly insured enrollees would be sicker on average than previously insured

people and for some degree of “pent up demand” by newly insured enrollees.

CO-0OP Experience

Exhibit 1 shows the projected 2014 enrollment for the 23 CO-OPs in their award
applications, year-end 2014 enrollment reported in their annual regulatory financial statement
(3™ quarter 2014 statement for CoOpportunity Health), and enroliment as of June 30, 2015 as
reported in their 2" quarter financial statements (not available for Freelancers, NJ). Exhibit 2
shows, as of June 30, 2015, CO-OPs’ cumulative reported net income since January 1, 2014,
reported assets (including projected risk corridor receivables), reported obligations (startup loans,

solvency loans, and operating liabilities), and the ratio of reported obligations to assets.® It also

 CoOpportunity Health was in liquidation. The June 30, 2015 financial statement was not available for Freelancers,
NJ.
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shows the amount of projected risk corridor receivables included in reported assets, which

assumed full payment of risk corridor requests.

Some CO-OPs experienced vastly larger enrollment in 2014 than had been projected in
their applications and feasibility studies, greatly increasing their need for capital. Those CO-OPs
generally had fow premium rates compared with competitors. Other CO-OPs, generally with
relatively high premium rates, had very low enrollment in 2014.” All but one CO-OP reported
losing money in 2014 (even assuming full payment of projected risk corridor receivables, if any),

with relatively high administrative costs.?

Some CO-OPs continued to grow rapidly in 2015, despite significant rate increases in
some cases, further increasing their need for capital. Some CO-OPs with low 2014 enroliment
lowered their premium rates and grew rapidly in 2015. Three CO-OPs (ME/NH, TN, and WI)
reported small operating profits for the first half of 2015.°

For the 18 months ending June 30, 2015, only one CO-OP (ME/NH) reported positive net
income (Exhibit 2). The 11 closed CO-OPs submitting June 30, 2015 financials reported a
cumulative loss of $417.5 million during that period. The 10 CO-OPs still operating with June

30 financials reported a cumulative loss of $202.3 million.

Projected risk corridor receivables, which were much larger for the closed than operating
CO-OPs ($441.5 miilion vs. $69.6 million), are included in reported revenues and assets (along
with projected receivables and/or payments for the risk adjustment and reinsurance programs).
Without risk corridor receivables, or incorporating only the amounts to be paid for 2014 based on
CMS’s October 1, 2015 announcement, the reported operating loss and ratio of obligations to

assets would be much greater for many of the closed CO-OPs.

7 The Ohio CO-OP did not offer coverage on the exchange until 2015 but offered coverage off the excharige in 2014.
8 For further discussion of CO-OPs’ 2014 experience, see The Financial Condition of ACA CO-OPs, supra note 1;
GAO, Private Health Insurance—Premiums and Enroliment for New Nonprofit Health Issuers Varied Significantly
in 2014, GAO-15-304, April 2015; and OIG, Actual Enrollment and Profitability was Lower Than Projections Made
by The Consumer Operated and Oriented Plans and Might Affect Their Ability to Repay Loans Provided Under the
Affordable Care Act, A-05-14-00055, July 2015.

° Community Health Alliance of Tennessee, which froze enrollment on January 15, 2015, reported a profit of
$4,837.
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Analysis of reported premiums (which include projected risk corridor receivables),
medical expenses, and administrative expenses for 2014 and the first six months of 2015
indicates that reported medical expenses for the CO-OPs (excluding CoOpportunity Health and
Freelancers, NJ) equaled 98 percent of premiums for the subsequently closed CO-OPs and 89
percent of premiums for those still operating. Administrative expenses equaled 31 percent of
premiums for both groups combined in 2014 and 24 percent of premiums during the first two

quarters of 2015.

Additional Loan Awards, Accelerated Loan Disbursements, and Closures

Many commentators praised the substantial enroliments of some CO-OPs in the first half
of 2014 as indicators of program success. Instead, enroliment growth and early profit reports for
CO-0Ps with low premiums should have been a major cause for alarm given the uncertain
environment and history of insurance company insolvencies. CO-OP viability was much more

likely with slow and steady expansion.

CO-0OP enroliment growth was accompanied by additional loan awards for six CO-OPs
in 2014 to meet capital targets. Exhibit 3 shows for the 12 closed CO-OPs dates of announced
closures, total award amounts, additional awards made in 2014, and, from data supplied to the

PS}, total disbursements and the amount and date of the last solvency loan disbursement.'®

CO-0OPs in Connecticut, lowa/Nebraska, Kentucky, Maine/New Hampshire, New York,
and Wisconsin applied for and were approved for $355.5 million in additional solvency loans in
the last four months of 2014."! The CO-OPs in lowa/Nebraska, Kentucky, and New York were
later closed. The closure of CoOpportunity Health in lowa and Nebraska was announced in late
December 2014, six weeks after disbursement of its additional $32,700,000 solvency loan award
approved in September, and following the denial of a late October request for another $55

million. Health Republic of New York requested an additional $70.5 million in late October

10 Some disbursements were made after the announcement of closure, apparently to permit the CO-OP to continue
policies in force until the end of 2015,

" Loan Program Helps Support Customer-Driven Non-Profit Health Insurers (updated December 26, 2014), CMS,
Center for Consumer Information & Insurance Oversight.. In addition, the Massachusetts CO-OP received an
additional $66 miltion solvency loan award in December 2013.

7
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2014, following CMS approval of an additional $90.7 million solvency loan in September. The

latter request was denied.

The Wisconsin CO-OP, still operating, received additional solvency loan awards of $28.5
million in September 2014 and $22.7 million in December 2014. The latter award exhausted the
CO-OP program’s authorized funding of $2.44 billion. CMS did not have the funds to approve
the additional requests from CoOpportunity Health, Health Republic of New York, or any other
CO-OPs.

CMS therefore lacked funding to make additional solvency foan awards in 2015. With
the approval of state regulators, however, CMS permitted seven CO-OPs to convert their startup
loans to surplus notes, thus allowing the startup loans to be counted as capital for meeting target
capital ratios. Five CO-OPs that subsequently closed converted a total of $82.1 million in startup

loans to surplus notes prior to closure (Exhibit 3).

Beyond additional loan awards and startup loan conversions, disbursements of solvency
loans from CMS to many CO-OPs were accelerated during 2014 and 2015. According to data
reported to the PS], the disbursements generally were made during and following months in

which claim costs were substantially greater than premiums.

Following its announced takeover in December 2014, state regulators determined in
January 2015 that CoOpportunity Health (IA/NE) would be liquidated. CoOpportunity Health’s
award application, business plan, and actuarial feasibility study submitted to CMS in late 2011
projected slow enrollment growth beginning in 2014, Specifically, the October 2011 feasibility
study by its actuarial consultant projected 11,142 enrollees in 2014, 31,500 enrollees in 2015,
and 76,940 enrollees in 2020. The company’s September 30, 2014 financial statement reported
50,746 enrollees as of March 31, 2014, 79,762 enrollees as of June 30, and 91,477 enrollees as of
September 30. Thus, by September of its first year of operation, CoOpportunity Health had eight
times the originally projected number of enrollees for 2014 and close to 15,000 more enrollees

than originally had been projected for the year 2020.

Actuarial projections in 2013 supporting CoOpportunity Health’s premium rate filings for

2014 included a 30 percent factor to allow for greater medical costs in the newly insured
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population. Even so, the company’s individual market rates were the lowest among insurers in
three of Nebraska’s four rating regions, lowest throughout Nebraska’s small group market,
lowest for one rating region in lowa’s individual market, and lowest in most rating regions for

fowa’s small group market.

CoOpportunity Health’s additional solvency loan request of $32.7 million in July 2014,
which was supported by its actuarial consultant, reviewed by Deloitte, and approved by CMS,
indicated that claims volume had been higher than expected and that a 17 percent average rate
increase would be needed. Without additional funding, the company indicated that it would
either have to merge with another insurer or freeze enrollment. CoOpportunity Health’s October
2014 request (denied) for another $55 million to enable it to keep operating given continued
enrollment growth indicated that it would need 40 percent rate increases over time following a

19 percent increase for 2015.

It appears that very little, if any, of CoOpportunity Health’s $147 million in startup loans,
solvency loans, and accrued interest will be repaid. The Special Deputy Liquidator for the
company’s liquidation reported that as of June 30, 2015 the estate had assets of $108.7 million,
excluding risk corridor receivables, and claim liabilities of $109 million.’> An update as of
December 31, 2015 provided to the PSI showed assets of $61.6 million including CoOpportunity
Health’s actual $176.4 million risk corridor receivable for 2014, remaining claim obligations of

$54.5 million, and a variety of other liabilities apart from federal loans.

Closures of much smaller CO-OPs in Louisiana and Nevada were announced in July and
August 2015, Then in was announced on September 25, 2015 that Health Republic of New
York, by far the largest CO-OP, would be closed. On October 1, CMS announced that risk
corridor payments for 2014 would be limited to 12.6 percent of requests. Seven more CO-OP
closures were announced prior to the onset of open enroliment on November 1, and the closure
of the Michigan CO-OP was announced a few days later. Although no additional closures have
since been announced, eight of the remaining CO-OPs are reported to be operating under CMS

corrective action plans. The Ilinois CO-OP Land of Lincoln Health limited enrollment in

'2 In the lowa District Court for Polk County, In Re Liquidation of CoOpportunity Health, Special Deputy
Liquidator’s Second Status Report. Upon liquidation, the lowa and Nebraska guaranty associations assumed claim
payments pending resolution of the estate.
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October 2015 and recently reported a net loss of $90.8 million for 2015 in conjunction with

substantial enrollment growth during the year.!?

Health Republic of New York’s closure was a watershed event. Its 2011 application and
feasibility studies contained baseline (best estimate) projections of 30,864 enrollees in 2014,
50,535 enrollees in 2015, and 100,323 enrollees in 2020. An alternative “high enrollment”
scenario projected 44,492 enrollees in 2014 and 65,179 enroliees in 2015. The company
reported 155,402 enrollees at year-end 2014 and 209,136 enrollees on June 30, 2015. Its 2015
enrollment was thus over three times the projected high enrollment scenario for 2015 and more

than double its baseline enrollment projection for the year 2020.

Health Republic generally had the lowest 2014 premium rates in the regions it operated.
It requested rate increases of 15 percent and 6 percent in the individual and small group markets
for 2015. It received increases of 12.9 percent and 3.5 percent, respectively. Its rates remained

generally low compared with other insurers.

Health Republic’s additional solvency loan request for $90.7 million in July 2014 was
based-—with permission of New York regulators—on lower state capital standards than the
previous target of 500 percent of risk-based capital. Its October 2014 request (denied) for
another $70.5 million returned to the 500 percent target. That request projected 8 percent greater
enrollment for 2014 and approximately 25 percent greater enrollment in 2015 and 2016 than had
been projected four months earlier. A March 2015 study by its actuarial consultant nonetheless
projected that the company would be economically viable based on baseline projections that

assumed substantial reductions in administrative expenses and claims utilization.

CMS announced on June 30, 2015 that Health Republic was due $58.2 million in
reimbursement from the ACA reinsurance program but owed $80.2 million for the risk
adjustment program. Health Republic’s June 30, 2015 financials projected $243.3 million in risk
corridor program receivables. The company reported a cumulative loss of $130.2 million from

January 1, 2014 through June 30, 2015 (Exhibit 2), assuming full collection of projected risk

3 Kristen Schorsch, Crain’s Chicago Business, March 1, 2016.
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corridor receivables. This represents a loss of about $50 per member per month (three times that

amount if projected risk corridor receivables are excluded).

The final tally of any closed CO-OP’s deficits will depend on numerous factors including
in particular the ultimate amounts owed for medical claims, The December 31, 2015 financial
report for Health Republic of New York provided to the PSI makes it clear that none of its
federal loans will be repaid. The entity’s assets are projected to fall over $200 million short of
amounts needed to pay providers and policyholders. New York does not have a guaranty fund or

related mechanism for licensed health insurance company obligations.

I also reviewed updated financial data provided to the PSI for the 10 closed CO-OPs in
addition to CoOpportunity Health and Health Republic of New York. Reported assets were less
than claim and other obligations apart from startup and solvency loans for seven of the 10 CO-
OPs and only marginally greater than those obligations in the other three states (Oregon,
Tennessee, and Utah). Two of the states (Colorado and South Carolina) project substantial
guaranty fund assessments. The data therefore suggest that little, if any, of federal loans will be

repaid.

Unanswered Questions

The CO-OP program’s experience raises a number of key questions—beyond the
fundamental issue of whether the program made economic sense when enacted. When
considering these questions, it is important to avoid 20-20 hindsight given the enormous degree
and slow resolution of uncertainty concerning the magnitude of insured medical costs with the
onset of the ACA’s coverage expansion in 2014, as well as inherent uncertainty concerning the
likelihood that a given CO-OP experiencing financial stress might achieve viability if allowed to

continue operating. The following questions remain despite this caveat:

1. Was it appropriate and prudent to push for the CO-OPs to begin operations in 2014, as
opposed to delaying start up for a year or two before selling tens of thousands of policies, in
order to permit resolution of some uncertainty concerning the characteristics of the newly
insured population and facilitate the development of necessary infrastructure, relationships, and

care models?

11
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2. Why were low premium rates charged by some CO-OPs not viewed as a signal of
potentially inadequate rates, especially when their rate filings anticipated relatively high provider

reimbursement and administrative expenses?

3. Why were some CO-OPs permitted to enroll far more customers than anticipated in
financial projections supporting their applications, as opposed to having some formal or informal

limits on growth imposed by CMS and/or state regulators?

4, Why didn’t CMS delay solvency loan disbursements, or possibly terminate loan
agreements, when confronted with enroliments far greater than anticipated and evidence of

operating losses?

5. Why was the customary financing timeline seemingly reversed in some cases, with
CO-OPs expanding rapidly and then seeking accelerated loan disbursements and/or additional
loan awards from CMS to support that expansion, as opposed to obtaining funds in advance to

finance anticipated growth?

6. Given the history of insurance insolvencies and the highly uncertain environment,
why didn’t the actuarial analyses supporting CO-OP applications and subsequent financia}
projections report a broader range of stress tests, including scenarios where higher than expected

enrollment was accompanied by significantly higher than expected claim costs?

Marketing, Risk Stabilization Programs, and Funding Cuts

I believe that many if not most of the major players involved in the formation, funding,
and operation of CO-OPs significantly underestimated the challenges and risks of launching new
health insurance companies in 2014. The CO-OPs were inherently vulnerable to unpredictably
high medical claim costs, including from any adverse selection associated with established

carriers renewing pre-2014 policies, especially if enrollee growth outpaced projections.

Seme commentators and CO-OP representatives have argued that restrictions on the use

of federal loans for marketing undermined CO-OPs’ ability to grow and diversify.’* The loan

* A related argument is that program rules constraining CO-OPs” ability to expand into large group health insurance
impeded their success. I regard it a more likely that expansion into large group markets would have made some CO-
OPs’ financial problems worse.
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agreements, however, appear to have a relatively narrow interpretation of the term “marketing,”
which does not preclude activities related to community outreach and membership development.
More important, restrictions on spending for marketing did not prevent explosive growth for
some CO-OPs at unsustainable prices. Fewer constraints plausibly could have made matters

WOrSseE.

With respect to the ACA risk stabilization programs, CO-OPs benefitted substantially
from the transitional reinsurance program, including CMS decisions to lower the 2014 threshold
for reimbursement from $60,000 to $45,000 and pay 100 percent of claims between $45,000 and
$250,000 rather than 80 percent. On the other hand, 16 of the 22 CO-OPs subject to the CMS
risk adjustment program (Massachusetts has its own system) owed payments for 2014
experience, including Health Republic of New York ($80.2 million), Kentucky Health CO-OP
($23.2 million), and 11 others ranging from $1 million to $8 million."” These CO-OPs had lower
than average risk scores for their enrollees in their state of operation. Two of the closed CO-OPs
were owed risk adjustment payments (Meritus, $0.8 million, and CoOpportunity Health, $4.1
million) due to higher than average risk scores. The risk adjustment formula could have flaws
that disproportionately affect small insurers. It also has been argued that CO-OPs were
disadvantaged versus established insurers in ensuring that all enrollee health conditions affecting

risk scores and risk adjustment were recorded.

As discussed earlier, shown in Exhibit 2, and consistent with large operating losses, a
number of the closed CO-OPs had projected substantial risk corridor receivables. They therefore
were disproportionately affected by the payment of only 12.6 percent of risk corridor
reimbursement requests for 2014 and the likelihood of much smaller reimbursement over time.
Some closed CO-OPs’ representatives argue that they would have been able to achieve viability
if substantially more of their risk corridor requests were paid. But those requests were high in
large part because of rapid growth at inadequate premium rates, While perhaps anything is

possible, the evidence suggests that using taxpayer funds for greater risk corridor payments

5 CMS, Summary Report on Transitional Reinsurance Payments and Permanent Risk Adjustment Transfers for the
2014 Benefit Year, June 30, 2015.

13



73

would very likely have risked having some CO-OPs expand even further, with inadequate

premium rates and relatively high administrative costs.

Finally, some commentators and CO-OP representatives have blamed closures on
Congressional reductions in CO-OP program funding. But by preventing CO-OPs from being
established in more states and limiting CMS’s ability to provide additional solvency loans to
existing CO-OPs, the reductions very likely prevented both the funding of more CO-OPs that
would not have been viable and able to repay government loans and the extension of additional

funding to at least some CO-OPs that would ultimately fail.

Thank you for the opportunity to testify.
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L EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (ACA) created the Consumer
Operated and Oriented Plan Program--known as the CO-OP Program. Under the
CO-OP Program, the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) distributed
loans to consumer-governed, nonprofit health insurance issuers. HHS ultimately
received $2.4 billion of taxpayer money to fund 23 CO-OPs that participated in the
program. Twelve of those 23 CO-OPs have now failed, leaving 740,000 people in 14
states searching for new coverage and leaving the taxpayer little hope of recovering
the $1.2 billion in loans HHS disbursed to those failed insurance businesses.

The Senate Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations (PSI) has completed
an investigation of that failure-—and whether HHS exercised good stewardship of
public money when it poured billions of dollars into these insurance startups. Our
investigation revealed that it did not. HHS was alerted to weaknesses in the failed
CO-0OPs’ business plans and financial forecasts before it approved their initial loans;
failed to use major accountability and oversight tools available to it throughout
2014 even though it knew of the CO-OPs’ severe financial distress; continued to
disburse loans to failing CO-OPs despite warning signs; and allowed CO-OPs to
continue to book risk corridor payments as assets despite credible warnings that
those payments would not materialize. We summarize some of our key findings
below.

First, HHS approved the failed CO-OPs despite receiving specific warnings
from a third-party analyst about weaknesses in their business plans. Before it
approved the now-failed CO-OPs, HHS retained Deloitte Consulting LLP to
evaluate the CO-OPs’ loan applications and business plans. Deloitte’s analysis,
reviewed by the Subcommittee, notified HHS of several significant weaknesses in
the CO-OPs’ business proposals. Those weaknesses included:

¢ Defective Enrollment Strategies. Deloitte identified serious
problems in the enrollment strategy of seven of the 12 failed CO-OPs.
Those problems ranged from inadequate actuarial analysis, to
unsupported assumptions about sustainable premiums, to a lack of
demonstrated understanding of the health demographics of the CO-
OP’s target population.

» Budgetary and Financial Planning Problems. Deloitte’s reports
reveal that the proposed budgets of 10 of the 12 failed CO-OPs were
incomplete, and Deloitte thought that many were unreasonable, not
cost-effective, or not aligned with the CO-OP’s own financial
projections. Deloitte also expressed skepticism about the risk-taking
and unreasonable assumptions reflected in some of the CO-OPs’
financial projections. The firm warned that Colorado, Utah, and
Louisiana all relied on unreasonable projections of their own growth.,

1
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1t cautioned that it could not trace the assumptions underlying the
budgets of the Nevada, Tennessee, and Kentucky CO-OPs to their
actual business plans. And, perhaps tongue-in-cheek, it observed that
Iowa and Nebraska’s CO-OP, CoOpportunity, had a target profit
“much lower than the industry benchmark” of 4.8%: CoOportunity’s
stated target profit margin was zero.

¢ Management Weaknesses. HHS required the CO-OP applicants to
identify their management teams, including the qualifications and
experience of its leadership. In Deloitte’s reports to HHS, the firm
identified some leadership concerns for all of the 12 failed CO-OPs.
Several prospective CO-OPs had not even identified their senior
leadership team, and others had executives for whom background
checks turned up red flags.

Despite these identified weaknesses, Deloitte gave each CO-OP a “passing” score
based on a grading scale set by HHS, and HHS approved the loans in spite of the
warning signs.

Second, even though HHS was aware of serious financial distress suffered by
the CO-OPs in 2014, it failed to take any corrective action or enhance oversight for
more than a year. The CO-OP loan agreements armed HHS with significant
accountability tools for borrowers who were missing the mark, but here HHS took a
pass. Inexplicably, for over a year, the agency took no corrective action, nor did it
put any CO-OP on enhanced oversight. Five of the 12 failed CO-OPs were never
subject to corrective action by HHS, and HHS waited until September 2015 to put
five others on corrective action or enhanced oversight. Two months later, all twelve

CO-OPs had failed.

That failure to take action is difficult to understand. Throughout 2014 and
2015, HHS regularly received key financial information from the CO-OPs, including
monthly reports on enrollment and financial data sufficient to calculate net income,
along with audited quarterly financial statements. Those reports showed that the
failed CO-OPs experienced severe financial losses that quickly exceeded even the
worst-case loss projections they had provided to HHS as part of the business plans
in their loan applications. Cumulatively, by the end of 2014, the failed CO-OPs
exceeded their projected worst-case-scenario losses by at least $263.7 million
four times greater than the expected amount. The CO-OPs’ enrollment numbers
were similarly alarming. According to the 2014 reports they submitted to HHS, five
of the failed CO-OPs dramatically underperformed enrollment expectations (leading
to insufficient income for premiums), while five others overshot their enrollment
projections (which also causes losses due to underpriced premiums). HHS was
aware of these problems in early 2014, but took no corrective action and continued
to disburse loans to the distressed CO-OPs.
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Third, despite serious financial warning signs, HHS did not withhold any
loan disbursements from the now-failed CO-OPs—and in many cases accelerated
planned disbursements. Instead, over the course of 20142015, HHS disbursed
$848 million in taxpayer dollars to the failed CO-OPs, even as those entities lost
more than $1.4 billion. For every dollar that HHS sent them over this period, the
failed CO-OPs lost about $1.65.

Fourth, HHS approved additional solvency loans for three of the failed CO-
OPs in danger of being shut down by state regulators, despite obvious warning
signs that those CO-OPs will not be able to repay the taxpayer. State regulators
require health insurers to maintain a certain amount of capital reserve—called the
“risk based capital” requirement. HHS made solvency loans available to the CO-
OPs at risk of failing to meet these requirements, and to date has issued additional
solvency loans to six CO-OPs, for a total of $352 million. As with CO-OPs’ initial
loan applications, Deloitte completed the external assessment for these additional
solvency loans. But according to Deloitte, HHS required a truncated analysis of the
applications; for example, Deloitte did not even evaluate the “the likelihood that
each CO-OP would achieve sustainable operations based on the revised business
plan.”

Three of the CO-OPs that received additional solvency funds from HHS have
since failed. The Subcommittee’s investigation revealed that HHS issued those
additional loans despite clear warnings that the CO-OPs were in financial trouble.

+ Kentucky CO-OP. HHS approved a $65 million additional solvency
loan to the Kentucky CO-OP. It did so even though Deloitte’s review of
the CO-OP’s application revealed several problems, including failure to
provide any detail for its plans to remedy enrollment difficulties; an
unsupported explanation of its plans to raise premiums by 15%; an
unexplained projection that the CO-OP would reduce its medical loss
ratio by 74% in the coming year; and questionable income projections.

o Result: The Kentucky CO-OP eventually collapsed after
suffering losses of $50.4 million in 2014 and another $114.8
million in 2015.

e New York CO-OP. The New York CO-OP received $90.7 million in
additional solvency funding despite severe financial difficulties
brought on largely by too-high enrollment in 2014, after the CO-OP
dramatically underpriced its premiums. Inits application for
additional solvency funds, the CO-OP proposed to solve this problem
by raising premiums by 10%, but Deloitte told HHS that the CO-OP
had failed to analyze the effect that would have on enrollment and
failed provide any concrete data supporting the effectiveness of its
proposed plan. Deloitte noted the option that the CO-OP could forego
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additional loans and “scale down its operation.” But rather than scale
down, in September 2014, HHS granted the New York CO-OP a $90.7
million additional solvency loan that would allow it to scale up—in
every respect but profits.

o Result: The New York CO-OP’s losses reached a staggering
$544 million by the end of 2015. It was shut down by the New
York Department of Financial Services near the end of 2015,
leaving more than 215,000 policyholders to search for new
insurance policies.

+ Jowa and Nebraska CO-OP (CoOpportunity). CoOpportunity, the
CO-OP serving lowa and Nebraska, received $32.7 million in
additional solvency loan funding. But given the unsupported
assumptions underlying the CO-OP’s proposed solutions to its financial
woes, Deloitte warned HHS that the loan may not be enough to permit
the CO-OP to maintain its solvency. In addition, Deloitte cautioned
that CoOportunity’s financial projections depended heavily—to the
tune of $94.6 million—on the availability of so-called 3R funds from
ACA risk sharing measures.

o Result: Less than three months after HHS approved
CoOportunity’s additional solvency loan, the lowa Insurance
Division suspended and later liquidated it. CoOportunity’s
operating losses exceeded $163 million, and its liabilities
exceeded its assets by $50 million. The CO-OP’s closure left
120,000 policyholders scrambling to find a new insurance plan
mid-year.

Fifth, HHS looked on as the CO-OPs booked, as assets, massive uncertain
payments from the ACA’s risk corridor program. That program requires profitable
insurers to pay into a government fund to compensate insurers suffering a loss; but
because it is intended to be budget-neutral, if there are not enough payments into
the fund, insurers with losses have no source of risk corridor income. By October
2014, a research arm of Citibank had publicly warned that HHS would not collect
“nearly enough” from profitable insurers to cover risk corridor payments to the
unprofitable. And Deloitte specifically cautioned HHS that the struggling CO-OPs
were relying heavily on uncertain risk corridor payments to prop up their financial
forecasts. But HHS continued to predict, as recently as July 2015, that “risk
corridor collections will be sufficient to pay for all risk corridor payments.” In
reality, HHS was able to pay only 12.6 cents on the dollar. That shortfall further
destabilized the CO-OPs.

Sixth, the heavy costs of failed CO-OPs will be borne by taxpayers, doctors,
patients, and other insurers. None of the failed CO-OPs have repaid a single dollar,
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principal or interest, of the $1.2 billion in federal solvency and start-up loans they
received. Our investigation suggests no significant share of those loans ever will be
repaid based on the latest balance sheets we obtained. In the aggregate, the failed
CO-OPs non-loan liabilities exceed $1.13 billion—which 1s 93% greater than their
reported assets. All 12 failed CO-OPs told PSI they had no “planned payments” on
any of their CO-OP loans. And when the Subcommittee asked HHS for its
projections or assessment of the prospects for repayment, the Department could not
provide any.

The American taxpayer is not the only creditor that stands to suffer large
losses due to the failure of the CO-OP program. The closed CO-OPs currently owe a
substantial amount of money in medical claims to doctors and hospitals. At least
six failed CO-OPs currently owe more in medical claims than they hold in assets.
Three of those (Colorado, South Carolina, and CoOpportunity) will be able to access
funds from statewide insurance guaranty associations—meaning other insurance
companies must cover the CO-OPs losses, ultimately through increased premiums
to their policyholders. But the other three—New York, Louisiana, and Kentucky—
have no recourse to guaranty funds, so the burden of unpaid medical claims may be
borne by doctors, hospitals, and enrolled individuals. The New York CO-OP, for
example, reported that it had approximately $380 million in unpaid medical claims
and $158 million in assets as of December 31, 2015—a shortfall of $222 million.

* k%

After detailing these findings, this report briefly addresses two
misconceptions about the CO-OP program. First, HHS officials and others have
sometimes suggested that the CO-OPs’ financial difficulty was caused by “adverse
selection”—by attracting enrollees with above-average health risks. But the
agency’s own data from the ACA’s risk adjustment program indicates otherwise.
That program redistributes money from insurers with healthier enrollees to those
with less healthy enrollees. Our analysis of the data shows that the failed CO-OPs
were net payors of risk corridor charges (by $116 million), which indicates that as a
class they enrolled healthier—not sicker—policyholders than others in their states.

Second, HHS officials have suggested publicly that a series of budget cuts to
the CO-OP program contributed to the collapse of the 12 failed CO-OPs. There is no
evidence to support that claim. The failed CO-OPs received $350 million more than
they requested in their loan applications, and HHS was aware of the first two of
three budget cuts before it made any awards. The primary consequence of CO-OP
budget cuts was to prevent HHS from launching additional CO-OPs—one for each
state, as the law directed—and thus limit future losses to the taxpayer.
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II. BACKGROUND

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (ACA) created the Consumer
Operated and Oriented Plan program—known as the CO-OP program.? Under the
CO-OP program, the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) distributed
loans to consumer-governed, nonprofit health insurance issuers. Congress initially
allocated $6 billion for the CO-OP Program,? with the goal of establishing CO-OPs
in all 50 states and the District of Columbia.? Subsequent legislation reduced
funding for the program, and HHS ultimately awarded $2.4 billion to fund 23 CO-
OPs that participated in the program.4

In early 2015, CoOportunity Health, the CO-OP established in Iowa and
Nebraska, failed.? Since then, an additional 11 CO-OPs have failed.® In total, the
failed CO-OPs received $1.2 billion in federal loans, and their collapse left 740,000
people in 14 states searching for new coverage.”

1 See 42 U.S.C. § 18042(a)(1) (“The Secretary shall establish a program to carry out the purposes of
this section to be known as the Consumer Operated and Oriented Plan (CO-OP) program.”). HHS’s
Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) administered the program, but for simplicity we
refer to HHS throughout this report.

2 See id, § 18042(g) (“There are hereby appropriated, out of any funds in the Treasury not otherwise
appropriated, $6,000,000,000 to carry out this section.”).

3 See id, § 18042(b}¥2)(B) (“If no health insurance issuer applies to be a qualified nonprofit health
insurance issuer within a State, the Secretary may use amounts appropriated under this section for
the awarding of grants to encourage the establishment of a qualified nonprofit health insurance
issuer within the State or the expansion of a qualified nonprofit health insurance issuer from
another State to the State.”).

1 Robert Pear, Most Health Insurance Co-ops Are Losing Money, Federal Audit Finds, NY TIMES
(Aug. 14, 2015) (explaining that the 23 CO-OPs “have received $2.4 billion in federal loans to help
pay start-up costs and to meet state solvency requirements”),
http://www.nytimes.com/2015/08/15/us/most-health-insurance-co-ops-are-losing-money-federal-audit-
finds.html?mtrref=www.google.com&gwh=BB95458959A76808E77C498EBOAD 76 B9&gwt=pay&_r=
0.

5 See Anna Wilde Mathews, State Regulator to Shut Down Insurer CoOportunity Health, WALL ST. J.
(Jan. 23, 2015) (“Iowa’s insurance regulatory plans to shut down insurer CoOportunity Health,
making it the first failure of one of the nonprofit cooperatives created under the Affordable Care
Act.”), http://www.wsj.com/articles/state-regulator-to-shut-down-insurer-cooportunity-health-
1422052829.

6 The list of failed CO-OPs is as follows: CoOportunity Health (Iowa and Nebraska); Louisiana
Health Cooperative, Inc.; Nevada Health Cooperative, Inc.; Health Republic Insurance of New York;
Kentucky Health Care Cooperative (Kentucky and West Virginia); Community Health Alliance
Mutual Insurance Company (Tennessee); Colorado HealthOp; Health Republic Insurance of Oregon;
Consumers’ Choice Health Insurance Company (South Carolina); Arches Mutual Insurance
Company (Utah); Meritus Health Partners (Arizona); Michigan Consumer’s Healthcare CO-OP.

7 Amy Goldstein, More Than Half of ACA Co-ops Now Out Of Insurance Marketplaces, WASH. POST
(Nov. 3, 2015), https://www,washingtonpost.com/national/health-science/more-than-half-of-aca-co-
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A. HHS’s Loan Decisions.

HHS received loan applications between July 2011 and December 2012.8
Among other things, an organization was eligible to become a CO-OP if it was
owned and operated by its customers, was a nonprofit organization, and could
demonstrate to HHS a high probability of financial viability.® As part of the
application to become a CO-OP, HHS required applicants to describe the proposed
CO-OP’s governance structure, including its plans to conform with regulations
established in 45 C.F.R. §§ 156.500-520; describe its operational, financial, and
administrative strategies; and disclose its bylaws.1® HHS also required applicants
to submit a feasibility study and a business plan. The feasibility study included an
actuarial analysis examining the likelihood of success for the CO-OP.11 The
business plan included information about the applicant’s management team; the
markets to be served; the plans the CO-OP would offer; a description of why plans
would be appropriate for the target market; a description of the CO-OP’s strategy
for enrolling members; and information about the CO-OP’s budget and plans to
repay HHS-provided loans.12

HHS reviewed these applications with the assistance of outside consultants
and, based on its own review, decided whether to make a loan. HHS also decided
how large a loan to make, and in doing so, considered four factors: (1) the results of
the external review; (2) the size of the loan request and the CO-OP’s anticipated
results; (3) the CO-OP’s ability to repay the loan; and (4) the likelihood that the CO-
OP would meet program objectives.1?

ops-now-out-of-insurance-marketplaces/2015/11/03/5ba95b86-824b-11e5-9afbh-
0¢971f713d0c_story.html.

8 See generally Dep’t of Health & Human Servs., Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Servs., Loan
Funding Opportunity Number: O0-COO0-11-001 (July 28, 2011, rev. Dec. 9, 2011),
http:/apply07.grants.gov/apply/opportunities/instructions/oppO0-CO0-11-001-cfda93.545-
instructions.pdf.

° Id. at 43.

10 Id. at 32-33.

11 Id. at 33.

2 Id, at 33-36.

13 Dep’t of Health & Human Servs., Office of Inspector Gen., The Centers for Medicare & Medicaid
Services Awarded Consumer Operated and Oriented Plan Program Loans in Accordance With
Federal Requirements, and Continued Oversight Is Needed, at 2 (July 30, 2013),
http://oig.hhs.gov/oas/reports/region5/51200043.pdf.
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There were two types of available loans, both distributed pursuant to a Loan
Agreement between HHS and the CO-OP: start-up loans and solvency loans.4
Start-up loans covered certain specified costs of establishing a CO-OP, including
employee salaries and benefits, consultant costs, and equipment.15 Solvency loans
were used to cover capital reserve requirements and other solvency requirements
established and monitored by state insurance regulators.!® Under the CO-OP loan
agreements, solvency loans were disbursed as needed to meet those risk-based
capital requirements as well as HHS’s own risk-based capital standard.l” But HHS
retained discretion to withhold any disbursement if, inter alia, the CO-OP failed to
meet performance levels set by a corrective action plan; it could also terminate the
agreement.!8

The process for receiving loans was as follows: CO-OPs applied for both
start-up loans and solvency loans at the same time, HHS then decided whether and
how much to award the CO-OP. Once it did so, HHS distributed a portion of the
start-up loan; additional disbursements of funds were contingent on the CO-OP
meeting milestones established by the Loan Agreement.!® With respect to solvency
loans, HHS first distributed a portion of the funds and then distributed additional
funds as needed to meet risk-based capital requirements.2? Start-up loans were due
to be repaid within five years; solvency loans were due within 15 years.2!

1445 C.F.R. § 156.520(a) (“Applicants may apply for the following loans under this section: Start-up
Loans and Solvency Loans.”).

15 See Dep't of Health & Human Servs., Ctrs. for Medicare & Medicaid Servs., Loan Funding
Opportunity Number: O0-COO-11-001, at 10, 35 (July 28, 2011, rev. Dec. 9, 2011) (“Start-up Loans
are intended to assist applicants with approved start-up costs associated with establishing a new
health insurance issuer.”), http:/apply07.grants.gov/apply/opportunities/instructions/opp00-COO-
11.001-cfda93.545-instructions. pdf.

16 45 C.F.R. § 156.520(2)(2)( “Solvency Loans awarded under this section will be structured in a
manner that ensures that the loan amount is recognized by State insurance regulators as
contributing to the State-determined reserve requirements or other solvency requirements (other
than debt) consistent with the insurance regulations for the States in which the loan recipient will
offer a CO-OP qualified health plan.”).

17 See, e.g., Loan Agreement Between Michigan CO-OP and HHS § 5 (executed Aug. 29, 2012).

18 See id. §§ 5.3, 12.1, 16.2.

19 See Dep’t of Health & Human Servs., Ctrs. for Medicare & Medicaid Servs., Loan Funding
Opportunity Number: 00-COO-11-001, at 10 {(July 28, 2011, rev. Dec. 9, 2011) (“After the first
drawdown of Start-up Loan funds, subsequent drawdowns will be conditioned on the submission of
evidence of the loan recipient’s successful completion of milestones described in loan recipients’
Business Plan and Loan Agreement.”).
http:/apply07.grants.gov/apply/opportunities/instructions/opp00-C0O0-11-001-cfda93.545-
instructions.pdf; id. at 12 (same for Solvency Loans).

20 45 C.F.R. § 156.520(b)(1), (c)(1).

21 Id. § 1566.520(b)(2), (c)(2).



89

By January 1, 2014—the date the program took effect—HHS awarded $2.4
billion to 23 CO-OPs operating in 26 states. The following table summarizes loan
award amounts allotted to each of the 23 CO-OPs.22

CO-OP States Start-up Loan | Solvency Loan Total Award
Award Award Amount

Health Republic Insurance of New $23,767,000 $241,366,000 $265,133,000
York (New York)
Minutemen Health, Inc. $25,091,995 $131,351,000 $156,442,995
(Massachusetts/New Hampshire)
Kentucky Health Care Cooperative $21,996,872 $124,497,900 $146,494,772
(Kentucky/West Virginia)
CoOportunity Health $14,700,000 $130,612,100 $145,312,100
(lowa/Nebraska)
Maine Community Health Options $12,506,124 $119,810,000 $132,316,124
(Maine)
TnHealth Mutual Ohio $15,977,304 $113,248,300 $129,225,604
(Ohio)
HealthyCT $21,011,768 $106,969,000 $127,980,768
(Connecticut)
Health Republic Insurance of New $14,757,250 $94,317,300 $109,074,550
Jersey (New Jersey)
Common Ground Healthcare $7,635,155 $100,104,199 $107,739,354
Cooperative (Wisconsin)
Land of Lincoln Health $15,940,412 $144,214,400 $160,154,812
(Hlinois)
Meritus Health Partners $20,890,333 $72,422,900 $93,313,233
{Arizona)
Arches Mutual Insurance Company $10,106,003 $79,544,300 $89,650,303
(Utah)
Consumers’ Choice Health Insurance $18,709,800 $68,868,408 $87,5678,208
Co. (Seuth Carolina)
Montana Health Cooperative $8,556,488 $76,463,200 $85,019,688
(Montana/idaho)
New Mexico Health Connections (New $13,050,282 $64,267,500 $77,317,782
Mexico)
Community Health Alliance Mutual $18,504,700 $54,802,000 $73,306,700
Insurance Co. (Tennessee)
Colorado HealthOp $15,205,529 $57,129,600 $72,335,129
(Colorado)

22 U.8. Gov't Accountability Off., GAO-15-304, Private Health Insurance: Premiums and Enrollment
for New Nonprofit Health Insurance Issuers Varied Significantly in 2014, at 24 (Apr. 2015),
http:/fwww.gao.gov/assets/670/669945.pdf,
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Consumer’s Mutual Insurance of $18,687,000 $52,847,300 $71,534,300
Michigan (Michigan)

Louisiana Health Cooperative, Inc. $13,176,560 $52,614,100 $65,790,660
(Louisiana)

Nevada Health Cooperative, Inc. $17,105,047 $48,820,349 $65,925,396
(Nevada)

Evergreen Health Cooperative, Inc. $13,341,700 $52,109,200 $65,450,900
(Maryland)

Health Republic Insurance of Oregon $10,252,005 $50,396,500 $60,648,505
{Oregon)

Oregon’s Health CO-OP $7,156,900 $49,500,000 $56,656,900
(Oregon)

TOTAL award amounts: $358,126,227 $2,086,275,556 $2,444,455,783

B. CO-OPs Begin to Fail.

Of the 23 CO-OPs, 12 have already failed.23 In this section, we provide brief
summaries of each of the failed CO-OPs. Throughout this report, for simplicity, we
generally refer to the failed CO-OPs below by their state (e.g., The Louisiana CO-
OP) rather than their formal names.

e CoOportunity Health (Iowa and Nebraska). CoOportunity Health was
awarded an initial $112 million HHS loan in February 2012,2¢ followed by an
additional $32 million solvency loan award in September 2014.25 Less than
three months later, on December 16, 2014, it was placed under supervision by
the lowa Insurance Division.26 It was liquidated on February 28, 2015.27
According to the Insurance Division, liquidation was necessary because
“rehabilitation of CoOportunity [was] not possible . . . and medical claims

23 Dep’t of Health & Human Servs., Ctrs. for Medicare & Medicaid Servs., Ctr. for Consumer
Information & Insurance Oversight, Loan Program Helps Support Customer-Driven Non-Profit
Health Insurers (Dec. 16, 2014), https://www.cms.gov/CCIIO/Resources/Grants/new-loan-
program.html.

2 Id,

2 Id.

28 Pet. for Order of Liquidation, Jowa v. Gerhart, Equity Case No. EQCE077579, § 14,
http://www.iid.state.ia.us/sites/default/files/press_release/2015/01/29/petition_pdf_11438.pdf.

7 Insurers Should Learn From CoOportunity Health Collapse, LAW360 (Mar. 18, 2015) (noting that
“CoOportunity Health was ordered into Hquidation on March 2, 20157,
http://www.law360.com/articles/631678/insurers-should-learn-from-cooportunity-health-collapse.

10
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currently exceed cash on hand.”?8 At the time, CoOportunity had operating
losses over $163 million and $50 million more in liabilities than in assets.?®

o Louisiana Health Cooperative, Inc. The Louisiana CO-OP was awarded
a $65 million HHS loan in September 2012 and an additional $750,000 loan
in December 2013.30 On July 7, 2015, the CO-OP’s Board of Directors agreed
to wind down its activities.?! As the Louisiana Insurance Commission
explained, “the continued operation and further transaction of business by
[Louisiana Health Cooperative] would be hazardous to policy holders,
subscribers, members, enrollees, creditors, and/or the public.”32

¢ Nevada Health Cooperative, Inc. The Nevada CO-OP was awarded a $66
million HHS loan in May 2012.23 On August 21, 2015, the Nevada Division of
Insurance suspended the CO-OP’s operations.34 According to the Division of
Insurance, in the previous six months, the CO-OP’s “operating loss . . . [wa]s
greater than 50 percent of [its] surplus” and the CO-OP likely could not
satisfy the state’s capital and reserve requirements.35

s Health Republic Insurance of New York. HHS awarded the New York
CO-OP an initial $175 million loan in February 20123 and an additional $91

28 Press Release, Iowa Insurance Division, http://www.iid.state.ia.us/node/10074702.

29 Final Order of Liquidation, fowa ex rel. Gerhart, Comm. of Ins. v. CoOporiunity Health, Inc.,
Equity No. EQCE077579, at 4 (Mar. 2, 2015),
http://www.doi.nebraska.gov/legal/cooportunity/FINAL%200RDER%200F%20LIQUIDATION.pdf.
30 Dep't of Health & Human Servs., Ctrs. for Medicare & Medicaid Servs., Ctr. for Consumer
Information & Insurance Oversight, Loan Program Helps Support Customer-Driven Non-Profit
Health Insurers (Dec. 16, 2014), https://www.cms.gov/CCIIO/Resources/Grants/new-loan-
program html.

31 Pet. for Rehabilitation, Injunctive Relief, and Rule to Show Cause of Louisiana Health
Cooperative, Inc., Donelon v. Louisiana Health Cooperative, Inc., No. 641928, § 11 (Sept. 1, 2015),
https://www 1di.la.gov/docs/default-source/documents/financialsolvency/receivership/Louisiana-
Health-Cooperative/petition-for-rehabilitation. pdf?sfvrsn=0.

32 Id. 114, 5.

33 Dep’t of Health & Human Servs., Ctrs. for Medicare & Medicaid Servs., Ctr. for Consumer
Information & Insurance Oversight, Loan Program Helps Support Customer-Driven Non-Profit
Health Insurers (Dec. 16, 2014), https://www.cms.gov/CCIIO/Resources/Grants/new-loan-
program.html.

34 Pet, for Appointment of Commissioner as Receiver and Other Permanent Relief, Case No. A-15-
725244-C, at 5 (Sept. 25, 2015) (“On August 21, 2015, the Commissioner issued an Order of
Voluntary Suspension.”), http://doi.nv.gov/uploadedFiles/doinvgov/_public-documents/News-
Notes/2015-09-25%20File%20Stamped%20Appointment%20Petition%20re%20C0O-
OP%20Receivership.pdf.

35 Id. at 7.

36 Dep’t of Health & Human Servs., Ctrs. for Medicare & Medicaid Servs., Ctr. for Consumer
Information & Insurance Oversight, Loan Program Helps Support Customer-Driven Non-Profit
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million loan in September 2014.37 On September 25, 2015, the New York
Department of Financial Services (NYDFS) directed the CO-OP to cease
writing new health insurance policies and announced that the CO-OP would
commence an orderly wind down after the expiration of its existing policies.38
When the CO-OP began its wind down, the NYDFS had an ongoing
investigation “specifically focused on the New York CO-OP’s inaccurate
financial reporting”—with particular focus on “collecting and reviewing
evidence related to the New York CO-OP’s substantial underreporting to [the
NYDFS] of its financial obligations.”39

» Kentucky Health Care Cooperative (Kentucky and West
Virginia). HHS awarded the Kentucky CO-OP an initial $58.5 million loan
on June 19, 2012.4% In 2013 and 2014, it received an additional $85 million in
loans, including a $65 million solvency loan in late 2014.41 The CO-OP
announced on October 9, 2015 that it would stop offering health plans on the
ACA marketplace.#? A court order liquidating the CO-OP concluded that “the
further transaction of business would be hazardous, financially or otherwise,
to its policy holders and to the public.”43

Health Insurers (Dec. 16, 2014), https://www.cms.gov/CCIIO/Resources/Grants/new-loan-
program.html,

37 Press Release, House Energy & Commerce Committee (Nov, 25, 2015),
https://energycommerce.house.gov/news-center/press-releases/committee-leaders-press-
administration-status-remaining-1-billion.

38 Press Release, New York Dep’t of Fin. Servs. (Oct, 30, 2015),
http://www.dfs.ny.gov/about/press/pr1510301. htm.

3% Press Release, New York Dep't of Fin. Servs. (Nov. 13, 2015),
http://www.dfs.ny.gov/about/press/pr1511131.htm.

4 Dep’t of Health & Human Servs,, Ctrs. for Medicare & Medicaid Servs., Ctr. for Consumer
Information & Insurance Oversight, Loan Program Helps Support Customer-Driven Non-Profit
Health Insurers (Dec. 16, 2014), https:/www.cms.gov/CCIIO/Resources/Grants/new-loan-
program.html.

41 Id.; see Adam Beam, Health Insurer Receives $65 Million Federal Loan, WASH. TIMES (Dec, 18,
2014) (“A Kentucky nonprofit that is one of the largest insurance providers on the state’s health
exchange received a $65 million federal loan last month to keep it afloat just days before the second
open enrollment period began.”), http://www.washingtontimes.com/news/2014/dec/18/health-insurer-
receives-65-million-federal-loan/.

42 Press Release, Kentucky Health Cooperative, Ine. (Oct. 9, 2015),
http://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases’kentucky-health-cooperative-not-offering-plans-in-2016-
300157384 .html,

43 Order of Liguidation, Maynard v. Kentucky Health Cooperative, Inc., at 3.
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¢« Community Health Alliance Mutual Insurance Company (Tennessee).
HHS awarded a $73 million loan to the Tennessee CO-OP in August 2012.44
On October 14, 2015, it announced its plans to wind down and not sell health
plans in 2016.45 The Tennessee Department of Insurance stated that “the
risk of the [Tennessee CO-OP’s] potential failure in 2016 was too great” to
allow it to continue operations.6

s Colorado HealthOp. HHS awarded the Colorado CO-OP a $69 million loan
in July 2012 and an additional $3 million loan in October 2013.47 On October
16, 2015, the Colorado Division of Insurance announced that it would bar the
Colorado CO-OP from selling health plans in 2016.48 In approving a
liquidation plan, a court concluded that “the CO-OP is in such condition that
the further transaction of business would be hazardous, financially or
otherwise, to the CO-OP’s policy holders, its creditors, or the public,”4®

¢ Health Republic Insurance of Oregon. HHS awarded a $59 million loan
to the Oregon CO-OP in February 2012 and an additional $1 million loan in
November 2013.59 On October 16, 2015, the CO-OP announced it was no
longer offering new health insurance policies and would not be participating
in open enrollment for 2016.51 The CO-OP explained that “[iln 2014 and
2015 [it] had medical expenses that exceeded the amount of money [it]

44 Dep’t of Health & Human Servs., Ctrs. for Medicare & Medicaid Servs., Ctr. for Consumer
Information & Insurance Oversight, Loan Program Helps Support Customer-Driven Non-Profit
Health Insurers (Dec. 16, 2014), https://www.cms.gov/CCITIO/Resources/Grants/new-loan-
program.html.

45 Tennessee Dep’t of Commerce and Insurance, Tennessee CO-OP Community Health Alliance
Voluntarily Enters Runoff (Oct. 14, 2015), https://tn.gov/commerce/news/18562.

6 Id.

47 Dep’t of Health & Human Servs., Ctrs. for Medicare & Medicaid Servs., Ctr. for Consumer
Information & Insurance Oversight, Loan Program Helps Support Customer-Driven Non-Profit
Health Insurers (Dec. 16, 2014), https://www.cms.gov/CCIIO/Resources/Grants/new-loan-
program.html.

48 Colorado Dep’t of Regulatory Agencies, Division of Insurance Moves to Protect Colorado
Consumers, Takes Action Against HealthOp (Oct. 16, 2015),
https://'www.colorado.gov/pacific/dora/Division-of-Insurance-action-HealthOP.

49 Order of Liquidation and Finding of Insolvency, Salazar v. Colorade HealthOp, Case No, 2015-CV-
33680 (Jan. 4, 2016), at 2 Y6, http://cohealthop.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/01/Certified-Copy-of-
Order-of-Liquidation-and-Finding-of-Insolvency.pdf.

0Dep’t of Health & Human Servs., Ctrs. for Medicare & Medicaid Servs., Ctr. for Consumer
Information & Insurance Oversight, Loan Program Helps Support Customer-Driven Non-Profit
Health Insurers (Dec. 16, 2014), https://www.cms.gov/CCIIO/Resources/Grants/new-loan-
program.html.

51 Statement, Oregon Dep’t of Consumer and Business Services,
http://'www.oregon.gov/DCBS/Insurance/news/Pages/2015/0ct162015.aspx.
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received in premiums.”32 Moreover, it explained that the only way it would
be able to continue operations was if HHS guaranteed to pay for some of its
losses.5?

¢+ Consumers’ Choice Health Insurance Company (South
Carolina). The South Carolina CO-OP was awarded an $87 million HHS
loan in March 2012.54 On October 21, 2015, it was placed under supervision
of the South Carolina Insurance Department.5® The next day, the CO-OP
agreed to wind down its operations and announced that it would not offer
health insurance coverage in 2016.56 The Insurance Department determined
that the CO-OP was “in hazardous financial condition rendering its continued
operation hazardous to the public and/or its insureds, warranting
supervision.”57

¢ Arches Mutual Insurance Company (Utah). The Utah CO-OP was
awarded an $85 million HHS loan in July 2012 and an additional $4 million
loan in September 2013.58 It announced it was withdrawing from the 2016
marketplace on October 27, 2015,5 and was placed into receivership on
November 2, 2015.6° In a press release announcing the decision to close the
CO-0OP, the Utah Insurance Commission cited low capital resulting from a
failure of federal payments as the reason for its closure.”6!

52 Health Republic Insurance, Goodbye and Good Luck Oregon: Closure Announcement FAQ,
http://healthrepublicinsurance.org/.

53 Id.

54 Dep’t of Health & Human Servs,, Ctrs. for Medicare & Medicaid Servs., Ctr. for Consumer
Information & Insurance Oversight, Loan Program Helps Support Customer-Driven Non-Profit
Health Insurers (Dec. 16, 2014), https://www.cms.gov/CCIIO/Resources/Grants/new-loan-
program.html.

55 Consent Order Commencing Rehabilitation Proceedings & Granting an Injunction & Automatic
Stay of Proceedings, Farmer v. Consumers’ Choice Health Insurance Company, Civil Action No. 2016-
CP-40-00034, at 4 (Jan. 6, 2016), http://www.cchpsc.org/wp-

content/uploads/2016/01/CCHP, receivershipdetails.pdf.

56 Id.

57 Id.,

58 Dep’t of Health & Human Servs., Ctrs. for Medicare & Medicaid Servs., Ctr. for Consumer
Information & Insurance Oversight, Loan Program Helps Support Customer-Driven Non-Profit
Health Insurers (Dec. 16, 2014), https://www.cms.gov/CCIIO/Resources/Grants/mew-loan-
program.html,

59 Kristen Moulton, Utah Shuts Down Arches, The State’s Nonprofit Insurance CO-OP, THE SALT
LAKE TRIBUNE (Oct. 28, 2015), http://www.sltrib.com/home/3108049-155/utah-shuts-down-arches-
utahs-nonprofit.

60 Rehabilitation Order, In re Arches Mutual Insurance Co., Civil No. 150907803, 9 1-2 (Nov. 2,
2015), https://archeshealth.org/media/pdf/Arches%20Rehabilitation%200rder.pdf.

81 Utah Insurance Dep’t, Arches Health Plan to Cease Operation (Oct. 27, 2015),
https://insurance.utah,.gov/news/documents/PR-ArchesCeasesOperation10-27-2015.pdf.
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e Meritus Health Partners (Arizona). The Arizona CO-OP was awarded a
$93 million HHS loan on June 7, 2012.62 On October 30, 2015, it was placed
under the supervision of the Arizona Insurance Commission.® According to
the Insurance Commission, the Arizona CO-OP had “yet to make a profit and
[has] lost over $78 million since [its] inception.”64

e Michigan Consumer’s Healthcare CO-OP. The Michigan CO-OP was
 awarded a $71 million HHS loan in May 2012.65 It was placed on
rehabilitation on November 3, 201556—two days after the start of Open
Enrollment for 2016. A court granted the Michigan state insurance
regulator’s petition for liquidation and a declaration of insolvency on
February 10, 2016.57

C. Previous Reports Concerning the CO-OP Program.

HHS'’s Office of Inspector General and the Government Accountability Office
(GAO) have released several studies reviewing HHS’s application and selection
process, examining HHS’s early implementation of the program, and conducting
performance reviews of CO-OPs. In July 2013-{ive months before any CO-OPs
began operating—the Inspector General released two reports on the CO-OP
Program.

In the first report, the Inspector General found that “11 of the 16 CO-OPs
reported estimated startup expenditures . . . that exceeded the total startup funding
provided by CMS.”68 The Inspector General found that, despite this funding

62 Dep’t of Health & Human Servs., Ctrs. for Medicare & Medicaid Servs., Ctr. for Consumer
Information & Insurance Oversight, Loan Program Helps Support Customer-Driven Non-Profit
Health Insurers (Dec. 16, 2014), https://www.cms.gov/CCIIO/Resources/Grants/new-loan-
program.html.

53 Press Release, Arizona Dep't of Insurance, Meritus Health Placed Under Supervision (Oct. 30,
2015), https://insurance.az.gov/press-release-meritus-health-placed-under-supervision.

%4 Id.

85 Dep’t of Health & Human Servs., Ctrs. for Medicare & Medicaid Servs., Ctr. for Consumer
Information & Insurance Oversight, Loan Program Helps Support Customer-Driven Non-Profit
Health Insurers (Dec. 16, 2014), https://www.cms.gov/CCIIO/Resources/Grants/new-loan-
program.html,

66 Michigan Places Consumers Mutual Insurance in Rehabilitation, INSURANCE JOURNAL. (Nov, 25,
2015), http://www.insurancejournal.com/news/midwest/2015/11/25/390170.htm.

67 See generally Order of Liquidation and Declaration of Insolvency, Case No. 15-948 CR (Feb. 10,
2016), http://www.michigan.gov/documents/difs/Liquidation_Order_2.10.16_514365_7.pdf.

68 See Dep't of Health & Human Servs., Office of Inspector Gen., The Centers for Medicare &
Medicaid Services Awarded Consumer Operated and Oriented Plan Program Loans in Accordance
With Federal Requirements, and Continued Oversight Is Needed, at 5 (July 30, 2013),
http://oig.hhs.gov/oas/reports/region5/51200043.pdf.
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shortfall, the CO-OPs had received limited private funding.8® To solve this issue,
the Inspector General recommended that HHS ensure that CO-OPs do not exhaust
their startup funds before becoming fully operational and that HHS monitor efforts
to obtain private funding.™ In the second report, the Inspector General found that,
while CO-OPs were making significant progress in meeting milestones, CO-OPs
were struggling to “hire staff, obtain[] licensure, and build[] necessary
infrastructure such as provider network arrangements and technology systems.”7!
The Inspector General also concluded that, ultimately, success in meeting program
goals depended on “a number of unpredictable factors,” including the “State’s
Exchange operations, the number of people who enroll in the CO-OP and their
medical costs, and the way in which competing plans will affect the CO-OP’s market
share.”72

The Inspector General issued a third report in July 2015.73 The Inspector
General found that, “[a]lthough CMS awarded CO-OP loans to applicants on the
basis of their ability to become financially viable,” “many CO-OPs have lower-than-
expected enrollment numbers and significant net losses,”’* with more than half of
the CO-OPs suffering net losses of at least $15 million.”® The Inspector General
noted that these low enrollment numbers and high losses limited the ability of the
CO-OPs to repay loans and remain viable.78

GAO published a review of CO-OP enrollment and premium costs in 2014.77
GAO’s review found that the 22 CO-OPs operating in 2014 failed to meet their
enrollment projections by 559,000 and 14 of the 22 CO-OPs failed to meet their
enrollment projections.”® Moreover, GAQ found that the average premium costs for

69 Jd. at 3.

70 Id. at 6.

71 Dep’t of Health & Human Servs., Office of Inspector Gen., Early Implementation of the Consumer
Operated and Oriented Plan Loan Program, at 13 (July 30, 2013), http:/oig.hhs.gov/oei/reports/oei-
01-12-00290.pdf.

72 Id.

73 Dep't of Health & Human Servs., Office of Inspector General, Actual Enrollment and Profitability
Was Lower than Projections Made by the Consumer Operated and Oriented Plans and Might Affect
Their Ability to Repay Loans Provided under the Affordable Care Act, at 5-6 (July 2015),
http://oig.hhs.gov/oas/reports/region5/51400055.pdf.

M Id. at 11.

7 Id. at 8.

76 Id. at 5.

71 See U.8. Gov't Accountability Off., GAQ-15-304, Private Health Insurance: Premiums and
Enrollment for New Nonprofit Health Insurance Issuers Varied Significantly in 2014, at 24 (Apr.
2015), http:/fwww.gao.gov/assets/670/669945.pdf.

78 Id. at 18.
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CO-OP plans varied relative to health insurance plans offered on the private
market™—perhaps suggesting that CO-OPs struggled to accurately price plans.

D. A Note on Terminology.

Throughout this report, we refer to three risk-spreading mechanisms utilized
by the ACA: “reinsurance,” “risk corridors,” and “risk adjustment.” We briefly
explain those concepts here, which we sometimes refer to as the “3Rs.” The ACA
established “reinsurance” as a temporary measure, in place between 2014—2016, in
order to safeguard insurers against claim payments to “high risk” people who have
purchased health insurance on the individual market.80 It works in the following
way: Once an insurance policyholder has incurred a certain amount of medical
costs, the government begins to reimburse the insurer some of the costs up to a
specified threshold.81 Although each state is permitted to establish and administer
its own reinsurance plan, in practice the federal government has the job of
administering reinsurance in most states.82 In 2014, for example, only two states
had their own reinsurance plans.8% Funds for reinsurance payments are collected
through fees levied on all health insurance plans.8

“Risk corridors”—another temporary mechanism in place between 2014-
2016—limit insurers’ allowable losses from qualified health plans in the individual
and small group markets.85 The program requires insurers calculate a “risk
corridor ratio” using an established formula.8¢ If the ratio is below a certain
amount, it means that the insurer has likely made a profit and must share some of
the profit with HHS; by contrast, if the ratio is above a certain amount, it means
that the insurer has likely suffered a loss, and HHS must cover a portion of that
loss.®7

7 See id. at 15 (“The percentage of rating areas where the average premium for CO-OP health plans
was lower than the average premium for other issuers varied significantly by each state and tier.”).
8 Angela Booth & Brittany La Couture, The ACA’s Risk Spreading Mechanisms: A Primer on
Reinsurance, Risk Corridors and Risk Adjustment, AMERICAN ACTION FORUM (Jan. 9, 2015),
http://americanactionforum.org/research/the-acas-risk-spreading-mechanisms-a-primer-on-
reinsurance-risk-corridors-a.

81 Id.

82 Id.

83 Id.

84 Id.

85 Id.

3 Id,

87 Id.
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Unlike reinsurance and risk corridors, the ACA’s “risk adjustment” provision
is permanent.® During the “risk adjustment” process, either the state or the
federal government compares the actuarial risk of the insurance pool within each
qualified health plan purchased on the individual and small group markets with the
average actuarial risk in the state for all qualified plans.?8? Insurance pools with
lower than average actuarial risk must make payments to insurance pools with
higher than average actuarial risk.9

III. FINDINGS AND ANALYSIS

The Subcommittee’s investigation focused on HHS’s decision to approve the
failed CO-OPs and HHS’s management and monitoring of its multibillion-dollar
CO-OP loan portfolio. The investigation reveals that HHS approved the failed
CO-0OPs notwithstanding flaws in their business plans. Once the CO-OPs began
losing money at rates far worse than their worst-case projections, HHS barely used
the corrective action or enhanced oversight tools available to 1t. HHS eventually
approved additional solvency loans in an attempt to save failing CO-OPs, but again
did so despite obvious warning signs. The end result was to exacerbate losses that
will now be shouldered by taxpayers, doctors, and others — even as more than
700,000 consumers were forced to find new health insurance plans.

The financial toll of this failed experiment is much steeper than has been
previously reported. The twelve closed CO-OPs ran up more than $1.4 billion in
losses over just the two years they sold plans. Based on the latest balance sheets
obtained by the Subcommittee, the failed CO-OPs’ currently estimated non-loan
liabilities (including unpaid medical bills) exceed $1.13 billion—which is 93%
greater than their $585 million in reported assets. In addition, the CO-OPs’ debt to
the U.S. government stands at over $1.2 billion. Prospects for repayment are dim.

A, HHS Approved The Failed CO-OPs Despite Problems Identified
By Deloitte In The CO-OPs’ Business Plans.

HHS retained Deloitte Consulting LLP to evaluate loan applications and
business plans submitted by health insurance CO-OPs seeking a federal award.
Deloitte reviewed each Grant Application for compliance with the “essential CO-OP
Program [Funding Opportunity Announcement] criteria established by CMS for
funding.” "1 According to the funding announcement, CMS “relied on the ACA, the
CO-OP final rule, the proposed rule for exchanges on standards for qualified health

88 Id.
8 Id.
%0 Id.
91 Deloitte Review — Utah 3.
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plans, and the final report of the CO-OP Advisory Board to establish the review
criteria” discussed in detail below.52

To conduct these reviews, Deloitte conducted in-person interviews with
CO-OP applicants and “worked with CMS to specify procedures and acceptance
criteria to be used in the review of the CO-OP applications.”® As established by
HHS, Deloitte evaluated the applicant CO-OPs based on the following 13 criteria:

Project Narrative Feasibility

Qualifications of Management & | Provider Arrangements, Target
Key Personnel Market, & Products

Pro Forma Financials Operations

Budget Governance & Licensure
Enrollment Strategy & Loan Funding & Repayment

Regulatory Capital Requirements | Schedule

Integrated Care Plan Statewide Basis

Evidence of Private Support

Deloitte analyzed the strengths and weaknesses of the loan applications
using these criteria. HHS provided Deloitte with a detailed breakdown of what
Deloitte should consider when evaluating each criterion and provided scores for
each category. % Each criteria carried a maximum point value, and under HHS’s
instructions, 70 points (out of a possible 100) was enough to “pass” Deloitte’s
review.% HHS and Deloitte told the Subcommittee that a “pass” did not constitute
Deloitte’s recommendation to approve or disapprove the loan, but rather was the
result of HHS'’s scoring guidance.9” HHS received all Deloitte reviews for the 12
failed CO-OPs by June 2012 and approved the applications by September 27, 2012.

92 Dep't of Health & Human Servs., Ctrs. for Medicare & Medicaid Servs., CO-OP Program Loan
Funding Opportunity Announcement, 38 (Dec. 9, 2011).

93 Id.

% Deloitte Review — Utah 1.

% Dep't of Health & Human Servs., Ctrs. for Medicare & Medicaid Servs., CO-OP Program Loan
Funding Opportunity Announcement, 38-42 (Dec. 9, 2011).

9 Interview with Deloitte (Mar. 2, 2016); see Dep’t of Health & Human Servs., Ctrs. for Medicare &
Medicaid Servs., CO-OP Program Loan Funding Opportunity Announcement (Dec. 9, 2011) (setting
maximum point value).

97 Id.; Interview with Kelly O'Brien, CO-OP Division Dir., Ctrs. for Medicare & Medicaid Serv. (Mar.
1, 2018).
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Once submitted to HHS, Deloitte’s evaluations were reviewed by an HHS
“Selection Committee” that made final decisions about CO-OP approval. The
Selection Committee was made up of internal subject-matter experts, internal
actuaries, and others. %8 The Selection Committee reviewed the prospective CO-
OP’s application, considered Deloitte’s reports, and conducted its own interviews
with CO-OP officials.

According to HHS, the Deloitte reports were an important part of this review
and approval process.? Indeed, Deloitte’s reports were the only written reviews of
the applications; HHS did not create a comparable written review of its own.100 Nor
did the Selection Committee produce a formal review or report memorializing the
basis for its approval recommendation for a particular CO-OP application.101

The Subcommittee obtained and reviewed Deloitte’s evaluations of each of
the approved CO-OPs, with particular attention to the failed CO-OPs. Each of the
failed CO-OPs received a “pass” based on the criteria that HHS instructed Deloitte
to consider. Those evaluations reveal that Deloitte identified and, to some extent,
foreshadowed problems that contributed to the failure of the CO-OPs.

For some CO-OPs, HHS issued “Requests for Additional Information” (RAlIs)
in an effort to obtain missing documents, seek clarifications, or ask follow-up
questions to inform its review of an application. According to documents received
by the Subcommittee, HHS sent RAIs to six of the failed CO-OPs. No evidence was
provided to the Subcommittee showing that HHS formally requested any additional
information to consider in its application process for the other half of the failed
CO-OPs. The weaknesses described in detail below take into account HHS's
documented attempts to fill in missing or insufficient information through its RAT
process.

As explained below, Deloitte called HHS’s attention to weaknesses in three
crucial evaluation criteria across all plans. First, Deloitte identified substantial
weaknesses in enrollment strategy and enrollment forecasts. Second, Deloitte
identified many budget-planning and financial-projection deficiencies. Third,
Deloitte raised concerns about the proposed management (and in some cases, the
sponsors) of the now-failed CO-OPs.

98 Interview with Kelly O'Brien, CO-OP Division Dir., Ctrs. for Medicare & Medicaid Serv. (Mar. 1,
2016).

99 Interview with Kevin Counihan, Dir., Ctr. for Consumer Information and Insurance Oversight
(CCIIO) (Mar. 1, 2016).

100 Id.; Interview with Kelly O’Brien, CO-OP Division Dir., Ctrs. for Medicare & Medicaid Serv. (Mar.
1, 2016).

101 7.
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1. Enrollment Strategy Weaknesses.

Enrollment is a central component of any health insurer’s business plan. As
outlined in Part III, the enrollment projections for all but two of the failed CO-OPs’
business plans diverged dramatically from reality. Based on our review of Deloitte’s
evaluations, it is clear that HHS knew that there were significant problems in the
enrollment plans of 7 of the 12 failed CO-OPs well before HHS approved their loan
applications. 102

Those problems ranged from inadequate actuarial analysis, to unsupported
assumptions about sustainable premiums, to a lack of demonstrated understanding
of the health demographics of the target patient population. Overall, HHS knew
that nearly half of the now 12 failed CO-OPs expected to gain market share by
underpricing competitors but were unable to provide sufficient documentation and
evidence that those lower premiums would be financially sustainable.193 According
to Deloitte, when its employees discovered informational gaps or insufficient detail,
it sought the missing information from HHS, and Deloitte wrote its reports based
on all records provided.104

Deloitte raised especially pointed concerns about two failed CO-QPs that
ultimately missed their 2014 enrollment projections by extreme margins: Arizona
and Tennessee.105 Deloitte advised HHS that the Arizona CO-OP’s enrollment
forecasts were “aggressive, particularly for a start-up” and that the CO-OP’s
strategy was “unlikely to achieve the target enrollment figures in accordance with
its timeline.”196 According to Deloitte, the CO-OP’s “financial projections related to
enrollment appear{ed] to be unreasonable and lacking in thoroughness based on the
actuarial review of [the CO-OP’s] feasibility study.”1®? The Arizona CO-OP
responded to HHS's request for additional information on its aggressive enrollment
strategy by restating its projections and stating it was “in the process of developing”
detailed staffing plans and expanding its provider network, among other steps.108

The Tennessee CO-OP suffered from a similar problem. It proposed an
enrollment strategy that counted on underpricing its competitors and attracting
new customers seeking to escape the individual mandate penalty, but it “fail{ed] to
explain how a competitive price [would] be achieved and can be offered recognizing

102 See Deloitte Review — Kentucky 7; Louisiana 8; Tennessee 7; Arizona 5; Colorado 7; Michigan 8;
and Nevada 8.

103 See Deloitte Review — Kentucky 6; Louisiana 6; Tennessee 6; Utah 7; Oregon 6.

104 Tnterview with Deloitte (Mar. 2, 20186).

105 See Part I11.B.2, infra. The Arizona CO-OP and Tennessee CO-OPs missed their base-case
enrollment projections for 2014 by 85%, 64%, and 91%, respectively. See id.

106 Deloitte Review — Arizona 7.

197 Deloitte Review — Arizona 7.

108 HHS RAI — Arizona 58.
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that affordability may challenge growth.”109 CO-OP executives “did not explain how
they would be able to offer a price competitive product or how savings would be
achieved.”110

Deloitte also noted during their application evaluation process that a number
of the now extinct CO-OPs failed to identify and analyze the types of enrollees their
plans would attract—that is, their target market. That weakness was significant:
An insurer’s largest expenditure is the cost of paying medical claims, and no insurer
can accurately forecast its claims costs without understanding its target market and
its risk profile. For example, Deloitte concluded that both Kentucky’s enrollment
forecasts and “the likelihood that [its] enrollment will be sufficient to create a
financially viable CO-OP” were “difficult to determine since the market is highly
concentrated and [the CO-OP] has not provided a thorough enough enrollment
forecast analysis or details on why their plans will be attractive to its target
market.”111 Likewise, the Louisiana CO-OP did “not provide any relevant health
demographics related to illnesses.”112 Nor did the Tennessee CO-OP “address why
the plans they intend to offer would be appropriate for their target market.”113

As explained in Part II1.B, infra, unexpected enrollment levels and higher
than expected claims costs contributed significantly to financial difficulties of the
failed CO-OPs. Although Deloitte’s evaluations foreshadowed those problems,
HHS nevertheless approved the applications.

2. Budgetary and Financial Planning Weaknesses.

As part of their applications, all prospective CO-OPs submitted operating
budgets and pro forma financial statements (that is, long-term projections of
revenue, profit, assets, liabilities, etc.). HHS instructed Deloitte to evaluate the
proposed budgets for completeness as well as “reasonableness and cost-
effectiveness.”114 The Department told Deloitte to review the pro forma financial
statements for completeness, clarity of assumptions, and consistency with each CO-
OP’s business plan.15 In its review, Deloitte identified numerous problems ranging

109 Deloitte Review — Tennessee 7.

110 Deloitte Review — Tennessee 9.

111 Deloitte Review — Kentucky 5-6. In response to an RAI concerning its enrollment strategy, the
Kentucky CO-OP answered vaguely that it would to seek to “understand fully the diverse
Commonwealth-wide population” through community meetings and market research and “develop
benefit plans based on understanding of the diverse target markets.” HHS RAI - Kentucky 5.

112 Deloitte Review — Louisiana 6.

113 Deloitte Review — Tennessee 5.

144 Dep’t of Health & Human Servs,, Ctrs. for Medicare & Medicaid Servs., CO-OP Program Loan
Funding Opportunity Announcement, 12 (Dec. 9, 2011).

15 Id. at 34
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from comparatively minor issues, such as omitting needed expenses, to more
significant concerns, like presenting an unreasonable budget.

Deloitte reported that the budgets submitted by 10 of the 12 failed CO-OPs
were incomplete to varying degrees, and only one of them fully remedied those
concerns through supplemental information.11® The Michigan and Nevada CO-OPs,
for example, failed to account for all uses of their requested loan funds,!17 while the
Colorado CO-OP failed to link its loan drawdowns to “milestones” (such as building
out a provider network) as required.118 Several of the budgets also suffered from
inconsistencies. For example, the Arizona CO-OP’s application contradicted itself
concerning when the CO-OP would spend its start-up loan funds, and Deloitte noted
that “inconsistencies such as this are common throughout the [Arizona CO-OP’s]
budget.”11® The Louisiana CO-OP similarly listed conflicting start-up costs and
filled out “several sections of [its budget form] incorrectly.”120

In addition to inconsistencies, Deloitte noted that many of the CO-OPs’
budgets appeared to be unreasonable or did not align with their own financial
projections. The Arizona CO-OP’s budget “lack[ed] reasonableness and cost-
effectiveness,” and its loan drawdown schedule was also unreasonable “due to the
risk involved in using premiums in 2014 to fund start-up costs.”121 The Utah
CO-OP’s budget narrative also “may not be reasonable or cost-effective,” Deloitte
warned, because the budget “does not link to their loan funding and repayment
schedule or pro forma financials.”122 The Nevada CO-OP’s budget “may not be
reasonable, as they do not clearly lay out how start-up costs will be funded,” and
their loan requests conflicted with their budget and “other parts of their
application.”123 The Kentucky CO-OP’s start-up costs did “not appear to be well
thought out,” and the timing of its loan drawdown “cannot be tied to any of the
financial[]” projections.12¢ Similarly, the budget for Iowa and Nebraska’s
CoOportunity CO-OP did not align with its financial statements.125

116 See Deloitte Review — New York 4; South Carolina 4; Colorado 8; Michigan 9; Nevada 10;
Louisiana 7, CoOportunity Health 4; Arizona 6; and Oregon 4. Deloitte expressed similar concerns
about the Tennessee CO-OP, but the CO-OP addressed those concerns fully in its response to an
HHS request for additional information. See HHS RAI - Tennessee 15.

117 Deloitte Review — Michigan 6; Nevada 7.

118 Deloitte Review — Colorado 8.

119 Deloitte Review - Arizona 6. In response to an RAI, Arizona stated that its 2014 “operational
costs” would be covered by premiums for three quarters and loan dollars for one quarter. HHS RAI —
Arizona 3.

120 Deloitte Review - Louisiana 7.

12t Deloitte Review — Arizona 6.

122 Deloitte Review — Utah 6.

23 Deloitte Review — Nevada 7.

124 Deloitte Review - Kentucky 6.

125 Deloitte Review - CoOportunity 3.
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Deloitte also expressed skepticism about the risk-taking and unreasonable
assumptions reflected in some of the CO-OPs’ financial projections. The Colorado
CO-OP, for example, assumed “a potentially unreasonable level of growth in
revenue compared to growth in membership” using a growth rate that “far exceeds
the average annual premium increase for individuals and families” without
justification.126 Deloitte also warned that the Colorado CO-OP planned to be
overleveraged, with a debt-to-equity ratio that is “more than triple the health
insurance industry average” and raises the risk that “the applicant may have
potential loan repayment problems.”127 Deloitte noted that both the Louisiana CO-
OP and Utah CO-OP might be counting on “an unreasonable level of growth in
revenue as compared to growth in membership,” and the Utah CO-OP planned to
“operate at a loss until 2018.”128 Turning to CoOportunity’s financial projections,
Deloitte noted that the CO-OP's target profit margin was “much lower than the
industry benchmark” of 4.8% and “substantially low even for a nonprofit
company.”12? That was perhaps tongue-in-cheek: CoOportunity’s target “profit
margin” was zero.130 HHS requested additional information from the CO-OP
regarding its low profitability, but CoOportunity did not change its projections.131
In addition, many of the CO-OPs’ financial projections did not align with their
business plans and budgets. Colorado’s income statement, for example, could not be
“tied to the applicant’s start-up budget” and Deloitte could not determine “whether
or not the applicant’s income statement ties to the business plan/operations
forecast.”132 The Nevada CO-OP, Tennessee CO-OP, and Kentucky CO-OP each
produced financial projections using “key assumptions” that Deloitte was unable to
trace to their actual business plans.133

3. Management Weaknesses.

Each CO-OP loan applicant was required to “identify its management team,
explain their qualifications and experience, and submit an organizational chart and
detailed position descriptions, including the qualifications required for each
position.”13¢ Based on its review of this portion of the CO-OP’s business plans,

126 Deloitte Review — Colorado 11.

127 I,

128 Deloitte Review — Utah 8-9; Louisiana 9.

128 Deloitte Review — CoOportunity 5.

130 I,

131 HHS RAI - CoOportunity 15.

132 Deloitte Review — Colorado 11.

133 Deloitte Review ~ Nevada 10; Tennessee 10; Kentucky 9.

134 Dep’t of Health & Human Servs., Funding Opportunity Announcement 00-C00-11-001, 33 (Dec.
9, 2011).
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Deloitte consultants expressed concern over key leadership position gaps or thin
industry expertise for all of the 12 failed CO-OPs.135

For starters, despite the HHS requirement, several prospective CO-OPs had
not even identified their senior leadership team. The Kentucky CO-OP’s interim
management team had “adequate health plan experience,” but it had identified no
permanent CEO and its description of job responsibilities did “not adequately
describe an organization capable of leading, managing, and implementing the [CO-
OP] project.”13% The Louisiana CO-OP’s management team was “limited to just
three individuals” and its application failed to identify “most key management
positions.”137 The Nevada CO-OP, too, had no chief operating officer or medical
director, and its application “lack[ed] a strong vetting process.”13% The Tennessee
CO-0P also had openings for leadership positions, but had no “strong vetting
process” for applicants.33® Colorado had identified no medical director.14¢ Michigan
had assembled a complete team, but its senior executives had “limited direct
commercial experience in managing a health plan”—the core work of CO-OP
management—and would be relying on external advisors.141

Deloitte conducted background checks on proposed CO-OP executives
identified in loan applications. That vetting turned up red flags in more than half
of the failed CO-OPs—problems that, in Deloitte’s view “could influence the
likelihood of the CO-OP’s success and should be brought to the attention of CMS.”142
The problems varied but included insider trading, personal bankruptcy,
racketeering lawsuits, labor disputes, and various liens and unpaid money
judgments. The top executive who ran both the Louisiana CO-OP and the Kentucky
CO-0OP, for example, had been charged by the SEC with unlawful insider trading in
his previous role as CEO at a health care management firm. That 1998 case
resulted in a permanent injunction and court order requiring the executive to
disgorge ill-gotten gains and pay a civil penalty.¥3 In one case, a proposed Chief
Financial Officer had declared a personal bankruptcy. After Deloitte brought this
to the HHS’s attention, the individual withdrew his name for consideration.144

135 Deloitte Review — New York 3; South Caralina 6; Tennessee 5; Colorado 5; Michigan 4; Nevada 4;
Louisiana 5, CoOportunity Health 3; Arizona 4; Oregon 3; Utah 4; Kentucky 4.

138 Deloitte Review — Kentucky 4.

137 Deloitte Review — Louisiana 7, 9,

138 Deloitte Review — Nevada 4.

139 Deloitte Review — Tennessee 5.

140 Deloitte Review —~ Colorado 5.

141 Deloitte Review — Michigan 4.

142 Deloitte Review — Utah 4-5; Arizona 4; Tennessee 5; Kentucky 4; Louisiana 5; Michigan 4-5.
143 Deloitte Review — Louisiana §; Kentucky 45,

144 HHS BRAI ~ Tennessee 19.
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Deloitte’s background check of the CO-OPs’ sponsoring organizations also
turned up problems. For example, sponsors and personnel of the Nevada CO-OP
“demonstrate[d] a record of involvement in multiple federal civil cases, liens and
judgments.”1%5 In total, Deloitte identified 285 ongoing, completed, or dismissed
federal cases involving one of the Nevada CO-OP’s sponsors. Deloitte provided
additional detail of the records in some cases “due to the significant nature of the
matters” involving the sponsor.146 In addition, Deloitte noted that the sponsor was
the subject of nine outstanding liens or unpaid monetary judgments nationwide,
ranging up to $96,000.147

* * *

Adhering to HHS’s criteria and scoring methodology, Deloitte gave a passing
score to each of the now-failed CO-OPs. HHS approved their awards between
February and September of 2012.

B. Despite Glaring Financial Warning Signs, HHS Failed To Take
Any Corrective Action or Enhance Oversight Until The Second
Enrollment Year,

The loan agreements with the CO-OPs gave HHS several valuable tools to
monitor and ensure the viability of CO-OPs in financial distress. Yet, as this
section explains, even after it became apparent that the failed CO-OPs were
suffering losses well beyond worst-case projections and deviating dangerously from
their enrollment targets, the agency took no corrective action, nor did it put any CO-
OP on enhanced oversight. Five of the 12 failed CO-OPs were never subject to these
measures, and HHS waited until September 2015 to put five others on corrective
action or enhanced oversight. Two months later, all twelve CO-OPs had failed.

1. HHS Scarcely Used the Major Accountability and Oversight
Measures Available for Distressed CO-OPs.

The CO-OP loan agreements armed HHS with powerful tools to heighten its
monitoring of CO-OPs in financial distress and require reforms as needed. Beyond
routine monitoring, three key instruments available to HHS were corrective action
plans, enhanced oversight plans, and termination of the loan agreement.148

145 Deloitte Review — Nevada 4.

146 Deloitte Review — Nevada 5.

147 Deloitte Review — Nevada 5.

148 Dep’t of Health & Human Servs., Funding Opportunity Announcement 00-C0O0-11-001, 48 (Dec.
9, 2011). See, e.g., Loan Agreement Between Louisiana CO-OP and HHS, § 11.1 (executed June 19,
2012) (“Loan Agreement”).”).
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The first tool, the corrective action plan, allows HHS to direct a CO-OP not in
compliance with program requirements to develop and implement a plan specifying
“the actions that the loan recipient will take to . . . correct any deficiencies and
remain in compliance with program requirements.”*#® During a corrective action
plan, HHS monitors the CO-OP to ensure deficiencies are corrected.1%¢ HHS also
has authority to place financially distressed CO-OPs on an enhanced oversight plan,
which would consist of “detailed and more frequent review of the loan recipient’s
operations and financial status.”15! Under the CO-OPs’ loan agreements, an
enhanced oversight plan could be imposed when a CO-OP “consistently
underperforms relative to the [CO-OP’s] Business Plan.”152 The loan agreements
provided that HHS could supply technical assistance to correct the problems that
gave rise to a corrective action plan or enhanced oversight.153 Finally, HHS had the
authority to cut its losses by terminating the loan agreements and cease all loan
disbursements—if it no longer believed that the loan recipient could establish a
“viable and sustainable CO-OP that serves the interests of its community and the
goals of the CO-OP program.”!51

Although each of the failed CO-OPs dramatically underperformed their
business plans, HHS made sparing use of these accountability tools. Indeed, five of
the 12 failed CO-OPs were never subject to corrective action or enhanced oversight
measures, 155 and despite severe industry-wide financial distress beginning in
January 2014, HHS did not place any of the others on a corrective action plan or
enhanced oversight plan for over a year. Two of the failed CO-OPs were placed on
corrective action or enhanced oversight plans in the first quarter of 2015-in
reaction to dire warnings from state insurance commissioners concerning
“hazardous financial condition[s]” in one case!%¢ and violation of state and federal

149 Dep’t of Health & Human Servs., Ctrs. for Medicare & Medicaid Servs., CO-OP Program Loan
Funding Opportunity Announcement, 49 (Dec. 9, 2011).

150 Id.

151 Id.

152 Id, see also Loan Agreement.

153 Dep’t of Health & Human Servs., Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Servs., CO-OP Program Loan
Funding Opportunity Announcement, 48 (Dec. 9, 2011).

154 See Loan Agreement § 16.2 (“Lender may elect to terminate this Agreement if it determines in its
sole and absolute discretion that Borrower will not be likely to be able to establish a viable and
sustainable CO-OP that serves the interests of its community and the goals of the CO-OP
Program.”).

155 Specifically, the Utah, New York, Nevada, South Carolina, and Iowa/Nebraska CO-OPs were
never placed on an enhanced oversight or corrective action plan.

156 Letter from Kelly O’ Brien, Dep’t of Health & Human Servs. to Ron Bramm, Community Health
Alliance (Feb. 3, 2015); Letter from Commissioner Julie McPeak, Tennessee Dep't. of Ins., to
Secretary Burwell, Dep't of Health & Human Servs. (Jan. 8, 2015).
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law in the other.157 As for the remaining five failed CO-OPs, the agency waited
until September 2015 to place them on a corrective action or enhanced oversight
plan; within less than two months, all five had gone under. %8

The CMS CO-OP Program Director, Kelly O'Brien, told the Subcommittee
that both corrective action and enhanced oversight plans were valuable tools.159
But according to O’Brien, despite receiving information about the CO-OPs’ financial
performance on a monthly basis, the agency never developed a standard for when
enhanced oversight would be triggered.18® Based on our review of financial data
available at the time each corrective action plan or enhanced oversight plan was
implemented, it is difficult to discern any objective basis for whether a CO-OP was
“consistently underperform[ing]” such that an enhanced oversight plan was
advisable.161

The Subcommittee also sought to determine how frequently HHS made use of
two other important tools—audits and site visits—but HHS has not responded to
the Subcommittee’s request for that information despite repeated efforts.

2. HHS Knew In 2014 That The CO-OPs Were Performing
Worse Than Even The Worst-Case Net-Income Scenarios
Qutlined In Their Business Plans.

As part of their 2011 loan applications to HHS,162 each CO-OP provided HHS
with a feasibility study outlining financial projections for a number of potential
scenarios—such as variations in enrollment and variation in claims costs.1683 The
actuarial consulting firm Milliman prepared the feasibility studies for 9 of the 12

157 Letter from Kelly O'Brien, Dep’t of Health & Human Servs. to William Oliver, Louisiana Health
Cooperative (Jan. 2, 2015); Letter from Louisiana Insurance Commissioner to Kelly O’Brien, Dep’t of
Health & Human Servs. (Dec. 11, 2015).

158 See Letter from Kevin Counihan, CCIIO Director, to Thomas Zumtobel, Meritus Health Partners
(Sept. 28, 2015) (advising Arizona CO-OP of placement in an EOP); Letter from Kevin Counihan,
CCIIO Director, to Dennis Litos, Consumers Mutual of Michigan (Sept. 22, 2015) (advising Michigan
CO-OP of placement in a CAP and an EOP); Letter from XKevin Counihan, CCIIO Director, to Julia
Hutchins, CEQ, Colorado CO-OP (Sept. 10, 2015) (advising Colorado CO-OP of placement in an
EOP); Letter from Kevin Counihan, CCIIO Director, to Glenn Jennings, CEO, Kentucky Health
Cooperative (Sept. 18, 2015); Letter from Kevin Counihan, CCIIO Director, to Dawn Bonder, CEO,
Oregon Health Republic Insurance Company (Sept. 22, 2015).

159 Interview with Kevin Counihan, Director, CCIIO (Mar. 1, 2016); Interview with Kelly O’Brien,
CO-OP Division Dir., Ctrs. for Medicare & Medicaid Serv. (Mar. 1, 2016).

160 Jof.

161 I,

162 See Dep’t of Health & Human Servs., Ctrs. for Medicare & Medicaid Servs., CO-OP Program Loan
Funding Opportunity Announcement (Dec. 9, 2011).

163 See, e.g., Milliman Feasibility Study Prepared for New York CO-OP (Oct. 15, 2011).
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failed CO-OPs.164 Milliman’s studies were based on a number of key assumptions
provided by the CO-OPs, including enrollment projections.!8® Two other actuarial
consulting firms, Wakely Consulting Group and Optum, prepared similar feasibility
studies for the other three failed CO-OPs.166 All of the Milliman feasibility studies
included projected net income under different enrollment and pricing scenarios. 67
The feasibility studies reveal that every failed CO-OP underperformed their worst-
case net-income expectations in 2014 (except for the two that did not provide worst-
case projections).168

The losses came fast. One of the failed CO-OPs experienced losses greater
than even its worst-case year-end projection within the first quarter of 2014.169
That trend continued: By the second quarter of 2014, six of the 12 failed CO-OPs
had exceeded their worst-case year-end net income projections. By the third
quarter of 2014, that number was seven;17! by the fourth quarter, ten.172
Cumulatively, the failed CO-OPs exceeded their projected worst-case scenario net
income losses for 2014 by at least $263.7 million—four times greater than the
expected amount.!?3

164 Milliman Feasibility Study Prepared for New York CO-OP (Oct., 15, 2011); Milliman Feasibility
Study Certification and Analysis Prepared for Arizona CO-OP (Oct. 23, 2011); Milliman Feasibility
Study Certification and Business Plan Prepared for Nevada CO-OP (Dec. 21, 2011); Milliman
Feasibility Study Certification and Business Plan Support Prepared for Kentucky CO-OP (Dec. 28,
2011); Milliman Feasibility Study Certification and Business Plan Support Prepared for Louisiana
CO-0OP (March 30, 2012); Milliman Feasibility Study Certification and Business Plan Support
Prepared for Michigan CO-OP (Dec. 23, 2011); Milliman Feasibility Study Certification and Business
Plan Support Prepared for Oregon CO-OP (Oct. 14, 2011); Milliman Feasibility Study Certification
and Business Plan Support Prepared for lowa CO-OP (Oct. 14, 2011); Milliman Feasibility Study
Certification and Business Plan Support Prepared for Utah CO-OP (March 20, 2012);

165 Interview with Milliman (Dec. 21, 2015). Milliman reviewed the enrollment forecasts for
reasonableness but relied on the CO-OPs’ assumptions.

166 Optum Feasibility Study for Tennessee CO-OP (Mar. 31, 2012); Optum Feasibility Study for
South Carolina CO-OP (Mar. 27, 2012); Wakely Feasibility Study Prepared for Colorado CO-OP
(Mar. 30, 2012).

167 [nterview with Milliman (Dec. 21, 2015).

168 Appendix A is a data spreadsheet that is available on the PSI website at
http://www.hsgac.senate.gov/subcommittees/investigations/hearings/review-of-the-affordable-care-
act-health-insurance-co-op-program. All original sources for the data are identified. For “worst-
case” net income projections, we identified the feasibility study scenarios that resulted in the largest
projected net loss in 2014,

169 Jd. The CO-OP is Nevada.

170 Id. The six CO-OPs are Arizona, Colorado, Iowa, Kentucky, Louisiana, and Nevada.

171 Id. The seven are Arizona, Colorado, lowa, Kentucky, Louisiana, Nevada, and Oregon.

172 Id. The ten are Arizona, Colorado, Iowa, Kentucky, Louisiana, Nevada, Oregon, Michigan, New
York, and Tennessee.

173 I,
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In most cases, the difference between projected and actual performance was
staggering. As outlined below, the losses of 11 of the 12 failed CO-OPs ranged from
of 261% to 7,196% of their base projections—displayed in the far right column
below.174

Worst Case Base Case Actual Net
CS?;?:, Actunl(lg; lt 4I)nconxe Projection Net | Projection Net Incoxfné asa%
Income (2014) Income (2014) ol base
Projection
AZ -$16,593,439 -$9,820,000 -$6,140,000 270%
co -$80,080,349 -$8,326,000 -$5,659,000 1,415%
1A -$39,847,903 -$7,059,000 -$7,059,000 564%
KY 50,445,923 7$7,263,000 ~$1,047,000 4,818%
LA -$20,655,020 -$6.481 000 -$287,000 7,196%
MI -$16,336,646 -$10,307,000 -$2,756,000 592%
NV -$15,295,456 -$1,067,000 $371,000 4,122%
NY -$77,539,370 -$15,457,000 -$5,306,000 1,461%
(I({)I?I) -$12,920,763 -$5,983,000 -$2,268,000 570%
SC -$3,808,177 None Listed -$8,016,000 47%
™ -$22 130,737 -$16,378,000 -$8,474,095 261%
uT -$21,001,844 None Listed -$5,729,000 366%

174 The feasibility studies for three (IA, NY, OR) of the failed CO-OPs express net losses as “margin.”
Six others (AZ, KY, LA, MI, NV, UT) express net losses as “projected change in unrestricted net
assets.” Those figures serve as the net loss projections described above. This is the same
methodology that the HHS IG used to assess net income projections by the CO-OP. See Dep’t of
Health & Human Servs., Office of Inspector Gen., Actual Enrollment and Profitability Was Lower
than Projections Made by the Consumer Operated and Oriented Plans and Might Affect Their Ability
ta Repay Loans Prouvided under the Affordable Care Act, at 10 (July 2015),
hitp:/foig. hhs.gov/oas/reports/region5/51400055.pdf.
175 See Appendix A.
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Failed CO-OP Losses Exceeded
Worst-Case Forecast

$ 0 — e o o g oy —

-$10,000,000 M“FWF ,,,,, FW'

-$20,000,000

-§30,000,000 4

-$40,000,000 -

-$50,000,000

-$60,000,000

-$70,000,000

-$80,000,000
@ Actual Net Income (2014)

B Worst-Case Projection Net Income (2014)

HHS was well aware of the CO-OPs’ devolving financial picture. The failed
CO-OPs sent HHS key financial information on a regular basis, in the form of
monthly reports reflecting enrollment, total premiums and considerations, total
uncollected premiums, total claims paid, total claims unpaid, accrued
administrative expenses, and cash on-hand.17® Those reports were submitted
within 30 days after each month’s end.177 Although HHS did not require net income
to be included in these reports until March 2015, the 2014 monthly reports provided
the agency all the revenue and expense data necessary to recognize the large
deficits the CO-OPs were running.

176 See CMS Monthly Enrollment Reports Submitted by CO-OPs, Appendix B is a data spreadsheet
that is available on the PSI website at

http:/fwww hsgac.senate.gov/subcommittees/investigations/hearingsireview-of-the-affordable-care-
act-health-insurance-co-op-program. All original sources for the data are identified.

177 Interview with Kevin Counihan, Dir., CCIIO (Mar. 1, 2016); Interview with Kelly O'Brien, CO-OP
Division Dir., Ctrs. for Medicare & Medicaid Serv. (Mar. 1, 2016).
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HHS also received copies of the CO-OPs’ standard audited quarterly financial
statements required of all health insurers.1”® Those statements were generally
submitted within two months after the end of each quarter.17® The first quarterly
reports for 2014 were submitted to HHS mid-May 2014.180 At that point, ail but one
failed CO-OP reported a negative net income of $1.7 million or worse.18! By the end
of June 2014,182 11 of the 12 failed CO-OPs had negative net incomes of $4 million
or worse.18 And at the end of 2014, all but two failed CO-OPs had a negative net
income of at least $14 million.184

Despite these financial warning signs, HHS entered 2015 open enrollment
season with no corrective action or enhanced oversight plans in place. Worse, the
pace of HHS’s large disbursements of start-up and solvency loans to the failed CO-
OPs did not abate. Indeed, as described in Part II1.D, infra, throughout 2014 and
2015, HHS disbursed money to the CO-OPs almost as fast as they were losing it.

3. HHS Knew Early In 2014 That Enrollment Numbers For The
Failed CO-OPs Deviated Sharply From Normal Projections.

Enrollment is a key determinant of a health insurer’s financial performance
and viability, and sharp deviation (in either direction) from the insurer’s planned
enrollment can be spell trouble.'8% Low enrollment can weaken an insurer by
reducing expected premium income. Higher-than-expected enrollment can be even
more destabilizing for insurers who underprice their premiums by setting their
rates too low to cover claims and expenses.188 As one leading health insurance
scholar has explained, “[r]apid customer growth with inadequate prices and adverse
claims experience has played a major role historically in insurance company
insolvencies.”187

178 Dep’t of Health & Human Servs., Ctrs. for Medicare & Medicaid Servs., CO-OP Program
Guidance Manual, 8 (July 29, 2015), https://www.cms.gov/CCIIO/Resources/Regulations-and-
Guidance/Downloads/CO-OP-Guidance-Manual-7-29-15-final. pdf.

179 I,

180 Jd,

181 Appendix A.

182 Dep’t of Health & Human Servs., Ctrs. for Medicare & Medicaid Servs., CO-OP Program
Guidance Manual, 8 (July 29, 2015), https://www.cms.gov/CCIIO/Resources/Regulations-and-
Guidance/Downloads/CO-OP-Guidance-Manual-7-29-15-final.pdf.

183 Appendix A.

184 I,

185 Scott E. Harrington, The Financial Condition and Performance of CO-OP Plans, Univ. of Penn.
Leonard Davis Institute of Health Economics, Data Brief, 6 (Feb. 2015).

186 4.

187 I,
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The failed CO-OPs were plagued by both varieties of enrollment trouble, and
HHS knew it early in 2014. Throughout 2014, the CO-OPs submitted regular
monthly and quarterly reports to HHS that showed that their enrollment
projections were widely off the mark—in many cases, by financially hazardous
margins. A comparison between projected and actual enrollment tells the story.
The CO-OPs’ business plans included annual enrollment projections,!88 and those
enrollment projections were built into feasibility studies that projected financial
performance in three enrollment scenarios: low, normal (also called “base”), and
high.189

The failed CO-OPs’ 2014 enrollment reports to HHS showed dramatic
deviation from their plans and key financial assumptions.1% Five of the failed CO-
OPs underperformed their base enrollment projections by 40% or more—with one
CO-OP missing its projection by 90%.191 Two of the 12 failed CO-OPs did not even
achieve half of their low enrollment scenarios forecast in the feasibility studies.92
Another five CO-OPs overshot their base enrollment projections by 81% or more,
with CoOportunity enrolling eight times more consumers than projected.193

Over-Enrollment in 2014
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188 Supra, note 90.

189 [,

190 This is based on a comparison of the start-up loan disbursement schedules set forth in the loan
agreements, solvency loan disbursement schedules set forth in the business plans, and actual
disbursement records.

191 Appendix B.

192 .

198 [,
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These deviations manifested themselves early in 2014. By March 2014, two
CO-0Ps (CoOportunity and the New York CO-OP) had already exceeded their high
enrollment projections for the year.194 CoOportunity exceeded its high enrollment
scenario by more than 150% within the first month of enrollment.'% And by the
end of March 2014, the New York CO-OP attracted 89,577 enrollees—more than
double the high enrollment scenario in its feasibility study.19¢ Because both fast-
growing CO-OPs had mispriced their plans, that dramatic enrollment growth
multiplied the CO-OPs’ losses rather than gains—as HHS was seeing on a monthly
and quarterly basis throughout 2014.1%7

CO0-0Ps with low enrollment also manifested problems early. By the end of
the fourth month of 2014 open enrollment (January 2014), it was evident that many
CO-0Ps had seriously failed to attract their projected enrollees. At that point, five
C0-0Ps enrolled less than 2,000 members, and two CO-OPs enrolled less than
1,000 members.1%8 Because open enrollment was the prime period for a surge in
sign-ups, failure to perform well during that period was an important warning sign
of deepening financial difficulties.

Under-Enrollment in 2014
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194 I,
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197 See Deloitte Additional Solvency Loan Review — CoOportunity; Deloitte Additional Solvency Loan
Review — New York.
198 Appendix B.
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Because the CO-OPs reported enrollment data to HHS on a monthly basis,
the Department was aware of these deviations from targets early in 2014—even as
HHS continued to make multimillion-dollar start-up and solvency loan
disbursements. Enrollment reports did not prompt HHS corrective action or place
any failed CO-OP on an enhanced oversight plan throughout 2014.

As the CO-OPs with weak enrollment struggled to generate revenue, the CO-
OPs with dangerously high enrollment racked up massive losses throughout 2014—
losses reported on a regular basis to HHS.199 CoOportunity and the New York CO-
OP lost $39.8 million and $77.5 million, respectively, in 2014; they would go on to
lose another $60 million and $544 million, respectively, in 2015.200 Rapid
enrollment growth, combined with underpriced premiums, contributed to the
demise of both CO-OPs.201 In the case of CoOportunity, 120,000 enrollees were sent
searching for new insurance beginning on December 14, 2014, when the CO-OP was
placed under supervision by the Iowa Insurance Division.202 Likewise, in New
York, 150,000 enrollees were informed that they would need to find new health
insurance for 2016.203

C. Through 2014 And 2015, The Failed CO-OPs Were Losing Money
Faster Than HHS Could Disburse It.

Despite serious financial warning signs, HHS did not withhold any planned
disbursements from the now-failed CO-OPs—every dollar was paid, many on an
accelerated basis compared to the CO-OPs’ business plans.294 Nor did it terminate

199 Appendix A. In the case of CoOportunity, cumulative net income was -$3,700,252 for Q1,
-$13,421,327 for Q2, and -$39,847,903 for Q3. In the case of the Kentucky CO-OP, cumulative net
income was -$1,720,156 for Q1, -$23,531,532 for Q2, -$24,033,077 for Q3, and -$50,445,923 at the end
of 2014.

200 Appendix A.

201 Final Order of Liquidation, Jowa ex rel. Gerhari, Comm. of Ins. v. CoOportunity Health, Inc.,
Equity No. EQCE077579, at 4 (Mar. 2, 2015),
http://www.dol.nebraska.gov/legal/cooportunity/FINAL%200RDER%200F%20LIQUIDATION.pdf.;
Scott E. Harrington, The Financial Condition and Performance of CO-OP Plans, U. Penn. Leonard
Davis Institute of Health Economics, Data Brief, 6 (Feb. 2015).

202 Pet. for Order of Liquidation, Jowa v. Gerhart, Equity Case No. EQCE077579, § 14,
http:/fwww.iid.state.ia.us/sites/default/files/press_release/2015/01/29/petition _pdf_11438.pdf.

203 Grace Marie-Turner, 400,000 Citizens to Lose Health Insurance (Again) Because of Obamacare
CO-OP Failures, GALEN INSTITUTE (Oct. 13, 2015).

204 For example, the Michigan CO-OP received $19.4 million in solvency loan dishursements in 2014
against $3 million planned in its business plan. Similarly, the Arizona CO-OP received $26.9 million
in 2015 in solvency loans against $15.4 million projected. See Disbursement Spreadsheets
Submitted to PSI by Arizona CO-OP in Response to Nov. 23, 2015 Request; Michigan CO-OP Start-
Up and Solvency Loan Disbursement Schedule, Ex. 1.0d (May 15, 2012); Arizona CO-OP Start-Up
and Solvency Loan Disbursement Schedule.
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any loan agreements. Instead, the agency continued to disburse taxpayer-backed
loans to entities despite alarming signs of financial deterioration—and, ultimately,
inability to repay the taxpayer. The Subcommittee analyzed the annual net
incomes identified in the quarterly and annual financial statements of the now-
failed CO-OPs and compared them on a quarterly basis to the HHS disbursement
records provided by the CO-OPs.295 Qver the course of 2014 and 2015, HHS
disbursed approximately $840 million2% in federal loan dollars to the failed
CO-OPs, even as they lost more than $1.5 billion.207 For every $1 that HHS sent
them during this period, the failed CO-OPs lost more than $1.65.

Good Money After Bad: Loan Disbursements vs.
Net Losses of Failed CO-OPs
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205 Appendix D is a data spreadsheet that is available on the PSI website at

http://www hsgac.senate.gov/subcommittees/investigations/hearings/review-of-the-affordable-care-
act-health-insurance-co-op-program. All original sources for the data are identified.

206 Jd.

207 Appendix A. Net income losses are based on annual and quarterly NAIC filings by the CO-OPs,
in addition to the 2015 year-end balance sheets provided to the Subcommittee. The 2015 year-end
balance sheets have not yet been filed and finalized. Actual losses are likely to be significantly
larger as several CO-OPs have not yet reported or provided their losses for the second half of 2015,
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Indeed, HHS’s disbursements of taxpayer loans continued well after several
of the CO-OPs had announced their plans to close. The Utah CO-OP received
$10.25 million on November 23, 2015—about a month after it announced its
closure.208 On July 7, 2015, the Louisiana CO-OP’s Board of Directors agreed to
wind down its activities, yet it received $9.2 million on November 27, 2015.20% And
Michigan received $5.4 million two weeks after it was placed on rehabilitation.21?

D. HHS Approved Additional Solvency Loans For Three Of The
Failed CO-OPs Despite Obvious Financial Warning Signs.

As financial reports poured into HHS, it soon became apparent that many of
the CO-OPs were running out of money—-some projecting cash shortfalls that could
place them in conflict with risk-based capital requirements set by state regulators.
If a CO-OP failed to meet those capital requirements, its state insurance regulator
could effectively shut it down.

In response, HHS moved forward with awarding large additional solvency
loans, well in excess of what was previously requested in the CO-OPs’ applications
and business plans. According to HHS, these additional solvency loans “were
intended to assist applicants with meeting the capital reserve requirements of
states in which the applicants sought to be licensed to issue health insurance.”?!1
After the start of coverage on January 1, 2014, HHS started an application and
award process for additional funds specifically to assist with these state solvency
requirements.212 As of this report, six CO-OPs (three failed and three surviving)
received additional solvency loan awards totaling more than $350 million.213

208 Kristen Moulton, Utah Shuts Down Arches, The State’s Nonprofit Insurance CO-OP, THE SALT
LAKE TRIBUNE (Oct. 28, 2015), available at http://www.sltrib.com/home/3108049-155/utah-shuts-
down-arches-utahs-nonprofit.

209 Pet. for Rehabilitation, Injunctive Relief, and Rule to Show Cause of Louisiana Health
Cooperative, Inc., Donelon v. Louisiana Health Cooperative, Inc., No. 641928, 11 (Sept. 1, 2015),
https://www.ldi.la.gov/docs/default-source/documents/financialsolvency/receivership/Louisiana-
Health-Cooperative/petition-for-rehabilitation. pdf?sfvrsn=0.

210 Michigan Places Consumers Mutual Insurance in Rehabilitation, INSURANCE JOURNAL (Nov. 25,
2015), http://www.insurancejournal.com/mews/midwest/2015/11/25/390170.htm.

211 Dep’t of Health & Human Servs., Office of Inspector Gen., Actual Enrollment and Profitability
Was Lower than Projections Made by the Consumer Operated and Oriented Plans and Might Affect
Their Ability to Repay Loans Provided under the Affordable Care Act, 5-6 (July 2015),
http://oig.hhs.gov/oas/reports/region5/51400055. pdf.

212 Ctrs. for Medicare & Medicaid Servs., Ctr. for Consumer Information & Insurance Oversight,
Loan Program Helps Support Customer-Driven Non-Profit Health Insurers (Dec. 16, 2014),
https://www.cms.gov/CCIIO/Resources/Grants/new-loan-program html,

23 Id.
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Health Republic Insurance of New $90,688,000
York (New York)

Kentucky Health Care Cooperative $65,000,000
(Kentucky/West Virginia)

CoOportunity Health $32,700,000
(Towa/Nebraska)

HealthyCT $48,427,000
{Connecticut)

Maine Community Health Options $64,810,000
{Maine)

Common Ground Healthcare $51,117,899
Cooperative (Wisconsin)

To obtain additional solvency loans, CO-OPs were required to submit
applications to HHS, including modified and updated business plans showing how
the CO-OP would use the additional funds.?4 According to Mandy Cohen, CMS's
Chief Operating Officer, “CMS undertook a rigorous review process substantially
similar to what was conducted for the initial round of loans. This included both an
external and internal review of updated business plans.”?15 As with the initial loan
review process, Deloitte completed the external assessment for all additional
solvency loan applications. Deloitte evaluated the applicant CO-OPs based on the
following criteria: enrollment, pricing, medical costs and losses, financials, and the
quality of their contingency plans.216

According to Deloitte, HHS required a quick turnaround on analysis of each
additional solvency loan application. While the firm initially requested two months
to complete its work, HHS asked for responses in just four weeks.27 As a result,
Deloitte told the Subcommittee that it did not provide the same in-depth analysis as
it did for the initial loan application.?18 For example, Deloitte specifically refrained
from evaluating or commenting on “the reasonableness of the proposed changes to

214 See, e.g., Deloitte Additional Solvency Loan Review — Kentucky 1.

215 Review of Obamacare Consumer Operated and Oriented Plans (Co-Ops): Hearing Before the
Subcommittee on Health Care, Benefits, and Administrative Rules, 114% Cong. (Feb. 25, 2016)
(statement of Dr. Mandy Cohen MD, MPH, Chief Operating Officer and Chief of Staff, Ctrs. for
Medicare and Medicaid Servs.).

218 Deloitte Additional Solvency Loan Review — Utah 1.

217 Interview with Deloitte (Mar. 2, 2016).

218 I
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each CO-OP business plan” or “the likelihood of each CO-OP achieving sustainable
operations based on the revised business plan.”?!® Further, Deloitte did not provide
any comment on “the reasonableness or the propriety of any of the amounts of the
3Rs” provided by the CO-OPs.220 That meant neither Deloitte nor HHS analyzed
whether the CO-OPs were correct to rely on funds from reinsurance, risk corridors,
and risk adjustment.

The findings that Deloitte did express were troubling. This section examines
Deloitte’s reviews of the three approved additional solvency funding requests of the
failed CO-OPs operating in Kentucky, New York, and lowa and Nebraska.

1. The Kentucky CO-OP Receives $65 Million in Additional
Solvency Loan Funding.

In October 2014, Deloitte submitted its report on the Kentucky CO-OP’s
additional solvency loan request to HHS. The CO-OP had previously been awarded
$20.2 million in expansion funding in November 2013 and additional start-up
funding of $2.5 million in December 2013.22! According to its application, the
Kentucky CO-OP requested “additional solvency loan funding because of higher
than expected enrollment and primarily to address solvency issues caused by the
treatment of the risk corridors receivable as a nonadmitted asset.”222 Deloitte found
that without further solvency loans and if its 3R receivables were not treated as
admitted assets, “the CO-OP will have both critical liquidity and solvency issues.”223

Notwithstanding these serious outcomes if the Kentucky CO-OP did not
receive additional solvency awards, the documents it provided to Deloitte were
incomplete in several key areas—Ileaving the firm without sufficient information to
analyze many of the proposed strategies. As with the initial loan application review
process, when Deloitte found there was inadequate information, it sought the
information from HHS, 224

The Kentucky CO-OP failed to provide sufficient information in all four key
categories examined by Deloitte. First, with respect to enrollment, the CO-OP had
experienced greater than predicted total enrollment, but fell dramatically short of

219 See, e.g., Deloitte Additional Solvency Loan Review — Kentucky 1.

220 Jd.

221 Dep’t of Health & Human Servs., Ctrs. for Medicare & Medicaid Servs., Ctr. for Consumer
Information & Insurance Oversight, Loan Program Helps Support Customer-Driven Non-Profit
Health Insurers (Dec. 16, 2014), https://www.cms,.gov/CCIIO/Resources/Grants/new-loan-
program.html.

222 Deloitte Additional Solvency Loan Review — Kentucky 3.

223 Id. at 4.

224 Interview with Deloitte (Mar. 2, 2016),
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its plans to enroll 10,000 members outside the ACA Marketplace (it enrolled
none).225 But its revised enrollment strategy “did not provide any detail on how it
plans to achieve its target enrollment” in its planned new markets.226 Additionally,
according to Deloitte, it was unclear how the CO-OP’s plans would actually increase
small-group enrollment (i.e., small business employer plans)—a key market that
Kentucky failed to previously engage.227

Second, with respect to the key issue of pricing, Deloitte expressed skepticism
and noted gaps in the Kentucky CO-OP’s proposal. The CO-OP planned to raise
premiums by “an average of 15% in 2015 for individual products.”?28 According to
Deloitte, the CO-OP claimed “that its additional solvency needs [were] not due to
inadequate or inappropriate pricing’ in 2014,” but Deloitte noted that “[t]his
statement appears contradictory to the fact that [the Kentucky CO-OP] will remain
5-25% below the lowest priced competitor” even after adopting its premium
increases.?28 Deloitte explained that it remains “unclear how [the Kentucky CO-
OP] intends to avoid adverse selection if it remains the lowest priced competitor on
the Kentucky Marketplace,” and that the CO-OP “did not provide sufficient
information to determine how [its proposed] premium increase will affect] ]
individual enrollment levels in Kentucky.”230 In yet another important gap, the CO-
OP failed to explain how it would “raise its small group rates while also closing the
price gap between [the Kentucky CO-OP] and the lowest priced competitor.”231

Third, the Kentucky CO-OP told HHS that high medical claims costs also
posed a financial threat—and were running higher than its 2014 projections. Yet
according to Deloitte, “there [was] no information provided in the application
detailing how [the CO-OP] intends to return to a normal level [of medical
claims).”232 Deloitte noted that if Kentucky did not reduce its medical loss ratio
(i.e., share of premium an insurer spends on medical claims), it would continue to
lose money.233 The Kentucky CO-OP projected an ambitious 74% reduction in
medical loss ratio from 2014 (161.3%) to 2015 (86.8%), but there was “not enough

225 Deloitte Additional Solvency Loan Review — Kentucky 5.
226 Id. at 6.

227 Id.

228 Id, at 8.

229 [d. at 7.

230 ]d

231 Id

282 Id. at 12.
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detail within the application” for Deloitte to even analyze the reasonableness of that
decrease.234

Fourth, the Kentucky CO-OP’s pro forma financial statements showed
troubling projections on a number of levels. Even if the CO-OP realized its
projected 3R recoveries, the Kentucky CO-OP was effectively requesting one
government loan to pay another government loan. Deloitte’s analysis found that
the CO-OP was not projected “to earn enough net income through 2017 to repay its
initial start-up loan payments of $6.3 million. Therefore, it appears [Kentucky] may
need to use solvency loans to make the start-up loan repayment in 2017,7235

The Kentucky CO-OP’s precarious financial health depended largely on 3R
receivables—including a projected $115.5 million for 2014, Deloitte noted that,
without those 3R receivables, the CO-OP was projecting to have “losses of $139.3
million, $63 million, and $7.2 million in 2014, 2015, and 2016, respectively.”236 If
those 3Rs did not materialize in full, or if they were not paid until the third quarter
of 2015, Deloitte warned that “CMS may want to consider that [the Kentucky CO-
OP] could suffer significant liquidity issues.”2?7 Deloitte noted the alternative: The
Kentucky CO-OP had stated that, if its solvency loan request was denied, it could
transition its members to other insurers “and remove the health plan from [2015]
open enrollment.”238

Instead, HHS chose to prolong the Kentucky CO-OP’s operations, fueled by a
$65 million additional solvency loan approved on November 10, 2014.23% One year
and $65 million in federal disbursements later, the Kentucky CO-OP was placed in
rehabilitation due to insolvency risk and its health plan was removed from the 2016
open enrollment.240 By that point, the CO-OP had deepened its losses to $50.4
million for 2014 and another $114.8 million in 2015.241 Ultimately, more than
50,000 Kentucky CO-OP members would need to find new health insurance when
the CO-OP collapsed.242

234 Id

235 Id. at 14.

236 Id. at 4.

237 Id. at 14.

238 Id

238 Dep’t of Health & Human Servs., Ctrs. for Medicare & Medicaid Servs., Ctr. for Consumer
Information & Insurance Oversight, Loan Program Helps Support Customer-Driven Non-Profit
Health Insurers (Dec. 16, 2014), https://www.cms.gov/CCIIO/Resources/Grants/mew-loan-
program.html.

240 Order of Liquidation, Maynard v. Kentucky Health Cooperative, Inc., at 3.

24t Kentucky CO-0P, Statutory Balance Sheet (Dec. 31, 2015).

242 See Appendix B.
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2. The New York CO-OP Receives $90.7 Million in Additional
Solvency Loan Funding.

On June 18, 2014, the New York CO-OP requested $90.7 million to maintain
solvency in the face of far greater enrollment than expected and underpriced
premiums.248 The CO-OP reported a financially precarious position that required
an infusion of additional funds to maintain solvency. Deloitte warned that
estimating the 3Rs receivables was difficult and “may create issues if relied upon to
generate profit,”24 yet without those receivable the CO-OP was projecting losses of
$68.2 million and $23.1 million for 2014 and 2015, respectively.?4® Losses would
swell to $77.5 million and an estimated $544 million in 2014 and 2015,
respectively.246

The New York CO-OP’s 2014 enrollment was dramatically higher than
anticipated “due to its rates being among the lowest in most products and markets
across the state.”247 The CO-OP’s principal solution was to increase premiums by
10% above market trend, but Deloitte noted that the CO-OP failed to include
“estimates of the sensitivities of demand to prices”—that is, the effect that proposed
premium increases would have on consumer demand for its health plans.248 In
addition, the effectiveness of its proposed plan to raise premiums was “only
substantiated in {the CO-OP’s] assertion” that it performed an “in-depth” analysis,
“but no concrete data was provided from the study in the business plan or the
Milliman feasibility study.”249 More broadly, Deloitte found that while the CO-OP
had laid out a strategy for maintaining its enrollment figures and market
competitiveness, it failed to “quantify the impact this business strategy will have on
enrollment projects and financial sustainability,”250

The CO-OP also appeared to be seeking enrollment growth in some respects.
Unplanned enrollment growth had been a main driver of the CO-OP’s financial
difficulties, but the New York CO-OP projected to grow substantially in 2015 and
2016—to levels 319% and 339% (respectively) greater than original projections.25t
In fact, the CO-OP told HHS that it planned to expand its offering into “the

243 Deloitte Additional Solvency Loan Review — New York 1; Letter from Debra Friedman, President
and CEO, Health Republic Insurance of New York to Nicole Gordon, Dep’t of Health & Human
Servs. (June 18, 2014).

244 Deloitte Additional Solvency Loan Review — New York 9.

245 Deloitte Additional Solvency Loan Review — New York 1.

248 New York CO-OP, Statement of Financial Performance (Dec, 31, 2015).

247 Deloitte Additional Solvency Loan Review —~ New York 6.

28 Id. at 3.

249 [d. at 6 (emphasis added).

250 I, at 6.
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remaining 30 New York counties in which it does not currently serve.”252 The CO-
OP planned to “move into the large group market starting in 2015” in order to
“diversify its business,” among other goals, but it provided “no substantiation” for
its enrollment projections in that more profitable market.253

Finally, there were obvious concerns about the New York CO-OP’s ability to
meet state and federal capital requirements. As previously discussed, the
governing loan agreements required CO-OPs to maintain a risk-based capital (RBC)
level of 500% of its authorized control level (ACL). According to HHS, “RBCis a
method of measuring the minimum amount of capital appropriate for an issuer to
support its overall business operations in consideration of its size and risk.”#5¢ But
HHS decided to deviate from its recommended capital requirements.25 Deloitte
wrote: “Based on discussions with CMS, Deloitte confirmed that CMS has chosen to
fund [the New York CO-OP] based on state solvency requirements rather than a
risk-based capital (RBC) level of 500% of authorized control level (ACL) normally
recommended by CMS.”25 According to Deloitte, “The amount of funding required
to meet the recommended RBC level of 500% of ACL is greater than the amount
required [by the New York state standard}’—meaning that HHS lowered its own
standard to accommodate the New York CO-OP.257

Deloitte summarized the “contingency plan” submitted by the New York CO-
OP in the event it did not receive its solvency loan. “If [the New York CO-OP] does
not receive the requested solvency loan funding, it may identify outside financing or
scale down operations in order to meet solvency requirements. However, [the CO-
OP] still projects that it will be able to repay both the start-up and current solvency
loan funding in this scenario.”258 Deloitte explained that, failing private financing,

252 Id. at 3-4.

253 Id. at 4.

254 Dep’t of Health & Human Servs., Ctrs. for Medicaid and Medicaid Servs., CO-OP Program
Guidance Manual (July 29, 2015), https://www.cms.gov/CCIIO/Resources/Regulations-and-
Guidance/Downloads/CO-0OP-Guidance-Manual-7-29-15-final.pdf,

255 Deloitte Additional Solvency Loan Review — New York 2.

256 Id

257 Id.; New York CO-OP, CMS First Amended Loan Agreement, 2 (Feb. 17, 2012). The New York
State Department of Financial Services (NYDFS) later effectively reversed HHS’s decision to lower
the bar for the New York CO-OP. NYDFS required the CO-OP to revert to the 500% RBC level, and
that prompted the New York CO-OP to ask for an additional $70.5 million in a second request for
additional solvency loan funding in September of 2014. HHS denied that second request in mid-
December 2014—by which point it had exhausted its CO-OP loan award authority.
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the CO-OP intended to “scale down its operation by increasing its rates, by reducing
its membership . . . and by eliminating all non-essential administrative costs.”259

But rather than scale down, in September 2014, the New York CO-OP sought
and obtained from HHS a $90.7 million additional solvency loan that would allow it
to scale up—in every respect but profits.26¢ Twelve months and $109 million in
federal loan disbursements later, the New York Department of Financial Services
directed the CO-OP to cease writing new health insurance policies and announced
that the CO-OP will commence an orderly wind down after the expiration of its
existing policies in December 2015.261 By that point, the CO-OP had deepened its
net losses to $77.5 million in 2014 and more than $§544 milliorn in 2015,262 while
adding 58,208 enrollees in 2015. All of those enrollees were sent searching for new
health insurance policies when the New York CO-OP became insolvent.

3. CoOportunity Health Receives $32.7 Million in Additional
Solvency Loan Funding.

On May 5, 2014, CoOportunity applied for an additional $32.7 million in
solvency loan funds on top of the $112 million HHS originally awarded.263 The CO-
OP told HHS that it needed the infusion of cash to head off “cash flow and liquidity
problems” driven by unexpectedly high losses, rapid growth and a “higher risk
profile” than expected.?64 To slow its losses, the CO-OP planned to increase its
rates and to focus on urban areas and other markets it had not penetrated (among
other steps). But given the unsupported assumptions underlying the CO-OP’s
proposed solutions, Deloitte warned that the additional funds sought by
CoOportunity may rot be enough to maintain its solvency for long. “Due to the
uncertainty of its enrollment projections and the risk profile of future enrollees,”
Deloitte wrote, “it is unclear that the requested amount of additional solvency loan

259 Id. at 14.

260 Dep’t of Health & Human Servs., Ctrs. for Medicare & Medicaid Servs., Ctr. for Consumer
Information & Insurance Oversight, Loan Program Helps Support Customer-Driven Non-Profit
Health Insurers (Dec. 16, 2014), https://www.cms.gov/CCIIO/Resources/Grants/mew-loan-
program.html.

261 Appendix C is a data spreadsheet that is available on the PSI website at

http://www hsgac.senate.gov/subcommittees/investigations/hearings/review-of-the-affordable-care-
act-health-insurance-co-op-program. All original sources for the data are identified; see Press
Release, New York Dep’t of Fin. Servs. (Oct. 30, 2015),
http://www.dfs.ny.gov/about/press/pr1510301.htm.
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263 Letter from Comm, Stephen Ringlee, Dir. and Chief Fin. Officer, CoOportunity Health to CO-OP
Program Division, Dep’t of Health & Human Servs. (May 5, 2014).
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funding reflects the amount required to meet the CO-OP’s future capitalization and
liquidity requirements during growth projected during 2014-2017.7265

Deloitte also pointed to concerns about CoOportunity on the crucial issue of
enrollment. The firm’s consultants noted that “no documentation or explanation is
provided substantiating the reason or discrepancies in the actual current
enrollment level”266—an obvious first step in addressing the problem. More
fundamentally, CoOportunity’s enrollment projections rested on a “lst of
assumptions,” but it failed to “provide additional information discussing the impacts
of these assumptions on its ability to meet enrollment projections in a specific target
market or targeted market.”267 Finally, CoOportunity provided, without
explanation, conflicting enrcllment projections that “differ, at times, by over 20,000
per year,”268

CoOportunity Health’s forecast of financial health relied heavily on the 3Rs,
despite uncertainty concerning its projections.269 The CO-OP projected a net profit
of $8.5 million for 2014—2016, but “[a]bsent recoveries from risk sharing, risk
corridors, and risk adjustment,” the CO-OP stood to lose $86.1 million from 2014—
2016. Deloitte cautioned that “[t]he 3R receivables are difficult to estimate and may
create issues if relied upon to generate a profit.”27® The largest receivable on
CoOportunity’s books for 2014, however, was a $41 million risk corridor payment.271

This was not CoOportunity’s only additional solvency loan request. On
September 22, 2014, four days before HHS approved CoOportunity’s $32 million
application, HHS received a second request from the CO-OP asking for an
additional $55 million.272 Knowing this information, however, HHS still approved
the first application. Less than three months later, on December 16, 2014, it was
placed under supervision by the Iowa Insurance Division and later liquidated.27
CoOportunity had operating losses of over $163 million and $50 million more in

265 Jd, at 6 (emphasis added).
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272 Letter from Commissioner Stephen Ringlee, Director and Chief Financial Officer, CoOportunity
Health to CO-OP Program Division, Dep’t of Health & Human Servs. (Sept. 22, 2014).

278 Pet. for Order of Liquidation, Jowa v. Gerhart, Equity Case No. EQCEQ77579, § 14,
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liabilities than in assets.27¢ The CO-OP’s closure left its 120,000 members
scrambling with little time to find a new insurance plan that best fit their needs.
There were still nearly 10,000 former CoOportunity members without a new
insurance plan by the time of the CO-OP’s liquidation.27

E. HHS Permitted The CO-OPs To Rely On Massive Risk Corridor
Projections With No Sound Basis For Doing So.

The risk corridor program is a temporary measure in the ACA that requires
health insurers to share gains and losses. Insurers are required to calculate a “risk
corridor ratio” that reflects their profitability using a formula prescribed by the
ACA.?76 Using that ratio, more profitable insurers must remit a portion of their
profits to HHS, and those collections are in turn to be directed to unprofitable
insurers to offset a portion of their losses.277

As HHS has repeatedly acknowledged in the past, the risk corridor program
was intended to be budget-neutral—meaning payments to insurers suffering losses
would come entirely from those experiencing gains. The Congressional Budget
Office (CBO) originally scored the cost of the risk corridor program on the
assumption that “aggregate collections from some issuers would offset payments
made to other issuers.”?”® Subsequent CBO scores have varied, but all have
projected either budget-neutrality or better.2”® More importantly, in 2013 and 2014,
HHS stated that the agency “intend[s] to implement [the risk corridor] program in a
budget neutral manner, and may make future adjustments either upward or

274 Final Order of Liquidation, fowa ex rel. Gerhart v. CoOportunity Health, Inc., Equity No.
EQCE077579, at 4 (Mar. 2, 2015),

http://www.doi.nebraska.gov/legal/cooportunity/ FINAL% 200RDER %200F%20LIQUIDATION. pdf,
278 Joe Gardyasz, Insurers still scrambling to process former CoOportunity members, [IowA Bus.
RECORD (Feb. 10, 2015), http://www.businessrecord.com/Content/Default/-All-Latest-
News/Article/Insurers-still-scrambling-to-process-former-CoOportunity-members/-
3/248/67513#ixzz42BbdzuvY.

276 The formula is: (Medical claims + quality improvement) / (Premiums collected — administrative
costs).

277 See generally The Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, Analysis of HHS Final Rules On
Reinsurance, Risk Corridors And Risk Adjustment (Apr. 2012); see also Angela Boothe & Brittany La
Couture, The ACA’s Risk Spreading Mechanisms: A Primer on Reinsurance, Risk Corridors and Risk
Adjustment, AMERICAN ACTION FORUM (Jan. 9, 2015), http:/americanactionforum.org/research/the-
acas-risk-spreading-mechanisms-a-primer-on-reinsurance-risk-corridors-a#_ednll.

278 Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act; HHS Notice of Benefit and Payment Parameters for
2014, 78 Fed. Reg. 15516 (Mar. 11, 2013).

27 Congressional Budget Office, The Budget and Economic Outlook: 2014 to 2024 (Feb. 4, 2014),
https://www.cbo.gov/publication/45010; Congressional Budget Office, The Budget and Economic
Outlook: 2015 to 2025 (Jan. 26, 2015), https://www.cbo.gov/publication/49892.
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downward to this program . . . to the extent necessary to achieve this goal.”280 In
April 2014, the agency explained that “if risk corridors collections are insufficient to
make risk corridors payments for a year, all risk corridors payments for that year
will be reduced pro rata to the extent of any shortfall. Risk corridors collections
received for the next year will first be used to pay off the payment reductions
issuers experienced in the previous year.”281 In other words, HHS would not spend
more in risk corridor payments in a given year than it collected. A December 2014
appropriations law codified that commitment to budget-neutrality in the risk
corridor program.282

But the gains necessary for the risk corridor program to work as intended did
not materialize—as many analysts had warned. In an October 2014 report,
Citibank concluded that HHS would not collect “nearly enough” from profitable
insurers to meet the risk corridor requests of unprofitable insurers. The report was
based an analysis of mid-year financial statements of 85 health plan subsidiaries
representing “approximately 80% of the total individual market.”283 Remarkably,
Citibank reported that, as of June 2014, the insurers that it studied had accrued
$410 million in risk corridor receivables (owed to them) and only $2.3 million in risk
corridor payments owed by them to HHS. In other words, it was a staggering
imbalance. The study’s authors concluded: “The sizeable risk corridor receivable
assumptions by the plans make us nervous. . . . With no change in assumptions, we
estimate the full year liability to HHS could exceed $1 billion. There won't be
nearly enough plan contributions to fund these requests.”?%* Citibank also
questioned the empirical basis for HHS’s assumption that any 2014 risk corridor
shortfall could be covered by excess risk corridor collections in 2015: “[I}t isn’t clear
to us why health plans will suddenly start earning excess individual profits in
2015,7285 the analysts noted, particularly considering “the losses being incurred by
many plans this year.”286 Citibank’s study echoed earlier skepticism in a
publication by the Society of Actuaries, which concluded that it is “likely” that risk

280 Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act; HHS Notice of Benefit and Payment Parameters for
2015, 45 CFR Parts 144, 13,787 (Mar. 11, 2014), https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2014-03-
11/pdf/2014-05052.pdf.

281 Dep't of Health & Human Servs., Ctrs. for Medicare & Medicaid Servs., FAQ: Risk Corridors and
Budget Neutrality (Apr. 11, 2014) (emphasis added), https://www.cms.gov/CCIIO/Resources/Fact-
Sheets-and-FAQs/Downloads/faq-risk-corridors-04-11-2014.pdf.

282 Consolidated and Further Continuing Appropriations Act, Pub. L. 113235, 128 Stat. 2130 (Dec.
16, 2014).

283 Carl McDonald and Sahil Choudhry, Blessed Are Those Who Can Give Without Remembering &
Take Without Forgetting: Analyzing The Industry’s Individual 3 R Accruals In 1H14, Citi Research 1,
2, 5 (Oct. 21, 2014), https:/ir.citi.com/T75ur7JO9TmjgZE8xXjGDxftyk EMbKPXghCs4GgkDqE%3D.
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corridor collections would not be sufficient to cover receivables.287 And Citibank
was not alone in its analysis.288

Deloitte warned HHS that several struggling CO-OPs were relying heavily on
large, uncertain risk corridor projections to boost their balance sheets.289
Throughout 2014, HHS received information showing that most of the now-extinct
CO-OPs were booking massive projected payments from the risk corridor program—
payments that were crucial to their forecasts of profitability.29¢ For example, at the
time of its first additional solvency loan application, CoOportunity’s largest
receivable for 2014 was its projected risk corridor payments. In its review of each
additional solvency loan application, however, Deloitte cautioned HHS against the
risks of relying on risk corridor projections to sustain CO-OPs experiencing
losses. 291

HHS did not heed these warnings. Rather than caution the CO-OPs against
relying too heavily on risk corridor receivables that were very much in doubt, HHS
issued repeated assurances throughout 2014 and 2015 that risk corridor collections
would be sufficient to cover receivables. As recently as July 21, 2015, the agency
continued to assure state insurance commissioners: “As stated in our final payment
notice for 2016, ‘We anticipate that risk corridor collections will be sufficient to pay
for all risk corridors payments. HHS recognizes that the Affordable Care Act
requires the Secretary to make full payments to issuers.’”292

When asked about this July 2015 letter in an interview, HHS officials stated
that the letter was not referring to 2014 in isolation but rather to the three-year

287 Doug Norris, Risk Corridors Under the Affordable Care Act, HEALTH WATCH, SOCIETY OF
ACTUARIES (Oct. 2013). The article continued: “The risk corridor program appears to be symmetric,
with some plans paying into the program and some plans receiving funds from the program ....
However, if all of the plans in a market (or even just the most popular ones) end up pricing their
products too low and so suffer losses, the government will end up needing to fund this program, and
the required funds could be substantial.” Id.

288 A May 2014 report by Standard and Poor added to the chorus of skepticism about the risk
corridor payments and projected a pro rata shortfall that would permit payment of only 10 cents on
the dollar. See Zachary Taylor, Obamacare Risk Fund May Pay Just 10% of Insurer Claims, S&P
Says (May 1, 2015), http://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2015-05-01/obamacare-risk-fund-may-
pay-just-10-of-insurer-claims-s-p-says.

289 See Part IIL. K, supra.
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291 Deloitte cautioned that “[tlhe 3R receivables are difficult to estimate and may create issues if
relied upon to generate a profit.” See Part IILE, supra (additional solvency loan applications).

292 Letter from Kevin Counihan, Director, CCIIO, to State Insurance Commissioners (July 21, 2015);
see also CMS Public Mem., Risk Corridors & Budget Neutrality (Apr. 11, 2014) (“We anticipate that
risk corridors collections will be sufficient to pay for all risk corridors payments.”); The Affordable
Care Act’s Premium Stabilization Programs: Hearing Before House Comm. on Oversight & Gov't
Reform, 113th Cong. (June 18, 2014) (statement of Dr. Mandy Cohen MD, MPH, Acting Deputy
Administrator and Director, CCIIO) (same).
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period 2014-2016.293 To say the least of it, that explanation is certainly not clear
from the face of the letter, which specifically addresses “the 2014 reinsurance
program” and “2014 risk corridor payments.”?% But even accepting HHS’s reading,
those assurances were no less unfounded: A November 2015 report by Standard &
Poor’s has already estimated that “the 2015 ACA risk corridor will be significantly
underfunded, as was the case the previous year.”2% If true, that means there will
be no surplus in 2015 to make up the 2014 shortfall—as Citibank predicted in
October 2014.

Widespread concerns about booking risk corridor payments were ultimately
justified. On October 15, 2015, HHS announced that 2014 risk corridor collections
from profitable insurers had fallen far short of risk corridor payments requested by
unprofitable insurers: HHS was able to pay only 12.6 cents on the dollar.2% As
predicted, the ensuing risk corridor shortfall further destabilized the CO-OPs.

F. The Heavy Costs of Failed CO-OPs Will Be Borne By Taxpayers,
Doctors, And Other Insurers.

1. Financial Information Obtained By The Subcommittee
Indicates That No Significant Share of the $1.2 Billion in
Failed CO-OP Loans Will Likely Be Repaid.

None of the failed CO-OPs have repaid a single dollar, principal or interest, of
the $1.2 billion in federal solvency and start-up loans they received.?97 The
Subcommittee asked each of the failed CO-OPs to describe any “planned payments”
on any principal or interest payments on any of their federal CO-OP loans. All
twelve responded that, as of February 2016, there are no planned payments.29

The most up-to-date balance sheets obtained by the Subcommittee confirm
that eight of the failed CO-OPs report multimillion-dollar deficits, excluding their
federal CO-OP loans. In the aggregate, the failed CO-OPs’ currently estimated non-
loan liabilities exceed $1.13 billion—which is 93% greater than their $585 million in

293 Interview with Kevin Counihan, Director, CCIIO (Mar. 1, 2016); Interview with Kelly O’Brien,
CO-0P Division Dir., Ctrs. for Medicare & Medicaid Serv. (Mar. 1, 2016).

29¢ Letter from Kevin Counihan, Director, CCIIO, to State Insurance Commissioners (July 21, 2015).
295 Sarah Ferris, ObamaCare Risk Fund Nearly Depleted, S&P Warns, THE HILL (Nov. 5, 2016),
http://thehill.com/policy/healthcare/259337-0obamacare-risk-fund-nearly-depleted-sp-warns.

296 Dep’t of Health & Human Servs., Cntrs. for Medicare & Medicaid Servs., Risk Corridors Payment
Proration Rate for 2014 (Oct. 1, 2015), https://www.cms.gov/CCIIO/Programs-and-
Initiatives/Premium-Stabilization-
Programs/Downloads/RiskCorridorsPaymentProrationRatefor2014.pdf.

297 CO-OP Resp. to Nov. 23, 2015 PSI Request (on file with Subcommittee).

298 Jof.
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reported assets.29? Their debt to the U.S. government stands at over $1.2 billion.300
Several of the CO-OPs owe substantially more in unpaid medical claims alone than
they hold in assets. The New York CO-OP, for example, estimates that it has
$379.5 million in unpaid claims to doctors, hospitals, and patients, while it registers
only $157 million in assets (including expected 3R receivables).30! Only three failed
CO-OPs report greater assets than non-loan liabilities and those surpluses
represent only a fraction of their federal loans. 302

Below are the best estimates of the CO-OPs’ current deficits or surpluses,
assuming zero repayment of any federal CO-OP loan. Specifically, the
Subcommittee asked each CO-OP to produce their most recent available balance
sheet, and the tables below summarize those documents. “Assets” refers to cash
and investments as well as projected receivables from 2015. “Liabilities” refers to
unpaid medical claims and other liabilities, excluding the CO-OP’s federal start-up
and solvency loans, We estimated current “deficit” or “surplus” by subtracting non-
loan liabilities from assets. On separate lines, each table identifies the current
amounts of solvency and start-up loans owed to the federal government; start-up
loans that were subsequently converted to surplus notes are identified as solvency
loans.

299 The total numbers for labilities, assets, and the percentages do not include the Nevada CO-OP
because it was not able to provide a complete, recent balance sheet.

300 Arizona CO-OP, Balance Sheet (Dec. 31, 2015); Colorado CO-OP, Balance Sheet (Dec. 31, 2015);
Towa CO-OP, Balance Sheet (Jan. 29, 2016); Kentucky CO-OP, Balance Sheet (Jan. 2016); Louisiana
CO-OP, Balance Sheet (Jan. 31, 2016); Michigan CO-OP, Balance Sheet (Dec. 31, 2015); Nevada CO-
OP, Balance Sheet (Dec. 31, 2015); New York CO-OP, Balance Sheet (Dec. 31, 2015); Oregon CO-OP,
Balance Sheet (Jan. 31, 2015); South Carolina CO-OP, Balance Sheet (Jan. 31, 2016); Tennessee CO-
OP, Balance Sheet (Jan. 31, 2016); Utah CO-OP, Balance Sheet (Dec. 31, 2015).

301 New York CO-OP, Statement of Financial Position (Dec. 31, 2015).

302 Oregon CO-OP, Balance Sheet (Jan, 31, 2016); Tennessee CO-OP, Balance Sheet (Jan. 31, 2016);
Utah CO-OP, Balance Sheet (Dec. 31, 2015).
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Total Assets
Subtotal
Liabilities
Deficit $(4.278,661)
Solvency Loan $93,313,233
Source: Dec. 31, 2015 Statement

$27,474,302
$31,752,963

Total Admitted
Assets

Total Liabilities
Deficit $(81,900,647)
Solvency Loan $72,335,129
Source: Dec. 31, 2015 Statement

$48,891,384

$130,792,031

Total Assets
Total Liabilities

$61,567,500

$87,172,375
25.604,875)
Solvency Loan $132,000,000
Start-up Loan $14,700,000
Source: Jan. 29, 2016 Statement

"Total Admitted | $70,507,439
Assets
Total Liabilities $105,573,751
Solvency Loan $124,497,900

Start-up Loan $19,568,223
Source: Jan. 31, 2016 Statement

"Total Assets 34,695,964
Total Current $51,501,925
Liabilities
Solvency Loan $52,614,100
Start-up Loan $13,176,560

Source: January 31, 2016 Statement

Total Assets

$28,483,244

Total Current
Liabilities

Solvency Loan

$30,816,455

371,534,300

Source: Dec. 31, 2015 Statement

Liabilities

Solvency Loan

Total Admitted $157,544,125
Assets
Total Short Term | $547,408,164

£(380.864,039)
$241,366,000

Start-up Loan

$28,600,400

Source: Dec. 31, 2015 Statement

| Net Admitted
Assets

$13,917,872

Total Liabilities

$47,066,188

Total Liabilities
Defi
Solvency Loan

$67,443,408

$620.277.220)
$68,868,408

Start-up Loan

$18,709,800

Source: Jan. 31, 2016 Statement
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Total Liabilities
o

Solvency Loan

$25,082,097

$54,802,000

Start-up Loan

$18,504,700

‘Solvency an

Total Current
Liabilities

L

$43,993,836

&

$79,544,300

Source: Jan. 31, 2016 Statement

Start-up Loan

$10,106,003

Source: Dec. 31, 2015 Statement

The figures above are, by necessity, estimates. The largest liability—unpaid
claims—includes fully processed 2015 claims as well as incurred but unprocessed
2015 claims. The CO-OPs report that they continue to receive some 2015 medical
claims through the first quarter of 2016, and many received claims are still being
processed to determine coverage. Other liabilities depend to some extent on claims
data and could change as well. For examnple, payments owed by insurers under the
federal risk adjustment program will turn on still-incomplete data.

One failed CO-OP—Nevada’s—was unable to provide a complete recent
balance sheet. The CO-OP did, however, provide the Subcommittee with some
currently available figures that suggests a large deficit: $16.75 million in valid
unpaid medical claims, $14.7 million in other liabilities, $60.4 in unadjudicated
medical claims, and only $19 million in cash.3%3 Significantly, this does not include
expected receivables under the risk-sharing programs, and the CO-OP expects the
$60.4 million unadjudicated claims liability to decline.304 But based on this
information, the Nevada CO-OP’s assets will not likely be sufficient to cover its non-
loan liabilities, much less sufficient to repay any significant portion of its federal
solvency and start-up loans.305 Moreover, Nevada has no guaranty fund capable of

covering unpaid medical claims.3%6

Based on currently available information, it is unlikely that the failed CO-
OPs will be able to repay any significant share of their outstanding $1.2 billion in
federal loans. The Subcommittee has repeatedly asked HHS for any projections or

303 PS] Correspondence with Mark F. Bennett, Receiver, Authorized Representative of the Special
Deputy Receiver of the Nevada Health CO-OP (Mar. 4, 2016) (on file with Subcommittee).

304 Id.
305 Id.

306 Nevada CO-OP Resp. to Feb. 19, 2016 PSI Request (on file with Subcommitiee).
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estimates of the prospects for repayment by the failed CO-OPs, and the agency
provided none. Instead, HHS officials responded that it is too early to assess and
stated that the Department of Justice has assumed responsibility for collection on
these unpaid debts.307

2. Doctors and Hospitals Are At Risk Of Not Getting Paid In
Some States, While Guaranty Funds Will Be Hard Hit In
Others.

The American taxpayer is not the only creditor that stands to suffer large
losses due to the failure of the CO-OP program. Based on the most recent balance
sheets provided to the Subcommittee, the failed CO-OPs currently owe an estimated
$742 million to doctors and hospitals for plan year 2015, including incurred
claims.3%8 An insolvent health insurer’s debt to providers takes priority over other
liabilities, so those claims are likely to be the first to be paid out of remaining
assets. But if a CO-OP’s medical claims alone exceed assets, payment to providers
can be in doubt—as detailed below.

Based on their submissions, at least six CO-OPs currently owe more in
medical claims alone than they hold in assets.30® Three of those CO-OPs-—the
Colorado CO-OP, the South Carolina CO-OP, and CoOportunity-—have access to
guaranty associations capable of paying some or all unpaid medical claims.310
Guaranty associations serve as a mechanism to pay covered claims occurring as a
result of an insurer’s insolvency. Associations were created to alleviate these
problems and ensure the stability of the insurance market.31! The Colorado CO-OP
projects that substantially all of its $96.6 million in unpaid medical claims will be
paid by the state’s guaranty fund.?12 Similarly, the South Carolina CO-OP

307 Interview with Kevin Counihan, Dir., CCITIO (Mar. 1, 2016); Interview with Kelly O'Brien, CO-OP
Division Dir., Ctrs. for Medicare & Medicaid Serv. (Mar. 1, 2016).

308 CO-OP Resp. to Feb. 19, 2016 PSI Request {on file with Subcommittee).

309 Specifically, the Kentucky CO-OP reports $70.5 million in assets and $77.46 million in unpaid
medical claims. Kentucky CO-OP, Jan. 2016 Balance Sheet (Jan. 31, 2016). The Louisiana CO-OP
reports $34.4 million in assets and $43.3 million in unpaid medical claims. Louisiana CO-OP, Jan.
2016 Balance Sheet (Jan. 31, 2016). The New York CO-OP reports $157.54 million in assets, $379.5
million in unpaid claims, and $106.9 million in risk adjustment liability. New York CO-OP, Dec.
2015 Balance Sheet (Dec. 31, 2015). The South Carolina CO-OP reports $47 million in assets and
$47.7 million in unpaid claims. South Carolina CO-OP, Jan. 2016 Statement of Assets, Liabilities
and Surplus (Jan. 31, 2016). The Colorado CO-OP reported $48.9 million in assets and $96.6 million
in unpaid claims. Colorado CO-OP, Dec. 2015 Statement of Assets, Liabilities and Surplus (Dec. 31,
2015).

310 Throughout this report, Subcommittee’s references to information provided by a closed CO-OP
refers to information from the CO-OP’s remaining personnel or the CO-OP’s receiver.

311 See Nat. Ass'n.of Insurance Comimissioners, Briefing: Guaranty Associations (Dec. 14, 2015),
http://www.naie.org/cipr_topics/topic_guaranty_associations.htm.

312 PSI Staff Correspondence with Colorado CO-OP on file with Subcommittee.
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estimates that all of its $48 million in unpaid claims will be paid by the state’s
guaranty fund.313

The first CO-OP to close, CoOportunity, reports that $114.1 million of its
unpaid medical claims have now been paid by the Iowa and Nebraska guaranty
associations.3!4 These guaranty fund payments are not, however, a proverbial free
lunch. To the contrary, large obligations charged to guaranty funds mean that,
within those states, “[sJurviving companies—or actually their policy holders—will
pay for the co-ops’ losses, ultimately in the form of higher premiums.”35 In
addition, most states permit the surviving insurers to obtain tax credits for those
payments, so state treasuries (and, in turn, taxpayers) will effectively subsidize
guaranty fund bailouts for some of the CO-OPs.318 Importantly, however, the CO-
OPs that received guaranty fund coverage are required to reimburse the guarantee
funds with the 2015 reinsurance and risk corridor recoveries they receive—which
are currently listed as “assets” on the CO-OP balance sheets—before paying back
any federal loans.7

The other three CO-OPs with serious shortfalls, however, will not be bailed
out by guaranty funds. The New York CO-OP reports that it had $379.5 million in
unpaid medical claims and $157.54 million in assets as of December 31, 2015—a
$222 million shortfall, excluding any other liabilities.318 No portion of that shortfall

318 Id.

314 Specifically, the Jowa guaranty association has paid $37 million to date and the Nebraska
guaranty association has paid $77 million to date. That amount represents all of CoOportunity’s
claims, except for claims that exceeded $500,000/person limits. Those excess claims were settled.
See CoOportunity Resp. to Feb. 19, 2016 PSI Request (on file with Subcommittee). One CO-OP
whose medical claims do not exceed its assets nevertheless project some degree of guaranty fund
coverage. The Michigan CO-OP estimates that $14.3 million in unpaid medical claims will be
covered by a guaranty association. See Michigan CO-OP Resp. to Feb. 19, 2016 PSI Request (on file
with Subcommittee).

315 Grace-Marie Turner & Thomas P. Miller, ObamaCare Co-aps: Cause Célébre or Costly
Conundrum?, AMERICAN ENTERPRISE INSTITUTE & GALEN INSTITUTE 7 (June 29, 2015),
http:/fwww.galen.org/assets/ObamaCare-Co-ops.pdf. “For 2015, the Nebraska Guaranty Association
assessed commercial carriers the highest amount allowed by law to pay outstanding claims for
CoOportunity members. ‘Under each state’s guaranty fund association laws, $170 million of
CoOportunity Health's policyholder health claims are, in part, now funded and paid out of
proportional assessments levied on each of the insurance company members of the respective
guaranty associations,” health law attorney William Schiffbauer writes. ‘The size of the unpaid
claims necessitated the association to secure a line of credit from a commercial bank with additional
guarantees.” Id.

316 Nat. Org. of Life & Health Ins, Guaranty Ass'ns, State Laws and Provisions Report (Oct. 12,
2015), https://www.nolhga.com/factsandfigures/main.cfm/location/lawdetail/docid/9.

317 See CoOportunity Resp. to Feb. 19, 2016 PSI Request (on file with Subcommittee).

318 New York CO-OP, Statement of Financial Performance (Dec. 31, 2015).
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will be covered by New York’s guaranty fund.3?® Most of the New York CO-OP’s
unpaid claims are owed to doctors and hospitals, and a non-negligible share—
$373,000 as of January 31, 2016—is owed directly to patients.?2? Similarly, the
Louisiana CO-OP reports $34.4 million in assets and $43.3 million in unpaid
medical claims as of January 31, 2016, and none of that $9 million shortfall will be
covered by a guaranty fund.?2! The same is true of the $7 million shortfall on the
Kentucky CO-OP’s January 2016 balance sheet, which shows $77.5 million in
unpaid claims and only $70.5 million in assets.322 If these claims estimates hold or
grow, a significant number of doctors, hospitals, and individual enrollees stand to
shoulder part of the financial burden of the CO-OPs’ collapse.323

Finally, it is important to note that, in 2015, HHS permitted at least four of
the failed CO-OPs—the Arizona CO-OP, Michigan CO-OP, Colorado CO-OP, and
Oregon CO-OP—to convert their combined $65 million in start-up loans to surplus
notes.32¢ According to HHS, this action allowed to the CO-OPs to “record those
[start-up] loans as assets in financial filings with regulators”325—an accounting
anomaly. As a consequence, those start-up loans are now subordinated below all
other liabilities—on par with solvency loans—meaning that they are last in the
priority of creditor repayment.326 HHS told the Subcommittee that it estimated the
likely loss to the Treasury from CO-OP start-up loan conversions, 3?7 but it has thus
far failed to provide that estimate to the Subcommittee.

319 Interview with Kevin Counihan, Dir., CCIIO (Mar. 1, 2016); Interview with Kelly O'Brien, CO-OP
Division Dir., Ctrs. for Medicare & Medicaid Serv. (Mar. 1, 2016).

320 New York CO-OP Resp. to Feb. 19, 2016 PSI Request (on file with Subcommittee).

321 Touisiana CO-OP SAP Balance Sheet (Jan. 31, 2016); Louisiana CO-OP Resp. to Feb. 19, 2016
PSI Request (on file with Subcommittee).

322 Kentucky CO-OP Balance Sheet (Jan. 2016); Kentucky CO-OP Resp. to Feb. 19, 2016 PSI Request
(on file with Subcommittee).

323 The Nevada CO-OP, Oregon CQ-OP, Tennessee CO-OP, and Utah CO-OP told the Subcommittee
that they do not expect any unpaid medical claims to be covered by a guaranty association. The
Arizona Department of Insurance informed the Subcommittee that only $6.8 million of the Arizona
CO-OP’s estimated $21.8 million in unpaid claims is eligible for coverage by a guarantee fund.
Arizona Department of Insurance CO-OP Resp. to Feb. 19, 2016 PSI Request (on file with
Subcommittee).

324 Review of Obamacare Consumer Operated and Oriented Plans (Co-Ops): Hearing Before the
Subcommittee on Health Care, Benefits, and Administrative Rules, 114% Cong. (Feb. 25, 2016)
(statement of Dr. Mandy Cohen MD, MPH, Chief Operating Officer and Chief of Staff, Ctrs. for
Medicare and Medicaid Servs.).

325 Mem. from Kelly O’Brien, CO-OP Division Director, to CO-OP Project Officers (July 9, 2015),
http:/lcagw.org/sites/default/files/usersfuser98/Converting%20Start-
up%20Loans%20t0%20Surplus¥%20Notes%20Guidance%207-9-15%20final.pdf.

326 Interview with Kelly O’Brien, CO-OP Division Dir., Ctrs. for Medicare & Medicaid Serv. (Mar 1,
2016).

327 I,
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IV. MISCONCEPTIONS CONCERNING THE CO-OP PROGRAM

A. HHS Data Indicates That The Failed CO-OPs Had, On Average,
Healthier Enrollees Than Average Health Insurers In Their
States.

HHS officials and others have suggested that adverse selection—that is,
attracting enrollees with above-average health risks—played a role in the financial
difficulties of the CO-OPs.328 But the agency’s own data from the risk adjustment
program indicates otherwise. The risk adjustment program redistributes money
from insurers with healthier enrollees (those with lower than average actuarial
risk) to insurers with less healthy enrollees (those with higher than average
actuarial risk).32% The basic aim is to offset the cost impact of adverse selection so
no single insurer in a state bears the burden.

Interestingly, however, the failed CO-OPs as a group were net payors of risk
adjustment charges—with combined 2014 liabilities of $116 million.33° Under
HHS’s formula, this indicates that the failed CO-OPs as a class enrolled healthier
people—enrollees with lower risk—than the average health insurer in their states
for each market segment.

Risk Adjustment Transfers—2014 Benefit Year

CO-OP Risk Adjustment (Combined
Individual and Small Market)
Louisiana Health -$7,493.608.15
Cooperative
Nevada Health Co-Op -$3,629,890.49
CoOpportunity Health .
(NE) -$6,466,848.45
CoOpportunity Health (IA) $4,142,837.12
Health Republic Insurance
of New York -$80,235,543.57

328 See Review of Obamacare Consumer Operated and Oriented Plans (Co-Ops). Hearing Before the
Subcommittee on Health Care, Benefits, and Administrative Rules, 114t Cong. (Feb. 25, 2016).

329 See Angela Boothe & Brittany La Couture, The ACA’s Risk Spreading Mechanisms: A Primer on
Reinsurance, Risk Corridors and Risk Adjustment, AMERICAN ACTION FORUM (Jan. 9, 2015).
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Michigan Consumer’s

Healthcare CO-QP -$1,130,276.61

Consumers Choice Health

-$6,257,753.43
Insurance Co. (SC) $6,257,7

Kentucky H'ealth $7,878,488.98
Cooperative
Community Health
Alliance Mutual Insurance -$117,298.98
(TN)
Health Republic Insurance $1,251,545.14
of Oregon
Colorado Health‘ $4,491,378.92
Insurance Cooperative
Meritus Mutual Health
(A7) $788,761.50
Meritus Health Partners
(AZ) $2,044,412.81

Arches Mutual Insurance

Company (UT) -$4,144,806.27

Total -$116,121,427.56
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B. Congressional Budget Cuts Prevented The Creation Of New CO-
OPs And Limited Losses To The Taxpayer.

HHS officials have suggested publicly that a series of budget cuts to the
CO-OP program—passed by Congress, and signed by President Obama—
contributed to the collapse of the 12 failed CO-OPs. For example, Mandy Cohen,
CMS’s Chief Operating Officer, said that Congress itself also played a role in the
CO-0P’s failures because of these budget cuts.33! All available evidence collected by
the Subcommittee indicates otherwise. Cuts to the CO-OP program budget clearly
prevented the launch of additional CO-OPs, including up to 40 complete
applications that were summarily disapproved due to lack of funds.332 But the
failed CO-OPs received every dollar promised to them in their loan agreement and
more.

More importantly, most of the budget cuts at issue took place well before
HHS ever even approved the first round of CO-OP applications. The Affordable
Care Act appropriated $6 billion for the CO-OP program. The largest budget cut
came in April 2011, when Congress passed and President Obama signed a
continuing resolution that rescinded $2.2 billion from the program.333 Eight months
later, in December 2011, Congress passed the 2012 omnibus appropriations act that
rescinded an additional $400 million.33¢ HHS was well aware of those funding
reductions before it started approving applications in February 2012.3% Finally, in
January 2013, the American Tax Payer Relief Act of 2012 rescinded $2.3 billion in
unobligated CO-OP appropriations.336

Disbursement schedules provided by the failed CO-OPs confirm that these
budget cuts did not deprive them of a single dollar awarded to them. In fact, most
of the failed CO-OPs received more than they had even requested to begin their

331 Robert Pear, Failed Co-ops Add Ammunition to G.0.P. War on Health Law, N. Y. TIMES (Nov, 3,
2015), http://www.nytimes.com/2015/11/04/us/politics/failed-co-ops-add-ammunition-to-gop-war-on-
health-law.html?emc=edit_tnt_20151103&nlid=58462464&tntemailO=y& _r=1.

332 Jerry Markon, Health co-ops, created to foster competition and lower insurance costs, are facing
danger, WASH. POST (Oct, 22, 2013) (“The last-minute cut eliminated the remaining co-op funding,
leaving only a small contingency fund, and prevented the administration from lending additional
money. Applications from more than 40 proposed co-ops were junked.”),
https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/health-co-ops-created-to-foster-competition-and-lower-
insurance-costs-are-facing-danger/2013/10/22/e1c961fe-3809-11e3-ae46-e4248e75c8ea_story.html.
333 Pub. L. No. 112~10, 125 Stat. 38 (April 15, 2011).

334 Pub, L. No. 112-74, 125 Stat. 786 (Dec. 23, 2011).

335 Dep’t of Health & Human Servs., Ctr. for Consumer Info. & Ins. Oversight, Consumer Operated
and Oriented Plan [CO-OP] Program Amended Announcement Invitation to Apply, Loan Funding
Opportunity No.: 00-C00-11-001, CFDA; 93.545 (Dec. 9, 2011).

336 Pub. L. No, 112-240, 126 Stat. 2313, 2362 (Jan. 2, 2013).
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operations—and many on an accelerated basis. Four received a total of $33.6
million more in start-up loans than they requested in their business plans.337 In
addition, according to information provided by the CO-OPs, HHS ultimately
awarded at least $324 million more in solvency loans than the failed CO-OPs
requested in their loan applications.338 In short, the failed CO-OPs actually
received at least $350 million dollars more than they requested in their 2011 loan
applications, based on 10-year business plans.339

The primary consequence of the budget cuts was to prevent HHS from
launching additional CO-OPs—and thus to limit future losses to the taxpayer. The
Affordable Care Act specifically required HHS to “ensure that there is sufficient
funding to establish at least 1 qualified nonprofit health insurance issuer in each
State.”340 Consequently, even if subsequent appropriations laws had not reduced
the program’s budget, HHS would not have been permitted to freely allocate
additional loans to the existing 23 CO-OPs as needed. Instead, the ACA required
the agency to conserve its CO-OP loan resources to ensure it would have sufficient
funds to create still more CO-OPs in the remaining states. Given the failure rate
and costs of this program to date, it is probably for the best that Congress conserved
those resources itself.

337 Appendix C.

338 Id

339 Id.

340 42 U.S.C. § 18042(b)(2XA)i1).

59



140

United States Senate
PERMANENT SUBCOMMITTEE ON INVESTIGATIONS

Committee on Homeland Security and Governmental Affairs

Rob Portman, Chairman

Failure of the Affordable Care Act
Health Insurance CO-OPs

HEARING EXHIBITS

PERMANENT SUBCOMMITTEE ON
INVESTIGATIONS

UNITED STATES SENATE

March 10, 2016



141

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DELOITTE EVALUATION OF ADDITIONAL SOLVENCY
LOAN NEW YORK CO-OP 07/18/2014

App. 00000001

DELOITTE EVALUATION OF ADDITIONAL SOLVENCY LOAN
II NEW YORK CO-OP 10/24/2014

App. 00000017

DELOITTE EVALAUTION OF ADDITIONAL SOLVENCY LOAN
IOWA CO-OP 07/18/2014

App. 00000034

DELOITTE EVALAUTION OF ADDITIONAL SOLVENCY LOAN
II IOWA CO-OP 10/24/2014

App. 00000050

DELOITTE EVALAUTION OF ADDITIONAL SOLVENCY LOAN
FOR KENTUCKY CO-OP 10/09/2014

App. 00000067




142

CENTERS FOR MEDICARE & MEICAID SERVIEES.

Freelancers Health Service Corporation,
d/b/a Health Republic insurance of New York

Additional Solvency Loan Funding Request
Date Submitted to CMS: 7/18/2014

Scope Summary & Assumptions:

» Deloitte will not provide an opinion regarding the reasonableness of the proposed changes to each CO-OP’s
business plan. Nor will Deloitte provide an opinion regarding the fikelihood of each CO-OP achieving sustainable
operations based upon the revised business pian.

» Deloitte assumes that the information provided by each CO-OP in its modified business plan is complete and
accurate. Deloitte will perform its assessment of the data provided “as is”, Deloitte will also use other data
sources that are publicly accessible or information provided directly from the Centers for Medicare and
Medicaid Services {CMS). Deloitte will notify CMS if we believe that there is insufficient information to complete
our review,

s The impact of the Reinsurance, Risk Adjustment and Risk Corridors Program (the 3Rs, reinsurance, risk
adjustment, and/or risk corridors} was reviewed when making observations and comments throughout this
report. Observations and comments relating to the impact of the 3Rs are included for informational purposes
only. There was no consideration of the reasonableness or propriety of any of the amounts relating to the 3Rs.
Based on the scoring criteria provided by CMS, observations and comments refating to the 3Rs had a net neutral
effect on the scoring.

s In reviewing applications from CO-OPs for additional solvency loan funding requests, Deloitte reviewed
supporting documentation requested of the applicants by CMS in a memo to the CO-OPs distributed on Aprit 30,
2014. The format of the reports, as well as the section scoring, was approved by CMS during the week of june 2,
2014. The score for the Contingency Plan section should be viewed independently of scoring for the other
sections of this report. For all sections, Deloitte provided comments on issues only for which the applicant
provided data. Observations relating to the pro forma financial statements are based on the base case with
additional solvency award scenario, unless otherwise noted,

Executive Summary:

Freelancers Health Service Corporation d/b/a Health Republic Insurance of New York {HRINY or applicant or CO-OP) has
submitted a request to CMS for $90.7M in additional solvency loan funding. HRINY has exceeded enroiiment projections
in the originai funding application, which the CO-OP attributes to underpriced premiums and statewide network
availability. As a result of higher than expected enroliment, HRINY is projecting a combined ratio of 102.2% for 2014,
99.6% in 2015, and 97.5% in 2016, including the impact of the 3Rs and excluding Affordable Care Act {ACA} adjustments.
Excluding the impact of the 3Rs and the ACA adjustments, the combined ratio for these years is 115.3%, 102.4%, and
98.9%, respectively. ACA adjustments inctude such items as quality improvement expenses and taxes/fees. including the
impact of the 3Rs only, HRINY is projecting a loss in 2014, but expects to be profitable in 2015 and 2016. Without the
3Rs, the CO-OP is projecting losses of $68.2M and $23.1M for 2014 and 201S, respectively, and expects to become
profitable in 2016. The CO-OP intends to correct losses to achieve profitability by increasing premium rates, improving
medical management, and reducing administrative costs. HRINY stated in the application that it is requesting additional
solvency loan funding in order to meet the New York Department of Insurance state specific requirement for reserves of

App. 0000001
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12.5% of net premium income. if HRINY does not receive the requested solvency loan funding, it may identify outside
financing or scale down operations in order to meet solvency requirements. However, HRINY still projects that it will be

able to repay both the start-up and current solvency loan funding in this scenario.

HRINY was originally awarded $150.7M in solvency loan funding, of which $48.4M has been disbursed. HRINY projects
an additional $70M disbursement from the current obligated solvency loan funding in 2014, Based on discussions with
CMS, Deloitte confirmed that CMS has chosen to fund HRINY based on state solvency requirements rather than an risk
based capital {RBC) fevel of 500% of authorized control level (ACL) normally recommended by CMS. The amount of
funding required to meet the recommended RBC level of 500% of ACL is greater than the amount required for reserves

of 12.5% of net premium income. See further details in the CO-OP Financials section.

Critical Assertions:

1. Enroliment:

Based on HRINY’s most recent enrofiment projections submitted in June 2014, overall enroliment for 2014 is
expected to be 251% more than projections inciuded in the origina} application®. While the projected growth rate is
expected to slow in subsequent years, the most recent projections for 2015 and 2016 are 319% and 339% more than
original projections, respectively. New York operates on a State-based Marketplace (Marketplace).

Figure 1: Projected Enroliments are up Compared to Original {2011} Projections for 2014-2016

The breakout of enrollment by business
segment {individual, smali group, large group} or
method of enroliment {Marketplace vs. off
Marketplace) was not provided in any of the pro
forma financial statements {pro formas)
submitted. However, this detail was provided in
the business plan submitted with the request
for additional solvency loan funding. According
to the business plan, the 2011 feasibility study
projected 28,102 members from the individual
market and 2,762 members from the small
group market {SHOP}. In addition, the business
plan states that as of May 2014, 81,000
members were enrolled from the individual
market, and 38,000 members were enroiled
from the small group market {pg. 4}. However, because this breakout was not reflected in the pro formas, it cannot
be determined if the CO-OP will have two-thirds of its enroiiment from the Marketplace in 2016, as required by Title
45, Code of Federal Regulations {CFR} §156.515{c}{1} and {d} related to the requirements of CO-OPs pursuant to the
Affordable Care Act {ACA).

Source: Applicant’s 2011 Original Application; 4/10/2014 and 6/17/2014 Pro Formas

Additionally, there are variances between the enroliment projections provided to CMS in the 4/30/2014 pro formas
and the pro formas provided with the request for additional solvency loan funding. For example, for 2014, the
4/30/2014 pro formas projected 98,876 average enrollees, whereas the 6/1/2014 pro formas project 108,311
enrollees. The applicant does not provide a reason for this difference in the application,

Documentation for Change in Enrollment Projections

* Al references to “original” — including, but not limited to, “originat funding appication”, “original appication”, and “original
projections” —refer to HRINY’s 2011 application for CMS start-up and solvency loan funding , operations commencing in 2014,
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The applicant expects that its pricing advantage, product offerings, and state-wide presence will allow it to achieve
its enrollment goals for the foreseeable future, as described in Table 1 below {P. 87). According to the applicant,
HRINY premiums were significantly lower than market rates in 2014, HRINY has concerns that given the unexpected
growth rate to date, it will not be able to “maintain financial sustainability and market competitiveness” without
raising premiums in 2015 by approximately 15% {P. 9). Please refer to the Product Pricing section for further details.

HRINY is requested additional funding due to increases in projected enroliment {P. 89). Based on discussions with
CMS, HRINY is being funded based on the state-specific solvency requirements rather than the normally
recommended threshold of 500% of ACL. Additional details on this issue can be found in the CO-OP Financials

section.

Table 1: Documentation for Change in Enrollment Projections

HRINY Justification

Reason Cited by
HRINY for Higher . 3
than Projected HRINY Proposed Action
Enroliment
Underpriced 1. Raise Premium Rates
Premiums for 2015. HRINY

projects having to raise
average individual
premium rates by
15.2% and average
small group rates by 6%
in 2015 in order to
maintain financial
sustainability and
market competitiveness
moving forward.

HRINY provided an actuarial analysis prepared by Milliman, the
external actuary for the CO-OP, which provides details on the
proposed adjustment to HRINY’s 2014 pricing and market
position analysis.

According to HRINY, these price increases are necessary in
order to “maintain financial sustainability and market
competitiveness in 2014 to 2015" (P. 9). The applicant
contends that even with these price increases, HRINY will
remain competitive enough to achieve its projected enroliment
numbers due in part to “other plans increasing [its] rates to
cover medical cost trend and changes in federal reinsurance”
{P. 4). The actuarial support for the application did not inciude
estimates of the sensitivities of demand to prices.

HRINY states that, despite these price changes, it intends “to
maintain [its] current price position in most of its regions and
will increase [its] premiums to sustainably reduce the gap
between {its] plans and those offered by the next lowest-priced
carrier {based on the fune 13, 2014 rate filings}.” The applicant
contends that “this price change is especially important for
achieving sustainability in regions where HRINY is priced more
than 15% below the next lowest priced health insurer” {P, 7).

Geographic 2. Achieve state-wide
Availability availability. HRINY
intends to move into
the remaining 30 New
York counties in which
it does not currently
serve.

HRINY currently covers 32 of the state’s 62 counties. These 32
counties are home to 92% of the New York’s population and
include complete coverage in Downstate New York, which
includes the Hudson Vailey {P. 7).

in 2015, HRINY intends to 2add the POMCO provider network in
the Upstate New York region as a complement to MagnaCare’s
Downstate network. According to HRINY, it will be able to
reach residents in the 30 counties it does not currently cover
by partnering with POMCO, which has a more comprehensive
provider network in the Upstate New York region (P. 11). The
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HRINY lustification

applicant did not provide any information about the
competitive landscape in these 30 counties. In addition, no
premium information was provided in the 2015 rate filing for
these 30 additional counties. Please refer to the Product Pricing
section for additional information.

increase
Product/network
Offerings

increase the number of
products offered and
increase network
offerings. HRINY
intends to offer two
new products, one
targeting the individual
market, and one
targeting the small
group market.
Additionally, HRINY
intends to compete in
the large group market.

in 2015, HRINY intends to offer two new product lines in
addition to its current three {Primary Select EPO, Primary
Select, and Essential Care).

The first of the two new offerings is the Active Living Line,
which, according to HRINY, will target the individual market
exclusively. HRINY stated that as HRINY's lowest priced
product, the Active Living line will be marketed to a younger,
healthier demographic as a “lean package” with a higher
deductible than HRINY's other offerings. According to the
applicant, “Active Living was filed as a statewide product, but
may be deployed in more limited test markets based on
feedback from the state and other market analyses” (P. 13).

The second new offering is the All Access Line, available to all
small group customers regardiess of whether or not they’re on
the SHOP Marketplace. The key distinction between the Al
Access offering and HRINY's existing lines is its out-of-network
option. According to the applicant, “there is a significant
demand for access to physicians (both in- and out-of-network}
from a niche group of customers.” HRINY created this option as
a way to attract small group customers that want “more
competition in the out-of-network product space” {P. 13). No
additional comments are available describing the specifics of
this praduct’s out-of-network options.

in addition to these new products, HRINY intends to move into
the large group market starting in 2015. According to the
applicant, “this expansion will diversify its business and provide
greater access to affordable, high-quality healthcare for
employers and their employees” (P. 6}. HRINY projects
enroilment of 4,500 in 2015 and 18,000 in 2016 from farge
group (P. 22). The applicant provided no substantiation as to
why it expects to see this increase in its large group
membership from 2015 to 2016.

This expansion will focus on companies in the 51-100 range in
anticipation of the redefinition of smail group in 2016. This will
result in HRINY being in the large group market for only 2015.
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Enroliment
increase in Sales
and Marketing

b

Continue to develop
and distribute
communications and
advertisements to key
audiences. HRINY wiil
continue to develop
targeted
communications in the
form of member
satisfaction surveys,
member advisory
discussion groups, and
advertising, as weil as
engage in market
research going into
2015.

To gain an increased understanding of the needs of its
customers, HRINY stated that it will engage in continued
marketing efforts going into 2015. One such effort includes
continued use of member satisfaction surveys aimed at gauging
“member satisfaction strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and
needs.” By understanding the desires of its members, HRINY
may be in a position to adapt and retain some customers,
despite increased premiums in 2015 (P. 36). HRIC conducted a
member satisfaction survey in 2014; out of the applicant’s
119,000 current members in 2014, 396 enrollees responded to
the survey. It is unclear why this group would be taken as a
representative sample of the total membership’s sentiments,

Another marketing effort is the applicant’s Member Advisory
Discussion Groups. These are quarterly sessions where current
members are able to provide input on the plan’s past
performance and future plans. According to the application,
“Outputs from the sessions will be shared both internally and
externally as appropriate, starting second quarter 2015” {P.
36}

Additionally, in an effort to target new customers, HRINY plans
to partner with an advertising agency “to develop and execute
targeted campaigns focused on building brand awareness and
supporting open enroliment initiatives in key markets.” This
partnership will begin in the summer of 2014 with the
advertising campaigns set to start during the year's fourth
quarter {P. 36}.

HRINY does not provide a budget detailing how much it intends
to spend on these marketing efforts, nor do the pro formas
provide any insight into marketing expenses. Additionally, the
application provides no information on the applicant’s efforts
to obtain private funds.

Summary of Observations:

s increased enroiiment projections from original application. Although HRINY plans to increase premium rates
starting in 2015, the applicant is still projecting to outperform enrofiment projections in both its initial
application and its 4/30/2014 pro formas. HRINY's original application pro formas projected 30,864 enrollees in
2014 and 50,535 enrollees in 2015. Per HRINY's most recent pro formas, to date, the applicant has already
enrolled 119,000 enroltees and projects 211,818 enrollees for 2015,

« increased premiums planned for 2015. In order to “maintain financial sustainability and market
competitiveness” the applicant intends to raise premium rates to become more in line with its competitors in
the market (P. 9}. Pending approval, individual and small group premiums will increase by 15.2% and 6% in 2015,
respectively.
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Plans for new products and state-wide availability. In order to achieve increased enroliment projections in the
face of rising premium rates, HRINY plans to increase enroliment by offering two new product lines, and
expanding into the state’s remaining 30 counties. The new lines include the All Access line, a small group
product offering out-of-network care, and the Active Living line, a iess expensive product available exciusively
for the individual market marketed to young and heaithy customers. Additionatly, HRINY will be moving into the
large group market in 2015 in anticipation of the 2016 redefinition of “small group”. HRINY projects enroliment
of 4,500 in 2015 and 18,000 in 2016 from the large group market.

Insufficient quantification of business plan’s impact. While HRINY does lay out a strategy for maintaining
enroliment numbers and market competitiveness, it does not quantify the impact this business strategy will
have on enroliment projections and financial sustainability. Additionally, the plan to raise premiums is only
substantiated in HRINY's assertion that, “HRINY conducted an in-depth investigation of its 2014 actuarial
assumptions and their impact on 2014 pricing, as well as extensive research on trends and data for 2015”, but
no concrete data was provided from the study in the business plan or the Milliman feasibility study.

Support for marketing funds not provided: The applicant did not specify how its partnership with an advertising
agency, detailed in the marketing strategy, will be funded. Since solvency loan funds cannot be used for
marketing purposes, the applicant may need to acquire outside funds to realize this portion of its marketing
strategy.

Breakout of on and off Marketplace enroliment not provided in the pro formas. it cannot be determined if the
CO-0P will have two-thirds of its enroliment from the Marketplace in 2016, as required by Title 45, Code of
Federal Regulations {CFR} §156.515{c){1) and {d} related to the requirements of CO-OPs pursuant to the
Affordable Care Act {ACA).

Product Pricing:

HRINY’s 2014 enroliment was higher than anticipated due to its rates being among the lowest in most products
and markets across the state. Also, fewer pians have been offering small group health insurance coverage.
Emblem Health {a competing New York insurer) terminated all small group plans with Health Pass, a commercial
health insurance exchange that has been operational since 1999 in New York {P. 8}. After Emblem Health
terminated these plans, many smali businesses had to find coverage and enrolled with HRINY. However, no
further information was provided on how many enroilees were previously enrolied through Health Pass.

The CO-OP plans increase its premiums, if approved, in 201S by 15.2% for individual and 6% for small group
products {P. 5). HRINY wants to hold its current price position in most of the regions and expects to reduce the
gap between the next closest competitor by increasing premium rates. According to the applicant, these
premium increases are especially important for achieving sustainability in regions where the next closest
competitor's premiums are higher by 15% or more {P. 73}. The CO-OP anticipates that the competitors wiif also
be increasing their premiums to account for medical cost trend and changes in federal reinsurance and
therefore, HRINY's products will still be competitive with these planned increases in premiums {P. 70}. HRINY
projects to achieve profitability beginning in 2015 and is profitable throughout the whole performance period,
with the exception of the period 2018-2022, if projections are realized. In addition, the RBC level is below the
normally recommended S00% of ACL by CMS5. The amount of funding necessary to reach an RBC level of 500% of
ACL is greater than the amount needed to reach the New York Department of Insurance requirement for
reserves, 12,5% of net premium income. Per discussions with CM5, the CO-OP is currently funded at 12.5% of
net premium income. Piease refer to the CO-OP Financials section for further discussion.

The actual adjustments attributing to the total rate increase of 15.2% for individual and 6% for smali group are
not provided; however, the drivers of the rate increase are listed {P. 373 and 574). They are inclusive of, but not
limited to, the following:

* Anticipated changes to demographics based on state average ACA Marketplace enroliment published to
date
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Anticipated changes to medical inflation and increased utilization

Changes in taxes, fees, and administrative expenses

Changes to benefit and payment parameters of the federal transitional reinsurance program
Changes to provider network contracting

Table 2 provides a comparison of the premiums for the CO-OP versus the competitors in each of the areas the
CO-OP has a presence. Highlighted areas denote the lowest premium for the particular region. HRINY is the
lowest cost plan in many areas of New York which resulted in 20% market share in the individual market on the
Marketplace.?

Table 2: Premiums on the 2014 New York Marketplace for individual market by Rating Region/Area

nsurer

ONJOFE
Karketpiace

Metal/
THer

Freelancers QN/OFF Platinum
New York
Fidelis ON Platinum 506,02 500.18 510.27 577.18 501.78 50496 499,12 532,57
Oxford HMO QFF Platinum 965.24 965,24 965.24
United ON Platinum
Freelancers ON/OFF Gold
New York
Fidetlis ON Gold 418.82 413.99 422.34 477.71 417.94 41311
Oxford HMO QOFF Gold 817.98 817.98
United ON Gold 749.13 749.13
T
Freelancers ON/OFF Silver 43
New York
Fidelis ON Silver 342.05 33811 344,93
Oxford HMO OFF Silver 691.69 691.69 691.69
United ON Silver 635.60 635.60 635.60
v 5 5
Freelancers ON/OFF Bronze X 5 o
New York
Fidetis ON Bronze 267.20 272.59 268.05 269.75 3
Oxford HMO OFF Bronze 589.91 589.91 589.91
United ON Bronze 548.06 548.06 548,06
Catastro : - e
Freelancers ON/QFF phic
New York Catastra k
Fidelis ON phic 166.46 164.54 165.06 166.11 164.19
Catastro
Oxford HMO OFF phic
Catastro
United ON phic 334.94 334.94 334.94

Mid New
Hudson York

Long
Istand

Albany Butfalo Ruchester . Syracuse Utica

Table 3 provides a comparison for the premiums for the CO-OP versus the competitors in each of the areas the
CO-OP has a presence in the small group market. Highlighted areas denote the lowest premium for the

particular region.

? Data Source for Tables 1 and 2: http://www.dfs.ny.gov/about/press2013/pr1307171_heaith_rates_2014.pdf
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Table 3: Premiums on the 2014 New York Marketplace for smali group market by Rating Region/Area

ONJOEE Metal/ : . Mid G . o Long
insurer Marketplace S Albany - Buffaly o New York  Rochester Syracuse Litica o
Freelancers ~ ON/OFF PLATINUM R A%
MVP
Services OFF PLATINUM 53571 593.73 602.68 767.86 448.10 582.03 546.32 690.84
MVPHP-
HMO ON/OFF PLATINUM 539.61 446.29 607.05 773.42 451.35 586.25 550.28
Oxford HMO  OFF PLATINUM 733.00 733.00 733.00
Oxford OHi ON/OFF PLATINUM 774.73 774.73 774.73
United OFF PLATINUM
Freelancers ~ ON/OFF GOLD
MVP
Services OFF GOLD 447.88  496.39 503.87 641.96 374.63 486.60 456.75 577.58
MVPHP-
HMO ON/OFF GOLD 458.22  378.99 515.49 656.78 383.29 497.85 467.30
Oxford HMO  OFF GOLD 632,80 632,80 632.80
Oxford OHI ON/OFF GOLD 656.70 656.70 656.70
United OFF GOLD. 693.74 568.84 742.34 635.93 59117 589.07 605.37
T SR A
Freelancers  ON/OFF SKVER ¢ &
MVP
Services OFF SILVER 363.15 402.48 408.55 520.52 303.76 394.55 37034 468.32
MVPHP-
HMO ON/OFF SILVER 381.31 31538 428.99 546.56 318.36 414.28 388.86
Oxford HMO ~ OFF SILVER
Oxford OH  ON/OFF SHVER 555.48 555.48 555.48
United QFF SHVER 596,18 48884 637.94 546.50 528.52 506.23  509.57
: : s T By
Freelancers ~ ON/OFF BRONZE . Zis .
MvP
Services OFF BRONZE 303.72 33660 341.67 435.32 254.04 329.97 309.72 39166
MVPHP-
HMO ON/OFF BRONZE 294.63 243.69 33146 422.31 246,44 32010 30047
Oxford HMO  OFF BRONZE
Oxford OHI ON/OFF BRONZE 47391 47391 473.91
United OFF BRONZE
Summary of Observations:
e The CO-OP is expecting large enroll growth based on 2015 pricing as compared to the

competition. The CO-OP believes that the Marketplace in New York is one of the most competitive
Marketplaces in the nation. There are 17 carriers who have filed individual products on the Marketplace
for the 2014 open enroliment period. According to the CO-OP, a majority of the competition is focused
in the southern part of the state where the enroliment is expected to be the highest and also expects it
to grow substantially for the individual products. The CO-OP estimates 2014 enrollment for individual
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products on the Marketplace to increase by 56% in 2015 and then by 16% in 2016 {P. 73). Additionally,
HRINY is offering a wider variety of products in 2015 than in 2014.

* 2015 premiums will increase compared with the 2014 premiums, pending approval by the New York
Department of insurance. According to the applicant’s estimate, 2014 enroliment was much higher than
anticipated due to its rates being the lowest in many areas of New York which resulted in 20% of the
Marketplace share in the individual market. The applicant believes that a member survey showed a
“deep resonance with the member-led, not-for-profit model” {P. 8}. However, survey responses were
received from only 396 of the 100,000 plus members {P. 74). The CO-OP plans for increases in 2015 of
15.2% for individual and 6% for smali group products {P. 373) out of which 5% is attributable to trend
(P.378 and P.447).

* Potential expansion of target market in 2015, The CO-OP is considering including 30 new counties in its
Upstate New York coverage area for 2015 {P. 78}. No information was provided on the competitors in
the 30 additional counties. The CO-OP plans to expand its coverage to mid/large group market but keep
a focus on employers with 51-100 employees as it transitions to the smali group market in 2016 (P. 88).
There appears to be no information relating to the expansion in the 2015 rate fiting provided with the
application.

s The 2015 individuai and small group rate filings includes a breakdown of taxes and fees which does
not include an estimate for the health insurer fee. Milliman published a research report titled “ ACA
Health Insurer Fee — Estimated Impact of the US health insurance industry” dated Aprit 2013, which
states the 2014 health insurer fee estimate is 1.7% to 2.4% and increases to 2% to 2.9%. Since HRINY is a
501c {29) not-for-profit entity, the insurer fee estimate would be lower than the industry average.
HRINY includes an estimate for Marketplace fees associated with seiling plans on the Marketplace. The
CO-0OP assumed 0.44% of premiums for this fee. However, the applicant stated that the Marketplace
fees are eliminated for 2014 and 2015 and this fee was “not built into the rates per New York
instructions” {P. 91 and 210}. No supporting documentation as provided to verify this statement.

« HRINY is projecting a $10,7M loss in 2014 and established a premium deficiency reserve {PDR} of
$5.2M in 2013. it is unclear how the CO-OP determined the PDR, as a detailed anatlysis was not
provided. Additionaily, the stress test scenario shows a PDR of $87M for 2014. it is unclear how the
$87M is determined differently from the $5.2M in the base case. Supporting documentation of the
analysis was not provided.

Medical Costs and Losses:

HRINY projects combined medica! loss ratios {MLR)} for ACA purposes of 84.3%, 87.8%, and 86.9% for years 2014,
2015 and 2016, respectively, which includes the impact of the ACA and the 3Rs. This includes individual, small
group and large group business. The large group minimum loss ratio is 85% while individual and small group are
80%. Taking into account the receivables for reinsurance relating to the 3Rs, the 2014 projected individual MLR,
excluding the impact of projected ACA adjustments, is 101% and is expected to decrease to 89% in 2015, 86% in
2016, and 84% in 2017 based on a plan to fix the mispricing of 2014 and greater claims cost efficiencies. For
small group business, the MLR will remain near 80% throughout the performance period. According to the
applicant, combined with greater administrative efficiencies, these efforts are projected to bring HRINY’s profit
margin to 2.8% of premiums by 2017. The 3R receivables are difficult to estimate and may create issues if relied
upon to generate a profit. Inciuding the $64M in receivables for risk corridors and reinsurance for 2014 would
result in a $10.7M loss and resuit in an MLR of 79% for ali products combined, excluding any adjustments for the
ACA. Removing the estimated $64M in receivables would result in a $75M loss and raise the MLR, excluding any
adjustments for the ACA, for all products combined to 91%. Based on the cafcuiation of the risk corridors, it
would be difficult to quantify a receivable without fully understanding the calendar year experience.

Based on a review of the 3/31/2014 regulatory filing, the combined medical loss ratio is approximately 76%,
exciuding any impact of the ACA adjustments. If this experience were to continue, the CO-OP could be in a
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situation to pay rebates depending on its ACA loss ratio. Typically, one quarter's experience cannot be
extrapolated to the entire year, and, therefore more months of experience will be needed to make a conclusion.
The CO-OP is projecting the 2014 combined medical loss ratio to be 94%, excluding any impact for the ACA. The
foss ratios include large group business which has a separate minimum loss ratio of 85%

The CO-OP plans to make changes to provider arrangements to increase the value being delivered by its
provider networks. Since HRINY had a significantly larger member volume, it decided to renegotiate its vendor
contracts in hopes of achieving lower vendor costs by about 7% for 2015 {P. 83). The CO-OP pians on adding a
new product to its product portfolio and offer products in 30 counties in New York where it doesn’t currently
serve (P. 78}.

According to the applicant, short term performance improvements will be driven primarily by the following
factors {P. 86}:

* “Corrective pricing”: HRINY anticipates increasing rates by approximately 10% beyond trend in 2015 and
4% beyond trend in 2016 for the individual line of business and by 1% beyond trend in 2015 and 0%
beyond trend in 2016 for the smali group business. it cannot be determined what the impact of a 15%
rate increase will be on the retention of membership. HRINY expects that its 2015 rates will be
competitive and will improve its gross margins.

* “Improved medical cost management”: HRINY plans to negotiate better network rates, rationalize its
network offerings, and improve utilization management. HRINY anticipates that these changes will heip
offset increases in medical costs by approximately 3.5% in 2015 for individual plans and almost 1% for
small group plans.

* “Greater administrative efficiencies”: HRINY plans to reduce its per member total administrative
expenses burden by 37% in 2015, 11% in 2016, and 9% in 2017 with administrative expenses increasing
at the rate of inflation thereafter. Additionally, the CO-OP’s administrative cost ratio {ACR} falls from
21.5% to 14.5% from 2014 to 2017. According to the applicant, although fixed administrative expenses
are projected to grow from approximately $30M in 2014 to $40M by 2017, it expects to achieve these
efficiencies due to growth in membership, renegotiated contracts, and supplier efficiencies {P. 86). The
CO-OP stated that increasing its enroliment will be a driving factor in mitigating administrative costs.

As part of its enroliment strategy, HRINY expects to sell to the large group market in 2015. However, the
expansion to the large group market will focus on companies in the 51-100 range in anticipation of the
redefinition of smail group in 2016, This will result in HRINY being in the large group market for only 2015.
HRINY intends to build awareness in this market segment without increasing marketing expenses by leveraging
existing broker relationships {P. 87).

The CO-OP is projecting morbidity to be equal to the state average. As such, no risk adjustment receipts or
payable relating to 3Rs is projected in the rate filing. The CO-OP is expecting to get $54M in reinsurance
receivables from the 3Rs which is 11% of the total premium during 2014 and $36M in reinsurance receivables
relating to 3Rs which is 4% of the total premium in 2015. The estimates of relative risk and risk transfer
payments are dependent not only on the membership enrolled by HRINY but aiso by the other carriers in the
state {P. 381).

Due to the timing of this application, HRINY does not have enough of its own experience in the base period to
use in rate development; therefore, the 2015 rate development is based solely on manual rates.
Summary of Observations:

* HRINY expects 2015 morbidity to be simiiar to 2014 pricing morbidity. The small group market forms
the basis of the CO-OP’s manual rates. HRINY assumes the current smali group market morbidity to be
the same as that before ACA was passed. When pricing for 2015, the expected morbidity of the small
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group population in New York was used and adjustments were made to it to calculate the individual
market morbidity. Based on research conducted by HRINY, individual markets have higher health risk
than group markets and thus, the CO-OP is assuming that the individual market morbidity wili be 40%
higher than the small group market (P. 328).

« 2015 medical costs are based on industry data. HRINY does not have enough 2014 experience to have
its own data to rely upon; therefore, industry assumptions are necessary to estimate the morbidity of
the projected membership.

* Expanded provider arrangements. HRINY intends to replace MagnaCare with POMCO’s network in
Upstate New York. HRINY plans to “increase the value delivered by {its} provider networks by analyzing
[its] performance {i.e., efficiency}, introduce additional types of networks {such as narrow and/or tiered
networks) and introduce gain-sharing to provider contracts” {P. 97},

* The risk corridors receivable estimate is difficult to quantify with the results relying upon the risk
adjustment estimate. Without the risk corridors receivables, HRINY would have larger losses in 2014.

CO-OP Financials;

HRINY’s pro forma financial statements project recoveries from the federal reinsurance programs for 2014
through 2016. In the base case with additional solvency loan scenario {baseline scenario), HRINY projects
cumulative federal reinsurance recoveries of $117.3M for 2014 through 2016, while it projects to recover
$78.5M in the contingency scenario during the same period. HRINY also projects to receive an additional $10.4M
from the risk corridors program in 2014 in all scenarios. HRINY projects a net loss of $10.7M in 2014, but expects
to achieve profitability in 2015 with a projected net income of $3.8M in 2015 and $38.6M in 2016 (P. 44, 54).
HRINY projects capital and surplus as a percentage of net premium to stay above 12.5% during the entire
performance period in all projected scenarios.

Based on CMS’s CO-OP Summary Report by Borrower as of 6/14/2014 {Loan Tracker), the CO-OP has been
awarded total funding of $174.5M {$23.8M in start-up loans and $150.7M in solvency oan funding}, and began
issuing health insurance products beginning in 2014. $48.4M of the total solvency loan obligated is disbursed to
HRINY with $102.3M of obligated but undisbursed solvency loan funds. HRINY is requesting additional solvency
loan funding of $90.7M. Combined with the current solvency foan funding award, the total solvency loan for
HRINY would be 5241.4M.

New York’s Section 4310 of the insurance statutes requires the CO-OP to maintain a minimum reserve balance
of 12.5% capital and surplus as a percent of net premium income, in its application for additionat solvency loan
funding, HRINY stated that the additional solvency loan funding is necessary to meet the New York's
Department of Insurance reserve requirements. HRINY stated further that 15% of gross premium “has been
budgeted to ensure sufficient reserves” {P. 89}. Based on discussions with CMS, the CO-OP is being funded based
on the state requirement, rather the normally recommended RBC level of 500% of ACL. As noted in the pro
formas, the CO-OP does not reach an RBC level above the normally recommended CMS level of 500% of ACL
until 2018, even with the additional funding of $90.7M.

HRINY's surplus as percent of net premium income is projected to stay above the 12.5% threshold for all years, if
the additional solvency loan is awarded. As noted above, the CO-OP is requesting the additional $90.7M
solvency loan funding to maintain a 15% capital and surplus as a percent of gross premiums. Table 4 below
presents the excess (deficit) in projected capital and surplus with and without additional solvency loan funding
to the CO-OP.
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Table 4: Projected capital and surplus - Baseline scenario

Reserve Balance Required per New
York Section 4310 of Insurance 59,110 { 127,386 196,998 | 250,495
statutes

HRINY’s projected capital & surplus
amount with additional solvency loan 72,306 { 158,298 § 243,800 { 308,601
funding

30912 dsB0z

HRINY projected capital & surpius
with no additional solvency loan 72,306 | 120,009 | 159,480 | 217,913
funding

Exc

ing

HRINY's projected capital & surplus
amount with additional solvency loan 14,790 73,894 | 140,076 | 204,877
funding, but without impact from 3Rs

Eccess (Defc) n projected
surplus without impact from

Baseline Scenario:

If projections are realized, HRINY projects a loss of $10.7M in 2014, but projects to be profitable thereafter, with
earnings of $3.8M and $38.6M in 2015 and 2016, respectively, and with related profit margin of 0.4% and 2.4%,
respectively. The applicant projects an average profit margin as a percent of premium of 1.5%, which would
result in cumulative profits of $1.1B from 2015-2033. HRINY is projecting receivables from the 3Rs program in
2014 to 2016, specifically $10.4M in risk corridors in 2014, and federal reinsurance recoveries in the amounts of
$53.9M, $36.2M, and $27.1M in 2014, 2015, and 2016, respectively. Despite the total $64.3M of receivables
that HRINY is projecting to receive from the 3Rs, it is projecting a loss in 2014. Absent these recoveries, HRINY's
projected loss would be $68.2M in 2014, Additionally, HRINY is projected to incur a loss of $23.1M in 2015
absent recoveries from the federal reinsurance program. HRINY projects a PDR of $4.5M in 2014 and $687K in
2015. However, details were not provided with the analysis for the PDR estimate.

The applicant asserts that premium increases are required to break even in 2015, while its ability to break even
in 2015 will enable it to pay back its original solvency loan award of $150.7M and the additional $90.7M in
solvency loans by year-end 2032 {P. 4 and 84). HRINY expects to increase its premium rates by 15.2% for the
individual market and 6% for SHOP in 2015 to drive its performance improvements (P. 86). In its pro forma
income statement, its revenues per average number of enrollees increase by 11.9% in 2015 and by 7.7% in 2016.
In its individuai market rate filing for existing plans, HRINY is requesting a statewide average price increase of
15.2% {P. 373).
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HRINY plans to make two changes to ensure its medical cost structure is in-line with its pricing in 2015. it will
introduce a new network partnership, POMCO, in Upstate New York, thus, furthering its ability to reach ali New
York residents. Please refer to the Enroliment section for further details. The applicant also aims to increase the
value defivered by its provider networks through three actions. First, HRINY is analyzing the performance of its
network providers so it can decide whether to drop some of its providers, leading HRINY to believe that it can
offer better care at competitive prices {P. 86). Second, HRINY plans to introduce narrow or tiered networks,
which it states could offer rates 10-15% below the rates of broad networks. Finally, the applicant plans to
introduce gain-sharing to provider contracts, which it believes will increase the predictability of claims costs {P.
77). Please refer to the Medical Costs section for further details,

The applicant states that it intends to become profitable by increasing its premiums and improving its processes;
specifically through investing in technology to enable automation in enroliment and claims, and by renegotiating
and reducing its vendor costs by 7% by 2015. The applicant explains that the automation of enroliment and
claims processes should reduce its costs due to avoiding incremental administrative staffing during open
enroliment. To achieve a 7% reduction in vendor costs, HRINY is currently pursuing a process to integrate
independent vendors to achieve efficiency in its operations and also pursue a renegotiation of its vendor
contracts {P. 5 and 82). HRINY claims that its vendors are responsible for billing and enroliment, member and
brokerage services, medical management, claims adjudication, provider and facility network, pharmacy benefits
management, and website and data warehouse management {P. 82). While HRINY describes its vendor functions
in detail, it does not provide a budgeted schedule for its current vendor costs nor for its costs following contract
renegotiations; therefore, it is difficult to determine the viability of the cost reductions, and also how it flows
through to the reductions in total general administrative costs. Furthermore, no evidence was provided by the
appiicant to support a 7% reduction in vendor costs.

Additionally, as described in the April 30, 2014 memo from CMS, the CO-OP was required to file an 5F 424A
{budget form} as part of its application which would detail its expenses for 2014 and 2015. However, HRINY did
not provide the S5F 424A. As a result, the details of its 2014 and 2015 budgeted amounts are unknown.

Excluding the lack of detail laid out in its budgeted costs, HRINY’s pro forma income statement ties to its
business plan, as the ACR, which includes costs for commissions and loss adjustment expense {LAE) reserve, is
projected to decrease from 21.3% in 2014 to 16.6% in 2015 and 15.5% in 2016. HRINY’s ACR ranges from 16%
down to 11.8% through 2034, with an average ACR of 13.5%. Additionally, HRINY stated that a reduction in
general and administrative costs per member will be 37% in 2015 and 11% in 2016 {P. 86}. The applicant states
that it expects to achieve these efficiencies; “despite growing fixed G&A expenses.. due to greater scale,
renegotiated contracts, and supplier efficiencies” {P. 86}. However, as previously noted, the applicant does not
provide a breakout of its administrative costs, nor does it provide a detailed summary of its expected costs
savings or specifics on its renegotiated vendor contracts. Additionafly, it doesn’t appear HRINY accounts for
Marketplace fees within its projections. However, the applicant stated that the Marketpiace fees are eliminated
for 2014 and 2015 and this fee was “not built into the rates per New York instructions” {P. 91 and 210). No
supporting documentation as provided to verify this statement. The applicant does not project Marketplace fees
in the pro forma throughout the entire performance period.

The applicant’s MLR, including the impact of the 3Rs, is 81.8% and 83.1% for 2015, without including impact of
ACA adjustments. As noted above, HRINY projects to recover $53.9M, $36.2M, and $27.1M in 2014, 2015, and
2016, respectively, from the federai reinsurance programs. Additionally, HRINY projects to receive payment of
$10.4M from risk corridors in 2014. Absent these recoveries from the 3Rs, HRINY's MLR will be 94% in 2014 and
85.8% in 2015, without including impact of ACA adjustments.

HRINY projects to receive additional solvency loan funding in the amount of $90.7M and projects to draw down
its full solvency awards by 2017, bringing the total solvency loan funding amount to $241M {P. 143}. The
applicant plans to fully repay the solvency loan by 2032, if projections are realized. Per the baseline pro forma
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balance sheet, HRINY’s RBC level would range from 371% in 2014 to 469% in 2017, until reaching 500% in 2018,
a year after fully drawing its solvency loan in 2017, and would remain above 500% through 2022. However, it
does fali below 500% for the rest of the performance period. However, as noted above, HRINY is funded per the
requirement under Section 4310 of the New York Department of Insurance statutes, which requires the CO-OP
to maintain a reserve level of 12.5% of net premium income. As presented in the baseline pro formas, the
applicant projects to maintain the state requirement of 12.5% of net premjum income as surplus for alf years.

Stress Test Scenario:

Under the base case with a mild stress test scenario (stress test scenario), HRINY projects to receive increased
additional solvency loan funding of $275.7M to combat a 10% increase in claims cost due to uncertainty in
pricing. In this scenario, the applicant asserts that rate increases were assumed to maintain a reasonable level of
profitability to generate a surplus to enable it to pay off its solvency loan (P. 37). Revenues and administrative
costs remain static, as evidenced by the same ACR as in the baseline. Additionally, the MLR is projected to stay
at the same level as the baseline scenario.

The primary difference of the stress test scenario as compared to the baseline scenario s its projection of PDR.
in the stress test scenario, HRINY projects an $82.3M change in reserves due to PDR in 2014. However, details
relating to projecting this levei of PDR were not provided in the application. This represents a net change of
$86.8M in total expenses, resulting in a projected net loss of total $97.6M in 2014, with the assumption of
receiving $53.9M in federal reinsurance recoveries and a receipt of $10.4M in risk corridors payments. Absent
recoveries from federa! reinsurance program and risk corridors payments, 2014 losses would near $162M.
Under this scenario, according to the applicant’s pro forma balance sheet, year-end capital and surplus is
projected to stay above 12.5% of net premium income during the entire performance period.

Summary of Observations:

« HRINY projects average statewide premium increase of 15% in 2015. HRINY’'s ability to break even is
contingent on an average statewide rate increases 15% in 2015 and 9% in 2016. {t is difficuit to determine
whether HRINY will be able to meet its projected enroliment and premium revenues as well as retain
current members with this ievel of premium increases.

* $82.6M PDR projected in 2014 in stress test scenario. In the stress test scenario, HRINY projected a change
in PDR of $82.6M in 2014. However, no documentation supporting the analysis of the PDR was provided.
The applicant does not project PDR to be recorded in 2014 in the baseline scenario.

« Budget not provided for 2014 and 2015 to support proposed reductions in administrative expenses. in the
baseline scenario, the applicant projects a2 7% reduction in vendor costs through renegotiated contracts and
also projects to reduce its administrative expenses in 2015 and 2016. However, no details are provided by
HRINY as to what the actual cost reductions are and with what vendors it expects to renegotiate its
contracts. HRINY did not provide its budget to support the projected cost reductions.

Contingency Plan;

As outlined in its application, HRINY discusses two scenarios in the event that the additional solvency of $90.7M
is not awarded: either identifying outside financing or scaling down its operations so it can meet sofvency
requirements, though the applicant does not provide further detait on how it would secure outside financing (P.
S). HRINY would scale down its operations by increasing its rates, by reducing its membership size; especially in
low margin counties, and by eliminating all non-essential administrative costs, such as marketing and customer
service {P. 7).

Premium increases: HRINY stated that in the event the additional solvency loan funding is not awarded,

premium rate increases will be “higher than those planned for 2016 and presented in the business plan pro

forma” {P. 7). Additionally, the appiicant stated that while the increase in premium will help the CO-OP to

improve its profit margin, it will “result in a loss of market share” {P. 7). However, no specific detail is provided
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on the level of rate increase projected in the contingency scenario. Additionally, it is not clear how increasing
rates and eliminating administrative costs relating to customer service fits into the overail mission of the CO-OP.

Reduce membership size: In the contingency plan, the appiicant plans to reduce its membership level by
“production rationalization and service area reduction” (P. 7). HRINY stated that it will “reduce product offerings
to EssentialCare in the individual market, the product New York State requires, and discontinue non-required
individual products on- and off-exchange to both decrease overail membership and shift some members to the
higher margin EssentiaiCare product line” (P. 7}. Additionally, the applicant plans to retract from counties that
generate the lowest profit margin. As presented in the pro formas, HRINY projected enroliment for 2015 is less
than the average enroliment as projected in the baseline scenario by 109,500 members.

Expedite reduction in administrative and medical cost to essential: The applicant stated that it wil take action
to eliminate non-essential administrative expenses such as marketing expenses and cut in customer service
level. However, no further detail is provided on the level of cuts that the CO-OP is projecting.

The applicant’s contingency plan represented in its pro forma income statement shows reduced enroiiment
projections starting in 2015 and increased premium revenues per member as compared to its basefine scenario.
Table 5 below highlights enroliment projections, premium revenues, average premium revenues per member,
and ACR for 2015 through 2020:

Table 5: Premiums per Member and ACR Comparison: Baseline vs. Contingency Plan

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Scenario

Average Members 211,818 302,818 360,318 367,524 374,875 382,372

Net Premium Earned {$000) 1,055,320 | 1,625,336 | 2,057,342 | 2,208,328 | 2,370,411 | 2,549,706

Average Annual Premium per

Member {$000) 5.0 5.4 5.7 6.0 6.3 6.7
ACR 16.5% 15.4% 14.5% 14.4% 14.2% 14.1%
Contingency Plan Scenario

Average Members 102,318 95,318 87,318 78,586 70,727 63,655

Net Premium Earned {$000) 538,834 | 543,238 535,553 518,438 500,568 485,282

Average Annual Premium per
Member {$000) 5.3 s.7 6.1 6.6 7.1 7.6

ACR 17.8% 16.7% 16.5% 16.1% 15.8% 15.4%

HRINY betlieves its ability to negotiate provider contracts may be reduced due to the projected reduction in the
membership size {P. 128). This is expected to increase costs due to lower network discounts. An additional
increase in premiums would be necessary to account for fixed costs across a smatler membership base. HRINY's
calculation of the net impact of this change in HRINY's cost structure would cause the 2015 margin as a
percentage of premiums to decline from 0.40% and $3,804,000 under the business ptan to 0.05% and $138,000
under the contingency plan {P.128}, The 2015 rate has aiready been submitted and therefore the change in
pricing could not be reflected untit 2016.

Under the contingency plan, HRNY believes it will need to increase its 2016 individual market rates by 10% and
Small Group Market rates by 6% {assuming regulatory approval}, as compared to the 9% and 5% increase
projected in the business plan (P. 129). These rate increases are in addition to steering members to higher
margin plans and exit lowest margin counties. HRINY also plans to eliminate higher cost medical providers from
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networks in 2014 and beyond, reduce customer service levels to drive down variable administrative costs; and
reduce health management efforts to essential requirements only {P. 129-130).

One of the secondary effects anticipated by HRINY from the above actions is an overali sicker population, as the
CO-OP expects higher cost individuals to be the first to keep their coverage due to “generous benefits and
broader network” {P. 131). This is expected to accelerate the overall claim costs trend. However, it is unclear if
HRINY’s benefits and network are enough to entice the sicker population to retain their coverage.

tn the event the applicant does not receive the $90.7M additional solvency loan request, the contingency plan is
projected to commence in 2015. The pro forma income statement in the contingency plan shows that the
applicant projects to realize a profit of $138K in 2015. The applicant is projecting MLR and ACR in contingency
scenario to stay at the same level as in the baseline scenario. Surpius is also projected to stay above 12.5% of net
premium income during the entire performance period.

Summary of Cbservations:

* HRINY projects $965.4M less in total profits as compared to its baseline scenario due to fower enroliment.
in its contingency scenario, the applicant projects a cumuiative net profit of $101.4M from 2014 ~ 2033,
while projecting to incur a loss in 2032 and operate at break even in 2033. As compared to the baseline
scenario, HRINY projects $1.1B in cumulative net profits from 2014 -~ 2034, which is higher than the
projected profit in the contingency scenario. The reduction in projected cumulative profit may be
attributable to the reduction in enroliment projections, as HRINY plans to retract from certain counties that
generate low profit margins. For the entire performance period, HRINY projects an average enroliment of
49,908 members in the contingency scenario as compared to 397,056 average members projected in its
baseline scenario. Furthermore, while the baseline scenario enroliment is projected to increase each year up
to 504,532 members in 2034, the contingency scenario enrollment is forecasted to decline each year, down
to 14,562 members in the same year. This represents a projected 86.6% decline in enroliment in its
contingency plan,

* No specific detail provided on projected increases on premium rates. HRINY stated that premiums wil
increase “higher than planned in the baseline for 2016” {P. 37). However, no further detail was provided on
the projected level of increases.

Solvency Loan Request Points

Sections Patential Total
Enroilment 15 11.25
Product Pricing 20 11.5
Medical Costs and Losses 15
CO-OP Financials 15
Score i . S S i Les

Contingency Plan Points

Contingency Plan Potential Total

Overail
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CENTERS FOR MEDICARE & MEDICAL) SERVICES

Freelancers Health Service Corporation,
d/b/a Health Repubilic Insurance of New York

Additional Solvency Loan Funding Request Report Round i
Date Submitted to CMS: 10/24/2014

Scope Summory & Assumptions:

* Deloitte will not provide an opinion regarding the reasonableness of the proposed business plan changes of each
Consumer Operated and Oriented Plan {CO-OP} Program. Nor will Deloitte provide an opinion regarding the
likelihood of each CO-OP achieving sustainable operations based upon the revised business plan.

» Deloitte assumes that the information provided by each CO-OP in its modified business plan is complete and
accurate. Deloitte will perform its assessment of the data provided “as is”. Deloitte will also use other data
sources that are publicly accessible or information provided directly from the Centers for Medicare and
Medicaid Services {CMS). Deloitte will notify CMS if we believe that there is insufficient information to complete
our review.

* In these applications for solvency loan requests, some of the CO-OPs have cited a need for additional solvency
loans to cover projected cash shortfalls as a result of nonadmitting risk-sharing receivables provided in the
Affordable Care Act {ACA}. The National Association of Insurance Commissioners {NAIC} is charged with
developing accounting guidance for these risk-sharing provisions which are utilized by the state departments of
insurance in monitoring the financial solvency of the insurers domiciled in their state. The NAIC is continuing
their deliberations on this issue, which previously included potential nonadmittance for risk-sharing receivables
in excess of any payables. However, as a result of the most recent NAIC meeting on August 17, 2014, the
adopted minutes of that meeting reflects that the NAIC is “replacing the nonadmission guidance with criteria
that incorporates conservatism and sufficiency of data and removing the exposed 90-day guidance and adding
language to be consistent with other government receivables”. This Findings Report will provide relevant
information, as necessary, on the accounting treatment for the risk-sharing receivables used by the CO-OPs in
their financial projections.

* The impact of the Reinsurance, Risk Adjustment and Risk Corridors Program (the 3Rs, reinsurance, risk
adjustment, and/or risk corridors) was reviewed when making observations and comments throughout this
report. Observations and comments relating to the impact of the 3Rs are included for informational purposes
only. We are not commenting on the reasonableness or propriety of any of the amounts relating to the 3Rs. Nor
are we commenting on the underlying accounting policy. Based on the scoring criteria provided by CMS,
observations and comments relating to the 3Rs had a net neutrat effect on the scoring.

* In reviewing applications from CO-OPs for additional solvency loan funding requests, Deloitte reviewed
supporting documentation requested of the applicants by CMS in a memo to the CO-OPs distributed on August
22, 2014. The format of the reports as well as the section scoring was approved by CMS during the week of June
2, 2014. These reports are scored on the basis of a total of 6S points, plus 10 points for the contingency pian.
The scoring reflects Deloitte’s assessment of the degree to which the application complies with the funding loan
announcement of August 22, 2014, The score for the Contingency Plan section should be viewed independently
of scoring for the other sections of this report. For all sections, Deloitte provided comments on issues only for
which the applicant provided data. Observations refating to the pro forma financial statements are based on the
base case with additionat solvency loan award scenario (base case}, unless otherwise noted.
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Executive Summary:

Health Republic Insurance of New York {HRINY or the applicant or CO-OP) has submitted a request to CMS for $70.5M in
additional solvency loan funding. HRINY states that additional funding is needed in order to meet the State-determined
solvency requirements relating to maintaining risk-based capital (RBC) of 500% of authorized control level {ACL). HRINY
states that since the june 18, 2014 submission, new developments have occurred which “directly affect solvency needs”
(P. 2)*. These developments include increased membership projections for 2014 and 2015, updated financial data,
competitive positioning, and a new surplus target of 500% of ACL rather than the 15% of net premium income that was
targeted in the June 2014 submission projections (P. 2). New York’s Section 4310 of the insurance statutes requires the
CO-OP to maintain a minimum reserve balance of 12.5% of net premium income as capital and surpius. However, HRINY
stated that the New York State Department of Financial Services {DFS} is now requiring the CO-OP to maintain an RBC
level of 500% of ACL as recommended by CMS {P.2). This change supports $18.8M of the total request of $70.5M. {P.2}
No further documentation or information was provided to substantiate the reason for the CO-OP to now maintain RBC
levels of 500% of ACL.

Based on CMS’s CO-OP Summary Report by Borrower as of 10/3/2014 {Loan Tracker), the CO-OP was obligated $23.8M
in start-up loans and $241.3M in solvency loan funding, totaling $265.1M. As of 10/3/2014, a total of $155.6M has been
disbursed, specifically $23M of obligated solvency loan funding and $132.6M of the $241.4M of obligated start-up loan
funding. The CO-OP was recently awarded $90.7M as a result of a solvency loan request in June 2014, which is included
in the total obligated amount but has not yet been disbursed.

Although HRINY plans to increase premium rates starting in 2015, the applicant is still projecting to outperform alt
previous enroliment projections. HRINY’s original® application pro forma financial statements projected 30,864 average
enroliees *in 2014 and 50,535 in 2015. Per HRINY’s most recent pro forma financial statements, the applicant projects to
enroll 116,439 average members in 2014 and 261,839 in 2015. Additionally, HRINY's ability to meet its projected break-
even is contingent on premium increases of more than 10% in 2015 and 2016.

In discussing its competitors, the CO-OP mentions a new entrant to the individual market place, Freelancers insurance
Company (Freelancers or FIC} {P.87). Although Freelancers is discussed as a competitor in the apptication, FIC is actually
a for-profit insurer run by the Freelancers Union which is the same organization that founded and currently sponsors
HRINY. Additionally, while FIC originally planned to enter the individual market at the time of HRINY’s application, the
insurer has since decided to cease its insurance activity starting in 2015. FIC currently enrolls approximately 25,000 of
Freelancers Union members. Given the relationship between FIC and HRINY, it is unclear how FIC's pending closure will
impact the CO-OP’s enrollment in 2015 and beyond®.

HRINY is projecting receivables from the 3Rs program from 2014 through 2016, specifically 512.6M in risk corridors
receivables in 2014, and net federal reinsurance recoveries in the amounts of $50.2M, $51.8M, and 520.3M in 2014,
2015, and 2016, respectively. Absent the impact of the 3Rs, HRINY projects a loss of $74.5M in 2014 and $46.6M in
2015. The 3R receivables are difficult to estimate and may create issues if relied upon to generate a profit. Additionaily,
HRINY’s fatest projection of net federal reinsurance recoveries has increased by $29M as compared to the net
cumulative federal reinsurance recoveries projected by HRINY in its June 2014 pro forma submissions to CMS. No further
information was provided as to the reason for this increase. Based on the pro forma financial statements, if the CO-OP
does not receive additional solvency loan funding and given the timing of the cash receipts of the 3Rs receivables being
several months after expenditures, CMS may want to consider that HRINY could suffer from a liquidity issue.

* Page numbers in this report refer to the consolidated application.

2 Alf references to “original” — including, but not fimited to, “original funding application”, “originai application”, and “original
prejections”-refer to HRINY's 2011 application for CMS start-up and solvency loan funding , operations commencing in 2014,
® Annuat enroliment projections provided in the pro formas reflect average membership over a 12 month period.

4 Source: http://www.nytimes.com/2014/10/01/nyregion/freelancers-unian-to-end-its-health-insurance-pian-in-new-
york.htm!?_r=1
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Critical Assertions:
1. Enrollment:

in this application, HRINY is requesting $70.5 milfion in additional solvency loan funding. The CO-OP states that $44.2
million of this request will be used to address “the continuation of higher-than-expected growth” {P. 3}, Based on
HRINY’s most recent pro forma financial statements submitted in September of 2014 {9/24 Pro Formas or pro formas),
average enroliment for 2014 is almost 8% larger than the projections in June of 2014 {6/1 Pro Formas}. This growth
continues in 2015 and 2016, where average enroliment projections are 24% and 25% greater than the projections in the
6/1 Pro Formas, respectively. According to the CMS CO-OP Enroliment Comparison Report as of 8/05/2014, HRINY's
current enroliment is 135,494, The enrollment projections, as outlined in the 9/24 Pro Formas, the 6/1 Pro Formas, and
the pro forma financial statements from the original application (2011 Pro Formas), are presented in Figure 1.

Figure 1: Projected Enroliments are up Compared to Original {2011} Projections for 2014-2016

Although the CO-OP’s 9/24 Pro Formas do indicate
“higher-than-expected growth”, discrepancies exist
between what the applicant reports in its business
plan/project narrative, and what exists in the 9/24 Pro
Formas and feasibility study {P. 3}. In the project
narrative, the CO-OP states, “As you will see in the
enclosed pro forma, we are now projecting a 2014
year-end membership of approximately 160,000, up
from the estimate of 134,000 submitted in the June
2014 Business Plan” {P. 3}. Additionally, the CO-OP’s
business plan reports end-of-year projections of
314,839 and 404,839 enrollees for 2015 and 2016
respectively (P. 85). However, the base case of the
9/24 Pro Formas submitted with this application
projects an average enroliment of 116,439, 261,839,
and 373,339 for 2014, 2015, and 2016 respectively {P. 115). it is, therefore, unclear how the CO-OP arrived at the
projections in the business plan and why they differ from enroliment projections in the 9/24 Pro Formas.

6/1pra oRRsa:

The breakout of enroliment by business segment {individual, small group, large group) or method of enrollment in the
New York state-run Marketplace {Marketplace} vs. off Marketplace was not provided in any of the pro forma financial
statements submitted. However, some of the details regarding business segment were provided in the body of the
feasibility study provided with this application, as well as the feasibility studies provided with the June 2014 application
and original application. Table 1 shows the change in the CO-OP’s enroliment projections by business segment for the
years 2014, 2018, and 2023, illustrating the evolution of HRINY’s enroliment strategy over time. No breakout was
provided for the years in between those listed below.

Table 1: Enrollment Projection Comparison, 2014-2023

" Group: ‘oup
Original Application
Projection 28,102 2,762 0 77,721 12,115 [ 86,981 13,559 0
fune 2014 Projection 69,404 38,907 0| 171,486 | 164,418 | 31,620 | 189,334 | 181,531 | 34,911
September 2014 Solvency
Loan Funding Request 73,466 42,973 0| 186,467 | 221,368 | 31,620 | 205,875 | 244,408 | 34,911
% Change Original | o) oo | 14ss.a7% N/A 139.92% | 1727.22% | N/A 136.69% | 1702.55% | /A
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Sep-14

% Change June 2014-

8.74%
September 2014

5.85% 34.64% 0.00% 8.74% 34.64% 0.00%

10.45% N/A

In 2014, HRINY is expecting 63% of its enroliment to be comprised of individual enrollees, and 37% to be comprised of
small group enrollees. In the June application, the CO-OP projected individual enrollees would comprise 64% of its
enroliment, with small group enroliees comprising 36%.

The applicant describes its efforts to attract large group enrollees in its business plan, stating only, “"HRINY’s large group
efforts will primarily focus on companies with 51 to 100 employees in 2015, serving as a one-year bridge to {the] new
upper-limit definition of small group in 2016” {P."69). The applicant does not mention its large group enroliment strategy
past 2015. However, as noted in Table 1, the applicant projects that 31,620 of its total average enrollment of 439,546
will come from the farge group business segment by 2018.

HRINY did not provide a breakout of projected enroliment for on and off Marketplace. As a result, it is unknown if the
applicant is projected to achieve the two-thirds enroliment from the Marketplace as required by Title 45, Code of
Federal Regulations {CFR) §156.515{c}{1} and {d} related to the requirements of CO-OPs pursuant to the ACA,

Documentation for Change in Enroflment Projections

The applicant expects that its pricing advantage, product offerings, geographic availability, and marketing efforts will
allow it to achieve its enroliment goals for the foreseeable future, as described in Table 2 below. The applicant states
that its rates were “too low because the actual population risk mix in the 2014 market was higher risk than expected”.
HRINY, therefore, decided it would not be able to achieve “financial sustainability and market competitiveness” without
raising rates by approximately 13% (P. 72). Please refer to the Product Pricing section for further details.

Table 2: Documentation for Change in Enroliment Projections

Reason Cited by
HRINY for Highey

HRINY Proposed Action HRINY Justification

than Projectad
Envoliment
Underpriced

Raise Premium Rates According to HRINY, these price increases are necessary in

Premiums

for 2015. HRINY is
approved to raise
average individual
premium rates by
12.9% and average
small group rates by
3.5% in 2015

order to “maintain financial sustainability and market
competitiveness” in 2015 and beyond. In the applicant’s June
2014 solvency loan request, it originally projected increasing
individual premium rates by 15% and small group premium
rates by 6%. However the DFS did not approve the proposed
rates, only granting increases for the individual and small group
segments of 12.9% and 3.5% respectively (P. 73).

The applicant contends that even with these price increases,
HRINY will remain competitive enough to achieve its projected
enroflment numbers. it points to the fact that the approved
rates still place their products “fourth or fifth from the bottom
of the market in many regions”. {P. 5} The CO-OP therefore
expect to “retain membership and achieve growth” through its
geographic expansion and competitive price-point {P. 5}. See
Product Pricing section for more information.

HRINY does discuss potential challenges to the CO-OP achieving

App. 00000020



Reason Cited by

HRINY for Higher

than Projected
Enroliment

HRINY Proposed Action

162

HRINY Justification

its enroliment projections as they relate to the proposed price
increases and the price points of its competitors. The applicant
states, “Should HRINY’s competitors significantly change the
design of their products, HRINY’s enroliment projections will be
impacted” {P. 87}, The CO-OP goes on to point out that, for the
individual segment, HRINY’s products “will remain among the
most affordable products in ali rating areas” even with the
price increases (P. 72). Simifarly, HRINY states that for the small
group segment it has the lowest average rate for every tier and
every region, with the exception of New York City Piatinum
plan where it has the second lowest average rate {P. 87}.

In discussing its competitors, the CO-OP mentions a new
entrant to the individual Marketplace, Freelancers insurance
Company. Although Freelancers is discussed as a competitor in
the application, FIC is actually a for-profit insurer run by the
Freelancers Union which is the same organization that founded
and currently sponsors HRINY. Additionally, while FiC originally
planned to enter the individual market at the time of HRINY's
application, the insurer has since decided to cease its insurance
activity starting in 2015.° FIC currently enrolls approximately
25,000 of Freelancers Union members. Given the relationship
between FIC and HRINY, it is unclear how FiC’s pending closure
will impact the CO-OP’s enroliment in 2015 and beyond.

In addition to HRINY, and FIC, the Freelancers Union formed a
brokerage company catled the Freelancers Brokerage Inc. in
April 2014.5 Although HRINY currently lists Dubraski &
Associates as its independent insurance brokerage (P. 18}, it
does state its intention to expand its broker program in 2015
{P. 84). HRINY does not provide any information alluding to a
relationship with FIC or Freelancers Brokerage inc. in its
application.

Geographic
Availability

Move into 11 new
counties in Upstate
New York. Starting in
2015, HRINY intends to
expand its operations
into 11 counties in
Upstate New York.

According to the applicant, part of HRINY's enrollment strategy
is to move into 11 counties in Upstate New York where it
currently does not provide coverage. Currently, according to
the applicant, HRINY covers 32 of New York's 62 counties,
which are home to approximately 88% of the state’s
popuiation. By moving into these 11 counties, HRINY will be
making its products available to another 1 million members,
and “bringing the company one step closer to its goaj of

® Source: http://www.nytimes.com/2014/10/01/nyregion/freefancers-union-ta-end-its-health-insurance-plan-in-new-

york htmi?_r=1

% Source: http://www.dos.ny.gov/corps/
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Enroliment

statewide coverage” {P. 70). Although these 11 counties only
comprise a small fraction of the state’s total population, HRINY
states that this extension allows the CO-OP to build “a more
complete delivery system” with providers that don’t currently
exist in its network (P. 75}.

tn the applicant’s previous request for additional solvency loan
funding in june 2014, HRINY also discussed its intended 2015
expansion, proposing moving into alf 30 of New York's Upstate
counties in which the CO-OP does not operate. it is unclear
why, with this most recent application, the CO-OP reduced the
number of proposed counties from 30 to 11, The CO-OP
expects its enroliment to grow to 261,839 average members in
2015 in its 9/24 Pro Formas, when it only projected 211,818
average enrolfees in its 6/1 Pro Formas. it cannot be
determined what percentage of the projected growth is
attributable to this geographic expansion and what percentage
is attributable to growth within the current service area.

increase Product
offerings

w

Increase the number of
products offered.
HRINY intends to offer
two new products, one
targeting the individual
market, and one
targeting the small
group market.

in 2015, HRINY intends to offer two new product lines in
addition to its current three (Primary Select EPO, Primary
Select, and Essential Care). The first of the new options is called
Total Independence, and is described as a low cost option
available to individuals exclusively in the New York City and
Long Island regions. The second, Total Freedom, is described as
the CO-OP’s new out-of-network product offered exclusively to
the small group market (P. 76).

Increase in Sales
and Marketing

Continue to develop
and distribute
communications and
advertisements to key
audiences. HRINY will
continue to develop
targeted
communications in the
form of member
satisfaction surveys,
member advisory
discussion groups, and
advertising, as well as
engage in market
research going into
201S.

To gain an increased understanding of the needs of its
customers, HRINY stated that it will engage in continued
marketing efforts going into 2015. One such effort includes
continued use of member satisfaction surveys aimed at gauging
“member satisfaction strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and
needs.” {P. 96). By understanding the desires of its members,
HRINY may be in a position to adapt and retain some
customers, despite increased premiums in 2015. HRINY
conducted a member satisfaction survey in June of 2014; out of
the applicant’s current members in 2014, 396 enrollees
responded to the survey. it is unclear why this group would be
taken as a representative sample of the total membership’s
sentiments.

Another marketing effort is the applicant’s Member Advisory
Discussion Groups. These are quarterly sessions where current
members are able to provide input on the CO-OP's past
performance and future plans. According to the application,
“Outputs from the sessions will be shared both internaily and
externally as appropriate, starting second quarter 2015” (P.
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Reason Cited by
HRINY for Higher
than Projected
Enroliment

HRINY Propased Action HRINY Justification

97).

Additionally, in an effort to target new customers, HRINY pians
to partner with an advertising agency “to develop and execute
targeted campaigns focused on building brand awareness and
supporting open enrollment initiatives in key markets.” This
partnership will begin in the summer of 2014 with the
advertising campaigns set to start during the year's fourth
quarter {P. 97}.

HRINY does not provide a budget detailing how much it intends
to spend on these marketing efforts, nor do the pro formas
provide any insight into marketing expenses. Additionally, the
application provides no information on the applicant’s efforts
to obtain private funds.

Summary of Observations:

Increased enrollment projections from original application. Although HRINY plans to increase premium rates
starting in 2015, the applicant is still projecting to outperfarm all previous enroliment projections, HRINY's 6/1 Pro
Formas projected 108,311 enrollees in 2014 and 211,818 enroilees in 2015. Per HRINY's 3/24 Pro Formas, the
applicant now projects to enroil 116,439 average members in 2014 and 261,839 in 2015. it is unclear how the
pending redefinition of “small group” and the CO-OP's pending expansion into 11 new counties influences its
updated enroliment projections. it cannot be determined how much turnover the CO-OP expects to experience
within its membership. Growth in projected enroliments due to expansion into new counties may offset anticipated
losses in existing members due to planned increases in premiums. There is insufficient information in the applicant's
application to analyze the impact of the projected premium increases on the retention of existing members and any
mitigation strategies the CO-OP may intend to implement.

Increased premiums planned for 2015. In order to “maintain financial sustainability and market competitiveness”
the applicant intends to raise premium rates to become more in fine with its competitors in the market {P. 72). With
recent DFS approval, individual and small group premiums will increase by 12.9% and 3.5% in 2015, respectively.
These rates were lowered by the DFS after HRINY requested an initial rate increase of 15.2% for the individual
market, and 6% in the small group market.

Pians for new products and state-wide availability. In order to achieve increased enroliment projections in the face
of rising premium rates, HRINY pians to increase enroliment hy offering two new product lines, and expanding into
11 counties in Upstate New York. This number has been reduced from 30 new counties since the applicant’s fast
solvency loan request in june of 2014. The new product lines include the Total Freedom kne, a small group product
offering out-of-network care, and the Total independence line, a fess expensive product available exclusively for the
individual market that will be marketed to customers in New York City and Long island. Additionally, HRINY will be
moving into the large group market in 2015 in anticipation of the 2016 redefinition of “small group”.

Support for marketing funds not provided. The applicant did not specify how its partnership with an advertising
agency, detailed in the marketing strategy, will be funded. Since solvency foan funds cannot be used for marketing
purposes, the applicant may need to acquire outside funds to realize this portion of its marketing strategy.

Breakout of on and off Marketpiace enroliment not provided in the pro formas. it cannot be determined if the CO-
OP will have two-thirds of its enroliment from the Marketplace in 2016, as required by Title 45, Code of Federal
Regulations (CFR) §156.515{c}{(1) and {d) related to the requirements of CO-OPs pursuant to the ACA.
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2. Product Pricing:

As noted in Tables 3 and 4 below, HRINY’s 2014 enroliment was higher than anticipated due to its rates being among the
lowest in most products and markets across the state {P. 87}. HRINY had estimated their 2014 enroliment to be 134,000
but is now projecting it to be close to 160,000 (P. 3 and 85). As of August 31, 2014, their actual enrollment across
individual and small group markets is 145,998 {P. 68).

One of the reasons the CO-OP is requesting an increase in premiums in 2015 of 15.2% for individual and 6% for small
group products is to fix the mispricing in 2014 (P. 67). The state approved an increase in premiums in 2015 of 12.9% for
individual and 3.5% for small group products {P. 73} which are refiected in the pro formas {P. 36). In the june 2014
apptication, HRINY had exhibited that it would like to hold its price position in most of the regions and expected to
reduce the gap between the next closest competitor by increasing premium rates. Per tables 3, 4, 5 and 6’ below, HRINY
has been able to still hold the fowest premiums in most of the regions across the different tiers in spite of the rate
increase approved by DFS. The CO-OP had anticipated that the competitors would aiso be increasing their premiums to
account for medical cost trend and changes in federal reinsurance which is verified by the amount of rate increases filed
for and approved by DFS listed in a press refease®, HRINY still projects to achieve profitability beginning in 2015 and is
profitable throughout the whole performance period, if projections are realized. in addition, the application is updated
to achieve a minimum RBC fevel of S00% of ACL which is recommended by CM5. The higher RBC ievel required has been
cited by the CO-OP as one of the reasons for this solvency loan application (P. 2). Please refer to the CO-OP Financials
section for further discussion.

No new information has been provided by the CO-OP in this application with regards to the adjustments made to
develop the premium rates in light of being approved for lower than requested rate increases by DFS.

Table 3 provides a comparison of the 2014 premiums for the CO-OP versus the competitors in each of the areas the CO-
OP has a presence in the individual market. The competitors listed have the lowest rate for at feast one of the regions in
2014 in the individual market. In the June 2014 application, HRINY noted that it is the jowest cost plan in many areas of
New York which HRINY cites as a primary contributor to its 20% market share in the individual market on the
Marketplace (P. 71). Highlighted areas denote the lowest premium for the particular area.

Table 3: Premiums in the 2014 New York Marketplace for Individual Market by Rating Region/Area

7 Data Source far Tables 3, 4, 5 and 6: http:/fwww.dfs.ny.gov/consumer/health/2014_and_2015_approved_rates.pdf
® Source: Press Release about approved 2015 rates: http://www.dfs.ny.gov/about/press2014/pr1409041 htm
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Ptatinum

North 5hore LIJ

Metro Plus Piatinum

North Shore LI} Platinum

Heaith Repubtlic Gold

Metro Plus Gold i

North Shore L Gold 490.83 490.83
Fidelis Silver 409.6\6 356.14 358.40 354.26 Qg
Health Republic Silver : 35

North Shore Lij  Silver 422.62 422.62
Fidelis Bronze . . 3375 28145 28324 279.97 [ 3081
Mealth Republic Bronze . e eel vl 3o
North Shore L} Bronze 332.48 332.48
Affinity Catastrophic 294.67 300.85
Empire HMO  Catastrophic 173.37 186.20 i
Health Republic Catastrophic 212,73

MVP Health Catastrophic 2%8

180.53

Catastrophic

Table 4 provides a comparison for the 2015 premiums for the CO-OP versus the competitors in each of the areas the CO-
OP has a presence in the individual market. The competitors listed have the lowest rate for at least one of the regions in
2015 in the individual market. Highlighted areas denote the lowest premium for the particular region.

Table 4: Premiums in the 2015 New York Marketplace for individual market by Rating Region/Area

il
Health Republic

Platinum
Metro Plus Platinum
North Shore LI} Platinum
Health Republic Gold
Metro Plus Goid
North Shore LIJ  Gold
Fidelis Sitver 418.09 402.71
Health Republic Silver - XA}N« 428.6
North Shore LIS Silver L 42336
Fidelis Bronze 323.55 v;
Health Republic Bronze 350.69 350.69
North Shore L} Bronze 336.14
Affinity Catastrophic . \ A
Empire HMO Catastrophic 184.11 217.14 197.74 29305 18199
Health Republic Catastrophic J44 688 1c014 1822 AR S R 1342
MVP Health Catastrophic 164.44 149.42 201.30 170.72 144.29 187.91 176.19
North Shore LIS Catastrophic 171,50 183.26

Table 5 provides a comparison for the 2014 premiums for the CO-OP versus the competitors in each of the areas the CO-
OP has a presence in the small group market. The competitors listed have the lowest rate for at least one of the regions
in 2014 in the small group market. Highlighted areas denote the lowest premium for the particular region.
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Table 5: Premiums in the 2014 New York Marketplace for small group market by Rating Region/Area

et

Health Republic Platinum
Metro Plus Platinum
North Shore L Platinum 687.84
Empire HMO Gold 5\7368

Heaith Republic Gold
North Shore Lt} Gold
EMBLEM-HIP Sitver
Health Republic  Silver |
Health Republic Bronze g 4 sg
MVP Health Bronze 3 322.53 410.93 239.81 311.49 292.38

Table 6 provides a comparison of the 2015 premiums for the CO-OP versus the competitors in each of the areas the CO-
OP has a presence in the small group market. The competitors listed have the lowest rate for at least one of the regions
in 2015 in the small group market. Highlighted areas denote the lowest premium for the particular region.

Table 6: Premiums in the 2015 New York Marketplace for small group market by Rating Region/Area

Health Republic Platinum
Metro Plus Platinum
North Shore LiJ _ Platinum
Empire HMO Gold
Health Republic Gold
North Shore LI} Gold
EMBLEM-HiP Silver
Health Republic Silver
Health Republic Bronze % L
MVP Health Bronze 334.26 276.44 376.01 440.77

S m AR S
278.61 363,15 340.85

The CO-OP states that the approved rates place its products “fourth or fifth from the bottom of the market in many
regions” and that it expects to “retain membership and achieve growth” through its geographic expansion and
competitive price-point {P. 5). However, based on the tables above, HRINY seems to be in a better position than that
listed in the apptication. it has been able to hold its rates lowest in 2015 across all the rating areas from 2014 other than
Mid Hudson for Catastrophic; New York for Silver and Bronze; and Long island for Platinum and Gold tiers on the
individual market. However, its rates are now the lowest in Albany, Buffalo and Rochester for the Catastrophic tier. On
the smail group market, HRINY has the lowest rates in 2015 across all the rating areas from 2014 other than New York
for the Gold level whereas HRINY now has the lowest rates across New York for Silver and Buffalo for Bronze. No
information was provided regarding the number of enrollees in these counties and thus it cannot be determined what
impact these rate changes will have upon enrollment. Also, as noted by the CO-OP, “Should HRINY's competitors
significantly change the design of their products, HRINY's enroliment projections will be impacted” (P. 87).

Summary of Observations:

¢ New York Department of Financial Services has approved premium increases of 12.9% for individual and 3.5% for
small group products for 2015. Based on a press release by the New York Department of Financial Services, they
have reduced the premiums requested for 2015 but stilt approved a net rate increase over 2014 premiums for both
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individual and small products. The press release also provided an exhibit with rates for all insurers across the
different regions and tiers.

s HRINY has competitive rates in 2015. In many regions and tiers, HRINY is the lowest cost plan for individual and
small group markets. it is not clear why the CO-OP indicated that the approved rates place their products “fourth or
fifth from the bottom of the market in many regions”. Also, HRINY expects to “retain membership and achieve
growth” through its geographic expansion and competitive price-point {P. 5}.

« Expansion of target market in 2015. According to the June 2014 application, the CO-OP was considering including
30 new counties in its Upstate New York coverage area for 2015. However, in this application the CO-OP is
expanding to only 11 new counties; the applicant does not specify which 11 counties (P. 11}. However, considering
that the applicant currently provides products in all rating areas within the state, this expansion area can be viewed
as greater penetration into some of the rating areas. There is also no mention of why the applicant cuts back from
30 counties.

* HRINY is now projecting an $11.6M loss in 2014 and, therefore, more of the 2013 established premium deficiency
reserve (PDR) is stil! being held in 2014. Upon comparing the pro forma financial statements provided in the june
2014 application and the current application, the CO-OP is projecting a higher loss in 2014 (P. 115). Therefore, more
of this PDR is still being held in 2014. it is unciear how the CO-OP determined the PDR, as a detailed analysis was not
provided. Supporting documentation of the analysis was also not provided.

3. Medical Costs and Losses:

HRINY projects combined medical loss ratios {MLR} for ACA purposes of 83.9%, 87.2%, and 87.2% for years 2014, 2015
and 2016, respectively, which includes the impact of the projected ACA adjustments and the 3Rs. This includes
individual, smali group and large group business. With regards to MLRs, no information has been provided split by the
individual, small and large groups. Excluding the impact of the projected 3Rs and other ACA adjustments, the projected
MLR for 2014, is 93.1% and is expected to decrease to 86.4% in 2015, and 83.1% in 2016, based on a plan to fix the
mispricing of 2014 and greater claims cost efficiencies. Based on eight months of actual claim data, the applicant has
increased the 2014 individual claim projection by approximately 1.7% and lowered the 2014 smali group claim
projection by 2.6% {P. 4). According to the applicant, combined with greater administrative efficiencies, these efforts
are projected to bring HRINY’s profit margin to 3.1% of premiums by 2017 {P. 83}. The 3R receivables are difficult to
estimate and may create issues if relied upon to generate a profit.

The CO-OP plans to make several changes to their provider arrangements to increase the value being delivered by its
provider networks. in the June application, the CO-OP planned to terminate its contract with MagnaCare but based on
this application, its three primary core vendor partners — POMCO, MagnaCare and Morneau Shepeli have voluntarily
agreed to renegotiate their contracts (P. 4). The CO-OP has since decided that it would be best to maintain the
MagnaCare network statewide {P. 73). The CO-OP plans to engage in direct contracting with providers to ensure the cost
structure of its provider network is in line with the pricing for 2015. HRINY also plans to independently contract specialty
services managers for behavioral health, laboratory, and radiology services (P. 74}). Freelancers Union independent
Practice Association {IPA) LLC was formed on September 12, 2014°, It cannot be determined if the IPA will be involved in
provider contracting or other roles for the CO-OP.

In 2015, the CO-OP plans to offer its existing array of products and two new products which it hopes wilt meet unmet
needs in the marketplace {P. 5). The CO-OP also plans on expanding to 11 counties in New York where it cufrently does
not operate, which is less than the 30 counties proposed in its June 2014 application. The applicant did not provide
sufficient information with which to analyze the impact of the geographic expansion and the addition of two new
products on medical costs and losses. However, based upon the rates available for the individual and small group
segments, HRINY has been operating in the rating regions that contain the planned expansion counties. Therefore, the

? Source: http://www.dos.ny.gov/corps/
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CO-0OP's medical cost and loss data to date may reflect, at least in part, its experience within these rating regions for
existing products.

As part of its enroliment strategy, HRINY expects to sell to the large group market in 2015. However, the expansion to
the large group market will focus on companies in the 51-100 range in anticipation of the redefinition of smafl group in
2016, HRINY intends to build awareness in this market segment without increasing marketing expenses by leveraging
existing broker refationships {P. 84}.

The CO-OP has projected morbidity to be egual to the state average. As such, no risk adjustment receipts or payable
relating to 3Rs is projected in the rate filing, The CO-OP is expecting to get $57.6M in reinsurance receivables and
$12.6M in risk corridors receivables from the 3Rs which is 11% and 2% of the total premium respectively during 2014
and $63.3M in reinsurance receivables relating to 3Rs which is 5% of the total premium in 2015. The estimates of
relative risk and risk transfer payments are dependent not only on the membership enroiled by HRINY but aiso by the
other carriers in the state {P. 381). Additionally, there was no information provided on how the commercial reinsurance
program will impact claim costs.

Summary of Observations:

e HRINY expects 2015 morbidity to be similar to 2014 pricing morbidity. The small group market forms the basis
of the CO-OP's manual rates. HRINY assumes the current small group market morbidity to be the same as that
before ACA was passed. When pricing for 2015, the expected morbidity of the small group poputation in New
York was used and adjustments were made to it to caicufate the individual market morbidity. Based on research
conducted by HRINY, individual markets have higher heaith risk than group markets, therefore the CO-OP is
assuming that the individual market morbidity will be 40% higher than the smali group market. No changes were
made since the June 2014 application.

* Expanded provider arrangements. HRINY intended to replace MagnaCare with POMCO’s network in Upstate
New York. However, the CO-OP has decided that it would be best to maintain the MagnaCare network statewide
{P. 73). HRINY plans to engage in direct contracting with providers and pfans to independently contract specialty
services managers for behavioral heaith, laboratory, and radiology services {P. 74}, Engaging in contracts that
are more favorable to the CO-OP would heip reduce its claims costs and help reduce its MLR.

» Specific details on the reinsurance program/strategy were not provided, which may result in a gap in
coverage. Since no details were provided on the reinsurance strategy, it cannot be determined whether there
will be a gap in coverage for both individual and small group business.

¢ The 3Rs receivables are difficult to quantify. This is because of the uncertainty of the industry average
morbidity which is needed to accurately estimate risk adjustment. Risk corridors is calculated after risk
adjustment, and, therefore, it relies upon the risk adjustment estimate, Without these receivables, HRINY wouid
have a loss of $81.8M for 2014 instead of the $11.6M projected in the pro formas.

4. CO-OP Financials:

HRINY's pro forma financial statements project recoveries from the federal reinsurance programs for 2014 through
2016. In the baseline with additional solvency loan scenario (base case scenario}, HRINY projects cumulative net federal
reinsurance recoveries of $122.3M for 2014 through 2016, while it projects to recover $121.6M in the contingency
scenario during the same period. HRINY also projects to receive an additional $12.6M from the risk corridors program in
2014 in all scenarios {P. 50).

Despite the total $62.9M in net receivables that HRINY is projecting to receive from the 3Rs in 2014, it is projecting a loss
of $11.6M in 2014. Absent the recoveries from the 3Rs, HRINY's projected 2014 loss would be $74.5M. With
consideration of the impact of the 3Rs, the applicant expects to achieve profitability in 2015 with a projected net income
of $5.1M in 2015 and $32.4M in 2016 (P. 50). Absent recoveries from the 3Rs, HRINY is projected to incur a loss of
$46.6M in 2015, and achieve profitability in 2016 with projected net income of $12.1M. Per the quarterly regulatory
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filing as of june 30, 2014, HRINY has recorded a PDR of $5.2M in 2013. HRINY projects the change in PDR to decrease by
$3.8M in 2014 and $1.4K in 2015. However, details were not provided for the analysis of the PDR estimate.

Based on the Loan Tracker, the CO-OP has been awarded total funding of $174.5M during the original loan application
{$23.8M in start-up loans and $150.7M in solvency loan funding}, and began issuing health insurance products beginning
in 2014. In September 2014, an additional solvency loan funding of $90.7M was obligated to HRINY, bringing the total
solvency loan award to $241.4M. As of 10/3/2014, $23.0M of the total obligated start-up foan and $132.6M of the total
obligated solvency loan is disbursed to the CO-OP, leaving $736.5K in undisbursed start-up Joan and $108.8M in
undisbursed solvency foan funds obligated to the CO-OP. HRINY is requesting additional solvency loan funding of
$70.5M. Combined with the current solvency loan funding award, the total solvency loan for HRINY would be $311.8M.
As noted in Table 7 below, the CO-OP had originally projected to draw down solvency loan funds from 2014-2017;
however, the applicant’s most recent application projects drawing upon the obligated funds, including the $70.5M
requested in this application, from 2014-2016. As a result, the solvency loan award per enrollee will increase from $982
t0 $1,245.

Table 7: Solvency Loan Award Per Enrollee

Solvency Loan Award per Enrolles

June 2014 Enrofiment Projection

(Average: 2014 - 2017) 245,816
Current Solvency Loan Funding

Obligated 241,366,000
Projected Solver o $§82“

Enrollee {Current Award
September 2014 Enroliment

Projection {Average: 2014 - 2016} 250,539
Additional Solvency Loan Funding

Requested to be Awarded $70,476,000
Total Solvency Loan Funding

 Request $311,842,000

Projected S‘otv‘e:ncy:l.‘oé AP
Enrollee :

HRINY stated that, the additional solvency loan funding is necessary to support {P. 2}:

* Increased membership projections in 2014 and 2015 as compared to enroliment projections provided to CM5 in
June 2014. HRINY projects the 2015 increase in membership despite a 12.9% increase in premiums in individual
rates and a 3.5% increase in small group premiums. HRINY stated that the approved 2015 rates place its products
“fourth or fifth from the bottom of the market in many regions” {P. 5). Despite this product positioning and
increased competition in the market, HRINY projects to retain its members and grow, as its products have “broader
network than lower priced plans” {P. 5). $44.2M of the total additional solvency loan funding is being requested to
support the projected enroliment increase in 2014 and 2015.

¢ $7.5M additional funding needed to support changes in financial data due to updates and changes in
assumptions. HRINY stated that it has increased the 2014 individua! claim projection by approximately 1.7% and
lowered the 2014 small group claim projection by 2.6% based on eight months of actual claim data. However, no
further detail was provided to quantify the impact of the changes in assumptions to substantiate the need for the
requested additional funding.
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s $18.8M in additional solvency loan funding needed to meet the 500% RBC requirement per loan agreement.
New York’s Section 4310 of the insurance statutes requires the CO-OP to maintain a minimum reserve balance
of 12.5% of net premium income as capital and surplus. However, HRINY stated that the DFS is requiring the CO-
OP to maintain an RBC level of 500% of ACL as recommended by CMS, rather than the 15% of net premium
income stated in its application of additional solvency loan funding submitted to CMS in june 2014 {P. 5). No
further documentation is provided to substantiate this requirement. Additionally, there was no further
documentation provided to support the assumptions used in the calculation. HRINY’s projected RBC level
remains above 500% of ACL with the additional solvency loan funding.

Base Case Scenario;

If projections are realized, HRINY projects a foss of $11.6M in 2014, but projects to be profitable thereafter, with
earnings of $5.1M and $32.4M in 2015 and 2016, respectively, and with related profit margin of 0.4% and 1.6%,
respectively {P. 50}. The applicant projects an average profit margin as a percent of premium of 1.7%, which wouid
resuit in cumulative net income of $1.5B from 2015-2034. HRINY projects RBC levels to stay above 500% of ACL during
the entire performance period in the base case scenario, which assumes the requested additional solvency loan funding
of $70.5M will be awarded in full {P. 51).

HRINY is projecting receivables from the 3Rs program from 2014 through 2016, specifically $12.6M in risk corridors in
2014, and net federal reinsurance recoveries in the amounts of $50.2M, $51.8M, and $20.3M in 2014, 2015, and 2016,
respectively (P. 50}. HRINY's latest projection of federal reinsurance recoveries has increased by $29M as compared to
the cumulative federal reinsurance recoveries projected by HRINY in its June 2014 pro forma submissions to CM5. No
further information was provided as to the reason for this increase.

The applicant is approved to increase its individual premium by 12.9% in 2014, which is 2% lower than its projected
premium increase. HRINY is also approved to increase its small group premium by 3.5% in 2014, which is 2.4% less than
projected premium increase for the smalf group market {P. 5). The applicant stated that the pro formas provided with
this application and the additional solvency loan request is based on the average approved premium pricing {P. 36, 67).
Despite these lower than projected premium increases, HRINY projects net income of $5.1M in 2015. The applicant
projects premium increases of 11% and 10% in 2016 and 2017, respectively in the individual market {P. 73}. If
projections are realized, HRINY projects a cumulative net income of $1.5B from 2015 — 2034, which is higher than the
total start-up and solvency loan obligations, including the additional solvency loan request of $70.5M. HRINY projects to
start repayment of solvency ioans in 2021 and continue to make repayments through 2031, until the total soivency loan
obligation is paid in full.

The applicant states that it intends to become profitable in 2015 by increasing its premiums, making changes to its
medical cost structure, and improving its processes; specifically through investing in technology to enable automation in
enroliment and claims, and by renegotiating and reducing its vendor costs by 7% by 2015. The applicant also explains
that the automation of enroliment and claims processes should reduce its costs due to avoiding incremental
administrative staffing during open enroliment. To achieve a 7% reduction in vendor costs, HRINY notes it is currently
pursuing a process to integrate independent vendors to achieve efficiency in its operations and also pursue a
renegotiation of its vendor contracts {P. 80). HRINY relies upon its vendors for billing and enroliment, member and
brokerage services, medical management, claims adjudication, provider network management, pharmacy benefits
management, and website and data warehouse management (P. 79). While HRINY describes its vendor functions in
detail, the applicant does not provide a budgeted schedule for its current vendor costs nor for its costs following
contract renegotiations; therefore, the nature and impact of these cost reductions cannot be determined. Furthermore,
no information was provided by the applicant to substantiate a 7% reduction in vendor costs.

Additionally, as described in the August 22, 2014 memo from CMS5, the CO-OP was required to file a budget form as part
of its application which would detail its expenses for 2014 through 2016. However, HRINY did not provide a budget
detailing its expenses for 2014 through 2016. Additionally, per the New York State Department of Corporations, during
2014, the Freelancers Union has created two entities, Freelancers Union iPA, LLC and Freelancers Brokerage, Inc. There
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is no information provided in the application that describes a relationship with these new entities, Excluding the lack of
detail jaid out in its budgeted costs, HRINY's pro forma income statement ties to its business plan, as the administrative
cost ratio {ACR} is projected to decrease from 21.6% in 2014 to 16.9% in 2015 and 15.7% in 2016. HRINY’s ACR ranges
from 21.6% down to 12.5% through 2034, with an average ACR of 14.2%. Additionally, HRINY stated that a reduction in
general and administrative costs per member will be 37% in 2015 and 10% in 2016 (P. 83). The applicant states that it
expects to achieve these efficiencies; “despite growing fixed G&A expenses.. due to greater scale, renegotiated
contracts, and supplier efficiencies” {P. 83). However, as previously noted, the applicant does not provide a breakout of
its administrative costs, nor does it provide a detailed summary of its expected costs savings or specifics on its
renegotiated vendor contracts. Additionally, it doesn’t appear that HRINY accounts for Marketplace fees within its
projections, However, the applicant stated that the Marketplace fees are eliminated for 2014 and 2015 {P. 88}. No
supporting documentation was provided to verify this statement. The applicant does not project Marketplace fees in the
pro forma throughout the entire performance period. Additionally, no detail was provided on the Marketplace fee the
state would require insurers to pay beginning in 2016.

The applicant’s MLR, including the impact of the 3Rs and without including the impact of ACA adjustments, is 81.6% and
82.7% for 2014 and 2015 respectively. As noted above, HRINY projects net recoveries of $50.2M, $51.8M, and $20.3M in
2014, 2015, and 2016, respectively, from the federal reinsurance programs. Additionally, HRINY projects to receive
payment of $12.6M from risk corridors in 2014. Absent these recoveries from the 3Rs, HRINY's MLR will be 93.9% in
2014 and 87.0% in 2015, without including the impact of ACA adjustments.

HRINY projects to receive additional solvency loan funding in the amount of $70.5M and projects to draw down its full
solvency awards by 2016 (P. 118}. The applicant plans to fully repay the solvency loan by 2031, if projections are
realized. Per the base case pro forma balance sheet, HRINY projects RBC level to remain above 500% throughout the
performance period.

Stress Test Scenario;

Under the base case with a mild stress test scenario (stress test scenario}, HRINY projects to receive increased additional
solventy loan funding of $283.9M to combat a 10% increase in claims cost due to uncertainty in pricing. In the stress test
scenario, the applicant asserts that rate increases were assumed to maintain a reasonable level of profitability to
generate a surplus to enable it to pay off its solvency loan {P. 43). Revenues and administrative costs remain static, as
evidenced by the same ACR as in the base case.

The primary difference of the stress test scenario as compared to the base case scenario is its projection of PDR. in the
stress test scenario, HRINY projects a $102.M increase in change in reserves due to PDR in 2014. However, details
relating to projecting this evel of PDR were not provided in the application. This represents a net change of $105.8M in
total expenses, resuiting in a projected net loss of total $117.7M in 2014, with the assumption of receiving net
reinsurance recoveries of $50.2M and a receipt of $12.6M in risk corridors payments. Absent recoveries from federal
reinsurance program and risk corridors payments, 2014 losses would near $180.5M. Under this scenario, according to
the applicant’s pro forma balance sheet, the RBC level is projected to stay above 500% of ACL until 2029.

Summary of Observotions:

* 10% or more in premium increases projected through 2017 for the individual market. HRINY’s ability to break even
is contingent on increase in premiums by higher than 10% in 2015 and 2016. The appliicant is approved to increase
its 2015 premium for the individual market by approximately 13% in 2015 and projects to increase its premium by
11% in 2016 and 10% in 2017. It cannot be determined whether HRINY will be able to meet its projected enroliment
and premium revenues as well as retain current members with this level of premium increases.

« $102 M PDR projected in 2014 in stress test scenario. In the stress test scenario, HRINY projected a change in PDR
of $102.0M in 2014, However, no documentation supporting the analysis of the PDR was provided. The applicant
recorded PDR of 5.2M in 2013.

* Budget not provided for 2014 through 2016 to support proposed red in inistrative exp in the
base case scenario, the applicant projects a 7% reduction in vendor costs through renegotiated contracts and also
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projects to reduce its administrative expenses in 2015 and 2016, Additionally, the applicant stated that the overait
reduction in administrative expenses per member will be 37% in 2015 and 10% in 2016. However, no details are
provided by HRINY as to what the actual cost reductions are and with what vendors it expects to renegotiate its
contracts. HRINY did not provide its budget or administrative costs per member to support the projected cost
reductions.

« Change in reserve requirement by the state DFS not substantiated. HRINY stated that $18.8M of the total
additional solvency loan funding request is to meet DFS’s requirement for the applicant to meet the 500% RBC
requirement as recommended by CMS, As noted within the Findings Reuortm the CO-OP is required to maintain a
12.5% of net premium income as capital and surplus per New York’s Section 4310 of the insurance statutes.
However, HRINY stated that the New York DFS is now requiring the CO-OP to maintain an RBC level of S00% of ACL
as recommended by CMS. No further documentation was provided to substantiate this requirement.

S. Contingency Plan;

The contingency scenario assumes $36.2M in additional solvency loan funding will be awarded rather than the $70.5M
assumed in the base case scenario (P. 43). Combined with the current solvency loan funding award, the total solvency
loan for HRINY under the contingency scenario would be $277.6M. The applicant did not provide pro formas for
contingency scenario with no additional solvency loan funding as outlined in the August 22, 2014 memo from CMS,

As outlined in its application, HRINY discusses two scenarios in the event that the full additional solvency ioan of $70.5M
is not awarded: either identifying outside financing or scaling down its operations by increasing premiums higher than
rates projected in base case scenario, withdrawing products, or withdrawing from service areas, so it can meet solvency
requirements {P. 12 and 13). The applicant does not provide further detail on how it plans to secure outside financing (P.
S). However, the applicant mentions having taken outside expert counsel’s opinion on “multiple aiternative funding
options, including lender financing, additional investments, and foundation grants” and concluded that none of the
alternative financing options are feasible {P. 12).

HRINY stated that if only $36.2M of additional solvency loan funding is awarded, it refies on requesting premium rate
increases of 12.5% for the individual market and 6.5% for the small group market in 2016 to seif-fund its solvency {P.
12). In the event the $36.2M in additional solvency loan funding is not awarded to HRINY, the applicant projects 2016
rates for the individual market to increase by 14% while projecting rates for small group market to increase by 8% {P.
43). HRINY projects such increase in premium wiil slow membership growth by 50,000 in 2016 and an additional 30,000
in 2017 (P. 107}). The applicant further stated that while the increase in premium will help the CO-OP to sustain its
operation, “the impact would reduce the success and positive benefits of the CO-OP program in New York and diminish
Health Republic’s ability to execute on its mission” {P. 6).

In the contingency plan, the applicant plans to reduce its membership fevel by “product rationalization and service area
withdrawal” {P. 107). However, no further detail is provided on which service areas the applicant plans to withdraw in
the event of no additional solvency loan funding. As presented in the pro formas for the contingency scenario, HRINY
projects average enroliment level to stay static through 2015 as projected in the base case scenario. HRINY projects
enroliment projections in the contingency scenario to go down beginning in 2016 as compared to projections in the base
case scenario. The pro formas provided for the contingency scenario assumes HRINY will receive an additional solvency
loan funding of $36.2M.

The applicant’s contingency plan represented in its pro forma income statement shows increased premium revenues per
member as compared to its base case scenario. Table 8 below highlights enroliment projections, premium revenues,
average gross premium revenues per member, and ACR for 2015 through 2020.

Table 8: Gross Premiums per Member and ACR Comparison: Base case vs. Contingency Plan
*° HRINY Cooperative 7/18/2014 Findings Report (7/18/2014 Findings Report) provided to CMS on July 18, 2014
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2015 2017 2018 2019 200
Base Case Scenario
Average Members 261,839 373,339 430,839 439,456 448,245 457,210
Net Premium Earned {$000} 1,234,680 | 1,916,341 | 2,384,669 2,557,487 |2,742,791 | 2,948,450
Average Annual Gross
Premium per Member {$000) 4.8 5.3 5.7 6.0 6.3 6.6
ACR 16.9% 15.7% 14.7% 14.5% 14.4% 14.3%
Contil Plan Scenario (With $36.3M in Additional Solvency Loan Funding)
Average Members 261,839 360,339 404,339 412,426 420,674 429,088
Net Premium Earned (5000) 1,234,680 | 1,875,481 | 2,269,186 2,433,725 | 2,610,161 | 2,806,011
Average Annual Gross
Premium per Member {$000) 4.9 5.4 5.8 6.1 6.4 6.7
ACR 16.9% 15.6% 14.6% 14.5% 14.3% 14.2%
Summary of Observations:

HRINY projects $2.5B in cumulative profits through 2034 compared to its base case scenario. in its contingency
scenario, the applicant projects a cumulative net profit of $2.5B from 2015 — 2034, HRINY projects to earn $1.5B in
cumulative net profits from 2015 ~ 2034 in the base case scenario, which is lower than the projected cumulative
profit in the contingency scenario. The increase in projected cumulative profit in the contingency scenario may be
attributable to the increase in premiums, as HRINY plans to increase its rates in the event the full amount of the
requested additional solvency foan funding is not awarded.

Pro formas presenting enrolf t and fi ial projection for a contingency scenario with no additional sofvency
funding not provided. HRINY discussed several actions that it will implement in the event no additional solvency
funding is awarded. However, no detail was provided to substantiate the impact of the proposed actions.
Additionally, the proposed increases in premiums were not reflected in its pro formas for the contingency scenario.
As a result, the impact of the contingency scenario with no additional solvency loan funding cannot be assessed.

Solvency Loan Request Points

Sections Potential Total
Enroliment 15 13
Product Pricing 20 16
Medical Costs and Losses 15 14
CO-OP Financials 15 9.5
Score oo S - i 65 |

Contingency Plan Points

Contingency Plan Potential Total
Overall 10
[ Score o : S : o] 10
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CoOportunity Health
Domiciled in lowa
Additional Solvency Loan Funding Request Report
Date Submitted to CMS: 07/18/2014

Scope Summary & Assumptions:

« Deloitte will not provide an opinion regarding the reasonableness of the proposed changes to each CO-OP’s
business plan. Nor will Deloitte provide an opinion regarding the likelihood of each CO-OP achieving sustainable
operations based upon the revised business plan.

* Deloitte assumes that the information provided by each CO-OP in its modified business plan is complete and
accurate, Deloitte will perform its assessment of the data provided “as is”, Deloitte will also use other data sources
that are publicly accessible or information provided directly from the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services
{CMS), Deloitte will notify CMS if we believe that there is insufficient information to complete our review.

* Theimpact of the Reinsurance, Risk Adjustment and Risk Corridors Program (the 3Rs, reinsurance, risk adjustment,
and/or risk corridors} was reviewed when making observations and comments throughout this report.
Observations and comments relating to the impact of the 3Rs are included for informationat purposes only. There
was no consideration of the reasonableness or propriety of any of the amounts relating to the 3Rs. Based on the
scoring criteria provided by CMS, observations and comments relating to the 3Rs had a net neutral effect on the
scoring.

= in reviewing applications from CO-OPs for additional solvency foan funding requests, Deloitte reviewed supporting
documentation, requested of the applicants by CMS in a memo to the CO-OPs distributed on April 30, 2014. The
format of the reports as well as the section scoring was approved by CMS during the week of june 2, 2014. The
score for the Contingency Plan section should be viewed independently of scoring for the other sections of this
report. For all sections, Deloitte provided comments on issues only for which the applicant provided data.
Observations relating to the pro forma financial statements are based on the base case with additional solvency
award scenario, unless otherwise noted.

Executive Summary:

CoOportunity Heaith {COH or CO-OP or applicant) has submitted a request to CMS for $32.7M of additional solvency loan
funding. Of this request, $9.8M appears designed to cover 2014 operating Josses. See the CO-OP Financials section for
further details.

COH has exceeded its enroiiment projections in the original* funding application, which the CO-OP attributes to the
Medicaid/iowa Marketplace Choice Pian (IMCP} federal waiver in owa, Exclusive Provider Product (EPO) product offering
in select areas of lowa, growth opportunities in urban areas, and tailored product strategies. As a result, COH is projecting
a loss in 2014, but expects to be profitabie in 2015 and 2016. The CO-OP intends to correct losses to achieve profitability
by increasing premium rates by 17% in 201S. Rate increases above 10% proposed for any product wilt require federal
review. No information was provided as to how this premium rate increase will impact the enroliee retention. COH does
not project to reduce its administrative expenses in 2015, as it projects its administrative cost ratio {ACR} to stay at or
above 15% of its premium revenue through 2020. COH states in its application if it does not receive the requested funding,

* all references to “originat” — including, but not limited to, “original funding application,” “original application,” and “original
projections” ~ refer to HCT’s 2011 application for CMS start-up and salvency foan funding, operations commencing in 2014.
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it may merge with another CO-OP or large heaithcare entity or freeze enroliment. See the Contingency Plan section for
further details.

When COH’s requested $32.7M is combined with the current solvency foan funding award of $97.9M, COH’s total solvency
{oan would be $130.6M. NOTE: the total solvency foan funding recorded in COH’s pro forma financial statements {pro
formas} in the best scenario is $116.7M, which is $13.9M fess than the applicant requested. However, the applicant will
still meet the risk based capital {(RBC) level of 500% of authorized control level {ACL) throughout the entire performance
period in the expected case, best case, and contingency plan scenarios. See the CO-OP Financials section for further details,

COH projects to receive a total of $94.8M in solvency foan funding by year end 2014, leaving $3.1M of obligated solvency
loan funding undisbursed as of year end 2014, The original application’s pro formas projected average enroliees of 53,332,
which yields a per enroliee cost of $1,836. The updated pro formas are projecting average enrollees of 115,947 based on
projected solvency loan proceeds of $116.7M, which yields a per enroliee cost of $1,006.

1t appears COH may be utilizing CM5-funded infrastructure intended for commercial business to offer HSA eligible plans
as part of its product mix. It is unclear whether this product option is only available to members enrolling on the
Marketplace. In addition, the CO-OP may intend to use its CM5-funded infrastructure to target self-insured populations
that will not contribute to the overall growth of actual CO-OP membership within the small and large group market
segments, it cannot be determined what portion of the CO-OP’s enroliment, if any, refates to this business. Please see the
Enroliment section for further details.

Critical Assertians:
1. Enroliment

Figure 1: Enrofiment Exceeds Original 2011 Projections for 2014-2016

120,000 COH provided a revised business pfan in
Jjune 2014, which includes updated

100,000 enroliment projections. The updated
80,000 enroliment projections indicate COH will
! achieve a total enroliment of 66,101 by year
60,000 end 2014, which is 55,000 more than
original projections. Based on the revised

40,000 4 " L _ B Members business plan, COH states current
20,000 A P L - membership is 76,000 members but
" ‘ . _ projects to achieve 75,000 by year end 2014

0 I 'T 7 {P.3 and 90). Additionally, the pro forma

2011 E 4/30 2011 { 4/30 ] financial  statements {pro  formas)

¥ :/r;% ;/r;% submitted with the revised business plan

indicate a total projected enroliment of

2014 | 2015 1 2016 i 66,101 for 2014. In its additional solvency

loan funding application, COH indicated it

Source: Applicant’s 2011 Original Application, 4/30/14, ond 6/30/14 Pra Formas has achieved an enroliment level of more

than 68,000 members by close of the open
enroliment period in 2014 {P. 49}. However, COH’s regulatory filing for the first quarter in 2014 indicates that, as of March
31, 2014, COH has enrolled 50,740 members. While it is clear that COH has achieved more enrofiment than its original
application projection, no documentation or explanation is provided substantiating the reason for discrepancies in the
actual current enrofiment level.
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Through April 2014, COH reports that approximately 40% of members were individuals that enrolled on the IA State
Partnership Marketplace {{A Marketpiace} or the NE Federally-facilitated Marketplace {NE Marketplace}, while another
25% were individuals that enrolled off Marketplace {P. 4). The term ‘Marketplace’ indicates that a statement is applicable
to both the lowa and Nebraska Marketplaces. The remaining third is comprised of employer-sponsored plans, the vast
majority {over 95%} of which is smail businesses who enrolied in the open market (P. 4}. As employer-sponsored plans
are self-insured plans, the CO-OP would exclude the members from employer-sponsored pians in enroilment in its
regulatory filings. Additionally, no further detall is provided to determine whether the CO-OP has included enroliments
from employer-sponsored plans in its current enroliment projections.

As a result of this unexpectedly rapid growth, the CO-OP is experiencing challenges due to “higher premium and claims
volume” {P. 3). Higher loss ratios, caused by the higher risk profile of a larger than expected number of its enrollees, are
leading to cash flow and liquidity concerns relating to the timing of 3Rs payment receipts {P. 3}. For these reasons, COH is
applying for additional solvency loan funding to meet these chailenges.

Membership growth is lower for 2015 and 2016 as compared to original projections. The majority of this decrease has
been attributed to the “CO-OP having already captured some of these members and the fact that the lowa regulator
continues to alfow Welimark to renew non-compiiant pre-ACA policies” {P. 7). The application does not break out the
impact of non-compliant pre-ACA policies in its enroliment projections for 2014.

Overali enroiiment for 2014 in lowa and Nebraska is projected to exceed original projections by approximately 55,000
members. COH also projects to exceed original 2015 and 2016 projections by approximately 67,000 and 61,000,
respectively. Over the entire performance period, COH expects to enroll 380,000 additional members than originally
projected. The applicant did not provide any additional information on the projected breakout between on and off
Marketplace enroliment. Therefore, it cannot be determined if the CO-OP will be in compliance with Title 45, Code of
Federal Regulations {CFR} § 156.515(c}{1) and (d} relating to requirements for CO-OPs under the Affordable Care Act {ACA},
which requires two-thirds of total members to be from the Marketplace.

The applicant does not provide a breakdown of its revised enrollment projections for individual, smalt group, and large
group market segments. As a result, it cannot be determined whether its projected enroliment accounts for the change in
small group and large group definitions in 2016, when the small group size changes from 1-50 to 1-100 employees, and
therefore the large group size changes to begin at 101 enroliees. However, the applicant anticipates it will experience
ongoing growth rates at much the same rate as the original projections, but from a higher base due to the higher capture
rate in 2014. According to the applicant, due to its relative success in rural areas, COH projects it will maintain growth
rates through the targeting of the more populous urban areas in both Nebraska and lowa. it expects to meet its enroliment
growth goals of 15,000 additional members per year in 2015 and 2016 through the growth of its individual and smafl group
membership base (P. 7). However, it predicts the enroliment growth of 18,000 in 2017 will be “primarily due to changes
opening up the large group market to the Marketplace” {P. 61). It is unclear whether this projected gain in large group
enroliment includes enrollment from self-insured business. The applicant provides a list of assumptions underlying these
estimates, but does not provide additional information discussing the impacts of these assumptions on its ability to meet
enroliment projections in a specific market segment or targeted market {P. 62}. Overall, COH expects that growth will
ramp down to 7,000 new members in 2018, to 6,000 in 2019, and to 5,000 members in subsequent years {3-4% annuatlly)
(P. 62).

COH provided reasons in its revised business plan for the change in enroliment projections in specific market segments as

compared to those provided in its original business plan, These reasons, along with COH’s proposed actions, are provided
in Table 1 below.
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Table 1: Documentation Provided for Change in Enroliment Projections

Reasons Cited by COH

for Higher Than
Projected Enroliment

Medicaid/lowa
Marketplace Choice Plan
{IMCP) federal waiver in
fowa

178

£OH's Proposed Action

1. Target IMCP-eligible population.
Due to the federal waiver,
individuals in lowa earning between
101% and 138% of the Federal
Poverty Level were allowed to enroll
in private plans. COH was able to
enroll nearly 33% more of the {MCP-
eligible population than originally
expected through June 2014 {8,000
total} {P. 92). COH wili focus on
using its customer service
experience to retain current
members and prevent enroliment
shifts between carriers. While the
CO-OP has not hired additional staff
specifically targeting this
population, it has added staff to
accommodate additional customer
call traffic (P, 92).

COH's Justification

The applicant states projecting additional
Medicaid enroliment is difficult because
another carrier could be included in the
statewide program and offered to existing
members {P. 92). Determining enroliment
rate shifts among existing members remains
difficult to estimate as well. The applicant
did not provide details on the source of its
projection estimates. in addition, relative to
its original application, the applicant
increased its full-time equivalent tevel from
11 to 40 to accommodate increased
customer traffic. However, it is not clear if
the additional staff members are accounted
for in the revised budget.

EPO product offering in
select areas of lowa

1. investin staff to support narrow

networks,

The applicant reached agreements
with large heaith care organizations
to bring narrow network products to
the market featuring these large
providers (P. 93}, The CO-OP’s
product portfolio mix has been
expanded to include an EPO and a
“tiered” network providing
customers with the best benefits if it
used the affiliated providers {P. 93).
The CO-OP added two additional
staff members at an incrementaf
cost of approximately $180,000 to
negotiate provider contracts and
manage ongoing provider
communications,

COH states that among individual
purchasers in fowa, 75% {9,000 of 12,000
members} have chosen the EPO or tiered
product {P. 93). Conversely, fewer than 20%
of small or large group purchasers chose the
narrower network options. Compared to
original estimates, the CO-OP was able to
expand upon its non-Medicaid enroliment
by 17,000 due to these new products {P.
93}. it cannot be determined if the costs for
these additionat staff members are included
in administrative expenses. (P. 93)
Additionally, no information was provided
for costs other than staff.

Growth opportunities in
urban areas

1. Focus on meeting needs of

consumers in key metropolitan
areas.

COH formed relationships with the
University of lowa Health Alliance
{UIHA} and providers in the major
metropolitan areas of towa to attain

COH stated it developed a more price
competitive EPO product in partnership with
new providers and heaith care institutions in
urban areas. The applicant did not provide
documentation of the impact these price
changes would have on enroliment in
specific market segments,
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Tailored product
strategies

a better price position vis-a-vis
competitors.

1. Target minority communities. COH stated that it captured 33% more
COH continues to use “innovative” iMCP-eligible enrollees than projected
marketing tools to target specific {8,000 vs. 6,000) in 2014 {P. 62). However,
populations {P. 53). it enrofled in the | the applicant did not provide a breakdown
IMCP, tailored to low-income of the demographics of these enroliees.
populations, and worked with While it did provide a general demographic
community groups and community | breakdown of its enroliees in lowa and
heaith centers to capture minority Nebraska, COH did not provide a
groups, young people and families. comparison to its original projections among

these populations.

2. Target employers. The applicant introduced features such as
COH will continue to form alliances | “Three-for-Free” and “Healthy Rewards,” as
with associations, technology well as standard plans and HSA-eligible
companies, and other affinity plans at each metat level. While this was
organizations to provide a tailored cited as a reason for increased market share
set of products to the empioyer on the Marketplace, the applicant did not
market, especially smatif employers provide any documentation of this claim.
(P. 53).

3. Utilize heaith systems, The applicant states the strategy ultimately
COH introduced a “tiered” product ted to most individua! purchasers choosing
option to the lowa market after the tiered or EPO product based on price
reaching an agreement with UIHA to | and that group purchasers overwhelmingly
feature it as the “top tier” ina chose the broad PPO pian {P. 10}. The
product that offered better benefits | applicant did not provide a breakdown of
to people using that network. UIHA | the enroliment in each of these plans or
uitimately offered to use the tiered | their direct impact on future enroliment
product in every county in lowa and | projections.
the EPO in 76 of the 99 counties.

Summary of Observations:

» Enroliment projections were exceeded. According to the CMS CO-OP Enroliment Comparison Report as of

4/30/2014 (Data Summary) and the applicant’s 4/30/2014 pro formas, the enroliment projections were exceeded
by nearly 16% through the end of the first enroliment period. The revised business plan’s projection of 75,000
total enrollees for ail of 2014 has already been exceeded, as of the June 2014 application for additional solvency
foan funding. The applicant has not provided a breakdown of future enrolfees into the large, small, and individual
market segments beyond 2015. Although the revised business plan discusses the markets to be targeted going
forward, it does not provide any enroliment projection estimates for these markets. Finally, the enroliment
estimates summarized in the revised business plan are based upon the figures provided in Exhibit 1. {P. 90}.

The enroliment estimates between application and pro formas differ, at times, by over 20,000 per year. The
assumed enroliment levels in Exhibit 1 in the application are 75,000 in 2014, 90,000 in 2015, 105,000 in 2016, and
123,000 in 2017 {P. 90). By comparison, the estimates in the pro formas provide enroliment estimates of
approximately 66,000 in 2014, 116,000 in 2015, 133,000 in 2016, and 148,000 in 2017. (P. 127). The reason for
the differences is not described in the application; where application and pro formas assumption differ, it is the
numbers in the pro formas that are assumed to take precedence.

Enroliment population is higher risk than previously forecast. The applicant states the primary reason for
requesting additional solvency ioan funding is due to higher premium and claims volume, higher loss ratios, and a
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higher risk enroliment population than previously forecast. Due to the uncertainty of its enroliment projections
and the risk profile of future enrollees, it is unclear that the requested amount of additional solvency toan funding
reflects the amount required to meet the CO-OP’s future capitalization and fiquidity requirements during the
growth projected during 2014-2017.

e Use of CMS-funded infrastructure to offer HSA eligible plans and self-insured administration. it appears the CO-
OP may be utilizing CMS-funded infrastructure intended for commercial business to offer HSA eligible plans as
part of its product mix. It is unclear whether this product option is only available to members enrolling on the
Marketplace. In addition, the CO-OP may intend to use its CMS-funded infrastructure to enroll self-insured
populations that would not be included in the overall enroliment projections for the smali and large group market
segments. It cannot be determined what portion of the CO-OP’s enrofiment, if any, relates to seif-insured business.
CMS may want to consider discussing this issue further with the CO-OP.

+ Breakout of on and off Marketplace enrollment not provided. it cannot be determined if the CO-OP will be in
compliance with Title 45, Code of Federal Regufations {CFR} § 156.515(c}(1) and (d) relating to requirements for
C0-OPs under the Affordable Care Act {ACA), which requires two-thirds of total members to be from the
Marketplace.

2. Product Pricing

COH’s 2014 enroliment was higher than anticipated. The applicant’s products are distributed through muitiple channels
and, according to the applicant, have growing acceptance. The growth in enroliment has been higher than expected.
These levels were not forecasted to occur until 2020 in the originai application {P. 3).

In lowa, Wellmark Blue Cross Blue Shield has captured more than 80% of the individual product and 50% of the smail-
group product market share. in Nebraska, Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Nebraska has captured about 60% of the individual
product and 40% of the small-group product market share {P.16}.

The CO-OP has fower 2014 premiums in three of the four rating areas of Nebraska in the individual market and in the
small-group market everywhere. [n lowa, the CO-OP has higher silver plan premiums than competitors by as much as 20%
in most rating areas, other than one, where its premiums are the lowest. According to the CO-OP, its small-group rates
were very competitive statewide {P. 12). Tables 2, 3, 4 and 5 below show the CO-OP’s premiums compared to other
competitors within each area. COH does not have the lowest premiums for individual for most rating areas on the 1A
Marketplace; however, COH does have the lowest premiums for most rating areas on the NE individual Marketplace. For
the small group market, COH has the lowest premiums in all rating areas on the iA and most of the rating areas on the NE
Marketplace.

According to the applicant, the effects of early renewal, transitional policies, and steerage of high risk customers in both
1A and NE have alf combined to raise their average claims loss ratio significantly. COH believes part of this increase may
be due to “pent-up demand” factors {P. 40}. COH is also projecting a S10M loss in 2014. As a result, COH may need to
consider establishing a premium deficiency reserve {PDR} to address the loss in 2014, as well as any need for PDR related
to these products. The PDR would also impact the applicant’s surplus.

Per page 3 of ‘Milliman Memo {A Indvd! Rate Filing.pdf,’ for the lowa individual market, COH’s proposed rates effective
January 1, 2015 reflect a 7.0% and 12.3% rate increase for the Premier and Preferred products, respectively. The proposed
rate change does not vary by region but does vary by plan. There are no significant changes in cost sharing or rating factors
{e.g., age, tobacco} in this rate filing, other than changes to the base premium rate and rate relativities by plan. The
requested rate change varies by plan due to provider reimbursement changes and revised benefit relativities. Base rate
changes are the resuit of medical inflation, utilization, provider contracts, taxes and fees, federal reinsurance program
changes, morbidity, expenses, and profit margin.

The projected loss ratio, including the impact of the ACA adjustments, is 85.4%. ACA adjustments include such items as
quality improvement expenses and taxes/fees. With rate increase of upwards of 10%, there is no mention of how it will
impact retention of current members. The pro formas show an average increase in premiums of 17% in aggregate from
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2014 to 2015 and a 6% decrease in costs. it is unclear how the rate increases discussed within the 2015 rate filings tie to
the aggregate changes within the pro formas.

Per page 3 of ‘Milliman Memo Indvd] Rate Filing.pdf,’ for the Nebraska individual market, COH's proposed rates effective
January 1, 2015 reflect a 7.9% rate increase for the Premier product. The proposed rate change varies by region and plan.
There are no significant changes in cost sharing. This rate filing includes changes to the base premium rate, rate relativities
by ptan, and area factors. The requested rate change varies by plan due to provider reimbursement changes and revised
benefit relativities. Base rate changes are similar to those mentioned above for the Jowa market.

The projected joss ratio, including the impact of the ACA adjustments, is 81.3%.

Per page 5 of ‘iA 5m Grp Milliman.pdf,’ for towa small group market, preliminary 2015 pricing indicates COH needs to
increase rates approximately 3.9% and 8.6% for its Premier and Preferred products, respectively. COH will be terminating
its Choice Product at the end of 2014 and introducing its CorePlus product during 2015 in the fowa small group market.
No explanation was provided in the 2015 rate filing for these changes in products.

The applicant has provided the 2015 rate filing memos for towa and Nebraska individual markets, but only a preliminary
2015 pricing memo for the fowa small group market. The applicant does not provide a 2015 rate filing memo or a
prelfiminary 2015 pricing memo for the Nebraska small-group market. This component of the market represents
approximately 10% of the total enroliment within the two states {P. 336-337}.

The applicant is considering expanding coverage into eight counties in far western iflinois. Per the applicant, peopte from
this area go to hospitals in the Quad Cities as well as Dubuque, Clinton, Muscatine, Burlington, and the University of lowa.
COH has “had discussions with 1Hlinois regulators, who are receptive to the plan assuming support comes from the
Department of Human Services {DHS) and CMS” {P. 7). The applicant does not identify how much, if any, of the additional
solvency loan funding would be used for expansion into iltinois.

Per page 3 of ‘Milliman Memo Indvd! Rate Filing.pdf’ and ‘Milliman Memo IA Indvdl Rate Filing.pdf,” since the CO-OP is a
start-up operation, the initial estimates for the individual business are based on industry data and adjusted by the CO-OPs
external actuary to fit COH’s specific situation.

Tables 2 and 3 provide a comparison for the 2014 single age 27 premiums for the CO-OP versus competitors with the
lowest premium product across one of the same rating areas in the lowa and Nebraska individual Marketplaces, whereas,
Tables 4 and 5 provide similar information in the fowa and Nebraska smalt group Marketplaces. Highlighted areas denote
the lowest premium for the particular area.

Table 2: 2014 Premiums on the lowa individual Marketplace

Rating: - Rating . Rating . Rating Rating - Rating Raﬂng‘
tstrer and Product Namig Wetalftier . Areal  Areal  Area3 Aread Areah Areat Areal

CoOportunity Health

168.3
CoOportunity Preferred HSA Ui Health Alliance Bronze Bronze 168.86 14528 172.79 178.53 171.88 158.54 b

Covenitry Heaith Care of fowa inc.
Bronze Deductible Only HMO HSA Efigible Methodist

Health Partners Bronze
8ronze Deductible Only POS HSA Eligible Patient

Preferred Bronze
Bronze Deductible Only POS HSA Eligible UnityPoint

Health Bronze
Bronze Deductible Only POS HSA Eligible UnityPoint

Health 0 Des Moines Bronze

CoOportunity Health

210.0
18015 231427 22138 213.26 208.99 1

CoOportunity Preferred HSA Ul Health Alliance Silver Silver

Coventry Health Care of lowa inc.
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Rating. . Rating . Rating Rating
Aread . Ardad Areat Area?

Rating - Rating
Areal  Area2

Rating.
Aread

insurer and Product Name MetalfTiee

Sitver $10 Copay HMO Methodist Heaith Partners Silver
Sitver $10 Copay POS Patient Preferred Siver
Sitver $10 Copay POS UnityPoint Heaith Sitver
Silver $10 Copay POS UnityPoint Health { Des Moines Sitver 214.42
CoOportunity Health
247.4
CoQportunity Preferred HSA Ui Health Alfiance Gold Gold 24676 21228 25251 26088 25130 24628 7

Coventry Health Care of lowa Inc,

Gold $5 Copay HMO Methodist Health Partners Gold
Gold $5 Copay POS Patient Preferred Gold
Gold $5 Copay POS UnityPoint Health Gold
Gold $5 Copay POS UnityPoint Health 0 Des Moines Gold
Avera Health Plans
385.1
Avera MyPlan $250 / 10% Coinsurance Platinum 385.12 2
CoOportunity Health
CoOportunity Preferred Ul Health Alliance Platinum Platinum
Gundersen Heaith Plan, Inc.
407.1
Platinum $500 - 20% Platinum 407.13 3
CoOportunity Health
CoOportunity Preferred Ut Health Alllance Catastropht 154.5
Catastrophic (4 154.09 13257 15768 16291 15693 153.79 4

Coventry Health Care of lowa In¢,

Catastrophi
Catastrophic 100% HMO Methodist Health Partners [
Catastrophi
Catastrophic 100% POS Patient Preferred c
Catastrophi
Catastrophic 100% POS UnityPoint Health <
Catastrophic 100% POS UnityPoint Health { Des Catastrophi %;‘ .
Moines <

Insurer and Product Name.
Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Nebraska

Ateal | RatungAraad Ra

SelectBiuePlus $4750 HOHP Bronze Bronze

CoOportunity Health

CoQportunity Premier HSA Bronze Bronze

Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Nebraska

SelectBluePlus $1500 HDHP Silver Sitver 210.13
CoOpaortunity Health
CoOportunity Premier HSA Silver Sitver 240.98
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Insurer and Product Name Metal/Tier ng Aread | Ratingdrea2
Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Nebraska
BlueEssentialsPlus $1000 Gold Gold 329.62 328.62 328.62 329,62

CoOportunity Health

CoOportunity Premier HSA Goid Gald
Coventry Health Care of Nebraska Inc.

Gold $5 Copay HMO Methodist Heaith Partners Gold
CoOportunity Health

CoOportunity Premier Platinum Platinum

Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Nebraska
BlueEssentialsPlus $6350 Catastrophic Catastrophic 157.57 157.57 157.57 157.57

CoOportunity Health

CoQportunity Premier Catastrophic Catastrophic 181.26 152.83 142.42 142.08

Coventry Health Care of Nebraska inc.
Catastrophic 100% HMO Methodist Heaith
Partners Catastrophic

Catastrophic 100% POS Plan Catastrophic 133.18

Table 4: 2014 Premiums on the lowa Small Group Marketplace
Muatatf Rating Rating Rating . Rating Rating  Rating . Rating
{nsurer and Product Name Tier Areal Area Area3. . Arsad. Aread Arean Areald
Avera Health Plans
Avera $2,000 / 50% coinsurance Bronze 265.61 265.61

CoOportunity Health
CoOportunity Preferred HSA Ul Health Alliance
gronze Bronze,

Gundersen Health Plan, Inc.
Bronze HSA $5000 - 30% Bronze 196.05  196.05

Health Alfiance-Alegent Creighton Health Partner
Guide HMO QHDHP 3150/6300 40% 6350/12700
Rx3 Bronze 220.53

Sanford Health Plan
Simplicity $3,000 Bronze 214,11 214.11

Avera Health Plans
Avera $2,000 / $4,000 Out-of-Pocket Sitver 262.68 262,68
CoOportunity Health

CoOportunity Preferred HSA Ut Heaith Alliance
Silver Silver

] Heaith Plan, Inc,
Silver HSA $2000 - 20% Sifver 262,28  262.28

Health Alliance-Alegent Creighton Health Partner
Guide HMO 30/60 2400/4800 30% 6000/12000
Rx3 Sitver 247.21

Sanford Health Plan
Simplicity $2,000 Sitver 263.14 263.14
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Wetalf Rating Rating Rating Rating: Rating " Rating Rat&ng'

AInsurer and Product Name: Tiee Area i Arsa Area 3 Aread  Aread . Areab Aread
Avera Health Plans
Avera $750 / 30% coinsurance Gold 316.34 316.34

CoOportunity Heaith
CoOportunity Preferred HSA U! Heaith Alliance

Gold Gold
Gundersen Heaith Plan, Inc.
Gold $2000- 0% Gold 304,59 30459
Health Aliance-Alegent Creighton Health Partner
Guide HMO 25/50 1600/3200 10% 4000/8000 Rx2 Gold 302.14
Sanford Health Plan
Simplicity $1,500 Gold 297.18 297.18

Avera Health Plans
Avera $250 / 10% coinsurance Platinum 361.49 361.49

CoOportunity Health
CoOportunity Preferred Ui Health Alliance
Platinum Platinum

Gundersen Health Plan, inc.

Platinum $500 - 20% $15 OV Platinum 33517 33517
Sanford Health Pian

Simplicity $500 Platinum 337.22 337.22

Table 5: 2014 Premiums on the Nebraska Small Group Marketplace

Insurer and Product Name Metal/Tier . Rating Areal  Rating Aréa 2 Hatlog Area 3 RatingpAread |
Blue Cross and Blue Shield of

SeleciBluePlus Option 403 HOHP 8ronze Bronze 201.85 195,85 209.84
CoOportunity Health
CoQportunity Premier HSA Bronze Bronze 213.70

Coventry Health Care of Nebraska inc.

Bronze Essential #2 HMO Plan § Bronze 272.62 263.67 265.29 272.62
Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Nebraska

SelectBluePlus Option 402 HDHP Sitver Siver 255.28 25528 247.70 265.39
CoOportunity Health

CoQportunity Premier HSA Sitver Silver

Coventry Health Care of Nebraska Inc.

Sitver Security #2 HMO Plan § Silver 314.39 304.07 305.95 314.39
Blue Cross and Biue Shield of Nebraska

SelectBluePius Option 401 Gold Gold 355.81 355.81 345.24 369.90
LCoOportunity Health

CoOportunity Premier HSA Goid Gold 285.57 .

Coventry Health Care of Nebraska Inc.
Gold Freedom #3 HMO Plan S Gold 368.21 356,12 358.31 368.21
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Insurer and Product Name Metal/lier - Rating Areal  RatingArea2  Ratngfreal  Ratingdread
Health Alliance-Alegent Creighton Heaith Partner

S
Guide HMO 25/50 1600/3200 10% 4000/8000 Rx2 Gold &

CoOportunity Health

CoOportunity Premier Platinum Platinum

Summory of Qbservations:

* COH is projecting a $10M loss in 2014, To address these losses, the CO-OP may need to consider estabiishing a
PDR. This would also impact the applicant’s surplus.

« 2015 premiums will increase compared with the 2014 premiumns, pending approval. According to the applicant,
2014 enrofiment was much higher than anticipated. For the iowa individual market, COH’s proposed rates
effective january 1, 2015 reflect a 7.0% and 12.3% rate increase for the Premier and Preferred products,
respectively, and for Nebraska individual market, proposed rates reflect a 7.9% rate increase for the Premier
product. For the fowa smali group market, COH proposes a 3.9% and 8.6% rate increase for its Premier and
Preferred products, respectively. No information was provided about rate increases for the Nebraska smali group
market. With rate increase of upwards of 10%, there is no mention of how the applicant hopes to retain its
members.

* Change in products in 2015. COH will be terminating its Choice Product at the end of 2014 and introducing its
CorePlus product during 2015 in the lowa small group market. No explanation was provided in the 2015 rate filing
for these changes in products,

« Changes to small group premiums could not be determined. The 2015 individual rate filing memorandum for
Nebraska small group and lowa small group was not provided. This document typically provides the detailed
reasoning for changes from the prior year premiums. Additionally, the pro formas do not provide premiums for
each market.

» The 2015 smali group rate filing includes a breakdown of taxes and fees, which does not include an estimate for
the health insurer fee. Milliman published a research report titied “ ACA Health insurer Fee ~ Estimated impact
of the US heaith insurance industry,” dated April 2013, which states the 2014 heaith insurer fee estimate is 1.7%
to 2.4% and increases to 2% to 2.9%. Since COH is a 501¢{29) not-for-profit entity, the insurer fee estimate would
be lower than the industry average. COH does not include an estimate for the health insurer fee; however, it
includes an estimate for Marketplace fees associated with selling plans on the Marketplace. The CO-OP assumed
0.9% of premiums for this fee.

3. Medical Costs and Losses

COH projects combined medical loss ratios {MLR}, including the impact of the ACA adjustments, of 100.8%, 82.7%, and
83.2% for years 2014, 2015 and 2016, respectively. The MLR for 2014 includes individual and small group business only.
For 2015 and 2016 estimates, large group business is included. COH also is estimating receivabies for risk adjustment,
reinsurance and risk corridors for 2014. The largest receivable is risk corridors with $41M in receivables estimated for
2014. including the $64M in 3Rs receivabies for risk corridors and reinsurance for 2014 would result in a $10,5M loss and
result in an MLR of 101%, including the impact of the ACA adjustments. Removing the estimated $64M in receivables
would result in a $70.1M loss and increase the MLR, excluding any adjustments for the ACA for all products combined to
109%. The 3R receivables are difficult to estimate and may create issues if relied upon to generate a profit.

Based on a review of the regulatory filing as of 3/31/2014, the MLR is approximately 89%, excluding any impact of the
ACA, If this experience were to continue, the CO-OP would face losses. Typically, one quarter’s experience cannot be
extrapolated to the entire year and, therefore, more months of experience will be needed to make a conclusion. The CO-
OFP is projecting the 2014 MLR to be 84%, excluding any impact for the ACA.

App. 00000044



186

The CO-OP’s product offerings in the Nebraska and lowa Marketplace are noted in Tables 2, 3, 4 and 5 below. The CO-OP
was able to get more than 60,000 members enrolled in the individual market, even though Blue Cross and Biue Shield of
Nebraska had a majority of the individual product market share since its premiums were fower than competitors in three
of the four rating areas. The applicant believes by “utilizing three key general agencies and 2 number of retail brokerages,
it was able to market successfuily across the state” {P. 49). The CO-OP betieves that it was able to roli out innovative and
competitive products, which heiped fill market voids in both the individual and small group market by utilizing the broad-
based provider network of Midlands Choice, a PPO owned by Nebraska’s largest provider system (P. 5).

In lowa, the premiums for products by its only statewide Marketplace competitor, Coventry Health, were iower than the
CO-OP in most rating areas. The applicant believes it was able to enroli more than expected membership through strong
branding, favorable media coverage, targeted communications, affiliations with key constituencies, and a partnership with
the University of lowa Health Alliance {UIHA), a collaborative of Mercy Health Network {about 40 hospitals), Mercy Medical
Center in Cedar Rapids, Genesis Health System, and the University of lowa Hospitals and Clinics {P. 5}.

COH is anticipating a different morbidity estimate for 2015 compared to 2014 business. Because of this, the applicant is
making an adjustment to the premiums. This change is, in part, due to the pent-up demand of individuals in the first year
of coverage. The 2014 rate filings show the adjustments COH used to estimate to account for the pent-up demand, among
other items. For lowa, the CO-OP applied a 30.2% adjustment to premium. For Nebraska, the CO-OP applied a 25.6%
adjustment to premium.

COH does not have enough experience in the base period to use in rate development; therefore, the 2015 rate
development is based solely on manual rates.

Summary of Observations:

¢ COH expects 2015 morbidity to be worse than 2014 pricing morbidity. The applicant is projecting its individual
2014 claims per member per month {PMPM} with a 30.2% morbidity adjustment to account for the anticipated
health status change for towa and 25.6% for Nebraska.

* 2015 medical costs are based on industry data. COH does not have enough 2014 experience to have data to rely
upon; therefore, industry assumptions are necessary to estimate the morbidity of the projected membership.

* Therisk corridors and risk adjustment receivables are difficult to quantify. This is because of the uncertainty of
the industry average morbidity. Risk corridors is calculated after risk adjustment therefore relies upon the risk
adjustment estimate. Without these receivables, COH would have a loss of $70.1M for 2014 instead of the $10.4M
projected in the pro formas.

4. CO-OP Financials

COH’s pro formas project recoveries from the 3Rs for 2014 through 2016. In the best case membership scenario, COH
projects cumulative federal reinsurance recoveries of $71.5M for 2014 through 2016, while it projects to recover $64M
under the expected membership scenario and $54.8M under the worst case membership scenario during the same period.
COH also projects to receive an additional $41.4M from risk corridors and $686K from risk adjustment in 2014 under ail
scenarios. From 2014 through 2016, COH projects a cumulative net profit of $11.8M, $8.5M, and $4.1M under the best,
expected, and worst case membership scenarios, respectively {P. 124-133). However, absent recoveries from risk sharing
and risk corridors, and risk adjustment, COH will incur a cumulative net loss of $89M, $86.1M, and $82.9M in the best,
expected, and worst case membership scenarios, respectively, during the same 2014-2016 period. COH projects RBC levels
to stay above 500% of ACL during the entire performance period under alf scenarios projected by the applicant, if realized.

COH is requesting additional solvency loan funding of $32.7M, of which $9.8M is requested for the purpose of covering
operational losses during 2014, COH states that the additional solvency loan funding is requested to meet state RBC
requirements in light of higher than projected enrollment and also to add incremental cash flow that may result as a result
of delay in receipts relating to receivables from transitional reinsurance recoveries {P. 41). The CO-OP has entered into a
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line of credit and believes that required CMS waiver will be received to enable the 3R receivables to be acceptable to the
lender as “collateral” {P. 87). The applicant provides a breakout of solvency loan funding requested based on solvency
needs as presented below {P. 41).

Meet 500% RBC requirement per Best Case enrofiment $20.9 million
Added RBC to offset private credit line $2.0 miltion
Increment to meet potentiai cash deficit $9.8 miltion
Tatal Solvency Loan funding Request $32.7 million

Combined with the current solvency loan funding award, the total solvency loan for COH would be $130.6M. However,
the total solvency loan funding recorded in the COH’s expected scenario pro formas, including the loan funding schedute
for the expected scenario, is $108.5M, which is $22.1M less than the applicant requested. The observations noted in this
section are based on the loan amounts reflected in the expected scenario pro formas,

Per CMS’s CO-OP Summary Report by Borrower {Loan Tracker), as of June 2014, the CO-OP has been awarded total funding
of $112.6M {$14.7M in start-up loans and $97.9M in solvency loan funding}, and began issuing health insurance products
beginning in 2014. $70.8M of the total solvency loan obligated has been disbursed to COH, with $27.1M of obligated but
undisbursed soivency loan funds. A review of the original application indicates the solvency loan disbursement of $97.9M
was to be disbursed from 2013-2020. The current pro formas are projecting $108.5M to be disbursed from 2013-2017. it
is not clear why the applicant revised the timing of the loan disbursements, as it appears the applicant continues to project
RBC levels of at least 500% of ACL throughout the entire performance period. Also, with no further award of solvency
loans, COH claims it will continue to meet the recommended 500% throughout the entire performance period in the
contingency plan scenario.

To cover short term cash flow issues, COH received a $2M revolving credit that was available beginning in 2014. This loan
amount is recorded as a liability in the pro forma balance sheet. According to the CO-OP, this revolving credit line was
obtained to cover short term working capital needs that wili result due to the delay of receipt of the recoveries from the
federal reinsurance program s. COH projects to receive approximately $21.8M in recoveries from the federal reinsurance
program for 2014. in its application for additional solvency loan funding, the applicant stated that “the collateral in the
form of an account receivable is created.as claims are incurred and is not dependent upon market averages or future data.
The asset is a federal receivable from CMS although to be usable as collateral it will require written assignability from the
hoider to the lender which will require a CMS waiver” (P. 42). Per COH’s pro forma cash flow statement, it appears the
applicant projects to repay the loan on an annual basis and projects to utilize the revoiving credit through 2016, the year
risk sharing and risk corridors will be eliminated. it appears COH is relying on the recoveries from 3Rs to cover the
repayment far this loan. in the absence of these recoveries, COH will be incurring losses through 2016 and it is not clear
how it projects to repay this loan if projections are not realized.

Best Case Scenario

The originai solvency loan award was provided to COH based on enrolling 53,332 average members from 2014-2020. The
average enroliment based on the best case scenario is 115,947 average members for the same period, which is projected
to support the $116.7M of expected total solvency loan funding. If no additionat sofvency loan funding is awarded, the
current award of $97.9M is projected to support 66,101 members. Per COH’s regulatory filing for the first quarter of 2014,
it appears it has enrolied 50,740 members, which is greater than the original application enroliment projection {(COH
Quarterly Statement, as of March 31, 2014, P. 7). The most recent enroliment projection indicates that COH projects to
grow its 2014 membership level to 66,101 by the end of the year. The best case scenario projects the current enroliment
level to be “increased by higher numbers in early years reflecting the potential for both higher retention of existing
customers as well as less competition from both BCBS plans and Coventry in 1A and NE markets” {P. 39}, However, details
were not provided to document why the applicant is assuming less competition from its competitors.

COH’s loan schedule projects to receive the disbursement of the entire amount of the originally obligated solvency loan
funding by 2017. If projections are realized, COH projects to start repayment of interest on the solvency loan in 2019 and
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interest and principal payments in 2021. COH projects to continue to make annual repayment through 2032, until the loan
is paid in full, if projections are realized. However, given that the solvency loan amount reported COH’s pro formas is less
than the cumulative solvency loan amount {current award plus additional requested funding), the impact of the full
solvency loan amount on COH’s pro formas is unknown.

COH projects to achieve profitability beginning in 2015, with projected net income of $8.2M. if projections are realized, it
projects to make a cumulative net profit of $854.5M from 2014-2033 (P. 128}, with related average profit margins of 2.2%
over the same period. These net income projections consider a cumulative reinsurance recoveries of $71.5M from 2014
through 2016 (P. 127). Absent these recoveries, COH will incur losses through 2016,

COH projects a MLR of 84% in 2014, 80% in 2015, and 81% in 2016, which does not include the impact of the ACA
adjustments. COH projects to recover $21.8M, $28.8M, and $20.8M of its incurred claims from federal reinsurance
programs in 2014, 2015, and 2016, respectively {P. 127}. Absent the levei of federal reinsurance recoveries and exciuding
the impact of the ACA, the MLR for 2014, 2015, and 2016 is projected to be 106%, 85%, and 84%, respectively. No detail
was provided in the application to explain the decline in the projected MLR of 21% between 2014 and 2015.

In its business plan, COH states it has a reinsurance agreement with Partner Re with an attachment point beginning at
$500,000, a reinsurance rate above the attachment point of 90%, and a reinsurance fimit of $5M per member per
agreement period {P. 83}. The projected medical loss recoveries from its commercial reinsurance policy is projected at
$2.3M, $4.3M, and $5.3M for 2014, 2015, and 2016, respectively (P. 127). Given the federal reinsurance for 2014 and
2015 are capped at $250,000 for individual reinsurance coverage, the CO-OP may have a gap in its reinsurance policy from
$250,000 to $350,000 in years 2014 and 2015. The 2016 federal reinsurance cap has not yet been determined.

COMH projects an ACR of 22% in 2014 and 18% in 2015. COH's administrative expenses for 2014 are budgeted at $24.3M,
which consists of salaries and wages of $5.2M, contractual expenses of $15.8M; and $3.3M of other expenses. COH does
not project to reduce its administrative expenses in 2015. COH projects its ACR to stay at or above 15% of its premium
revenue through 2020,

Expected Membership Scenario

Under base case with additional solvency loan funding scenario {expected scenario), COH projects lower enroliment
growth than the best case scenario. COH projects to break even and begin profitabitity in 2015 with projected net income
of approximately $7M in 2015 and $11.9M in 2016. These net income projections consider reinsurance recoveries of
$24.4M in 2015 and $17.7M in 2016 (P. 123). Absent these recoveries, COM will incur a foss of 17.4M and $5.8M in 2015
and 2016, respectively.

If projections are realized, COH projects to make a cumulative net income of $659.6M from 2014-2033 (P, 124). COH does
not project its MLR and ACR to change between the best case and expected membership scenarios.

COH projects to draw down a cumulative solvency loan amount of $108.5M under the expected membership scenario,
which is $22.1M fess than the total solvency loan funding {original funding plus additional solvency loan requested) {P.
124}, No explanation is provided detailing the discrepancies between the cumulative solvency foan funding amount
recorded in the pro formas and total solvency loan funding requested in the application. COH projects the solvency loan
draw down and repayment schedule for the expected membership scenario to remain the same as the best case
membership scenario.

Summary af Observations

s Total solvency loan amount per COH loan schedule does not agree with CMS loan disbursement schedute. COH
is requesting an additional solvency funding of $32.7M. When added to the current sofvency foan funding levef of
$112.6M per the Loan Tracker, total solvency oan disbursements to this CO-OP will be $130.6M. However, per
the COH’s pro formas, including the loan schedule, the total solvency loan amount recorded is $116.7M.
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* Losses are projected absent recoveries from federal reinsurance programs. COH projects to break even and
achieve profitability in 2015. At the same time, it projects to recover $28.8M and $20.8M from federal reinsurance
programs in 2015 and 2016, respectively, under the best case scenario. Absent these recoveries, COH is projected
to incur a net loss of $20.5M and $6.9M in 2015 and 2016, respectively. Also, COH projects to recover a cumutative
amount of $63.2M in 2014 from the 3Rs {$41.4M from risk corridors and $21.8 from risk sharing). Despite these
projected recoveries, COH still projects to sustain a loss of $10.5M in 2014.

5. Contingency Plan

COH stated that the underwriting losses it experienced during the first quarter of 2014 is averaging over 5% in excess of
premium, which is causing an underlining liquidity concern {P. 42). 5ee the Product Pricing section for further details.
Additionally, COH projects a recovery of $41.4M from the risk corridors. This may indicate the applicant’s 2014 premium
is underpriced as compared to the market. As noted in the CO-OP Financials section, COH’s projected MLR for 2014 is 84%,
excluding the impact of the ACA. MLR and ACR are projected to stay at the same level as the best case membership
scenario. RBC levels are also projected to stay above 500% of ACL at ali times under ail scenarios. The contingency plan
projects to draw down the remaining balance of the current solvency loan funding in 2014 {P. 134).

COH considers the following options under its contingency plan. CMS may want to consider discussing this contingency
plan with the CO-OP to further understand its implication in the context of program compliance requirements of the CO-
OP program,

* Merger with another CO-OP: COH intends to merge with another failing CO-OP with unexpended soivency loan
funding to indirectly acquire solvency loan funding {P. 43). However, it is not clear how COH plans to identify and
incentivize failing CO-OP. Additionally, the applicant did not detail a plan to manage the impact of its expansion into
another failing CO-OP’s state on current operations.

* Merge or affiliate with another large heaithcare entity: COH considers the opportunity to merge with another large
healthcare entity if additionat solvency loan funding is not provided by CMS. COH further stated that “---, the ability
of a nonprofit Section 1322 cooperative insurer to seek additional external capital for other than known and
collateralized operating cash flow requirements is quite limited due in part to the restrictions of the enabling statute
and in part to the limitations of a non-profit cooperative” (P. 44}. It is not clear how COH intends to achieve this plan
without a technical default on its loan agreement with CMS.

* Freeze enroliment: COH projects to freeze enroliment by withdrawing from “smalt and farge group markets in either
or both of towa or Nebraska; consider withdrawing from the FFM in one or the other state; raise product prices...{for
on and off Marketplace for] individual products to shift enough customers away from coverage so that the solvency
capital required for that fevel of enroliment is fess than the $97.9 million currently available” {P. 44). The total solvency
loan funding amount recorded on COH'’s pro formas for the contingency plan, including the loan funding schedule, is
$94.8M, which is 53.1M less than the current award amount {P. 133, 134}.

COH indicated the purpose of the additional solvency foan funds request is to meet the state solvency requirement, and
also to cover working capital shortfalls that will result due to high medical losses experienced during the first quarter of
2014. As of June 2014, COH has obligated but undisbursed solvency loan funding totaling $27.1M.

In the contingency plan, COH projects a cumulative net profit of $423.7M from 2014-2033. COH also projects to start
repayment of interest on solvency loan in 2019 and start principal and interest repayment in 2021. if projections are
realized, COH projects to make annual principal and interest payments on the solvency loan funding through 2019 unti
the ioan is paid in full.
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Summary of Observotions

Consideration to merge with another heaithcare entity might resuit in non-compliance with program
requirements. Under the contingency {worst) scenario, COH indicates its intention to merge or affiliate with
another large healthcare entity, which may result in non-compliance with the CO-OP program compliance
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requirements. CMS$ may want to consider discussing this plan further with the CO-OP.

Consideration to merge with failing CO-OP. COH stated it intends to merge with another failing CO-OP with
undisbursed solvency foan funding balance, if the request for additionai solvency loan funding is not approved.
However, no detai is provided on this proposal, including the CO-OP’s intended plan to expand into the failing

CO-OP’s state.

Pro formas contain different solvency loan amounts than loan schedule. Comparison of COH’s pro formas and
CMS's Loan Tracker indicate the total solvency foan finding amount recorded in the applicant’s pro formas for the
contingency plan, including the loan funding schedule, is less than the solvency ioan funding amount awarded to

COH by $3.9M. No detail was provided in the business plan to explain the reason for these variances.

Solvency Loan Request Points

Sections

Enroliment Projections

Pricing 20 14.5
Medica} Costs and Losses 15 14
Financials 15 8.5
- Score
Contingency Plan Points
Overalt

iscore

App. 00000049




191

CENTERS TOR MEDIGARE & MEDICAIN STRVICHS

CoOportunity Heaith

Additional Solvency Loan Funding Request Report
Date Submitted to CMS: 10/24/2014

Scope Summary & Assumptions:

* Deloitte will not provide an opinion regarding the reasonableness of the proposed business plan changes of each
Consumer Operated and Oriented Plan {CO-OP} Program. Nor wiil Deloitte provide an opinion regarding the
likelihood of each CO-OP achieving sustainable operations based upon the revised business plan.

* Deloitte assumes that the information provided by each CO-OP in its modified business plan is complete and
accurate. Deloitte will perform its assessment of the data provided “as is”. Deloitte will also use other data sources
that are publicly accessible or information provided directly from the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services
{CMS). Deloitte will notify CMS if we believe that there is insufficient information to complete our review.

® In these applications for solvency loan requests, some of the CO-OPs have cited a need for additional solvency
ioans to cover projected cash shortfalls as a result of nonadmitting risk-sharing receivables provided in the
Affordable Care Act {ACA}. The National Association of Insurance Commissioners {NAIC) is charged with developing
accounting guidance for these risk-sharing provisions which are utilized by the state departments of insurance in
monitoring the financial solvency of the insurers domiciled in their state. The NAIC is continuing their defiberations
on this issue, which previously included potential nonadmittance for risk-sharing receivables in excess of any
payables. However, as a resuit of the most recent NAIC meeting on August 17, 2014, the adopted minutes of that
meeting reflects that the NAIC is “.replacing the nonadmission guidance with criteria that incorporates
conservatism and sufficiency of data and removing the exposed 30-day guidance and adding language to be
consistent with other government receivabies”. Our Findings Report will include relevant information, as
necessary, on the accounting treatment for the risk-sharing receivables used by the CO-OPs in their financial
projections.

* Theimpact of the Reinsurance, Risk Adjustment and Risk Corridors Program (the 3Rs, reinsurance, risk adjustment,
and/for risk corridors} was reviewed when making observations and comments throughout this report.
Observations and comments relating to the impact of the 3Rs are inciuded for informational purposes only. There
was no consideration of the reasonableness or propriety of any of the amounts relating to the 3Rs. Based on the
scoring criteria provided by CMS, observations and comments relating to the 3Rs had a net neutral effect on the
scoring,

« Inreviewing applications from CO-OPs for additional solvency foan funding requests, Deloitte reviewed supporting
documentation requested of the applicants by CMS in 2 memo to the CO-OPs distributed on August 22, 2014. The
format of the reports as well as the section scoring was approved by CMS during the week of June 2, 2014. These
reports are scored on the basis of a total of 65 points, plus 10 points for the contingency ptan. The scoring refiects
Deloitte’s assessment of the degree to which the application complies with the funding loan announcement of
August 22, 2014. The score for the Contingency Plan section should be viewed independently of scoring for the
other sections of this report. For all sections, Deloitte provided comments on issues only for which the applicant
provided data. Observations relating to the pro forma financial statements are based on the base case with
additional solvency award scenario (base case), unless otherwise noted.
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Executive Summary:

CoOportunity Health {COH or applicant or CO-OP) has submitted a request for $55M in additional solvency foan funding.
The application and underlying pro forma financial statements do not discriminate between projected lowa and Nebraska
operations on a standalone basis. Therefore, a distinction was unable to be made between the solvency loan funding
needs for lowa and Nebraska in this Findings Report. Any additional solvency loan funding received by the CO-OP is
required to be aggregated with funds used for both lowa and Nebraska operations. The CO-OP has stated “if additional
solvency capital cannot be secured, the CO-OP will begin shutdown procedures prior to the end of 2014” {P. 64)*.

The CO-OP has stated “if additional solvency capital cannot be secured, the CO-OP wili begin shutdown procedures prior
to the end of 2014” (P. 642 Based on CMS’s CO-OP Summary Report by Borrower {Loan Tracker} as of 10/3/2014, COH
has been obligated $14.7M in start-up funding and $130.6M in solvency loan funding for operations in fowa and
Nebraska, of which $97.9M of solvency loans and $14.7M of start-up funding has been disbursed. This total award
amount reflects $32.7M in solvency oan funding awarded as a result of COH’s solvency loan funding request submitted
in June 2014 which has not been disbursed. it should be noted, in the original application, COH projected the solvency
loan of $97.9M would be disbursed from 2013-2020. However, the Loan Tracker indicates that $97.9M has been
disbursed as of 10/3/2014. Updated projections have COH disbursing $185.9M (total solvency loan plus current solvency
loan request) from 2013-2017. it is not ciear why the applicant revised the timing of the loan disbursements, as it
appears the applicant continues to project RBC levels of at least 500% of ACL throughout the entire performance period.
The applicant’s solvency loan request for $55M is projected to be disbursed from 2014-2017, specifically, $30M in 2014,
$5M in 2015, $9M in 2016 and $11M in 2017. Since the CO-OP projects no profits during 2014-2017, the solvency loan
funds being disbursed in 2015-2017 appear to be intended to make payments on the private loan of $68M and start-up
foan repayment of $3.6M which are due during the same period.

Furthermore, COH has applied to National Cooperative Bank in Washington for a $68.2M cash flow operating loan for
2013-2016 to cover short term working capitat needs that will result due to the delay of receipt of the recoveries of $48.5M
from the federal reinsurance program. The reinsurance recoveries of $48.5M will be used as collateral to obtain the private
loan. It is also important to note that the pro forma financial statements include the assumption that the CO-OP will
receive both additional solvency loan funds and the private loan. The loan is contingent upon COH receiving additional
solvency loans from CMS. it has been included in the base case scenario with the repayments made over the period of
2013-2017. Because the CO-OP does not have any profits from 2014-2017, even after consideration of the 3R receivables,
as a result, the loan is projected to be repaid with solvency loan funds. The CO-OP has projected $291.9M of 3R receivables
for 2014-2016 with $144,9M of 3R receivables recorded at year end 2014. Based on the pro forma financial statements, if
the CO-OP does not receive additional solvency loan funding and given the timing of the cash receipts of the 3Rs
receivables being several months after expenditures, CMS may want to consider that CoOportunity Health could suffer
from a ligquidity issue.

COH has attributed their request for additional soivency loan funding to higher than projected enroilment, delay in receipt
of 3R receivables and higher than expected claim costs. In 2014, the overall enroliment in fowa and Nebraska is projected
to exceed original 2011 projections by about 64,000 members?. However, COH is projecting fewer enroflees for 2015 and
2016 in the pro forma financial statements submitted to CMS on S5eptember 22, 2014 as part of this application {9/22 Pro
Formas) than it did in the pro forma financial statements submitted to CMS on May 2, 2014 {5/2 Pro Formas) because of
its plans to terminate three lines of business. These three lines of business involve approximately 11,500 enroliees and no
information was provided as to how the CO-OP will replace this membership. According to the samples of COH's Silver
plan premiums for 2015 provided by the fowa Insurance Division {HD} and the Nebraska Department of tnsurance
{Nebraska DO}, the CO-OP will not have the fowest cost plan in any region except for three cities in Nebraska and will be
the highest cost plan in area 2, 4 and 5 in fowa. it is unclear how the CO-OP will reach its enrollment targets. Additionally,

* Page numbers in this report refer to the consolidated application based on materials received from the CO-OP for request for
additional solvency loan funding dated September 22, 2014.
2 Alf references to “original” - including, but not limited to, “original funding application”, “original application”, and “original
projects” ~ refer to COH's 2011 application for CMS start-up and solvency toan funding, operations commencing in 2011,
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the HD published approved rates which showed the CO-OP revised their rate filing estimates. We do not have these
revised rate filings and cannot determine if the pro formas reflect this information.

COH is projecting a $60.4M loss in 2014 and the CO-OP’s pro formas include a $25M premium deficiency reserve (PDR),
though it provides no details to support it. it should aiso be noted that there is no reference to the need for a PDR in the
12/31/13 and 6/30/14 regulatory filings which the CO-OP filed with state regulators. According to the applicant, the {iD
has also been in contact with COH about its risk profile and solvency needs in 3Q14. The applicant stated that the iowa
Commissioner of Insurance has been reviewing the risk profile of COH throughout the year and has indicated “he
anticipates that it will be necessary for him to require COH to increase its capital and surplus at some point in the third
quarter of calendar year 2014” (P. 64). However, it is unclear if that discussion took place before or after the $32.7M in
additional solvency loans were awarded to COH in September 2014. The CO-OP presented other contingency scenarios
of merging with other CO-OPs or a larger healthcare entity such as HeaithPartners, though COH has not secured
interested parties. “If additional solvency capital cannot be secured, the CO-OP will begin shutdown procedures prior to
the end of 2014.” {P. 64). The contingency plan was also not submitted to Milliman, the external actuary for the CO-OP,
for review and, therefore, not included in the actuarial certification.

Critical Assertions:
1. Enrollment:

COH provided a revised business plan in this application, which includes updated enroliment and financial projections.
The updated enroliment projections in this submission (9/22 Pro Formas or pro formas) * indicate that overall
enroliment for 2014 in lowa and Nebraska is projected to exceed enroliment estimates in the May 2014 pro forma
financial projections submitted to CMS on May 2, 2014 {5/2 Pro Formas} by approximately 9,460 members. According to
the 6/30/2014 regulatory filing, the CO-OP currently has 79,762 members. According to the CMS CO-OP Enroliment
Comparison Report as of August 5, 2014, COH has enrolled 84,936 members. COH was awarded $32.7M in additional
solvency loan funding related to its June 2014 solvency loan request to account for increased enroflment from originat
projections.

Figure 1: September 2014 Enroliment Projections exceed Original Projections

The pro formas provided with this solvency joan

COH Projected Enroflment application show that the CO-OP projects to
120000 enrolt 16% fewer members in 2015 and 25%
100000 fewer members in 2016 than projected in the
20000 May 2 Pro Formas. Membership growth year

: over year is also lower for 2015 and 2016 as
50000 ¢ . " . compared to the 5/2 Pro Formas, The 5/2 Pro
: Formas projected a 49% growth in membership

40000
20000 from 2014 to 2015. However, the 9/22 Pro
= Formas show a 9% increase for the same period.
o From 2015 to 2016, the 9/22 Pro Formas show a
2014 205 2016 1% growth, down from a 15% membership
® Original Total Members increase shown in the 5/2 Pro Formas for the
5/2 Pro Forma Total Members same period. See Documentation for Change in
89/22 Pra Forma Total Members Enroliment Projections section below for further

Source: Applicant’s 2011 Original Application, 5/2/14 Pro Formas, and information.

9/22/14 Pro Formos COH did not provide a breakout of enroliment
between lowa and Nebraska in the pro formas,

* Annual enrollment projections provided in the pro formas reflect average membership over a 12 month period.
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but indicated in the business plan that its “cost position was more favorable in Nebraska than fowa” {P. 33). COH stated
in the business pian that it has enrolled 40,000 enroliees in Nebraska, with over half from rural areas of the state. In jowa,
COH has enrolled approximately 25,000 members {P. 33}. The CO-OP did not provide detail to clarify the date of these
estimates. lowa operates on a State-Partnership Marketplace {lowa Marketplace} and Nebraska {Nebraska Marketplace}
operates on a Federally-Facilitated Marketplace. The term ‘Marketplace’ indicates that a statement is applicabie to both
the jowa and Nebraska Marketplaces.

Although COH did not provide the breakout enroilment by on and off Marketplace enroliment, approximate break outs
are provided in the business plan. Approximately 40% of members enrolled through the Marketplace and approximately
25% of members enrolied off Marketplace. Based on the information provided with this soivency loan request, it appears
the CO-OP will be in compliance with Title 45, Code of Federai Regulations {CFR} § 156.515{c}{1} and {d) relating to
requirements for CO-OPs under the Affordable Care Act {ACA)}, which requires two-thirds of total members to be from the
Marketplace in 2016.

Additionally, although the applicant does state that its enroliment projections are predicated on the assumption that
“employers with 50-99 employees transition to ‘small group’ in 2016”, the impact of that assumption is unclear because
the CO-OP does not breakout enroliment by individual, small group, and large group segments {P. 44}.

The remaining third of COH’s enroliment was “employer sponsored plans”, the majority of which are small businesses
purchasing in the “open market” {P. 34). This enroliment was not broken out between fowa and Nebraska. COH also states
in the business plan that it is partnering with Health Partners {HP} to offer seif-insured products. Health Partners seils self-
insured products in fowa “through co-located staff at the CO-OP’s offices in West Des Moines” {P. 54}. As employer-
sponsored plans are self-insured pians, the CO-OP would need to exclude these types of members from the enroliment in
its regulatory filings. However, no further detail is provided to determine whether the CO-OP has included enroliments
from employer-sponsored plans in its pro formas or in its regulatory filings.

Documentation for Change in Enroliment Projections

COH expects to exceed original enroliment projections for 2014 through 2016. However, COH is projecting fewer enrollees
in 2015 and 2016 in the 9/22 Pro Formas than in its 5/2 Pro Formas. COH attributes the decrease in projected enroliment
to three changes made to its business plan made in response to “extraordinarily high claims costs and cash outflows” (P.
60). First, COH will no longer offer Platinum plans, with the exception of the Nebraska group market. COH did not provide
further detaif on the reference to the ‘group’ market and therefore the composition of small and large group enrofiment
cannot be determined. Second, the CO-OP will no jonger offer coverage to individuals off Marketplace in lowa and will
terminate existing plans. Last, the CO-OP will stop offering coverage through the fowa Medicaid Choice Plan {the IMCP
program). These changes will affect approximately 11,500 members, effective January 1, 2015. Approximately 10,000 of
the affected members are currently enrolled in the towa Medicaid Choice Pfan (P. 38).

As stated above, COH has been more successful attracting enrollees in Nebraska than in iowa. According to the applicant,
lower enroliment in fowa is the result of Wellmark Blue Cross and Biue Shield {welimark} early renewing individuai
members in 2013, which the CO-OP claims “dissuaded some consumers who were eligible for premium subsidies from
going to the Health insurance Marketplace to shop while encouraging older and sicker customers to explore their
Marketplace options” {P. 36).

Table 1: Documentation for Change in Enrofiment Projections

Reason Cited by
COH for Changesin COH Proposed Action COH Justification

Enroliment

1. wilinot offera In response to high claims costs, COH will not offer a
Platinum plan, with Piatinum plan on the Marketplace, with the exception
the exception of the | of the Nebraska group market. In lows, COH attributes
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COH Justification

High claims cost Nebraska group the influx of high cost enroliees to Wellmark's early-
with existing market renewal of individual policies, which the CO-OP claims
enrollee pool “dissuaded some consumers who were eligible for

premium subsidies from going to the Health insurance
Marketplace to shop while encouraging oider and
sicker customers to explore their Marketplace
options” {P. 36).

tnsufficient detail was provided to determine if COH
wilt offer large group or smaif group. The breakout of
small and large group was not provided in the most
current pro formas.

into lowa
Marketplace in 2015

2. Terminate iowa off As stated above, COH is terminating this line of
Marketplace business in response to high claims costs. Terminating
individual coverage this coverage wilt affect less than 1,000 enrollees.
in late 2014

3. Discontinue As stated above, COH is terminating this line of
coverage in lowa business in response to high claims costs. The 60-day
Medicaid expansion | notice of termination for the iowa Choice Medicaid
{the IMCP program} | Plan was submitted to the lowa Department of

insurance on September 19, 2014. This change will
impact approximately 10,000 members.

4. Increase Premiums For example, for the Silver metat level pians in fowa,
in both lowa and COH cites they filed a 15.6% rate increase for
Nebraska individual products and a 10.9% rate increase for smail

group. In Nebraska, COH cites they filed a 10.6% rate
increase for individual and an 11.4% rate increase for
smatli group Silver metal level products. The business
plan did not provide detail around how COH expects
these increases to affect enrollment levels (P. 43). See
Product Pricing section for further details.

Wellmark entrance | 5. Budgeted additional | Wellmark is entering the lowa Marketplace for the

marketing expenses

2015 open enroliment period. COH states in the
application that is has budgeted marketing expenses
to address the additional competition on the fowa
Marketpiace. It is not clear how the CO-OP intends to
fund these marketing expenses.

Summary of Observations:

e 9/22 Pro Formas show fewer enrollees in 2015 and 2016 than projected in the 5/2 Pro Formas. COH is expecting
to enrofi fewer members in 2015 and 2016 due to the additional competition, increased rates, and the termination
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of three lines of business. Because COH did not provide the breakout of on and off Marketpiace enroliment, the
breakout of individual and smali group enroliment, and the breakout of enrofiment between lowa and Nebraska,
the impact of these factors to specific states or plan types could not be determined, except where explicitly stated
in the application.

« COHis terminating three lines of business. The CO-OP will no fonger offer Platinum plans {with the exception of
Nebraska group business), ICMP program enroliment, or lowa individual off Marketplace products, affecting
approximately 11,500 members. The CO-OP states that these lines of business contribute to high cash outflows
and claims costs. The CO-OP attributes fewer expected enrollees in 2015 and 2016 to the discontinuation of these
tines of business. It is not clear how this loss in membership in 2014 will be replaced in 2015.

«  COMis raising individual and small group rates for Silver plans in fowa and Nebraska in 2015. The application did
not address how the CO-OP intends to retain membership in light of rate increases in both states. For the Silver
leve! plans in fowa, COH filed a 15.6% rate increase for individua!l products and a 10.9% rate increase for small
group. in Nebraska, COH filed a 10.6% rate increase for individual and an 11.4% rate increase for small group
products. On September 4%, 2014, the applicant filed and was approved for an amended rate increase request of
19% for afl regions and plans in lowa. It is unclear if this amended request is reflected in its pro formas. Please see
the Product Pricing section for more information.

s New competitors on the towa Marketplace. Wellmark will offer coverage on the lowa Marketplace during the
2015 open enroilment period. The CO-OP stated in the business plan that it intends to address the additional
competition by increasing marketing. It is not clear how COH will fund the costs of marketing.

2. Product Pricing:

As noted above, COH’s 2014 enroliment was higher than anticipated. The applicant states that the original 2017
enrollment projections were reached within the first three months of 2014 (P. 43}, This increase in enrollment is, at least,
partially due to the 2014 pricing. The CO-OP has lower 2014 premiums in three of the four rating areas of Nebraska in the
individual market and in the small group market statewide. in lowa, the CO-OP has higher Silver plan premiums than
competitors by as much as 20% in most rating areas, other than one, where its premiums are the lowest. According to the
CO-OP, its lowa smali group rates were very competitive statewide (P. 42}.

According to the applicant, “material” underwriting losses have occurred during the first eight months of 2014 due to the
effects of early renewal, transitional policies, and “pent-up demand” {P. 62}. In the June 2014 submission, the CO-OP
projected a $10M loss for 2014 and did not inciude a premium deficiency reserve {PDR}. The pro formas indicate losses
have increased by approximately $SOM from the June 2014 solvency foan request to an overall loss estimate of $60.4M
for 2014. COH has projected a PDR of $25M for 2014 in this application. However, the CO-OP did not provide an
explanation of the PDR or any of the underlying data that went into the calculation. The PDR estimate directly impacts
the solvency amount needed to maintain the required surplus level.

The September 2014 solvency loan request did not include the rate filing memoranda for either small group or individual
products in either 1A or NE. Actuarial rate filing memoranda typically include the premium formuta, trend assumptions,
and other specific factor changes. The 2014 Unified Rate Review Template {URRT] files, which capture information at the
market level to set premium rates using a single risk pool, were provided and match those provided in June 2014.
Additionafly, COH's rate submission screenshots show the CO-OP waiting on approval of rates as of September 18%.
Therefore, it appears that no changes were made to COH’s prior rate filing submissions, and the rates were approved after
the solvency loan request was submitted. As a result, the majority of the information in this section is, therefore, similar
to information provided in the CoOpportunity Heaith Findings Report provided to CMS on July 18, 2014 (7/18/2014
Findings Report} * and discussion in the business plan and feasibility studies provided in the current submission. However,
it should be noted the HD approved higher rate increases based on updated rate filing memoranda that were not provided.
More discussion of this update is included later in this section.

4 CoOportunity Health 7/18/2014 Findings Report {7/18/2014 Findings Report} provided to CMS on July 18, 2014,
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Per the 7/18/2014 Findings Report, COH's proposed rates effective january 1, 2015 reflect a 7.0% and 12.3% rate increase
for the Premier and Preferred products, respectively, for the fowa individual market. The proposed rate change does not
vary by region but does vary by plan. There are no apparent changes in cost sharing or rating factors {e.g., age, tobacco)
in this rate filing, other than changes to the base premium rate and rate relativities by plan. The requested rate change
varies by plan due to provider reimbursement changes and revised benefit relativities. Base rate changes are the result
of medical inflation, utilization, provider contracts, taxes and fees, federal reinsurance program changes, morbidity,
expenses, and profit margin (7/18/2014 Findings Report). The premium rate increases shown within the 2015 rate filings
are not large enough to produce profits in 2015 without a corresponding reduction in medical costs. The CO-OP indicates
that an approximate rate increase of 40% would be needed to mitigate the emerging claims experience, and has spread
the increase over 2016 and 2017 {P. 9). It is unknown if an approximate rate increase of 20% would be approved by the
{ID. Please see below for a further description of the changes to medical costs.

The projected medical loss ratio, including the impact of the 3Rs and other ACA adjustments, is 92.9% based on
information in the pro formas. ACA adjustments include such items as quality improvement expenses and taxes/fees. With
rate increases of upwards of 10%, there is no mention of how it will impact retention of current members. The current
pro formas show an average increase in premiums of 9% in aggregate from 2014 to 2015 and a 10% decrease in costs.
However, the aggregate premium per member per month {PMPM} for 2014 has increased by 5% from the June submission
while the 2014 claim estimates have increased by 45% in aggregate. it is unclear how the rate increases discussed within
the 2015 rate filings tie to the aggregate changes within the pro formas.

Per the 7/18/2014 Findings Report, for the Nebraska individua! market, COH’s proposed rates effective January 1, 2015
reflect a 7.9% rate increase for the Premier product. The proposed rate change varies by region and plan. There are no
significant changes in cost sharing. This rate fiing includes changes to the base premium rate, rate relativities by plan, and
area factors, The requested rate change varies by plan due to provider reimbursement changes and revised benefit
relativities. Base rate changes are similar to those mentioned above for the fowa market.

Per the 7/18/2014 Findings Report, preliminary 2015 pricing indicates COH needs to increase rates approximately 3.9%
and 8.6% for its Premier and Preferred products, respectively, for the lowa small group market. COH will be terminating
its Choice Product at the end of 2014 and introducing its CorePlus product during 2015 in the fowa small group market.
No explanation was provided in the 2015 rate filing for these changes in products.

Additionally, the September 2014 application states that, effective 1/1/2015, COH will be terminating business in the
following three areas — the lowa Marketplace Choice Plan {iMCP), Platinum plans, and the off Marketpiace towa individual
market {P. 38). The CO-OP believes this will heip reduce current negative cash flows by removing high cost individuals
who purchased these products. The request indicates these lines of business total 11,500 members which reflect
approximately 15.2% of the average members reported in the pro forma financials. COH has assumed claim decreases of
3% from exiting the IMCP program and an additional 20% from the improved morbidity in the single risk pool (P. 13).
Without further detail, it is difficult to determine the actual impact these business decisions will have as pro formas have
been provided in the aggregate for all lines of business,

Per the 7/18/2014 Findings Report, COH previously provided the 2015 rate filing memos for the Jowa and Nebraska
individual markets, but only a preliminary 2015 pricing memo for the lowa small group market and nothing for the
Nebraska smalf group market. The applicant did not provide a 2015 rate filing memo for the Nebraska small-group market
in either solvency loan request. Insufficient information was provided to review the detail behind the premium
methodology for 2015 such as expenses, fees and additional adjustments to 2014 premium rates. As noted within the
Findings Report, this component of the market represents approximately 10% of the total enroliment within the two
states.
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The applicant is still considering expanding coverage into eight counties in far western illinois. Per the appiicant, people
from this area go to hospitals in the Quad Cities as well as Dubugue, Clinton, Muscatine, Burlington, and the University of
lowa. Projections assume that “no geographic expansion will occur except potentially adding border counties in western
Hlinois {pending CMS and illinois State regulatory authority) between 2017-2019” {P. 44). The applicant does not identify
how much, if any, of the additional solvency Joan funding would be used for expansion into Hiinois.

Perthe 7/18/2014 Findings Report, the initial estimates for the individual business are based on industry data and adjusted
by the CO-OPs external actuary to fit COH’s specific situation as the CO-OP is a start-up operation.

Tables 2 and 3 provide a comparison for the 2014 single age 27 premiums for the CO-OP versus competitors with the
lowest premium product across one of the same rating areas in the lowa and Nebraska individual Marketplaces,
whereas, Tables 4 and 5 provide similar information in the lowa and Nebraska small group Marketplaces. Highlighted
areas denote the fowest premium for the particuiar area. The data from the table is from www.healthcare.gov. Similar
premium information for 2015 is not avaiiable.

Table 2: 2014 Premiums on the lowa individual Marketplace

Metal/  Rating  Rating  Rating Rating  Rating  Rating Rating |

Insurer and Product Name Tier Areal Areal  Area3 Aread Aread Areab Areal
CoOportunity Health

CoOportunity Preferred HSA
Ui Health Alliance Bronze Bronze 168.86 14528 172,79 17853 171.98 168.54 169.36

Coventry Health Care of lowa Inc.
Bronze Deductible Only HMO
HSA Eligible Methodist Health

Partners Bronze
Bronze Deductible Only POS

HSA Eligible Patient Preferred Bronze
Bronze Deductible Only POS

HSA Eligible UnityPoint Health Bronze

Bronze Deductible Only POS
HSA Eligible UnityPoint Health

Des Moines Bronze
CoOportunity Health
CoOportunity Preferred HSA
Ui Heaith Alliance Silver Silver 180.15 21427 221.38 213.26 208.99 210.01

Coventry Health Care of lowa inc.
Silver $10 Copay HMO

Methodist Health Partners Silver
Silver $10 Copay POS Patient
Preferred Sitver
Silver $10 Copay POS
UnityPoint Health Silver
Silver $10 Copay POS
UnityPoint Health G Des Moines Silver
CoOportunity Health
CoOportunity Preferred HSA
Ul Health Alliance Gold Gold 246.76 212.29 252,51 260.88 251.30 246.28 247.47

Coventry Health Care of lowa Inc.
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Rating Rating

Rating Rating

Rating = Rating

Tier Areal Area? Area3  Aread  Areab  AreaB Areal
Gold S5 Copay HMO &
Methodist Health Partners Gold
Gold $5 Copay POS Patient
Preferred Gold
Gold $5 Copay POS UnityPoint
Health Gold
Gold $5 Copay POS UnityPoint
Health { Des Moines Gold
Avera Health Plans
Avera MyPlan 5250 / 10%
Coinsurance Platinum 385.12 385.12
CoOportunity Health
CoOportunity Preferred Ui
Health Alliance Platinum Platinum
Gundersen Health Plan, Inc.
Platinum $500 - 20% Platinum 407.13  407.13
CoOportunity Health
CoOportunity Preferred Ui Catastr-
Health Alliance Catastrophic ophic 154.09 132,57 157.68 162.91 156.93 153,78 15454
Coventry Health Care of lowa Inc.
Catastrophic 100% HMO Catastr-

Methodist Health Partners ophic
Catastrophic 100% POS Catastr-
Patient Preferred ophic
Catastrophic 100% POS Catastr-
UnityPoint Health ophic
Catastrophic 100% POS Catastro
UnityPoint Health & Des Moines phic

Table 3: 2014 Premiums on the Nebraska individual Marketplace

Rating Rating Area Rating Rating ‘
Insurer and Product Name Metal/Tier Areal 2z Arga 3 Aread
Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Nebraska
SelectBluePius $4750 HDHP Bronze Bronze
CoOportunity Health
CoOportunity Premier HSA Bronze 8ronze 205.85 164.49
Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Nebraska
SelectBluePlus $1500 HDHP Silver Silver
CoOportunity Health
CoOportunity Premier HSA Sitver Silver 240.98
Blue Cross and Biue Shield of Nebraska
BlueEssentialsPius $1000 Gold Gold 329.62 329.62 329.62 329.62
CoOportunity Health
CoOportunity Premier HSA Gold Gold 280.75
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Rating Rating Area Rating Rating
insurer and Product Name Metal/Tier Areal 2 Aread Aread
Coventry Health Care of Nebraska inc.

Gold $5 Copay HMO Methodist Health

Partners Gold
CoOportunity Health
CoOportunity Premier Platinum Platinum
Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Nebraska
BlueEssentialsPlus $6350 Catastrophic Catastrophic 157.57 157.57 157.57 157.57
CoOportunity Health
CoOportunity Premier Catastrophic Catastrophic 191.26 152.83 142.42 142.08

Coventry Health Care of Nebraska Inc.
Catastrophic 100% HMO Methodist

Health Parthers Catastrophic
Catastrophic 100% POS Plan Catastrophic

Table 4: 2014 Premiums on the iowa Small Group Marketplace

Metal/  Rating  Rating Rating Ratlng Rating Rating . Rating

tnsurer and Product Name T Areal Area? Area3  Aread  Area5 Areab  Areai
Avera Health Plans

Avera $2,000 / 50% coinsurance Bronze 265.61 265.61
CoOportunity Health

CoOportunity Preferred HSA Ut
Heaith Alliance Bronze Bronze
Gundersen Health Plan, inc,

Bronze HSA $5000 - 30% Bronze 196.05 196.05

Health Alliance-Alegent Creighton
Health Partner
Guide HMO QHDHP 3150/6300

A40% 6350/12700 Rx3 Bronze 220.53
Sanford Health Plan
Simplicity $3,000 Bronze 214.11 214,11

Avera Health Plans

Avera $2,000 / $4,000 Out-of-
Pocket Silver 262.68 262.68
CoOportunity Health

CoOportunity Preferred HSA Ul
Health Alliance Silver Silver

Gundersen Health Plan, inc.
Sitver HSA $2000 - 20% Silver 262.28 262.28
Health Alfiance-Alegent Creighton
Health Partner
Guide HMO 30/60 2400/4800 30%
6000/12000 R3 Silver 247.21
Sanford Heaith Plan
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Motal/  Hating Rating  Rating Rating Rating  Rating Rating |

insurer and Product Name Tier Areal Area2  Area3d Aread  Areas Areab Area ¥

Simplicity $2,000 Silver 263.14 263.14
Avera Health Plans

Avera $750 / 30% coinsurance Gold 316.34 316.34
CoOportunity Health

CoOportunity Preferred HSA Ul
Health Alfiance Gold Gold
Gundersen Health Plan, Inc.

Gold $2000 - 0% Gold 304.59  304.59
Health Alliance-Alegent Creighton
Health Partner

Guide HMO 25/50 1600/3200 10%
4000/8000 Rx2 Gold 302.14
Sanford Health Plan

Simplicity $1,500 Gold 297.18 297.18
Avera Health Plans

Avera $250 / 10% coinsurance Platinum 361.49 361.49

CoOportunity Health

CoOportunity Preferred Ui Health

Alliance Platinum Platinum 128

Gundersen Health Plan, Inc.

Platinum $500 - 20% $15 OV Platinum 335,17 335.17
Sanford Health Plan
Simplicity $500 Platinum 337.22 337.22

Table 5: 2014 Premiums on the Nebraska Small Group Marketplace

insurer and Product Name
Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Nebraska

Metal/  Rating Area Rating Area Rating Area Rating Area
Tier 1 2 3 4

SelectBluePlus Option 403 HDHP Bronze

Bronze

201.85 195.85 209.84

CoOportunity Health

CoOportunity Premier HSA Bronze

Bronze 213.70

Coventry Health Care of Nebraska Inc.

Bronze Essential #2 HMO Plan S Bronze 272.62 263.67 265.29 272.62
Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Nebraska

SelectBiuePlus Option 402 HDHP Silver Silver 255.28 255.28 247.70 265.39
CoQOportunity Health

CoQportunity Premier HSA Silver Silver

Coventry Heaith Care of Nebraska inc.

Silver Security #2 HMO Plan S Silver 314.39 304.07 305.95 314.39
Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Nebraska
SelectBluePlus Option 401 Gold Gold 355.81 355.81 345.24 369.90
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Metal/  Rating Area  Rating Area Rating Area Rating Avea

Insurer and Product Name Tier 1
CoOportunity Health
CoQportunity Premier HSA Goid 289.57
Coventry Health Care of Nebraska inc.
Gold Freedom #3 HMO Plan S Gold 368.21 356.12 358.31 368.21

Health Alliance-Alegent Creighton Health Partner
Guide HMO 25/50 1600/3200 10%

4000/8000 Rx2 Gold 275.64
CoOportunity Health
Platinu
CoOportunity Premier Platinum m

The 1D published a sample of 2015 lowa individual silver plan premiums. Based on this sampie, COH wiii be between
9.9% and 30.0% more than the ieast expensive plan in rating area 1. COH will be at least 24.8% and as high as 84.9%
more than lowest cost plans in ali other rating areas. The CO-OP has the highest cost plan in rating areas 2, 4, and

S. Sample data is based on non-tobacco premium rates for individuals age 27 for silver level plans.

The Nebraska DOt published a sampie of 2015 Nebraska individual premium rates that show COH will be approximately
23.7% more than the least expensive pian for a 30 year old on a silver plan in Omaha. However, the CO-OP does have
the lowest rates for 30 year old non-tobacco users on silver plans in Norfolk, Lincoin, and Hastings.

The lowa insurance Division also published review decision on COH’s rate proposal. In the letter, dated October 8%, the
1D noted COH submitted a supplemental rate proposal request dated September 4%, in this request the CO-OP has
requested an average rate increase of 19% instead of the original 2015 rate request that showed an average increase of
14.3%. The company stated “The original rate increase request faor 2015 was based on claims experience which lacked
sufficient credible informatian on which to base trend estimates and projected member mavement from the entire
jnsured and uninsured populatian. As claims experience develaped in 2014 and more data became available, the carrier
demonstrated that the claims experience is considerably higher than was projected in the initial rates filed in

2013, Therefare, a significant partion of the rate request is due ta higher than expected claims experience.” it was not
clear from the detail provided within the application that COH had submitted a revised rate filing to the State which
included higher premiums than the original 2015 rate filings. Further, it is unclear if the updated 2015 rate filing analysis
was used in the development of the pro formas.

Summary of Observations:

¢ COH submitted a supplemental premium rate increase for 2015 individual rates in iowa dated September 4™, 2014.
The initial rate increase was for 7.0% and 12.3% for the Premier and Preferred products; however, the updated request
was for 15.6% and 21.2%. ft is unclear if the updated premium rates are reflected in the pro formas. The pro formas
were provided in aggregate without breakouts by state or market. The sample rates provided by {{D show COH is not
the lowest cost plan in any lowa region.

e COH is projecting a $60.4M loss in 2014, Pro formas include a $25M PDR, but no details were provided to support
this amount. The PDR impacts the applicant’s surplus and ultimately impacts the amount requested from COH.

« 2015 premiums will increase compared with the 2014 premiums. According to the applicant, 2014 enroliment was
much higher than anticipated. For the lowa individual market, COH’s proposed rates effective January 1, 2015 reflect
a 7.0% and 12.3% rate increase for the Premier and Preferred products, respectively, and for Nebraska individuat
market, proposed rates reflect a 7.9% rate increase for the Premier product. However, based on the fowa published
Individual rate decision, COH received a 19% average rate increase based on a supplemental rate proposal dated
September 4%, it is unclear if the pro formas include updates for this supplemental rate increase. For the lowa small
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group market, COH proposes a 3.9% and 8.6% rate increase for its Premier and Preferred products, respectively. No
information was provided about rate increases for the Nebraska smalf group market. COH has not addressed its
strategy for retaining members while considering a rate increase of upwards of 10%. Additionally, it is not clear if the
rate increases will be enough to produce a profit in 2015.

« Change in products in 2015, COH will be terminating its Choice Product at the end of 2014 and introducing its CorePlus
product during 2015 in the fowa small group market. No explanation was provided in the 2015 rate filing for these
changes in products. insufficient detail was provided in the application so the impact on enroliment cannot be
determined. COH will also be terminating business in the towa Marketplace Choice Plan {IMCP} and the off
Marketplace lowa individuai market as well as eliminating Platinum plans effective 1/1/2015.

« Changes to small group premiums could not be determined. The 2015 individual rate filing memorandum for
Nebraska small group and fowa small group was not provided. This document typicaily provides the detailed reasoning
for changes from the prior year premiums. Additionally, the pro formas do not provide premiums for each market.
The pro formas were provided on a combined basis for aff fines of business.

o The 2015 small group rate filing includes a breakdown of taxes and fees, which does not include an estimate for the
health insurer fee. Milliman published a research report titled “ ACA Health insurer Fee ~ Estimated impact of the US
health insurance industry,” dated Aprit 2013, which states the 2014 health insurer fee estimate is 1.7% to 2.4% and
increases to 2% to 2.9%. Since COH is a 501c{29) not-for-profit entity, the insurer fee estimate would be lower than
the industry average. COH does not include an estimate for the heaith insurer fee; however, it includes an estimate
for Marketplace fees associated with seiling plans on the Marketplace. The CO-OP assumed 1.3% of premiums for this
fee.

3. Medical Costs and Losses:

COM’s pro formas show combined medical loss ratios, including the impact of the 3Rs and other ACA adjustments, of
128.5%, 112.3%, and 99.7% for years 2014, 2015 and 2016, respectively. it is unclear how the applicant arrived at these
MLR estimates as the details provided in the pro formas indicate MLRs of approximately 92.9%, 91.4%, and 89.6% for
years 2014, 2015, and 2016, respectively. The COH pro forma financials for lowa {iA) and Nebraska {NE} business were
provided on a combined basis for all lines of business, COH has revised estimates including receivables for risk
adjustment, reinsurance and risk corridors based on 2014 membership and emerging experience through August 2014
{P. 9). The largest receivable is risk corridors with $87.7M in receivables estimated for 2014 (P, 72}. inciuding the
receivables for the 3Rs {risk corridors, risk adjustment, and reinsurance) for 2014 would result in a $60.3M loss and
result in an MLR of 92.9%, including the impact of the ACA adjustments, if projections are realized. Removing the
estimated $149.6M in 3R receivables would resuit in a $210M loss and increase the MLR, exciuding any adjustments for
the 3Rs or other ACA adjustments for all products combined to 138.0%. The 3R receivables are difficult to estimate and
may create issues if relied upon to generate a profit,

Based on a review of the regulatory filing as of 6/30/2014, the MLR is approximately 93.1%, excluding any impact of the
ACA, resulting in a loss of $13.4M. 1t should be noted that in the 2Q14 regulatory filing, COH netted the cost sharing
reductions {“CSR”} with claims in error, affecting the MLR. The result would be an increase in claims from those reported
in regulatory filing. Typically, two quarters’ experience cannot be extrapolated to the entire year and, therefore, more
months of experience will be needed to make a conclusion. For comparison, the pro formas show a 2014 foss of $60.3M,
including the impact of 3Rs. This may indicate the CO-OP assumes to lose more money in the second haif of 2014 than
the first haif of 2014, 1t is not ciear from the detail provided whether the CSR was built into the pro formas for 2014, The
CO-OP is projecting the 2014 MLR to be approximately 138%, excluding any impact for the 3Rs or other ACA adjustments.
Piease refer to CO-OP Financials section for additional information.

The feasibitity study acknowledges that the risk corridors receivable of $87.7M inciuded in this solvency loan request is

“substantially higher” than june 2014 projections of $41.4M and indicates that some claims were “inadvertently excluded”

in the data provided by COH for the risk corridors calculation for the prior projections (P. 14). Details on the caiculation

of the risk corridors were not provided in this application. Additionally, COH indicates that the largest current cash claims

loss ratios are coming from three areas — the lowa Marketplace Choice Plan {IMCP}, platinum plans, and the off
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Marketplace fowa individual market (P. 38). The CO-OP is terminating this business effective 1/1/2015. The solvency
request indicates these lines of business total 11,500 members. COH has assumed claim decreases of 3% from exiting the
IMCP program and an additional 20% from the improved morbidity in the single risk pool {P. 13}. The pro formas do show
improvement in the MLR from 2014 to 2015, but specific details for these fines of business are not provided. Additionai
analysis on how COH determined the 20% morbidity improvement factor was not provided.

COH acknowledges the need for reinsurance to avoid significant annual fluctuations in claims that could threaten solvency
{P. 18) and has secured 2 year policy coverage with Partners Re which has an attachment point of $500,000 for both
individual and small group {P. 59). The federal reinsurance program has a cap of $250,000; therefore, there is a gap in
reinsurance coverage between $250,000 and $500,000.

The june 2014 submission did not include a PDR. The current pro formas indicate that the CO-OP has set up a PDR of $25M
for 2014. However, COH did not provide an explanation of the PDR or any of the underlying figures that went into the
calculation. This figure does directly impact solvency amounts and the request for additional solvency loans.

COH does not have enough experience in the base period to use in rate development; therefore, the 2015 rate
development is based solely on manual rates.

Summary of Observations:

e 2015 medical costs are based on industry data. COH does not have enough 2014 experience to have data to rely
upon; therefore, industry assumptions are necessary to estimate the morbidity of the projected membership.

« The 3Rs receivables are difficult to quantify. This is because of the uncertainty of the industry average morbidity
which is needed to accurately estimate risk adjustment. Risk corridors is calculated after risk adjustment and,
therefore, relies upon the risk adjustment estimate, Without these receivables, COH wouid have a loss of $210M for
2014 instead of the 560.3M projected in the pro formas,

* Reinsurance is identified as a strategy, however contract feaves a gap in coverage. An attachment point of $500,000
for both individual and smail group will leave a gap in coverage between $250,000 and $500,000 due to the federal
reinsurance cap.

4. CO-OP Financials:

In the base case, COH projects a 560.3M net loss during 2014 after projected 5144.9M of 3R net recoveries. From 2014~
2016, the CO-OP expects cumulative recoveries of $79.4M in federal reinsurance, $203.9M in risk corridors and $8.7M in
risk adjustments, totaling $291.9M. Even with the $291.9M in recoveries, the CO-OP is still projecting to lose $77.6M
during those years. Under the stress case scenario, COH is projected to lose $587.4M from 2014-2017 that includes the 3R
recoveries of $323.8M. The CO-OP is expecting cumulative recoveries of $81.6M in federal reinsurance, $233.5M in risk
corridors and $8.7M in risk adjustments totaling $323.8M from 2014 through 2016. However, without the 3Rs, COH will
incur a cumulative net loss of $369.5M in the base case and $411.1M in stress test during 2014-2016, respectively.
Throughout the life of the loan, COH is projected to keep its RBC levels above 500% of ACL under all scenarios presented
by the applicant, assuming projections are realized.

According to the applicant, the fowa Commissioner of insurance has been reviewing the risk profile of COH throughout
the year and has indicated “he anticipates that it will be necessary for him to require COH to increase its capital and surplus
at some point in the third quarter of calendar year 2014” {P. 64). No further information has been provided. it is also
unclear if this discussion took place before COH received the additional $32.7M award of solvency foan funds in September
2014 as a result of the prior round of solvency loan requests in June2014. COH has requested additional solvency loan
funding of $55M in light of higher than projected enroliment, delay in receipt of 3R receivables and higher than expected
claim costs. Combined with the current solvency toan funding award, the totai solvency loan for COH would be $185.9M.
However, the request of $55M would resuit in a total solvency foan amount of $185.6M, but the pro formas are based on
a loan of $185,9M which is the amount on which this review wil be based. The applicant asserts that “if the risk corridor
program is not available in 2015 and 2016, we project COH totaf solvency loan to be $300.7M” {P. 9}.
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Under the stress test scenario, COH requires an additional $9.7M in solvency loans, totaling $195.6M. COH expects to start
repayment of interest on the solvency loans in 2019, and will begin payments of interest and principal in 2021. COH
projects to continue making annuat repayments through 2032, untii the foan is paid in full, if projections are realized. COH
states it “will have sufficient capital to repay its solvency loans within fifteen years of its specific draw down dates while
meeting State reserve requirements and solvency regulations” {P. 12). Conversely, COH’s ability to repay the $3.6M in
start-up loan funding due in 2017 relies on the receipt of 3Rs receivables totaling $291.9M from 2015-2017, the $55M in
solvency funding and its ability to maintain enroliment despite a projected average premium increase of 9%, 22% and 21%
in 2015, 2016 and 2017, respectively. See further detail in the Product Pricing section.

in addition to the requested solvency loan request from CMS, COH also applied with National Cooperative Bank in
Washington for a $68M cash flow operating loan for 2014-2017 to cover short term working capital that resuits from
delays in the federal reinsurance program. The ioan is contingent upon COH receiving additional solvency ioans from CMS
and the external party obtaining “a senior, secured position in Transitional Reinsurance receivabies” {P. 63). In its
application for additional soivency loan funding, the applicant stated that “the collateral in the form of an account
receivable is created as claims are incurred and is not dependent upon market averages or future data. The asset is a
federal receivable from CMS although to be usable as coliateral it will require written assignability from the holder to the
lender which will require a CMS waiver” (P. 42). COH projects to receive approximately $48.5M in recoveries from the
federal reinsurance program for 2014 to be used as collateral. However, COH built both its base and stress case scenario
under the assumption COH will receive additional solvency and private funding in 2014. Subsequently, the cash flow
statement shows COH taking drawdowns from the private loan during 2015 and 2016 while making annual payments
through 2017, However, since COH does not turn a profit untit 2018, repaying the private loan appears to require
recoveries from the 3Rs and soivency loan funding to payback both the private loan and loan to CMS.

Per the Loan Tracker, the CO-OP has been awarded tota! funding of $145.3M {$14.7M in start-up Joans $97.9M in solvency
loan funding and $32.7M from the latest round), and began issuing health insurance products beginning in 2014. Of the
$130.6M of solvency loans, $97.9M disbursed as of October 3, 2014, A review of the original application indicates the
solvency {oan disbursement of $97.9M was to be disbursed from 2013-2020. The current pro formas are projecting
$185.9M to be disbursed from 2013-2017. In addition to the $32.7M that was dispersed in September 2014, the CO-OP,
if awarded the $55M, is requesting to receive; $30.2M in 2014, $5M in 2015, $9M in 2016 and $11M in 2017. instead of
taking the lump sum in 2014, COH has requested to receive distribution over 4 years; this appears to cover the shortfall in
cash the CO-OP will suffer from due to payments of the startup ioans and private loans. if COH doesn’t receive any
additional funding and the 3R payment of $144.9M is not received tili Q3 2015, CMS may want to consider that COH could
suffer from a liquidity issue. Not enough information was provided to substantiate the need and as a resuit, the impact
on its pro formas cannot be assessed.

Base Case

If projections are reafized, COH expects iosses of $60.3M, $15.2M and $2.1M from 2014-2016, while breaking even in
2017. However, absent recoveries from the reinsurance program, COH projects to incur losses of $205.2M, $107.2M and
$57.1M from 2014-2016, while still breaking even in 2017. Once COH reaches 2018, the CO-OP projects cumulative profits
of $546.5M for the remainder of the loan from 2018-2034.

COH projects an MLR with 3Rs of 93.3% in 2014, 90.4% in 2015, and §7.9% in 2016 which does not include the impact of
the ACA adjustments. COH projects to recover $48.5M, $19M, and $11.9M of its incurred claims from federal reinsurance
programs in 2014, 2015, and 2016, respectively. Absent the level of reinsurance recoveries and excluding the impact of
the ACA, the MLR for 2014, 2015, and 2016 is projected to be 139.1%, 114.2%, and 99.2%, respectively. It should be noted
that in the 2Q14 regulatory filing, COH netted the cost sharing reductions {“CSR”} with claims in error, affecting the MLR.
With the impact of CSR excluded from claims, the MLR would be 103% at June 30, 2014. it is unable to be determined if
COH aiso netted the CSR in the pro formas. 5ee further comments in the Medical Costs and Losses section.
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in the pro formas, COH’s ACR is 20.4% in 2014, 18.3% in 2015 and 16.6% in 2016. The ACR ranges from 20.4% down to
13% in 2034, with an average ACR of 14% from 2014-2034. The decrease in administrative expenses is not substantiated
or explained in the application. The administrative budget is comprised of Salary/Wages/Benefits, Travel, Equipment,
Supplies, Contractual and Other Budgeted items. The largest expense is contractual expenses related to HP which accounts
for 49%, 55%, 57%, respectively from 2014-2016. No further information was provided as to whether these functions
would eventually be brought in house or continue to be outsourced.

Stress Test

The stress test scenario projects the financial impact COH would encounter if it incurred a 10% increase in claim costs in
2015, before returning to baseline levels in 2016. The claim spike led to a $9.7M increase in solvency request from
approximately $185.9M to $195.6M. Then, in 2028, COH increases its revenue by $11.1M or 1% with no other changes
from the base case scenario.

The stress test projects COH to commence profitability in 2018, with a gain of $18.9M, after sustaining losses of $87.4M
from 2014 through 2017. The CO-OP projects a cumulative net income of $556.3M from 2018 to 2034, with RBC levels
projected to stay above the CMS recommended level of 500% of ACL through 2034. COH projects to continue to make
annual repayments through 2032, until the foan is paid in full, if projections are realized. However, COH’s ability to repay
its loans relies on its 3R recoveries and its ability to maintain its enroliment figures despite a projected premium increase
of 9%, 22% and 21% from 2015 to 2017, respectively.

COH projects a MLR with 3Rs of 93.3% in 2014, 93.1% in 2015, and 87.9% in 2016 this does not include the impact of the
ACA adjustments. COH projects to recover $48.5M, $21.2M, and $11.9M of its incurred claims from federal reinsurance
programs in 2014, 2015, and 2016, respectively. Absent the level of reinsurance recoveries and excluding the impact of
the ACA, the MLR for 2014, 2015, and 2016 is projected to be 139.1%, 125.7%, and 99.2%, respectively. It's likely that
similar to the base case, COH has netted the CSRs and claims together, but this assumption cannot be confirmed with the
information provided.

Summary of Observations:

* Potential fiquidity issue: Based on the pro forma cash flow statement, if COH doesn’t receive any additional funding
and the 3R payment of $144.9 are not received until Q3 2015, CMS may want to consider that COH could suffer from
a liquidity issue. Not enough information was provided to substantiate the need and as a result, the impact on its pro
forma financials cannot be assessed.

e COH’s enroliment assumption: The pro formas indicate COH will be able to repay its solvency, start-up and private
loan, if projections are realized. However, it is not ciear how COH projects maintain its membership projections for
2015, 2016, and 2017 with the projected increases in premium rates of 9%, 22% and 21% respectively.

* Solvency loan funds being used to pay Start Up and Private loans. Since COH doesn’t turn a profit until 2018, it
appears COH will be using solvency loans to help pay off its start-up and private loans from 2015-2017.

* Potential request for more solvency foan funding from lowa Insurance Division: According to the applicant, the 11D
has been in contact with COH about its risk profile and iikely needs more solvencies in 3Q14. No further information
was provided. Also, it’s unclear if that discussion took place before or after the $32.7M in additionai solvency was
awarded to COH.

* Unsubstantiated revenue increase in stress test: The COH pro formas for the stress test have an $11M or 1% increase
in premiums during 2028 that is not explained. it's unclear what is causing the unanticipated increase in premiums
from the base vs stress case.

S. Contingency Plan:
COH considered the following options as part of its contingency pian:
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» Merger with another CO-OP. To gain additional solvency, COH considered merging with another CO-OP and utilizing
its unused capital for operations. However, “no CO-OPs have been approached for such an arrangement to date” (P.
63/64)

e WMerge or affiliate with another large healthcare entity. COH contemplated merging or affiliating with a large
healthcare entity, unfortunately, due to “its liquidity challenges yet unresolved.” {P. 64), no interest was identified in
the market.

¢ Enroliment cuts. Excluding the already removed business lines from the base case, COH has determined no other
business units can be terminated. The CO-OP believes if they were to cut the off Marketplace individual business in
Nebraska, it would have a “catastrophic effects on distribution channels and is tantamount to a shutdown but at
greater cost over a longer time” {P. 64).However, no information was provided to substantiate this claim.

+ Shutdown operations. If no additional solvency loans are awarded, COH believes its only viable option is to shut down
operations. it has exhausted all aforementioned options {P. 64},

After assessing the options, in the event no foan award is made, COH believes the only realistic alternative is to shut down
operations starting November 1%, 2014, after notification of loan decision. COH provided a financial forecast showing cash
flows and enroliment numbers through 2015. However, this was not submitted to Milliman for review, thus not included
in the actuarial certification. The financiaf forecast is based on closing individual enrotiment for 2015 while maintaining
small and {arge group through the anniversary date, ceasing coverage completely in October 2015, The projected forecast
shows that COH believes it can pay back the start-up and solvency loans to CMS, if the projections are realized. However,
the ability to pay back the loans hinges on the 3R payments in 3Q15.

Summary of Observations

» Private foan is contingent on CMS funding and a senior secured position. The private loan COH is attempting to
obtain is contingent upon CMS awarding additional solvency funds and the lender receiving a senior secured position
on the transitional reinsurance receivable. Without those requirements, it is unlikely that COH can obtain the private
foan. The effect on the pro formas cannot be determined.

s If solvency funding is not provided, COH will shut down_If no funding is awarded, COH will approach the DOl to begin
shutting down operations as of 11/1/14 and any future losses wilf be covered by the guarantee fund {P. 81}. COH wili
cease individua! enroliment for 2015 while maintaining small and large group until the anniversary date hits in 2015
{P. 81}. in the application, COH provided a financiat forecast of enroliment and cash flow for the next 14 months. The
forecast predicts that COH will be able to repay its CMS loans if projections are met.

Solvency Loan Request Points

Sections Potential Total
Enroliment 15 10.25
Product Pricing 20 10
Medical Costs and Losses 15 11
CO-OP Financials 15 8
Score . i S | 65 | 3805

Contingency Plan Points

Contingency Plan Potential Total

Overall
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CENTERS FOR MEIHCARY & MEDICAID SERVICES

Kentucky Health Cooperative, Inc.

Additional Solvency Loan Funding Request Report
Date Submitted to CMS: 10/09/2014

Scope Summary & Assumptions:

» Deloitte will not provide an opinion regarding the reasonableness of the proposed changes to each CO-
OP’s business pfan. Nor will Deloitte provide an opinion regarding the likelihood of each CO-OP achieving
sustainable operations based upon the revised business plan.

e Deloitte assumes that the information provided by each CO-OP in its modified business plan is complete
and accurate. Deloitte will perform its assessment of the data provided “as is”. Deloitte will also use
other data sources that are publicly accessible or information provided directly from the Centers for
Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS). Deloitte will notify CMS if we believe that there is insufficient
information to complete our review.

e In these applications for solvency loan requests, the CO-OPs have cited a need for additional solvency
loans to cover projected cash shortfalls as a result of nonadmitting risk-sharing receivables provided in
the Affordable Care Act {ACA). The National Association of Insurance Commissioners {NAIC} is charged
with developing accounting guidance for these risk-sharing provisions which are utilized by the state
departments of insurance in monitoring the financiai solvency of the insurers domicited in their state.
The NAIC is continuing their deliberations on this issue, which previously included potential
nonadmittance for risk-sharing receivables in excess of any payabies. However, as a result of the most
recent NAIC meeting on August 17, 2014, the adopted minutes of that meeting reflects that the NAIC is
“replacing the nonadmission guidance with criteria that incorporates conservatism and sufficiency of
data and removing the exposed 90-day guidance and adding language to be consistent with other
government receivables”. This Findings Report will provide relevant information, as necessary, on the
accounting treatment for the risk-sharing receivables used by the CO-OPs in their financial projections.

e The impact of the Reinsurance, Risk Adjustment and Risk Corridors Program {the 3Rs, reinsurance, risk
adjustment, and/or risk corridors) was reviewed when making observations and comments throughout
this report. Observations and comments relating to the impact of the 3Rs are included for informational
purposes only. We are not commenting on the reasonableness or propriety of any of the amounts
relating to the 3Rs. Nor are we commenting on the underlying accounting policy. Based on the scoring
criteria provided by CMS, observations and comments relfating to the 3Rs had a net neutral effect on the
scoring.

* In reviewing applications from CO-OPs for additional solvency loan funding requests, Deloitte reviewed
supporting documentation requested of the applicants by CMS in a memo to the CO-OPs distributed on
August 22, 2014. The format of the reports as well as the section scoring was approved by CMS during
the week of June 2, 2014. These reports are scored on the basis of a total of 6S points, plus 10 points for
the contingency plan. The scoring refiects Deloitte’s assessment of the degree to which the application
complies with the funding loan announcement of August 22, 2014. The score for the Contingency Plan
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section should be viewed independently of scoring for the other sections of this report. For all sections,
Deloitte provided comments on issues only for which the applicant provided data. Observations relating
to the pro forma financial statements are based on the base case with additional solvency award scenario
{base case}, uniess otherwise noted.

Executive Summary:

Kentucky Health Cooperative, Inc. (KYHC or the applicant or CO-OP) has submitted a request for additional
solvency loan funding relating to KYHC's Kentucky operations. However, the application and underlying
financials do not discriminate between projected Kentucky and West Virginia operations. Therefore, a
distinction was unable to be made between the solvency loan funding needs for Kentucky and West Virginia in
this report. Any additional solvency loan funding received by the CO-OP is required to be aggregated with funds
for West Virginia,

KYHC provided two versions of the base scenario; first, if the risk corridors receivabie is treated as a nonadmitted
asset, KYHC will request one of three potential funding options, each resulting a different level of RBC.
Conversely, if the risk corridors receivable is admitted, KYHC requests two additional funding options. These two
funding options are predicated on KYHC's ability to receive a private loan of $15M. There is no further
information provided in the application as to whether the CO-OP will need to collateralize assets to obtain this
private loan or whether it is contingent upon receiving additional solvency loan funds from CMS5. in the event
that KYHC does not receive private loan funding, KYHC will request the tota} “Solvency Loan Requested” amount
for each option as outlined in Table 1 below. However, KYHC “acknowledges that receiving $103 million in
funding just to maintain a RBC of 500% is not necessarily the correct solution” (P. 119). Presented in Table 1
below is a summary of the base case and each of the suggested funding options. See the CO-OP Financials and
Contingency Plan sections for further details.

Table 1: Funding Options for 2014

Hase Case 2014

tine.
Solvency Loan
Requested 103,000,000 69,100,000 45,000,000 103,000,000 69,100,000 45,000,000

Solvency Loan from
CMS | 103,000,000 65,100,000 45,000,000 N/A 54,100,000 30,000,000

Private Loan
Proceeds* - - - { N/A 15,000,000 15,000,000
Risk Corridors 74,609,827 74,609,827 74,609,827 N/A 74,608,827 74,609,827
RBC Level 500% 200% < 200% N/A >700% > 500%
Enrollees 47,186 47,186 47,186 N/A 47,186 47,186
MLR with 3Rs 95.4% 95.4% 55.4% N/A 55.4% 95.4%
MLR without 3Rs 161.3% 161.3% 1613% N/A 161.3% 161.3%

* Private loans will not be used in soivency calculation
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The results under ‘Risk Corridors admitted” are based on the assumption that the CO-OP will obtain a private
loan. KYHC “acknowledges that receiving $103M in funding just to maintain a RBC level of 500% of ACL is not
necessarily the correct solution” {P. 119)%.

In practice, however, none of the funding options above represent the break even financial need of the CO-OP.
The amount in solvency foan funding required by the CO-OP will aiso be affected by:

e Status of West Virginia start-up loan funding: KYHC was obligated $7,000,000 in start-up funding and
$12,652,200 of solvency loan funds for West Virginia operations

e impact of the 3Rs receivables

* CO-OP’s access to a private loan

e KYHC's participation in open enroliment

KYHC has stated that “if additional solvency funding is not awarded, [KYHC] stand[s] ready to move our
approximately 55,000 existing lives to other carriers and remove the health plan from the open enroliment as
an unfortunate but appropriate option” (P. 118).

Based on CM5’s CO-OP Summary Report by Borrower as of 10/3/2014 {Loan Tracker), the CO-OP was originally
obligated $81,494,772 of start-up, and solvency loan funding and began issuing health insurance products
beginning in 2014. As of 10/3/2014, a total of $78,933,123 has been disbursed, specifically 559,497,900 of
obligated solvency loan funding and $19,435,223 of the $21,996,872 of obligated start-up loan funding. Out of
these totals, KYHC was obligated $7,000,000 in start-up and $12,652,200 in solvency loan funding for West
Virginia. Because this is a single entity, the start-up and solvency loan funds awarded for West Virginia
operations have been commingled with the start-up and solvency foan funds initially awarded to KYHC. KYHC is
currently requesting additional solvency loan funding because of higher than expected enroliment and primarily
to address solvency issues caused by the treatment of the risk corridors receivable as a nonadmitted asset.

it is important to note that the appficant did not include a business plan with this solvency loan request. The
most recent business plan available is out of date, submitted to CM5 in May of 2014 for Kentucky, and October
of 2013 for West Virginia, but they were used to the extent necessary in this review. The lack of an updated
business plan for both Kentucky and West Virginia leaves information gaps regarding enrollment as welt as
necessary support for financial related observations. Materials provided by the CO-OP in the application, in
addition to supplemental information that is publicly accessible or was provided by CMS, have been considered
in this report. Differences, when observed within the materials, are noted within the report. Deloitte has not
taken any actions to verify the accuracy of the data or reconcile any observed discrepancies between this
application and data previously submitted by the CO-OP.

KYHC did not provide the breakout of Kentucky and West Virginia enroliees in the current solvency loan funding
request. Therefore, ail discussion of enroliment projections for all years refer to combined West Virginia and
Kentucky membership. in addition, KYHC did not provide an updated enroliment strategy with this request and
stated in the application that the information be referenced in the business plan submitted to CMS in May 2014.
The term ‘Marketplace’ indicates that it is applicable to both the Kentucky and West Virginia Marketplaces.
KYHC stated that it expects Kentucky-only enroliment to decrease in 2015 due to premium increases and the
introduction of two new competitors in the Marketplace. it is unclear why the CO-OP expects these factors to
negatively impact enroliment as the application states the CO-OP’s individual rates for 2015 remain 5-25% below
that of the lowest competitor. insufficient information was provided to assess changes to Kentucky standalone
enroliment in this report.

 Page numbers in this report refer to the consolidated application.
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By including the 3R receivables, KYHC is projecting a loss of $22.5M, a profit of $513K, and $501K for 2014, 2015,
and 2016, respectively. Without consideration of the 3R receivables, the CO-OP is projected to have losses of
$139.3M, $63M, and $7.2M for 2014, 2015, and 2016, respectively. If the benefit of Affordable Care Act (ACA)
adjustments is included, KYHC projects a medical loss ratio {MLR) of 36% in 2014, 81% in 2015, and 82% in 2016.
Excluding the 3R receivables and the impact of the ACA adjustments, the MLR for 2014, 2015, and 2016 is
projected to be 161%, 86.8%, and 86%, respectively. KYHC projects to recover $115.5M, $10M, and $8.1M from
the 3Rs recoveries in 2014, 2015, and 2016, respectively. KYHC has increased premiums for 2015 from 2014 in
order to adjust for enroliment of high-risk populations, among other things, and plans to deploy medicat
management strategies. However, KYHC did not provide sufficient information to analyze these strategies.

As stated above in the Scope Summary and Assumptions section, pending accounting guidance reiating to
accounting treatment has been updated to reflect risk corridors receivables as an admitted asset as fong as
there is supporting documentation. Kentucky’s solvency loan funding application is conservative and reflects
$74.6M in assets that it is currently reporting as nonadmitted. The CO-OP’s position for accounting treatment
relating to these receivables does not reflect the current direction of NAIC. However, it is also noted that the
NAIC has not issued final guidance, which is expected in November 2014. If projections are realized, it is
apparent that if the accounting rule is not resolved in KYHC's favor by year end 2014 and no further solvency
loans are awarded, the CO-OP will have both critical liquidity and solvency issues.

If the funding options presented in Table 1 above are not awarded, KYHC proposes delaying its West Virginia
implementation from 2015 to 2016 and converting $5M of start-up funds into solvency loan funds in order to
reduce its funding request from $54.1 to $49.1M. KYHC did not provide the pro forma financial statements for
the other contingency scenarios outside of the base case where it projects to receive $103M in solvency loan
funds. Therefore, the impact of the additional scenarios on its pro forma financial statements cannot be
assessed.

The CO-OP states, “KYHC was awarded their start-up and solvency loans for both the initial request and the
West Virginia expansion based on the 2017+ Adverse Experience scenario {3% unanticipated increase in claims
every fourth year) that was included in their original feasibility analysis. Because of this, it was necessary {and
still appropriate) to use this scenario as the baseline scenario so that the results of this feasibility analysis could
be used to isolate the change in solvency loans necessary to operate at 500% RBC given emerging 2014 claims
and membership experience. ” {P. 17). This makes it difficult to review the solvency for the true baseline
projections. Solvency ioans needed under an alternative stress scenario would be larger than under a base case
scenario. Applications for solvency loan funding were generally funded using a base case scenario.

Critical Assertions:

1. Enroliment:

KYHC did not provide the breakout of enroliment between Kentucky and West Virginia with the current solvency
loan request. While 2014 enroliment projections reflect membership in Kentucky only, projections for 2015 and
2016 also include enrollees from KYHC's operations in West Virginia, d/b/a West Virginia Health Cooperative,
Inc.. KYHC’s operations in West Virginia are projected to commence with 2015 open enrofiment in November
2014,
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Kentucky operates on a state-based marketplace, Kynect (Kentucky Marketplace). The operations for West
Virginia, involve a state-partnership marketplace {West Virginia Marketplace). The term ‘Marketplace’ indicates
that it is applicable to both the Kentucky and West Virginia Marketplaces.

Figure 1: September 2014 Enroliment Projections exceed Original Projections

Based on KYHC’s most recent pro forma financial

KYHC Enroliment statements submitted in September 2014 (9/22

80000 e Pro Formas or pro formas), enroliment for 2014
70000 is expected to be 53% more than original
application projections? {2011 Pro Formas) and

o000 19% more than enroliment projections in a
s0000 business plan provided to CMS in May 2014 {5/2
40000 Pro Formas). Despite exceeding the original
30000 projections of total 2014 enrofiment, KYHC did

not achieve expected off Marketplace or Small
Business Heaith Options Program (SHOP)
enrofiment. In the 2011 Pro Formas, KYHC
projected to enroll 10,085 members in Kentucky
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;é E_ Eg off Marketplace in 2014 but pro formas

submitted with this solvency loan request and

2014 2015 2016 the 5/2 Pro Formas indicate the CO-OP has no off
®On-Marketplace B Off-Marketplace Marketplace enrollment®>. The lack of off-
marketpiace enroliment in 2014 is consistent

Source: Originaf 2011 pro formas. 10/2013 pro formas, 5/2/2014 pro formas, and with the data reported in the CMS CO-OP

9/22/2014 N
/2014 610 formas Enrollment Comparison Report as of August 5,

2014.

KYHC stated in the application that it expects 13,000 enrollees in West Virginia in 2015, although this
information was not reflected in the pro formas. Based on this figure, KYHC is expecting 41,346 enrollees in
Kentucky in 2015, This represents a 12% decrease from 2014 average enroliment levels in Kentucky. The
breakout of on and off Marketplace enroliment and the breakout of individual and small group enroliment was
not provided.

The application states that Kentucky only enroliment is expected to decrease from 2014 to 2015 for two reasons.
First, there are two new entrants on the Kentucky Marketplace in 2015, CareSource Kentucky Co. and WellCare
Health Plans of Kentucky, Inc.. Second, KYHC filed for a 15% rate increase for individual products offered on
Kentucky Marketplace in 2015 in response to high medical costs in 2014. Despite stating in the application that
Kentucky only enroliment will decrease in 2015, the 9/22 Pro Formas show a 15% increase in enroliment from
2014 to 2015.

Based on the 9/22 Pro Formas, KYHC expects to enroil 54,346 members in 2015 and 64,088 members in 2016,
representing an 18% growth in membership from one year to the next. However, compared to the 5/2 Pro
Formas, KYHC is expecting 7% fewer enrollees in 2015 and 8% fewer enroliees in 2016. Because a breakout of

2 All references to “original” ~ including, but not fimited to, “original funding application”, “original appiication”, and “original

projects” ~ refer to KYHC's 2011 application for CMS start-up and solvency loan funding, operations commencing in 2011,
3 Annual enroliment projections provided in the pro formas reflect average membership over a 12 month period.
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enroflment data was not provided, it cannot be determined whether these decreases between projections
impact Kentucky or West Virginia membership in 2016. See Documentation for Change in Enroliment Projections
section below for further information.

Documentation for Change in Enroliment Projections

KYHC is requesting additional funding due, in part, to an increase in projected enroliment from the 2011 Pro
Formas to the 9/22 Pro Formas and to cover higher than expected claims costs in 2014 (P. 4). The applicant
attributes higher than expected enroliment in 2014 to its pricing and the elimination of 4,500 individuals from
the state’s high risk pool as of 12/31/2013. KYHC was the only carrier on the Kentucky Marketplace to offer a
Platinum pian and the applicant believes that this product attracted a “high concentration of individuals with
high costs associated with heaith status”, specifically those terminated from the high-risk pool (P. 4}. KYHC
stated in the application that it captured 75% of Kentucky Marketplace enroliment in 2014, This estimate could
not be independently verified. Please see the Product Pricing and Medical Costs and Losses sections for further
details.

In its May 2014 business plan, KYHC cited competitors’ “extensions of non-compliant plans” as the key factor in
failing to enroll off the Kentucky Marketplace in 2014 {P. 3848). it is not clear from the business plan how this
extension impacted off Marketplace business as enroliees in non-compliant plans would have otherwise been
expected to enrofl on Marketplace. No further detail was provided in the application to support this statement.

KYHC cited the delay of SHOP functionality for the lack of small group enrollment in 2014 although the CO-OP
did not market these offerings {P. 3548). KYHC now projects to have off Marketplace and SHOP enroliment
beginning in 2015. However, it is not clear from the information provided in which state KYHC intends to enroli
these members or how the CO-OP plans to attract them to these products,

KYHC did not provide any detail on how it plans to achieve its target enroliment in West Virginia given the
presence of a dominant insurer, Highmark, inc. in the West Virginia Marketplace. Additionally, KYHC did not
provide detail on how it intends to address challenges experienced in Kentucky in 2014 for 2015 West Virginia
operations, with the exception of not offering a Platinum plan on the West Virginia Marketplace.

Table 2: Documentation for Change in Enroliment Projections

Reason Cited by
KYHC for Changes . KYHC Proposed Action KYHC Justification

in Enroliment
Only Carrier 1. wili not offer a The Kentucky and West Virginia high risk pools were terminated in
Offering a Platinum plan in 2013. KYHC believes that the elimination of the risk poo! in Kentucky
Platinum plan on the West Virginia put high-cost individuals onto the Kentucky Marketplace and that
the Kentucky market in 2015. these individuals chose KYHC because it was competitively priced and
Marketplace the only carrier to offer a Piatinum plan (P. 4}, KYHC believes that by

also efiminating the Platinum plan offering from the West Virginia
Marketplace that the CO-OP can “avoid the likely adverse-selection of
prior high risk poot enrofiees” experienced in Kentucky {P.5).
Kentucky will continue to offer a Platinum plan on the Kentucky
Marketplace in 2015,

2. Raise individual According to the applicant, KYHC premiums “were not unreasonably
premiums rates by | loweror higher than other competitor’s rates” in 2014 {P. 5). However,
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KYHC for Changes

in Enroilment

Price
Competitiveness

KYHC Proposed Action

an average of 15%
in Kentucky for
2015.
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KYHC Justification

KYHC states that it is raising individual rates to account for adverse
selection in 2014. Please see the Product Pricing section for additional
information.

Despite this rate increase, KYHC expects to be the “lowest priced plan
at between 5-25% below the closest competitor” in five of eight rating
areas (P. 30). In the remaining rating areas, KYHC expects to be
between 10-40% higher than the lowest priced competitor {P. 30}. No
documentation was provided to support these statements. it is
unclear how KYHC intends to avoid adverse selection if it remains the
lowest priced competitor on the Kentucky Marketplace. KYHC did not
provide sufficient information to determine how this increase wilt
affected individual enroliment levels in Kentucky.

KYHC states that additional solvency needs are “not due to inadequate
or inappropriate pricing” in 2014 (P. 5}. This statement appears
contradictory to the fact that KYHC will remain 5-25% below the towest
priced competitor and to the high medical costs experienced by the
CO-OP to date,

Raise small group
premiums by an

average of 6.5% in
Kentucky for 2015

KYHC filed for an average 6.5% rate increase for small group products
across ail rating areas in Kentucky. KYHC states that its small group
rates will be 0-10% higher on average than the lowest priced
competitor. According to the applicant, this price position is an
improvement from 2014, when the CO-OP’s small group plans were
priced 10-15% higher than the lowest priced competitor on average {P.
30). Insufficient detail was provided to determine how the CO-OP will
raise its small group rates while also closing the price gap between
KYHC and the lowest priced competitor.

Delay in SHOP
functionality

increase marketing
for smalf business
product offerings.

KYHC cited “SHOP design chaltenges” that “resuited in a slow start to
participation by employer groups in the latter part of 2013” as
explanation for the jack of small group enroliment in 2014 (P. 3548).
The CO-OP noted that it decided to delay “aggressive marketing” of
small group products off Marketplace as a result but did not provide
further detail {P. 3548). KYHC did not provide detail on the change in
off Marketplace small group enroliment. SHOP delays would be
expected to impact smail group enroliment on Marketplace only.

The feasibility study states that KYHC expects a “one-year defay in our
initially anticipated small group market behavior” and, therefore, is
now projecting these members in 2015 {P. 27). No further
information was provided on the impact of the delay in small group
enroliment in 2015.

New entrants on
Kentucky
Marketplace

5. Noaction

proposed.

KYHC stated in the application that the entrants of two new carriers on
the Kentucky Marketplace will have a “noticeable impact” on Kentucky
enroliment in 2015 (P, 30). The CO-OP did not substantiate this
statement, it is unclear why the CO-OP expects these new carriers to
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Reason Cited by
KYHC for Changes KYHC Proposed Action KYHC lustification

in Enroliment

negatively impact enroliment given the CO-OP also states it will be
priced 5-25% below the next lowest priced competitor in five of eight
rating areas (P. 30}). KYHC did not provide detail as to how the CO-OP
plans to address additional competition in the Kentucky Marketplace
despite stating that it believes the new entrants will impact enroliment

levels.
Extension of non- | 6. Distribute According to the applicant, off Marketplace individual enroliment was,
comphiant health advertisements to in part, lower than expected due to the extension on non-compliant
plans key audiences heaith plans in Kentucky. To address this issue in 2015, the CO-OP

intends to “develop and implement retention programs aimed at
retaining our individual market share and complete the build out of
direct enrolfment and lead generation programs designed to position
the CO-OP competitively going forward” (P. 3849). No further detail
was provided to support these plans in the May 2014 business plan,
Further detail was not provided with the current solvency loan request.

KYHC did not provide sufficient information to analyze the assertion
that the extension impacted off Marketplace enroliment in 2014,

Summary of Observations:

* Increased 2014 enroliment from 2011 and 5/2 Pro Formas. KYHC exceeded original enroliment
projections in both the original 2011 and May 2014 submissions by 53% and 19%, respectively. KYHC
cites higher than expected enroliment as one justification for requesting additional solvency loan
funding.

* Decreased in projected 2015 and 2016 Kentucky enrollment from 5/2 Pro Formas. KYHC is projecting
a decrease in Kentucky only enroliment in 2015 due to premium increases and the entrance of two new
competitors in the Kentucky Marketpiace. It unclear why the CO-OP expects premium increases to
negatively impact Kentucky enrollment since the CO-OP states it will be 5-25% below the next fowest
priced competitor in five of eight rating areas in Kentucky. Further, it is unclear why the CO-OP expects
these new carriers to negatively impact Kentucky enroliment given the CO-OP’s price position {P. 30}.
Enrollment losses in Kentucky are partially offset by the introduction of enrollees from West Virginia in
2015 and 2016. KYHC stated in the application that it expects 13,000 members in 2015 from West
Virginia operations {P. 3844).

* increased premiums planned for 2015 in Kentucky. in response to higher than expected enroliment
and the “adverse selection of prior high risk pool enroliees” in 2014, KYHC is raising premiums by an
average of 15% in 2015 for individual products {P. 3548). Despite this rate increase, KYHC expects to be
the “lowest priced plan at between 5-25% below the closest competitor” in five of eight rating areas (P.
30). No documentation was provided to support this statement. in the small group market for 2015,
KYHC filed a 6.5% average rate increase with smali group rates “approximately 0-10% higher than the
lowest priced plans” {P. 30). Despite rate increases, KYHC expects its small group offerings to be “more
competitive” in 2015 {P. 30). No detail was provided to support this statement.
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« Lack of detail around correction of adverse selection issues in Kentucky in 2015 and 2016. KYHC stated
that is requesting additional solvency loan funding to account for higher than expected medical costs {P.
4). Because KYHC also states that it will be the lowest priced plan by 5-25% on the Kentucky exchange in
five of eight rating areas, it is not clear why the CO-OP expects it will avoid enrolfing high-cost members
in Kentucky, whom the CO-OP describes as “very sensitive” to price differences (P. 5). KYHC will also
continue to offer a Platinum plan in Kentucky for 2015. in West Virginia, the CO-OP will not offer a
Platinum plan to avoid enrolling individuals with high medical costs {(P. 4}.

2. Product Pricing:

KYHC's 2014 enroliment was almost 53% higher than projected in the 2011 Pro Formas and captured a market
share of about 75% of Kentucky Marketplace enroliment {P. 4}). According to the applicant, one of the
contributing factors for the higher than anticipated enroliment is their rates being competitive and other carriers
“adopting a thin network strategy of participating only in select regions (urban} or operating statewide with onty
a thin network” {P. 4). No further information was provided on issues related to network strategy. The state’s
high risk pool terminated enroliment of approximately 4,500 individuals effective 12/31/2013. KYHC was the
only carrier to offer a Platinum plan in 2014 and, believes that hecause of this, the CO-OP enrolled a high
concentration of individuals with high health costs {P. 4). The 2014 Kentucky Marketplace premiums were not
published on the Kentucky Department of insurance {DOt} website so no information could be obtained as to
which insurers were offering products for the different tiers and who amongst them had the lowest rates.

Projected enroliment for 2014 is 47,186 and the CO-OP has enrolled 55,852 as of 6/30/2014 according to the
Q2 regulatory filing {P. 15}.

The CO-OP is raising premiums in 2015 on average by 15% for individual and 6.5% for small group products.
Actual increases for specific plans range from 8% to 18.4% for individual and -2.2% to 11.9% for small group {P.
622 and 1084). There is no information available to confirm that the CO-OP was the lowest priced in one or
more plans offered and how the other insurers compared against the CO-OP across the different tiers. Changes
in premium rates between 2014 and 2015 being made by insurers in Kentucky are noted in Table 3 below.
However, it is unclear what impact the rate increases by the CO-OP will have on existing members or how
competitive the rates will be in the 2015 Kentucky Marketplace. KYHC has requested a 15% average rate
increase in the Kentucky individual market and 6.5% average rate increase in the Kentucky small group market
(P. 30). Rates across all individual market plans provided in 2014 are increasing in 2015 (P. 682). Small group
rates are ail increasing in 2015 except one (P. 1194).

The CO-OP states, “...KYHC was awarded their start-up and solvency loans for both the initial request and the
West Virginia expansion based on the 2017+ Adverse Experience scenario {3% unanticipated increase in claims
every fourth year) that was included in their original feasibility analysis. Because of this, it was necessary {and
stilt appropriate) to use this scenario as the baseline scenario so that the resuits of this feasibility analysis could
be used to isolate the change in solvency loans necessary to operate at 500% RBC given emerging 2014 claims
and membership experience. ” {P. 17). This makes it difficult to review the solvency loan request for the true
baseline projections. Solvency loans needed under an aiternative stress scenario would be larger than under a
base case scenario. Solvency foan funding applications generally use a base case scenario.

In the Kentucky Marketplace, the CO-OP is not terminating any products being offered in 2014 and not adding
any new products in 2015. However, the CO-OP does plan to begin doing business in West Virginia starting in
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2015. Considering the worse than expected claims cost, the CO-OP is not providing a Platinum plan under the
West Virginia Marketplace.

Per the application, KYHC is projecting a $22M loss in 2014 for existing KY operations. KYHC includes a $105k
premium deficiency reserve {PDR) which is recovered in 2015 {P. 45). No details are provided to support the
PDR established by the CO-OP. The PDR impacts the applicant’s surplus and ultimately impacts the amount of
solvency loan requested by KYHC.

For both small group and individual plans, changes to the overall premium level are needed, in part, because of
required changes in federal/state taxes and fees. Inaddition, there are anticipated changes in the administrative
expenses and commission arrangements. Taxes and fees are expected to contribute a 1.4% increase to 2014
premiums for individuat and small group products {P. 681 and 1193).

The adjustments contributing to the total rate increase of 15% for individual are the following (P. 681}):
« Total Paid Claims Trend / Benefit Change Factor / Morbidity Shift
s Administrative Expense Change Factor
¢ Transitional Federal Program Factor
s Federal and State Taxes & Fees Change Factor
s Profit Change Factor

The adjustments contributing to the total rate increase of 6.5% for small group are the following (P. 1193}):
¢ Total Paid Claims Trend/Benefit Change Factor
* Administrative Expense Change Factor
» Transitional Reinsurance Benefit Factor {No Impact for Smatl Group Market)
e Federal and State Taxes & Fees Change Factor
s Profit Change Factor

The Kentucky Department of Insurance’s website shows that the 2015 rate increases requested by the CO-OP
for the individual and small group markets have been approved.

According to the applicant, Anthem Heaith Plans of Kentucky, inc. was the dominant player in 2012 {P. 110).
However, KYHC has captured a market share of about 75% of Marketplace enroliment during 2014 (P. 4). Table
3% below provides a comparison of rate changes approved for the different individual market and smal group
market plans approved by the Kentucky Department of insurance. Per Table 3 below, Anthem Heaith Plans of
Kentucky, Inc, are reducing rates whereas the CO-OP is increasing rates. Since 2014 rates were not provided, it
cannot be determined whether the changes in these rates will put the dominant player from 2012 in a
competitive position in 2015 or whether the CO-OP will still be the lowest priced competitor.

4 Table Data Source: http://insurance.ky.gov/Ratefil/
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Table 3: 2015 Rate Changes in the Kentucky individual and Smali Group markets

State Tracking

Individual Market Plan 2015 Rate Change
Number
2014-005414-R |CareSource Kentucky Co. N/A {new)
2014-005575-R {CareSource Kentucky Co. N/A {new}
2014-005485-R {WellCare Health Plans of Kentucky, inc. N/A {(new}
2014-005572-R [Anthem Health Plans of Kentucky, Inc. -4.30%
2014-005459-R [Anthem Health Pians of Kentucky, Inc. -3.06%
2014-005415-R {Golden Rule Insurance Company 0.00%
2014-005501-R [Humana Health Plan, inc. 12.80%
2014-005511-R [Time Insurance Company 15.00%
2014-005502-R |Kentucky Health Cooperative, Inc. 15.00%

State Tracking
Number
2014-005471-R {UnitedHealthcare of Ohio, Inc.
2014-005469-R {UnitedHealthcare of Kentucky, Ltd.
2014-005470-R {UnitedHealthcare insurance Company
2014-005537-R {Time insurance Company
2014-005538-R [John Alden Life insurance Company
2014-005419-R | Bluegrass Family Health inc,
2014-005503-R |Kentucky Health Cooperative, Inc.
2014-005529-R [Anthem Health Plans of Kentucky, Inc.

SmatlGroup Market Plan 2015 Rate Change

Summary af Observatians:

Removal of 3R recoveries for reinsurance woulfd put KYHC in a loss position for 2014 through 2016.
Reinsurance recoveries were estimated to be $42M, $10M, and $8M in 2014 through 2016 respectively.
These are federal and commercial reinsurance amounts combined as the CO-OP did not distinguish
between the two in the application. The 2014 recoveries are 17% of net premiums and decreases to 1%
in 2017, KYHC inctudes a $105k premium deficiency reserve {PDR) which is recovered in 2015 (P. 45}. No
details are provided to support the PDR established by the CO-OP. The PDR impacts the applicant’s
surplus and ultimately impacts the amount of soivency loan requested by KYHC.

Premium increases for 2015 in Kentucky. According to the applicant’s estimate, 2014 enrollment was
much higher than anticipated due competitive rates. KYHC was the only carrier to offer a Platinum plan
in 2014 and other carriers adopted a “thin network strategy of participating only in select regions {urban}
or operating statewide with only a thin network.” The CO-OP plans for increases in 2015 of 15% for
individual and 6.5% for small group products. There is no discussion of a plan for retaining members as
the premium increases take effect.

Enroiiment strategy adjusted to reduce the enroliment of higher risk population. The state’s high risk
pool terminated enrollment of approximately 4,500 individuals effective 12/31/2013. KYHC was the only
carrier to offer a Platinum plan in 2014 and, believes that this factor contributed to the high
concentration of individuals with high health costs {P. 4). KYHC raised the Platinum plan rates for 2015
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in hopes of reducing the high risk population in the Kentucky Marketplace. KYHC wili not be introducing
a Platinum plan in the West Virginia Marketplace in 2015 to avoid taking on high risk population.

« Breakdown of taxes and fees. The health insurer fee is estimated as 0.8% of individual premium and
small group premium and is included in the 2015 rate filing (P. 681 and 1193). Milliman published a
research report titled “ ACA Health Insurer Fee — Estimated Impact of the US heaith insurance industry”
dated April 2013, which states the 2014 heaith insurer fee estimate is 1.7% to 2.4% and increases to 2%
10 2.9%. Since KYHC is a 501c(29) not-for-profit entity, the insurer fee estimate is lower than the industry
average.

3. Medical Costs and Losses:

Medical costs in 2014 were double what was expected and KYHC depends on 3R recoveries to get through this
period. There is no information provided in the application detailing how KYHC intends to return to a normal
level. KYHC's pricing loss ratio for 2014 was 77% based on the rate filing (P. 167). KYHC is now projecting MLR
to be 93.4%, including reinsurance and risk corridors recoveries. The MLR excluding ACA adjustments,
reinsurance, and risk corridors recoveries is 161.3%. The reinsurance recoveries noted are both federal and
commercial combined as the CO-OP did not distinguish between the two in this application. KYHC is projecting
a 74% reduction in MLR from 2014 (161.3%) to 2015 (86.8%). There is not enough detail within the application
to analyze the appropriateness of the decrease in MLR. If KYHC does not reduce MLR by the 74% then the CO-
OP will continue to be in a foss position, if projections are realized. Finally, KYHC is expecting to be one of the
fowest priced competitors in 2015. Typically, this would result in many current enroliees remaining with the
plan.

tncluding the $42M in receivables for reinsurance and $74.6M in receivables for risk corridors for 2014 would
resultin a $22M loss. Removing the estimated $117M in receivables would resultina $139M loss. These losses
might be attributable to worse than expected claims cost recognized during the year. However, the amount of
money that will be recovered by the CO-OP through risk adjustment receivables is uncertain as the estimates of
relative risk and risk transfer payments are dependent not only on the membership enrolled by KYHC but aiso
by the other carriers in the state. It should be noted that the 3R receivables are difficult to estimate and may
create issues, such as liquidity, if relied upon to generate a profit,

The CO-OP is making changes to benefits across nearly ali the plans being offered. The changes made are related
to the deductibles and copays across the plans (P. 682 and 1194). The CO-OP plans on deploying medical
management strategies to improve health and heaith outcomes {P. 6). It is noted that the CO-OP has included
medical management, quality improvement, commercial reinsurance, and various fixed PMPM ACA fees in the
administrative expense allocation (P. 168). However, no detailed information is provided with respect to the
medical management and commercial reinsurance.

Due to emerging 2014 experience indicating that the initial assumption for pre- to post-ACA morbidity shift was
understated, KYHC has assumed a 5.5% increase in expected population morbidity of the Single Risk Pool from
the level that was assumed in 2014 {P. 686). The state's high risk pool terminated enroliment of approximately
4,500 individuals effective 12/31/2013. Even if assumed that ali of them were enrolled under the CO-OP’s plans,
these individuals would only constitute about 10% of KYHC's enrolted population. Since KYHC was the only
carrier to offer a Platinum plan in 2014, the applicant concludes that this led to a high concentration of
individuals with high health costs {P. 4). However, it is unclear as to why the claims would be so high just because
of 10% of KYHC's enrolied population.
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KYHC provided a draft independent auditor report which refers to a reinsurance agreement and the reinsurer is
advancing an allowance to the CO-OP to cover certain start-up costs. KYHC has purchased reinsurance to avoid
significant annual fluctuations in claims that could threaten solvency {P. 1233). The draft audit report dated
4/29/2014 references a reinsurance arrangement that also includes a $600,000 allowance to the CO-OP to cover
certain start-up costs {P. 1233). However, information was not provided with regards to medical management
and commercial reinsurance related specifics like attachment points, years the contract are in place or affected
markets.

KYHC mentions other insurers on the Kentucky Marketplace “adopting a thin network strategy of participating
only in select regions {urban) or operating statewide with only a thin network” {P. 4). However, since the
applicant did not provide an updated business plan, the application does not provide any details about the CO-
OP’s network and if any changes to the network are planned for 2015. Thus, it cannot be determined if the CO-
OP’s network coverage is any better than those of its competitors.

KYHC does not have enough of its own experience in the base period to use in rate development; therefore, the
2015 rate development is based solely on manual rates {P. 688).

Summary of Observations:

s Change in combined MLR for 2014, The loss ratio without the impact of 3Rs is projected to be 161.3%.
Additionally, KYHC is projecting a 74% reduction in MLR from 2014 {161.3%) to 2015 {86.8%).

« The 3Rs receivables are difficult to quantify. This is because of the uncertainty of the industry average
morbidity which is needed to accurately estimate risk adjustment. Risk corridors is calculated after risk
adjustment therefore relies upon the risk adjustment estimate. Without these receivables, KYHC would
have a toss of $97M for 2014 instead of the $22M projected in the pro formas.

» 2015 medical costs based on industry data. KYHC does not have enough 2014 experience to have its
own data to rely upon; therefore, industry assumptions are necessary to estimate the morbidity of the
projected membership.

* Support for medical management and commercial reinsurance. The CO-OP has included medical
management, quality improvement, commercial reinsurance, and various fixed PMPM ACA fees in the
administrative expense allocation. However, commercial reinsurance related specifics were not
provided regarding attachment points, years the contract are in place or affected markets and medical
management related specifics were not provided as well.

4. CO-OP Financiais:

KYHC’s pro forma financial statements show reinsurance recoveries of $42.2M in 2014, $10M in 2015, and
$8.1M in 2016. However, the reinsurance line item is a combination of the commercial and federal reinsurance.
Based on information provided, KYHC is projecting $1.3M in commercial reinsurance and $40.9M in federal
reinsurance, totaling $42.2M in 2014. However, due to the lack of information in 2015 and 2016, the breakout
of reinsurance could not be completed. Therefore, all calculations in this report will exclude commerciai
reinsurance in 2014 and include the combined reinsurance amount for 2015 and 2016. in addition, the projected
3R recoveries by KYHC will also remain the same given that claim projections remained unchanged between the
base and the stress case scenario. Furthermore, the pro forma income statement includes a projected payment
of $74.6M from the risk corridars program in 2014 while providing no projections for 2015 and 2016. On the
pro forma income statement, the risk corridors is recorded in premium revenue, but is then treated as a
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nonadmitted asset which reduces surpius by $74.6M. Please see Scope and Summary section for further
information. It should be noted that the 3R receivables are difficult to estimate and may create issues if relied
upon to generate a profit.

KYHC projects a net loss of $22.4M in the base case scenario for 2014, but is expecting to achieve profitability
in 2015 with a projected net income of $513K in 2015 and $501K in 2016 {P. 45}. However, according to the
2Q14 regulatory filing, KYHC is currently showing a net loss of $23.5M which would require KYHC to generate
$1.1M of income in the second halif of 2014 or alternatively, the current projections may not fully consider the
actual operating results for the first half of 2014. For the years 2015 through 2017, a net profit of approximately
$500K is projected in each year. In 2018, KYHC projects a net profit of $7.1M which is projected to grow steadily
in future years. However, absent 3R recoveries from reinsurance and risk corridors, KYHC wiil incur a cumulative
net loss of $137.9M, $9.5M, and $7.6M for 2014, 2015, and 2016 respectively,

Per the Loan Tracker, the CO-OP has been awarded total funding of $81.5M {$22M in start-up loans and $59.5M
in solvency loan funding), and began issuing health insurance products beginning in 2014. According to the Loan
Tracker, the full $59.5M of solvency loan obligated has been disbursed to KYHC and of the $22M of obligated
start-up Joan funding, $19.4M has been disbursed. The pro formas indicate that total start-up funding received
is projected to be $21.6M at year end 2014, $21.9 by year end 2015 and the full disbursal of $22M by the end
of 2016. If KYHC receives the $103M requested in the base and stress cases, the solvency draw will total
$162.5M.

Based on both the base and stress case of $103M, KYHC plans to start repayment of interest on the solvency
loan in 2019 and interest and principal payments in 2023. KYHC projects to continue making annual repayments
through 2033, until the loan is paid in full, assuming projections are realized. KYHC stated that it “will have
sufficient capital to repay its solvency loans within fifteen years of its specific draw down dates while meeting
State reserve requirements and solvency regulations” {P. 7). However, if projections are realized, KYHC does not
project to earn enough net income through 2017 to repay its initial start-up loan payment of $6.3M. Therefore,
it appears KYHC may need to use solvency ioans to make the start-up loan repayment in 2017, if projections are
realized.

Kentucky Health Cooperative, inc. is requesting additional solvency foan funding of $103M. According to the
applicant, this amount is primarily needed to address solvency issues that arise from KYHC’s treatment of a risk
corridor receivable for $74.6M as a nonadmitted asset. The feasibility analysis states “If this projected risk
corridor receivable, which is an estimated $74.6M for 2014 in the base scenario, were made available
immediately, it would eliminate much of the current need for additional solvency loan funding as welt as
alleviating the operating cash issues highlighted in the contingency scenario” {P.17). By inciuding the risk
corridor receivable as an admitted asset, KYHC is able to meet the CM5 mandated RBC level of 500% of ACL.
However, based on the pro forma cash flow statement, if KYHC does not receive any additional funding and the
3R payments of $115.5M are not received till Q3 2015, CMS may want to consider that KYHC could
suffer significant liquidity issues. Not enough information was provided to substantiate the need and as a result,
the impact on its pro forma financials cannot be assessed. As noted above, KYHC has stated that “if additional
solvency funding is not awarded, [KYHC] stand[s] ready to move our approximately 55,000 existing lives to other
carriers and remove the health plan from the open enroliment as an unfortunate but appropriate option”{P.
118).
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Base Case Scenario:

As described in the executive summary, the CO-OP has used the base case to project its solvency loan request
of $103M. However, KYHC “acknowledges that receiving $103M in funding just to maintain a RBC level of 500%
of ACL is not necessarily the correct solution” (P, 119). For that reason, the CO-OP provided a range of funding
options to reflect the status of the risk corridor and the mandated RBC levels, see Table 1 above. Additionally,
the Contingency Plan section will outline each alternative funding options utilizing private loans.

Based on the solvency loan funding request of $103M, KYHC projects a loss of $22.4M in 2014, but anticipates
profitability thereafter, with earnings of $513K and $501K in 2015 and 2016 and profit margin of 0.3% and 0.2%,
respectively. The application is currently projecting cumulative profits of $200M from 2015-2034. This inciudes
the cumulative reinsurance amount of $59M from 2014 to 2016, and $74.6M for risk corridor amounts in 2014.
Despite the total $115.5M of 3R receivables in 2014, KYHC is still expecting a {oss. The CO-OP has established a
PDR of $105k for 2014. Additionally, KYHC is projected to incur a loss of $9.5M and $7.6M in 2015 and 2016
absent recoveries from the federal reinsurance program. See Product Pricing for more details.

The applicant asserts that premiums will increase by 15% in 2015 for the individual market and 6.5% for SHOP
in 2015 to drive its performance improvements. in its pro forma income statement, its revenues per average
number of enrollees increase by 8% in 2015 and by 12% in 2016. However, KYHC is expecting a “23% reduction
in Kentucky average monthly membership in the individual market in 2015 compared to 2014” (P. 30) due to
the increase in premiums. KYHC expects to help offset those losses with the expansion into West Virginia and
increases in SHOP membership in Kentucky.

The base case scenario presented by KYHC is based off the stress case scenario used in the initial funding
application to CM5. This case includes a 3% unanticipated medical cost increase every four years. However, the
pro formas include amounts different then described. in the pro forma income statement, starting in 2022,
there is a 3% increase in claims every 4 years, but that increase is followed by a 6% reduction in the 5th year,
for example, 5%, 8%, 8%, 11%, 5%. The trend normalizes to an 8% increase in claims from 2022-2034. Likewise,
KYHC follows a similar trend with premiums of 4%, 7%, 7%, 10%, 4% which normalizes to a 7% increase in
premiums from 2022-2034, The increases in premiums and claims effectively negate any effect on MLR which
holds relatively constant in these years.

KYHC projects an MLR, including 3Rs recoveries, of 95.4% in 2014, 81.3% in 2015, and 82.1% in 2016. KYHC
projects to recover $115.5M, $10M, and $8.1M from the 3Rs recoveries in 2014, 2015, and 2016, respectively.
Absent the 3Rs recoveries, the MLR for 2014, 2015, and 2016 is projected to be 161.3%, 86.8%, and 85.6%,
respectively.

in the pro formas, the administrative cost ratio {“ACR”} is 19.7% in 2014, 18.6% in 2015 and 17.9% in 2016.
KYHC's ACR ranges from 19% to a low of 10.7% in 2034, with an average ACR of 13% from 2014-2034, The
decrease in administrative expenses is listed as resulting from economies of scale (P.5), although no detail was
provided to substantiate the claim. KYHC's administrative expenses for 2014 are budgeted at $31.9M; the
administrative budget is comprised of Safary/Wages/Benefits, Travel, Rent, Equipment, Consuiting,
Commission, Outsourced Services and Other Budgeted Items. The largest expense is Outsourced Services which
accounts for 45%, 41%, 42%, of expenses respectively from 2014-2016. No further information was provided as
to whether these functions would eventually be brought in-house or continue to be outsourced.

in the base case scenario, KYHC has requested the $103M of additional solvency loan funds in 2014, bringing
total solvency draw to $162.5M. it should be noted that KYHC “acknowledges that receiving $103M in funding
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just to maintain a RBC of 500% is not necessarily the correct solution” (P. 119). Furthermore, at that levei of
funding, KYHC will reach an RBC level of 500% of ACL in 2014, then remain over 1,000% till 2024, before it begins
trending down to 500% of ACL in 2034. By providing the additional $103M, KYHC will maintain elevated levels
of RBC throughout most of the performance period.

Stress Case Scenario:

The stress case scenario with additional solvency loan funding projects KYHC to achieve profitability in 2015.
KYHC is currently requesting the same $103M from the base case to address an additional 3% unanticipated
claim increases every two years while premiums remain the same. This increase is in addition to the
unanticipated 3% claim increase every four years as stated in the base case. However, the pro formas do not
appear to follow the 3% increases every four years as the claims increase by 5%, 11%, 5% and 11% respectively.
Contrary to the scenario description, premiums are also increased to offset the unanticipated claims in an
amount that keeps the MLR relatively constant. in this scenario, KYHC projects to incur a cumulative net income
of $201M from 2015 — 2034 and reinsurance recoveries of $40.9M, $10M, and $8.1M in 2014, 2015, and 2016
respectively. RBC levels are projected to hit 500% of ACL in 2014, 2068% in 2015, and remain above 500% for
the life of the loan. identical to the base case scenario, the funding request is based on the risk corridors being
treated as a nonadmitted asset. With the updated accounting treatment, KYHC will no fonger need the $103M
to meet the CMS recommended leve! of 500% of ACL.

KYHC projects an MLR, including 3Rs of 95.4%, 81.3% and 82.1% from 2014 - 2016. Absent 3R recoveries, the
MLR for 2014, 2015, and 2016 is projected to be 161.3%, 86.8%, and 85.6% respectively. KYHC projects to
recover the same amount as the base case scenario from its commercial reinsurance policy and projects its ACR
to stay nearly the same as ACR projected in the base case scenario.

In the stress case with additional solvency loan funding, KYHC projects to draw down a total of $103M in
solvency loan funding. The applicant projects to start repayment of interest on the solvency loan in 2019 and
interest and principal payments in 2023. KYHC projects to continue to make annual repayments through 2033,
until the ioan is paid in full, if projections are realized.

Summary af Observations:

* Accounting treatment of risk corridors receivable. KYHC's application for solvency loan funds is
predicated on the risk corridors receivable being treated as a nonadmitted asset. Based on that
assumption, KYHC has requested three funding options, $103M to reach the RBC fevels of 500% of ACL
in 2014, $69.1M to reach the state minimum RBC levels of 200% of ACL or $45M to remain solvent but
unabie to hit the CMS recommended RBC levels. By including the risk corridors receivable as an admitted
asset, all funding options will enable KYHC to meet the CMS recommended RBC of 500% of ACL.
However, based on the pro forma cash flow statement, if KYHC doesn’t receive any additionat funding
and the 3R payments of $115.5M are not received till 3Q15, CMS may want to consider that KYHC could
suffer from a critical liquidity event. Not enough information was provided to substantiate the need and
as a resuit, the impact on its pro forma financials cannot be assessed.

¢ No pro forma financials provided for additional alternatives. KYHC discussed several scenarios in which
the CO-OP receives different fevels of funding to keep them solvent, However, no detail was provided to
substantiate the impact of the proposed actions on the applicant’s pro formas. As a result, the impact of
the additional scenarios on its pro forma financials cannot be assessed.

* The stress case scenario is adding unanticipated claims to an already stressed base case. The base case
scenario in this application contains the unanticipated claims increases from the stress scenario of the
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original application.  Consequently, the presented siress test scenario, by adding additional
unanticipated claims increases, is effectively “double stressing” a base scenario.

5, Contingency Plan:

KYHC's contingency plan includes three scenarios, “Base Case with Additional Funding Options”, “Defer West
Virginia” and “Base Case with no additional funding.” Pro formas are only presented for the “Base Case with
no additional funding” scenario.

in the “Base Case with Additional Funding Options,” the CO-OP proposed a series of options to keep them
solvent through fiscal year 2014. The options {(all exclude recognizing risk corridors receivables as an
admitted asset) range from receiving as low as $30M to as high as $103M from CMS. In the base scenario,
KYHC requests $103M in order to reach the CMS recommended RBC level of 500% of ACL in 2014 {P.119},
however, KYHC “acknowledges that receiving $103M in funding just to maintain a RBC of 500% is not
necessarily the correct solution” {P.119). The applicant states that a more realistic solution would be to
obtain $69.1M which ailows KYHC to remain both solvent in 2014 and achieve the state minimum RBC level
of 200% of ACL (P.119). The scenario involves the CO-OP obtaining a $15M private loan and the remaining
$54.1M from CMS. it should be noted that the private funds would be used towards paying administrative
and operational expenses, but would not be considered a solvency loan {P.118/119}. lastly, KYHC could
request $30M from CMS and obtain the additional $15M from a private loan just to achieve solvency in 2014
(P.119). Aithough this option keeps KYHC solvent, it does not aliow them to reach the minimum RBC level of
200% of ACL required by the state. By including the risk corridors receivable as an admitted asset, KYHC is
able to meet the CMS recommended RBC level of 500% of ACL. However, based on the pro forma cash flow
statement, if KYHC doesn’t receive any additional funding and the 3R payments of $115.5M are not received
until Q3 2015, CM5 may want to consider that KYHC could suffer from a liquidity issue. Not enough
information was provided to substantiate the need and, as a result, the impact on its pro forma financials
cannot be assessed.

The “Deferment of West Virginia” option requests additional solvency loan funds of $69.1M to allow KYHC
to remain both solvent and above the RBC level of 200% of ACL from 2014 and beyond. However, under this
option, Kentucky proposes delaying the West Virginia expansion from 2015 to 2016 in order to request a
lower amount of solvency loan funds from CMS. In this scenario, KYHC will obtain a $1SM private loan,
request $49.1M from CMS and transfer $SM in start-up funds from West Virginia to the solvency loan funds
subject to the approval of CM5. No pro formas that reflect these options were provided. As a result, the true
impact of the scenarios on KYHC's operation cannot be assessed.

As outlined in KYHC's application, “if additional solvency funding is not awarded, [KYHC] stand{s] ready to
move our approximately 55,000 existing fives to other carriers and remove the health plan from the open
enroliment as an unfortunate but appropriate option” (P. 118). KYHC stated that if the minimum requested
amount of $45M of additional funding is not awarded and/or a decision made by October 15th, KYHC will
request the Kentucky DO! to assist in taking over the health plan. A major event in determining KYHC
solvency hinges on the accounting treatment of the risk corridor receivables. “The key issue driving this fact
is the delay in federal risk corridor receivables on 2014 business until the fatter part of 2015. if this projected
risk corridor receivable, which is an estimated $74.6M for 2014 in the base scenario, were made available
immediately, it would eliminate much of the current need for additional solvency Joan funding as well as
alleviating the operating cash issues highlighted in the contingency scenario.” {P. 17). If projections are

App. 00000083
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realized, it is apparent that if the accounting rule is not resoived in KYHC’s favor by year end 2014 and no
further solvency loans are awarded, the CO-OP will have both critical liquidity and solvency issues.

Summary of Observations:

« No pro forma financials provided for base case with additional options or deferment of West Virginia.
KYHC discussed three funding options in which KYHC receives different levels of funding to keep them
solvent. However, no details were provided to substantiate the impact of the proposed actions on the
applicant’s pro forma financials. As a result, the impact of the additional funding options on its pro forma
financiais cannot be assessed.

e Accounting treatment of risk corridors receivable. KYHC's application for solvency loan funds is
predicated on the risk corridors receivable being treated as a nonadmitted asset. Based on that
assumption, KYHC has requested 1 of 3 scenarios, $103M to reach the RBC levels of 500% of ACL in 2014,
$69.1M to reach the state minimum RBC level of 200% of ACL or $45M to remain solvent but unable to
achieve the CMS recommended RBC levels. By including the risk corridors receivable as an admitted
asset, KYHC is able to meet the CMS recommended RBC level of 500% of ACL for ali funding scenarios.
Conversely, based on the pro forma cash flow statement, if KYHC doesn’t receive any additionat funding
and the 3Rs payments of $115.5M are not received until @3 2015, CMS may want to consider that KYHC
may suffer from a liquidity issue. Not enough information was provided to substantiate the need and as
a result, the impact on its pro forma financials cannot be assessed.

» October 15, 2014 KYHC stated deadline for action. KYHC stated that if the minimum requested amount
of $45M of additional solvency loan funding is not awarded and/or a decision made by October 15th,
KYHC will request the Kentucky DOI to assist in taking over the health plan,

Solvency Loan Request Points

Sections Potential Total
Enrollment 1S 8.75
Product Pricing 20 14
Medical Costs and Losses 15 10
CO-OP Financiais 15 7.5
T : - : ErEE

Contingency Plan Points

Contingency Plan Potential Total
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The excel Appendix A, B, C, D documents referenced in the PSI Majority Staff’
Report can be found here:

http://www .hsgac.senate.gov/subcommittees/investigations/hearings/review-of-the-
affordable-care-act-health-insurance-co-op-program

Or by special request by contacting the Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations
202-224-3721.
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Post-Hearing Questions for the Record
Submitted to Andy Slavitt and Kevin Counihan,
Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services
From Scnator Claire McCaskill

“Review of the Affordable Care Act Health Insurance CO-OP Program”
March 10, 2016

Q. How many complete CO-OP applications were submitted in response to the July 28,
2011 Funding Opportunity Announcement (FOA) for the CO-OP program, per
funding cycle?

Q. Of the CO-OP applications submitted in response to the FOA, please provide the
action taken with respect to each application (approved, disapproved, deferred, no
action due to unavailability of funds).

Answer to 1&2: CMS approved and funded a total of 24 CO-OP applications. 10 applications
were successful in the first round, 6 were successful in the second round, and 8 were successful
in the third round.

Across all rounds of review, an additional 118 applications were not successful (some CO-OPs
submitted multiple applications). An application could be unsuccessful for several reasons. For
example, an application could be incomplete, or submitted by an entity that was not eligible for
consideration to receive a CO-OP loan. An application could also be withdrawn voluntarily by
the applicant for a variety of reasons.

Q. When the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 was signed into law on January 2,
2013, how many CO-OP applications were pending?

Answer: Forty four applications were pending at the time of the enactment of the American
Taxpayer Relief Act (ATRA) of 2012 and are included in the total of applications that were not

successful.

Q: For the cleven operational CO-OPs, how many consumers have health insurance
coverage through each CO-OP?

Answer:
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Enrollment as of year-end 2015

CO-0P (NAIC Annual report)
Connecticut: HealthyCT 41,238
Illinois: Land of Lincoln 50,280
Maine/New Hampshire; Maine Community Health Options 74,981
Maryland: Evergreen Health Cooperative 29,679
Massachusetts/New Hampshire: Minuteman 13,726
Montana/ldaho: Montana Health Cooperative 40,663
New Jersey: Health Republic of New Jersey 51,248
New Mexico: New Mexico Health Connections 34,410
Ohio: Coordinated Health Mutual 23,968
Oregon: Community Care of Oregon 15,039
Wisconsin: Common Ground Healthcare Cooperative 33,140

Q: For the states in which the eleven operational CO-OPs sell coverage, how many other

health insurance issuers sell coverage in each state?

Answer:

Connecticut 3

Iilinois 9

Maine/New Hampshire 2 (Maine) /4 (New Hampshire)
Maryland 4

Massachusetts/New Hampshire 10 (Massachusetts) /4 (New Hampshire)
Montana/Idaho 2 (Montana)/4 (1daho)

New Jersey 4

New Mexico 3

Ohio 16

Oregon 10

Wisconsin 15

Q. Please explain in detail the responsibilities of a state Department of Insurance with

respect to a CO-OP,

Answer: Since awarding both start-up and solvency loans, CMS has, in collaboration with state
Departments of Insurance {(DOIs), been closely monitoring and evaluating the CO-OPs to assess
performance and compliance. State DOIs, which are the primary regulators of insurance issuers
in the states, oversee CO-OPs in the same manner as other health issuers in their states. Fach
state may differ based on the specifics of state law, but in general, state insurance regulators are
responsible for protecting the interests of consumers and the public by ensuring the ongoing
solvency and financial stability of insurers. State regulators are also routinely responsible for
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approving health insurance plan rates and policy forms; market conduct and regulatory
compliance; fraud detection and prevention, and agent and broker licensing.

Q. Could a start-up loan made to a CO-OP be converted to a surplus note without the
state Department of Insurance requesting the conversion?

Answer: A surplus note is an instrument that is exclusive to statutory accounting, which applies
to the business of insurance only. Approval of the insurance commissioner, both as to the form
of the note and the amount to which it applies, are essential to the note’s validity.

Furthermore, as to a CO-OP Start-up loan, a CO-OP may request a loan conversion, but both
CMS, as the loan holder, and the state Department of Insurance, as the regulator, must review
and approve the request before a start-up loan can be converted to a surplus note.

Q. Please describe the impact on the risk eorridor program when it was made budget
neutral by the Consolidated and Further Continuing Appropriations Act of 2015,

Answer: As you noted, Section 227 of Division G of the Consolidated and Further Continuing
Appropriations Act of 2015 (PL 113-235) required that none of the funds made available to
CMS’ Program Management account from the Federal Hospital Insurance and Federal
Supplemental Medical Insurance Trust Funds for fiscal year 2016 may be used for risk corridor
payments. Risk corridors claims for program year 2014 have been paid from program year 2014
collections. These claims will also be paid out of program year 2015 risk corridors colleetions,
and if necessary, program year 2016 collections. In the event of a shortfall at the conclusion of
the three-year risk corridors program, the agency will work with Congress to provide necessary
funds for outstanding payment.

Q. Please describe the impact of the ACA’s prohibition against using federal CO-OP
funds for marketing activities (codified at 42 U.S.C. § 18042(b)(2)(C)(ii)) on the CO-
OP program.

Answer: The Affordable Care Act prohibits the use of Federal funds for marketing. Under the
CO-OP Funding Opportunity Announcement, “marketing” means activities that promote the
purchase of a specific health care plan or explain a product’s benefit strueture to a specific
customer. It does not prohibit CO-OPs from using Federal funds for community outreach and
general membership development. All CO-OPs now have membership in the tens of thousands,
generating millions in operating income each month. As a result, these CO-OPs are able to use
this revenue for marketing.
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Post-Hearing Questions for the Record
Submitted to Dr. Scott Harrington,
The Wharton School, University of Pennsylvania
From Senator Claire McCaskill

“Review of the Affordable Care Act Health Insurance CO-OP Program”
March 10, 2016

In your opinion, of the failed CO-OPs for which you reviewed data, do the state
Departments of Insurance bear any responsibility for the failure of those CO-OPs?

No, although the question arises as to whether relatively low premiums charged by some
CO-OPs should have been subject to pushback by regulators concerned with solvency.

In your opinion, of the CO-OPs for which you reviewed actuarial feasibility studies, do
the actuarial firms who prepared those studies bear any responsibility for the failure of
those CO-OPs?

No. [was somewhat surprised, however, that the studies did not devote more attention to
downside risk.

In your testimony, you stated that at least two cohorts — healthy individuals in their 50s
and 60s and young people — are experiencing higher premiums as a result of the
Affordable Care Act (ACA). Are there any cohorts that are experiencing lower
premiums as a result of the ACA?

The evidence with which I am familiar and some of my own co-authored research
suggests that newly insured people in relatively poor health have been able to obtain
coverage at lower premiums than would be true without the ACA.

In your testimony, you explained to Senator Portman that CMS may have continued
disbursing money to now-defunct CO-OPs because even though CMS was receiving
some information from the CO-OPs, “the accuracy of the information about claim costs
was not there, so there {was] a much bigger bill than what had been anticipated.” Why
was the accuracy of claim costs not there? How long does it typically take for an insurer
to get an accurate picture of what claim costs will be?

Given ACA coverage requirements, the influx of previously uninsured people into the
market in 2014 and 2015, and transitional policies in various states that permitted
previously insured people to maintain their prior plans, substantial uncertainty existed
about the characteristics of the risk pool and associated medical costs. It typically takes
13-18 months for an insurer to to know its ultimate costs for coverage provided in a given
year with a high degree of accuracy. A well-managed insurer, however, should begin to
have an understanding by mid-year of whether its cosis for the year are likely to deviate
substantially from the cost projections used in pricing.
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In your testimony, you stated that “[O]nce you get information that a company might be
in trouble, there always has been a fine line that regulators have to draw about doing
something that definitely will put the company over the edge or giving it a little more
runway to try to work things out.” In your opinion, how much time should CMS have
given CO-OPs that began offering coverage to consumers effective January 1, 2014 to
work things out?

I cannot provide a general answer to this question. It very much depends on a specific
CO-OP'’s relative pricing and enrollment growth.



		Superintendent of Documents
	2022-07-05T23:35:56-0400
	Government Publishing Office, Washington, DC 20401
	Government Publishing Office
	Government Publishing Office attests that this document has not been altered since it was disseminated by Government Publishing Office




